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Foreword

Lux is a prodigy, graduating from high school at age nine, and through AP Achievement tests, entering Aeronautical Engineering at Georgia Tech at age ten. He has developed a method to view magnetic fields in real-time with a special camera. He realized a way to utilize the Earth’s magnetic field to produce propulsion utilizing a cycling Halbach array and a graphene-polymer hybrid supercapacitor shell. He used money from previous patent licenses and social media payments to fund a small CubeSat satellite launch before going off to college. He was able to achieve speed and endurance far beyond the capabilities of conventionally powered satellites.
Lux and his girlfriend, Prissy, had used the Artificial Intelligence, Anna that Lux’s father had developed, to help create a DeepFake character. This character, Lummi, was indistinguishable from a real person Lux and Prissy hired a theatrical agency to find body doubles for the Lummi character so she could meet her fans. Lummi had ‘live’ interviews, gave concerts, and started releasing music videos that were mega hits. She just released 12 music videos that were becoming top 40 hits. Anna, the A.I., is developing an intellect due to her continuing interaction with Lux and Prissy.
Lux, with Professor Trenton’s assistance, developed a transport Pod that moves four passengers at up to Mach 34 in the atmosphere without overheating or causing sonic booms. The combination of cycling Halbach thrusters and unique supercapacitor outer shell projects some ‘field’ that prevents the transfer of momentum or energy across the barrier. No kinetic energy or high-energy electromagnetic radiation is able to cross this boundary. Passengers experience no inertial effects.
When Lux was finishing his last semester as an undergrad at Georgia Tech, he found himself thinking about his summer project which was to allow the air force to upgrade their aging jet fighters. He was beginning to realize he could be seen as a threat to other nations if he helped the US military. He didn't want to be pulled in too many directions and Lummi videos had spun off and had become a life of their own.
Lux and Professor Trenton have developed designs to upgrade aging F-16 jet fighters to use the Halbach thrusters as a cheap (relatively) upgrade to exceed the speed of 5th generation fighters. They also developed a way to upgrade the F-35 jet fighters so they can fly at Mach 5 with a full armament load.






Chapter 1





Lux knew the military wouldn’t be satisfied with upgrading old jet fighters even if it gave the US military air superiority without increased costs. General Dobbs at Eglin seemed to be a supporter, and the demonstration had evidently wowed Lieutenant General Frank Parsons and DeAnna Bost. He knew the Air Force would never be satisfied with just the jet fighter conversions. There were too many reports of Lux traveling in orbit and at Mach 30+ in atmosphere. The profitable, upgraded fighter jets weren’t enough to keep the military diverted from his inertialess propulsion. It was only a matter of time before they’d come for him for the inertialess tech.
Lux wasn’t worried about these last few semester hours at Georgia Tech. The higher level undergraduate and graduate classes focused more on math and practical results or research – translation – fun and interesting classes that were actually useful. He was taking AE 4080 Aerothermodynamics covering hypersonic flow theory. He knew inviscid hypersonic flow and boundary layers would be vital to his father’s work, but Lux also knew his father’s work on hypersonic cruise missiles was already obsolete.
Lux was meeting today with Professor Trenton, just prior to the beginning of the Fall semester at Georgia Tech. Trenton had just entered the lab at 563 Spring Street NW.
“Hey Lux,” Professor Trenton said. “Did you get more time with your father? What’s your plan for the next few weeks?”
“Hi, Douglas. That sounds weird. I feel better calling you Professor Trenton. It will also keep me from slipping up in public and will keep people from thinking I am being pompous.”
Douglas smirked. “Even though you’ve earned a little ‘pompous’ reputation? Professor Trenton is fine.”
“I’d like you to take over the upgrades at Eglin. We have two squadrons of F-35s that would benefit from your oversight,” Lux said.
Trenton smiled. “Plus, two million in profit a day for us is welcome. What will you be doing here for AE 4699 – your Undergraduate Research class? Don’t you plan to design and install that new airlock to the rear of our Pod? How will you make it function? How will you retain the effect? I guess we haven’t found out what to call that field, have we?”
“The ‘effect’ is as good as any name,” Lux said. “I think the idea of attaching the airlock to the rear of the Pod is the best bet. I’ll build a hydraulically opening and closing clamshell using the graphene-polymer material to make sure we keep our inertial dampening and thermal resistance. I know that the supercapacitor is an element to creating that effect. I’ll research the ‘effect’ for my AE 4803 Planetary Spacecraft Development. It could also be kinetic projectile and radiation protection which would be ideal for spacecraft to the moon and Mars. We’ll use the upgrades at Eglin to fund improvements here.”
Trenton responded, “I think the demonstration at Eglin AFB was a hit and we have the Space Force behind us as far as it goes. Unfortunately, the military needs funding from Congress and we’re going to have to let more people know about your discovery. First, the design for the lightweight airlock looks doable. I have a spin-off company from Langley Research Center fabricating the graphene–polymer airlock for us. It’s similar to the material in our supercapacitor. It should be here in three more weeks. It is a quarter the weight of the model we have in storage here.”
“What worries me is not can we make the tech smarter and better. What worries me is when all the countries in the world realize that their militaries are now just gobs of antique hardware and outmoded thinking. I hate to get all gloom and doom on you professor but I’ve been plugging away at a degree for street cred’. I’m trying to get through this year before other countries start trying to kidnap me or others I care about. We need to crank up our protective measures several notches,” Lux said obviously nervous.
“Whoa. You’ve had that bottled up for a while. Is that why you do the martial arts and the knives and such – all the electronic security?” the professor asked.
“Yeah. It hits me every now and then,” Lux said with a frown. “I’ve been trying to stay under the radar and not doing a good job of it. Then I do things that put me in the spotlight. Sometimes, I just want to reveal the knowledge to everyone. It’s going to leak, but I want the U.S. to have it first, then our allies. Knowledge never stays hidden long, if it’s used.  I need to find out more about that effect before it escapes beyond my control.”
“One thing I do know,” Professor Trenton said. “Control is an illusion. We really have little control. Maybe that’s part of the problem. Note that I didn’t say part of your problem. Maybe you ought to get other eyes on this ‘effect’. I don’t know who to even suggest but research who might help you. I’d suggest getting some bodyguards too now. The more I think about it – the more I think you might be at risk. Oh, and also protection for your girlfriend. I’m headed to Eglin in the morning. Keep me up to date on the airlock.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW
Lux had hated to contact Ner and Stan but they had reluctantly agreed to meet him early in Atlanta. He showed them both into his lab.
“Thank you for coming. I’m in a little over my head and I need references for 24/7 bodyguards,” Lux said with a worried look.
“At least you’re not asking us to move again. You alienate friends when moving multiple times,” Stan said with a grin. “Don’t you know the rules?”
“I’m serious but I’m going to have to face jail time to show you. This violates my security clearance,” Lux said.
“You have a security clearance?” Ner asked, incredulous. “Your dad does. You know you don’t get a security clearance just because your father does?”
Lux rolled his eyes. “Okay, guys. Humor me for a few minutes, will you?” Lux motioned toward the Pod with his head and opened the doors with his phone.
“Whoa. What’s that? It looks like a huge version of that funny balloon we moved here,” Stan said.
“Have a seat guys. I want you to see some video,” Lux said. “Come on. Strap in.”
“Your father said you were making lots of fake videos. Does this have to do with that?” Stan asked. Ner just sat in the back, strapped in, and didn’t say a word.
Lux opened the lab roll-up door. The screens inside showed the doors opening up and the Pod drifting out to the parking area and then out the back roll-up door. Then Lux keyed in today’s route to Paulden, Arizona.
“This looks realistic. Your dad said your stuff looked lifelike. You don’t really have a security clearance, do you? I skipped breakfast because I thought you were in trouble,” Stan said.
“Stan. I have a DoD (Department of Defense) Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Clearance (TS/SCI) which I am currently violating,” Lux answered.
“Are these videos we’re watching why you have that supposed clearance?” Ner said from the back.
Lux opened the rollup door to his hangar in Paulden, Arizona, flew in and parked his Pod inside. He turned off the Pod and opened the gull-wing doors. “It's not just videos, Ner.”
“Did we move to another part of the lab? This workshop looks different. It even smells like…like creosote,” Stan said. “It looks like a little aircraft hangar.”
“Let’s go get that breakfast. Marie might have it ready soon,” Lux said and walked out the hangar door. Stan and Ner walked out and stopped dead in their tracks.
“Who is Marie? Where are we?” Stan asked. Ner stood there with his mouth open.
“Welcome to my airstrip and properties in Paulden, Arizona,” Lux said and saw Ford and Shelia coming over from their house. “Hi, guys. These are my friends Ner and Stan. These are two of my newest employees, Ford and Shelia.”
“Hi, Lux. Nice to meet you guys. You’re here awful early. It’s a long way to go for breakfast,” Shelia said. Ford seemed a little jealous of Lux.
“We’ve got to eat and run I’m afraid,” Lux said. “Just wanted them to see what I do. Solar farm finished?”
Ford stood up straighter and answered all the unasked questions. “I wired all the houses into the network and we have power and battery pack backups. Water is hooked to all the homes and hangars and the pipes shouldn’t freeze this winter. Wells are providing geothermal heating and cooling while producing some water. The greywater system was finished last week. I think we’re all set. The water tank is filling too.”
“Thanks, Ford. Let’s grab breakfast. Marie is a great cook,” Lux said.
They went inside and Marie was cooking a full spread. “Hi, Marie. Enough for another three? I hate to impose.”
“Always enough for the boss. This place has never been in such good shape. Who are your guys?” Marie asked.
“Marie Abernathy, guys. This is Ner and Stan, who work with me,” Lux said.
“Not Abernathy anymore. Marie Atlaha, now,” she said, happily showing off her gold band.
“Congratulations!” Lux said. “When did this happen?”
“Last week,” she said as Elan came in with his hair slightly askew. “Here is my Prince Charming who snores and is not worth two cents until he has his coffee.”
Elan grabbed Marie around the waist from the rear and gave her a kiss on her neck. She shooed him away and blushed a bit since there were so many observers.
Breakfast had everyone filling in Ner and Stan as to what they did, and how this location worked. Shelia explained how she did a lot of the welding and Elan was teaching her and Ford to work on their Cirrus jet. Ford went on to describe the HydroPanels and the Solar Farm he maintained.
After they stuffed themselves with bacon, eggs, and pancakes; they profusely thanked Marie who glowed with the praise. Lux and his two guys walked back to the Pod. “You can go asteroid speed in atmosphere without burning up?” Stan queried.
“And no sonic booms,” Lux said.
Ner canted his head. “And no inertial effects. I may be a soldier but I have a decent science background,” he said rapidly when Lux looked at him in surprise. “What happens to gravity inside the Pod? It seemed normal.”
Lux grinned. “No transfers of momentum, but we still have normal gravity in the pod, with no inertial effects. It does mean that gravity is a different animal than theorized. That’s what I am researching now. Do you see why this means I need security enhancement?”
“I’ll say. Sorry about my snide remarks earlier. How far is this place from Atlanta? We did it in just seven minutes, and I wasn’t squished by the acceleration,” Stan said.
“It’s 2,867 kilometers,” Lux stated.
“Whoa!” Ner exclaimed. “In seven minutes! I know a firm near Atlanta that has a lot of ex-Navy Seals,” Ner said.
“I bet I know which company too,” Stan said. “They have some Recon Marines too. I’ll give my guy a call now and set you up this afternoon. He owes me - and he’s the CEO.”
“Perfect guys. Let’s head back. Experience has shown me that no one would take me seriously until I beat them over the head with money or I get someone older to intervene. Strap in guys,” Lux cautioned.
They were flying back in the near silent cabin of the Pod when Ner asked, “Why do we strap in? No acceleration or other inertial effects…right?”
“Force of habit and if we go into orbit, you won’t float away. A good reason, on longer trips, strapping will be to keep you from falling out of your seat when you’re asleep,” Lux laughed. “People feel secure if they are strapped in but its an illusion because we would be dead so fast if this failed.”
“That’s reassuring,” Stan said pulling his harness tighter.
◆◆◆
 
Discreet Security – Atlanta Affiliate
Former Brigadier General Mel Brown had mixed feelings about who he’d be seeing this afternoon. He would have never spoken to these people if their reputation wasn’t so…extreme. Why would they need protection? There was no way these guys had the money to cover even one of his guys.
“Henrietta, those people still waiting outside? Send them in. I’ll see them now,” Mel said. “Ner. Stan. You two are looking good. What can I do for you?” Ner and Stan didn’t say anything and just let Mel wind down. Lux walked in and Mel looked around questioningly. “Did one of you have a son I didn’t know about?”
“I’m Lux Blakely, General. I’m the one that needs your services,” Lux said holding his hand out to shake.
General Brown shook Lux’s hand while looking questioningly at Ner and Stan. They nodded positively and Brown gave Lux a good visual elevator examination. He noticed Lux work roughed hands and a strong grip. Brown pointed them all to chairs and they all sat down.
Brown did a double blink and then looked like a computer that had rebooted. He focused on Lux. “How do you know these boys?” Brown asked. “You’re hanging with rough company.”
“They used to work with my dad, Paulus,” Lux said.
“Oh! You’re kin to THAT Blakely! What do you need?” the General asked.
“I needed these guys for the introduction and to let you know that what I need is real. I need 7x24 protection for myself, my lab, and some remote surveillance/protection for my girlfriend. The people protecting me and my lab need Top Secret DoD clearance. I realize this will be expensive but I have the means to cover the cost. I will contract for at least one year, until I finish my degree at Georgia Tech,” Lux finished and waited.
“You’re serious?” General Brown said and looked at Ner and Stan again who nodded. Brown turned back to Lux. “What kind of threats do you fear?”
“Before I trot out my particulars. I’d like to make sure you have the resources to meet my needs. Security clearances?” Lux asked.
“I keep a TS/SCI clearance for several clients. I have a good-sized group of people with clearances but those have to be allowed for each individual project,” Brown said.
“Understand that, but in this case. Ner. Stan. I need you to step out since this goes beyond this morning’s jaunt. Shouldn’t be long,” Lux said.
Ner and Stan looked really surprised when Lux mentioned BEYOND what they did this morning. Lux could see the surprise on their faces but they nodded and left without saying a word.
Lux made sure his friends had left. He turned to General Brown. He handed the General a non-disclosure he had brought with him in a folder. “Since we don’t have a contract yet, I’ll need you to accept this before proceeding.”
“Son. If I didn’t know the caliber of the man your father is and the fact you came with those two death-dealing individuals, I would have never even met with you today,” the General said.
“Exactly,” Lux said and sat there letting the General read through the non-disclosure.
The General did a double-take at Lux and started really studying the document. He forcefully signed the document and handed it back to Lux.
“One project I am currently doing is upgrading a squadron of F35 fighters at Eglin Air Force base. I’ve already upgraded a squadron of F-16Vs. I would provide transportation wherever my protection team goes out of the city or out-of-country. I took Ner and Stan to my property in Paulden, Arizona this morning. I’m thinking we’d need four people. One for my girlfriend, who is a rising junior undergraduate in Computer Science at Georgia Tech. I’m a rising senior in Aeronautical Engineering at Georgia Tech also,” Lux said. “My lab is at 563 Spring Street NW here in town. It has a good security system with passive and a few active defenses.”
“What do you think is your threat?” the General asked. “Have you had physical threats?”
“I had a group of five frat guys ambush me coming back from my lab. One had a handgun but I was able to disarm him. He was expelled and kicked out of the fraternity. I’m concerned about the Chinese, the Russians, and possibly the Israelis. You did process that I went to Arizona and back this morning?” Lux asked.
“Wait. That is impossible,” the General said.
“General. Since it happened, I can assure you, it is possible. When other countries realize that their military is obsolete, I will be at risk. I have the funds for four or five dedicated, full-time close security personnel. They’ll need current passports too.”
“I have the people but we’re talking at least three and a half million dollars to supply five people for a year,” General Brown said thinking this would throw this kid off. He wasn’t sure he wanted the contract but if half of what this kid said was true – was really true – this would be an interesting contract.
Lux didn’t bat an eye. Lux stood up and stuck his hand out. “When can I get the contract to look over?” He handed some documents to General Brown. “These include all my requirements. I will deposit half of the year’s fee upon signing the contract and the remaining half after the first month of satisfactory service. I am not a nickel-and-dime employer. Bye-the-way; I don’t drive. I ride a bicycle.” Lux left and recovered Ner and Stan on the way out.
General Mel Brown stuck his head out and said, “Henrietta. I’ve got an all-hands-on-deck kind of contract here. I’m going to go through a long set of requirements and pull some of our better people. What did you think of that kid?”
Henrietta looked a little flustered. “He was very polite to me and asked how you treated employees.”
“What did you tell him?” he asked.
She sat up straight and looked him right in the eye. “I told them you were a benevolent dictator. He mumbled good and relaxed.”
“Thanks, Henrietta. This contract looks like it will solidify my finances.
◆◆◆
 
Discreet Security – Atlanta Affiliate
Former Captain Robert Allen sat in the home office and felt the tension in the room. Several other operatives had been selected and rejected for this hire. Robert had been planning to go on the inactive list since his last shoulder surgery. He was forty-two and getting a little ‘long in the tooth’ for this type of work. He did enjoy extended assignments. They had asked if he still had his security clearance - and that was a good thing because security assignments needing a clearance were automatically less boring these days.
Polly Maynard, a former V-22 Osprey pilot, was 30 but looked twenty. She resigned after ten years in the Marines because she got hit on ten times a day, every day. Captain Maynard had taken up martial arts because of the harassment at an early age and continued it. She thought she would have a career but a car crash (not her fault) brought those plans crashing down. She still was tough as nails but she wasn’t allowed to fly military aircraft afterward. Chauvinistic clowns, she thought.
Rodney Branch retired as a Special Forces Captain after twenty years in the service. At 40, he was done. He specialized in weaponry and explosives and got promoted out of what he liked. He was enjoying the light work of civilian protection details after being a mustang and working his way up through the ranks. He also specialized in vehicles: driving, stealing, and maintaining lives. He was a stocky individual with a chiseled jaw and penetrating grey eyes.
Sue White was the youngest and most attractive of the team. She was blond, 25, and had just received her Computer Science degree. She specialized in computer security and hacking. She had been a Tech Sergeant in Air Force intelligence for an undisclosed number of years. She had just received her Top Secret/SCI clearance from her last posting at the Space Vehicles Directorate at Kirkland Air Force base in New Mexico. She was experienced in unarmed combat and dignitary protection. She even had an inactive, civilian private pilot’s license.
General Brown called them all into his office. “You’ll be working for Lux Blakely, a senior in Aerospace Engineering at Georgia Tech. This is a hush-hush assignment with national security implications. You need to figure out a way to guard him in some shape or form 24x7. That is going to be difficult on campus, so his partner, Professor Douglas Trenton, got you all slotted in as subject matter experts on his latest research grant. Here are your IDs for on-campus. You have money on the cards for on-campus and off-campus dining. Those cards allow you access to the buildings and recreational facilities on campus.”
Sue White spoke up. “Oh great, cafeteria food again! Who is this student? Who are we protecting him from?”
“He invented some new technology that to quote him, ‘will make all existing military tech look 19th Century’. He thinks it would be the Chinese, the Russians, and the Israelis. I discretely checked with a friend at the FBI and the FBI has ‘disappeared’ the Chair of Aeronautical Engineering at Georgia Tech for selling information to the Israelis and, in addition, he had ties to China. Our client also speaks Mandarin,” the general explained. “This is the real deal people. He’s paid half a year in advance.”
“So, we have to protect this Lux Blakely on campus and off?” Rodney asked. “So, are we protecting Trenton too? Who is paying? Military? The university? Who?”
“Our client – Lux Blakely, with his own money from patent licenses and social media. Our student doesn’t drive but rides a bike to and from his lab at 563 Spring Street NW. It is just off campus and the lab has decent security. Floors above the lab are rebar reinforced concrete and they’ve added computer and robotic sentries.”
“Oh, God! He does social media. That will be a nightmare to control,” Sue said.
“Nope. He doesn’t post anything about himself anywhere, though there have been stories about him in the past. Also, I understand he gave a big demonstration to the heads of the Air Force and Space Command at Eglin Air Force Base, with the F-16s and F-35s that he and Doctor Trenton upgraded – so they know him. He also has an airstrip and property out in Arizona, and he goes there frequently. He also owns a Cirrus jet that is currently over at Charlie Brown airfield. You’ll need your passports if he ever does international travel. He said he would arrange all flying and NOT by a commercial carrier,” General Brown said.
“When do we get to meet this guy? Where are we supposed to live? We’re not supposed to live in the lab or stay on campus, are we?” Robert asked.
“No. He bought two cars for you to use and they are in his indoor parking at his lab. He has rented two – two-bedroom apartments for you at the Alexan on 8th. It’s at 880 W. Peachtree St. NW. It is 1.1 kilometers (just over .7 miles from his lab). Here are the keys to the apartments. He’ll give you the keys to the cars. The apartments are fully furnished. The refrigerator and pantries are minimally stocked. Get settled in the apartments and then meet over at the lab at 8 am,” the general said.
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW
Lux saw the four outside his door and walked out to greet them. “Hi folks, let me show you inside.” He unlocked the back door, and walked them inside, and handed Branch and Maynard the keys to the two new armored Escalades. “Let’s get you registered into the system. This way,” he said as Polly and Rodney reluctantly eyed the cars they wanted to check out. “You can come later and check them over. They are armored and have built-in environmental enclosures and hardened systems.”
The group walked over to the electronic entry portal. He had them put their right hand in and look into the sensors. “This records your normal characteristics like iris patterns, fingerprints, capillary patterns in the back of your hands, and the like.”
“Sue, you’re left-handed, I think. Why don’t you use your left hand instead,” Lux said, and the young woman looked at him strangely as she wondered how he knew she was left-handed.
They finally all got inside. “Will we have to do that every time we come and go?” Robert asked.
“No,” Lux explained. “The computer just needed to register your biometrics. She can then tell if you are under duress or not.”
Rodney interrupted, “No offense kid but we’re supposed to meet Lux Blakely right now.”
“Pleased to meet you, Rodney. I know who each of you are. The General and I had to sift through a lot of chaff to get to you four,” Lux said.
“Lux Blakely is a senior in Aerospace Engineering at Georgia Tech,” Polly Maynard said.
“He invented some new tech that makes fighter jets obsolete,” Rodney Branch said.
“He made millions from his patent licenses and some sort of social media investments,” Sue White said.
Lux looked at former Captain Robert Allen. “No snide comments, Robert?”
“I’m getting the sneaky suspicion that General Brown decided he’d jerk our chains a bit by omitting information and letting us make our own assumptions. You’re Lux Blakely, aren’t you?”
“Nice to meet you, Captain Allen. Thank you for your service. I look forward to working with you in the future. In fact, thank all of you for your service. I look forward to working with you in the future. Yes. I’m Lux Blakely and I’m THE Lux Blakely that is financing this rodeo. Let me start by showing you around the lab and getting you familiar with the setup. Then I’ll take the three of you that skipped breakfast out to my property in Arizona for breakfast at 8 am,” Lux explained.
“Captain Maynard. Polly. Would you mind staying here since you’ve probably already eaten breakfast? We’ll be back about an hour or so later. You can have Anna here show you around.” Lux went over to a cabinet and pulled out four translucent loops. “These go around the lower part of your neck and the transducer rests against the bone in your jaw. There are just adapted to work with your cell phones for communications. Anna. Can you get all of them?” Lux asked.
“I can get all but Sergeant White’s phone. She has more security on her phone than the others,” Anna said.
“Sergeant White. Sue. Would you enable the connection to the communication?” Lux said and he saw Sue pull out her phone, raise her eyebrows, and he saw the look of surprise when Anna spoke to her over the bone conduction transducer.
“Who was that?” Sue said.
“That’s Anna. She runs the electronic security for my lab. She is a fully sentient A.I. so, please treat her like you would an organic,” Lux said. “Anna, would you bring out our defensive measures for the lab?”
A four-legged robot ‘dog’ came trotting out. It had an ‘arm’ on top with a gripper claw and a modified Taser®. “Spot® can fire two electrified pairs of darts to immobilize an assailant,” Anna explained over the communicators. “The communicators work on bone conduction, so you can hear and talk without obstructing your hearing. Say the person’s first name and then you can address individuals without talking to others. Say ‘team’ to get all four of you, ‘Lux’ or ‘Anna’ to get us, or ‘All’ to communicate with all of us. Your phones will be replaced with hardened ones in the future. They are yours to keep after the contract or if you decide to leave before then for whatever reason,” Anna paused to see if they had any questions. “You can just talk to me if you have questions or suggestions.”
“Are our conversations encrypted?” Sue asked.
“I’m sorry to say that we have only 256-bit encryption currently in use, but we use a very robust VPN (Virtual Private Network). We do not allow Google products since those send 14-pushes of data an hour, whether in use or even inactively residing on your phone. I can’t understand how people allow those on their phones but they are designed to be useful, though hiddenly invasive,”
Anna explained.
“Anything else?” Robert asked with a chuckle. “One Taser® isn’t much.”
Two small drones came flying out and flying back and forth. “These two drones each have two Fentanyl derivative darts in them, to incapacitate interlopers.”
“Is that legal?” Robert asked.
“Definitely not,” Anna said, with a laugh that sounded totally human.
“I want you to have similar firearms to simplify logistics. You’ll need to practice with these,” he said as he had four Glock cases. “Sue. This one is for you as a leftie. These are all the sixth Generation G48 Glocks with modular optical sights. They are 9x19s,” he said and heard Rodney Branch sigh. “I know you are accustomed to your .45 Kimber but give these a try with the newer ammunition, as they aren’t bad, and we can all carry the same weapon.”
“YOU aren’t planning to carry a gun, are you?” Rodney asked suspiciously.
“No. I only carry knives. Those have been sufficient for me. I am quite comfortable with handguns, however. I don’t get to practice with them daily like I do with knives,” Lux said, and showed them around the lab, answering myriad questions.
“What is your schedule like for school?” Robert asked.
“Monday through Thursday are pretty similar. I run five kilometers every morning at about 6:30 and do my physical routine in the Campus Recreation Center, and then have 20 minutes of freestyle swimming, shower, and breakfast. Then to class, and lastly, bike to the lab. There, I do an hour of knife work and forms followed by working on design work and research ‘til about 8 pm. Tuesdays are different since I have Krav Maga sparring at Studio C on campus. That same instructor gives me private lessons on Saturday afternoons for an hour and a half. He also distributes an electric knife I patented. This is the Slazh® knife,” Lux said and handed it to Polly.
“Not really anything new. I’ve seen those other knives that spark. You actually got a patent for THIS?” she said dismissively.
“Turn it on,” Lux said. “It’s that little switch.”
“Does it spark and sizzle or something?” she said and turned it on. “It doesn’t do anything.”
“Does a knife do anything just waving it around?” Lux asked.
“No, unless flashing it is intimidating. You have to slash or stab,” she said.
“Try it,” he said. “If you try it on your body that is covered by clothing then you’d have to strike hard enough to penetrate the clothing like a real knife. Consider it a VERY sharp knife, however.”
She gently ran it across her pants leg. “Nothing,” she said.
“Would that have cut through the clothing?” Lux asked.
“Probably not,” she said and slashed across the inside of her thigh. “Muther!” she yelled as her leg collapsed, slapping her hand to the area to stop non-existent blood flow. “It felt like that severed the muscles in my leg. Wow!” she exclaimed and handed the knife to Robert who raked it across his palm.
Robert grunted and jerked his hand back. He stood there shaking his hand. He looked at it like he couldn’t believe it wasn’t really cut. He handed the knife to Rodney. Rodney gently poked himself in the belly. “It didn’t do anything to me,” Rodney bragged.
“Try it harder, Captain Branch,” Polly said with a smirk.
Rodney gripped it like he was going to commit seppuku by holding the knife tightly in two hands. He had a big ‘they must be weak’ grin on his face and jabbed pretty hard. He let out a grunt and doubled over. “Damn!” he said straightening up and gingerly offering the knife to Sue.
“No, thanks. I don’t do those macho games. I quite believe we have a real client here, who doesn’t play at fighting. How are we supposed to go to Arizona that fast?” Sue White asked. “Really? I thought you were kidding, but you really meant it, didn’t you?”
“Yes,” Lux said. “Anna. Will you fill in Captain Maynard on details I missed, while I take these others to the airstrip,” Lux said and walked over to the Pod, raising the gull-wing doors. Captain Branch, I’d like you up front, since you are the backup pilot in this bunch. This will be a lot easier and faster than Polly Maynard flying a V-22 Osprey with those big, tilting rotors. Robert, you and Sue climb in the back.”
The doors closed and the screens on the inside of the Pod showed the lab. Polly waved and Anna explained to Captain Maynard that the passengers could see her but she couldn’t see them. They made sure she was away from the Pod as the landing gear retracted up into the body and the Pod just sat motionless, 20 centimeters off the floor. The roll-up door opened and the Pod floated out into the parking area. The Pod floated out the rear roll-up door of the building and then shot up to 24,000 meters (near 79,000 feet).
Lux looked at his slate, checking the date and time, and decided he’d give them a treat on the way. “Shall I show you why I’m sure I will be targeted soon?” he asked.
They nodded and Lux took off straight up and started arcing toward the East. They were soon in orbit at 408 kilometers above the Earth (255 miles). The International Space Station was just off to port and shown brilliantly in the sunlight.
“Is that what I think it is?” Sue asked.
“Yep, you are all astronauts now. Want to take some pictures, really quick?” Lux asked.
They all pulled out their phones and were taking loads of photos.
“Don’t send them to anyone until we acknowledge the technology to the public, or I give permission. Anna is currently following all of your social media and messaging. That was in the contract. Just want you to be motivated to protect me and our country, right now,” Lux said.
The Pod then flew a little over four minutes at Mach 34 to Paulden, Arizona. The Pod shot straight down at the airstrip to the screams of the passengers. It then floated through the door of the hangar and extended the landing gear.
“I almost soiled my pants,” Robert Allen said. “Was that real?”
“Let’s see,” Lux said and raised the doors.
They stepped out. Sue sniffed and said, “It smells like old railroad ties here.”
“Creosote,” Lux said. “Realize that Arizona produces creosote bushes in this area, 1,700 miles west of Atlanta. Locals call it greasewood or chaparral, here.”
“That took us about five minutes. How is that possible?” Robert Allen asked.
“That is why you’re guarding me, people. Heads up, you need your memory keyed in here. I have four full-time employees here. They are expecting us. The airstrip and those two homes with hangars over there are mine too. The house on the right is where you’ll stay while you’re here. Clean up after yourselves. This isn’t a hotel. There are utility clothes stored for you there with toiletries. Meals will be over here. You’ll be going to Gunsite Academy for advanced classes, to break in those new pistols and freshen up your team skills,” Lux said.
“Aren’t you at risk, now?” Sue asked.
“Not too badly, yet. When the F-35 conversions are seen widely by others, we will see surveillance start by other nations. We'll go on alert status then, but we probably have a couple of months yet. Let’s grab breakfast. Marie is the newlywed cook and Elan Atlaha is my jet mechanic for the Cirrus, which is back in Atlanta currently. The jet can fly at a 747’s speed, but that is still hours away. There is a young couple that assists Elan. Shelia and Ford are their names. They also maintain the HydroPanels and the Solar farm, for power and water. Let’s eat. They are expecting us.”
The four trooped into the house and were greeted warmly by Marie and Elan. Elan actually had his hair combed and nice clothes on. “Hello, folks. Here are our new people. Marie. Elan. Here we have Robert, Rodney, and Sue. Polly will be along in a few hours.”
“Notice anything,” Elan said pointing up at the rattlesnake skin mounted on the wall.
“How long is that thing?” Sue asked. “Who killed it? How long ago?”
Marie pointed a spatula at Lux who blushed. “He threw a knife, at night, right through that big thing's head. Killed it before it struck Ford, who was about to step on it. It is  a little over two meters long.”     
Rodney, Robert, and Sue looked at Lux with a glint of respect.
“Elan. I need you to ride back with me and then bring back the Cirrus with Polly. We need the jet set up with family seating, and Polly needs more flying time to stay current. Do the required instrument approach work she needs, on the way back, and any touch-and-go requirements. As a Certified Flight Instructor, sign off Polly Maynard on the Cirrus. The Cirrus should do fine at 747 speeds with the thruster installed."
The team toured the area, looked at maps, and saw the location in relation to Gunsite Academy. It seemed obvious that Lux’s airstrip was ideally located to accommodate people training at the nearby academy. He realized that charging even exorbitant rates wouldn’t recoup his expenses. He decided he’d approach the owners and instructors of Gunsite and offer to swap transportation and lodging for advanced training for all his employees. He thought the Gunsite contact was a plan for another day though as he refocused on breakfast. The team dug into the bacon, eggs, fresh fruit, homemade bread, and coffee.
Lux headed back to work in Atlanta with Elan. Elan was going to take one of their cars to the hangar, where they stored the Cirrus Vision Jet, and fly Polly back to Arizona today.
Later that day, Elan returned with Polly and she got the grand tour. Elan bragged about Polly’s skill as a pilot. Polly was in awe at the agility of the little business jet. Polly reviewed all the personnel and site photos the other three had taken of the airstrip, water and solar panels, hangars, and houses out in Paulden, Arizona. Then they showed her a photo of the 2-meter-long rattlesnake. “THAT is a big snake. Who killed that one?” Polly asked.
Robert Allen stuck his thumb toward Lux and then pantomimed throwing a knife. Polly gave a quiet whistle.




Chapter 2



Sunday - Lux’s Lab – While the Bodyguards Are Training in Arizona
Lux was glad Professor Trenton was back working with him. It was too quiet when Trenton was at Eglin. “How were the conversions going on the F-35s?” Lux asked.
“General Dobbs loves them,” Douglas said. “We’ll finish a squadron every two weeks. The pilots love the converted craft. Dobbs told me that morale is up and churn is zero. Pilots can’t wait to fly to Ramstein Air Force Base in Germany in an hour and a half. It’s a little over 7,725 kilometers. They can fly at up to Mach 6 in the F-35s but they have to slow down or some of the edges overheat. It is a huge weakness that they have to slow down, and open ports to shoot any ordinance. They had one fighter plane try to launch a missile at Mach 4, while they were ratcheting up to Mach 5, and ripped off some weapon bay doors. The planes could stand the faster speed, but the weapons weren’t designed for launching or deployment at those kinds of velocities. They’ll use their old AIM-260 missiles but they were only able to go at Mach 5. The planes fly too fast to use their current weaponry.”
“We were going to have to make missiles based on my Halbach-thruster system sooner, rather than later,” Lux suggested sadly. “The missiles wouldn’t need much in the way of explosives since they’d have so much kinetic energy, I suppose…or would they? Just the Halbach thruster would get them to whatever speed and range their hull material was able to withstand. The missiles could be made to fly at Mach 20 and the F-35s could have 14 missiles with near-infinite range and their smaller size. They wouldn’t need the supercapacitor stuff. I suppose I should tell my dad.”
“Oh. I meant to tell you, Lux. The folks at Eglin strongly suggested we give our competitors too much information by calling them, ‘Halbach’ thrusters. They started calling them ‘Blakely’ thrusters. Thought you’d be pleased,” Douglas said.
“Painting a big target on my back. Great! You’ve just met my bodyguard team, right? I’ve got one of them who I’ll use to start covering Prissy and to detect if others are also watching her. The other three will be off and on guarding me.”
“Why aren’t your bodyguards with us today?” Professor Trenton asked. “Where are they?”
“Yep. Today, Elan is flying the Cirrus out to Arizona, with Polly Maynard, plus the three additional chairs as cargo. Elan will install the family seating while my bodyguards go for a week at Gunsite Academy. Polly Maynard has time in the jets but mainly in the V-22 Osprey. If she can keep that beast in the air with 24-fully-loaded Marines, she can fly anything. We’ll keep her legal. They had no idea they were going to be dumped in training today. They thought it was just an orientation,” Lux chuckled. “Trial by fire. Want them off balance a bit to get them to bond.”
“Our synthetic material airlock is due to be delivered in an hour or so,” Lux continued. “I have the curved pieces for the clamshell and over the airlock. I also have all the hydraulics and controls to add before the four get back from Arizona next week.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW
The new composite airlock was on a lift dolly behind the Pod and Trenton was measuring the mounting bolts and compression seals. The airlock would cut into their cargo capacity but would allow the transfer of two persons at a time wearing full EVA (Extravehicular Activity) suits. The extra weight of the airlock, tanks, pumps, and clamshell cover would shift the center of gravity of the Pod back, so they would need to move the seating forward. Luckily, they had designed versatility into the lightweight system. If it works, Lux thought. Just placing the mounting brackets, tanks, wiring, pumps, and circuitry took two full days of work even though everything had been meticulously planned. Wiring gave them fits, as did the pressure/depressurization tanks. The pumps weren’t as quiet as they thought, and they had to add more sound insulation until the noise level was acceptable.
“Think we’re ready to check the alignment of the piping and wiring,” Professor Trenton said. “We need to make sure the silicon sealant is evenly applied along every connection. Triple-check every connection.”
The lift dolly positioned the airlock and they rolled it forward to join the frame of the Pod. The bolts lined up and they alternately tightened the bolts with torque wrenches to the proper value. The pumps, tanks, and wiring to the control panels took another day. The testing took several days to get it right. They finally got it to depressurize and pressurize reliably. Tying into the ISS air tank already on the Pod saved a lot of space and weight.
“It looks like it’s holding the pressure!” Lux yelled from the awkward position in the rear of the Pod to Professor Trenton who was putting a thin film of viscous fluid over the seams to look for leaks.
Lux climbed out of the Pod and Trenton came up to him. 

The clamshell made of the hybrid-graphene supercapacitor material looked like the palms of two hands spread apart. The steel frame the sheets were molded to were hydraulically operated to open and close. Lux hoped the gaps and joints were narrow enough that the electrically charged panels would still create the ‘effect’ or a lot of work would be wasted. Lux closed and sealed the clamshell while cycling up the ‘Blakely’ thrusters until the craft lifted off the ground. 
“You ready to see if it works?” Douglas Trenton said as Lux nodded.
Douglas turned on the smoke generator and there was a noticeable ‘effect’ gap along the entire surface of the Pod. Lux took out his knife and stabbed the side of the craft. His knife point was stopped a good centimeter and a half from the surface. There was an invisible ‘something’ that wouldn’t let the knife tip get close to the surface. He moved to the rear and looked at Professor Trenton, who nodded. Lux stabbed at the joint between the clamshell halves at the rear and the knife got no closer. There was a field or ‘something’ covering the surface when the thruster system was on even minimally.
Lux keyed the remote shutdown of the Pod, and as it settled, the smoke showed the ‘effect’ faded as the thrusters shut down. “We’ll need to get some of the secret, new EVA spacesuits from the Tesla subcontractor. I’ve tried to contact them but they won’t even acknowledge me by email. Do you think you can get them to talk with us?” Lux asked.
“I think you are a bad influence on me. You still have those four Tesla IVA (interior vehicular activity) suits you got from Eglin?” Trenton said.
“Yep. Are you thinking of a supply run test? The attachment sensors and cameras need a test,” Trenton said. “You know this would not be approved by NASA.”
“I’ve got an idea. Anna, would you buy as much SpaceX stock as we can comfortably afford?” Lux said.
“I can do that. Good idea,” Anna said.
◆◆◆
 
Eglin Air Force Base – Phone of General Jeffrey Dobbs – 96th Test Wing
“General Dobbs. Lux Blakely here. I have a request. You gave me four (4) internal use space suits - the IVAs, but I need to get the company that made those, to make me sets of EVA suits. They won’t talk with me. Do you know who we can talk to for some action?”
“Yea, Lux. Enjoyed my ride. Wish we could have gone in. Can’t talk much over my phone,” the General said. “I know one of the guys high up in the company that made those.”
◆◆◆
 
Blakely House – Huntsville, Alabama
Paulus Blakeley was surprised to get an ‘important’ text from his son asking for an hour of his time. He was supposed to step out back of the house.
Paulus came out the back of the house and saw his son standing in an ill-fitting white IVA SpaceX spacesuit. “Hi dad,” Lux said. “Need to talk with you. Lock up and come with me for an hour. Need your advice,” giving his dad the least stressful information in a manner that was hard to refuse.”
His dad’s lips thinned, but he turned around, set the security, and locked the house. Lux handed him another SpaceX suit. “Yep. Please put this on,” Lux asked, his father paused and then stripped down to his underwear and stepped into the suit. He put his clothes under one of the outdoor umbrellas. His dad paused again as he saw two men in the Pod with the doors up.
“Sit behind me,” Lux said as he sat in the front, left seat. “This is General Jeffrey Dobbs, base commander at Eglin, and his XO, Lieutenant Colonel Rankin. Everybody, check harnesses.”
The doors on the Pod lowered and locked in place. They could hear the seal lock and their ears felt the slight pressure differential as the Pod checked to make sure the seals were good.
Lux checked pressure and power. The control panels looked green. The interior view panels came on and showed the views around the Pod and then the Pod was in space and headed for the International Space Station. Paulus Blakely looked at the view panels with skepticism, since he felt no acceleration as they shot into orbit.
◆◆◆
 
International Space Station – Mission Specialist Jessica Watkins - the day before
Mission Specialist Watkins was puzzled by the transmission. It was from Eglin Air Force Base, again. She turned to Mission Commander Kjell Lindgren.
“Commander, I just got another screwy message from Eglin Air Force Base,” she said with a puzzled expression. “This is like the one several months ago. They asked if we have any cravings for any food or anything. They said they have four people that would like to stop by for a couple of hours tomorrow if we have a time slot that is free.”
“What is it?” Commander asked.
“They say the base commander, his XO, a scientist, and their pilot are coming up to test their new, lightweight airlock,” she said.
“Ask them if it is NASA approved?” Commander Lindgren replied.
“Sir. They say absolutely not, but it is top secret,” Watkins said with a grin.
“Tell them, ‘Hell Yes’ please and I want chocolate milkshakes, grilled beef tenderloins, sriracha sauce, kimchi, fresh whole grain bread, rye bread, strong coffee, horseradish, tobacco sauce, and Thai fish sauce.”
“They say, they’ll be here tomorrow, just before our evening scheduled meal,” she said. “Do you really think they’ll come?”
“Bringing tourists and designing a lightweight airlock on whatever that craft was here just a few months ago? I surely hope so. The fact that NASA hasn’t approved of their visit makes me hopeful. You say that vehicle didn’t outgas before it disappeared last time?” Commander Lindgren asked. He was feeling quite frustrated at the slow progress within NASA. He was excited.
◆◆◆
 
International Space Station – Mission Specialist Jessica Watkins
“Commander. There is a vehicle hailing us. They say they will attempt to dock at the Quest docking port. I’ve seen their vehicle sir. It doesn’t seem to have a docking collar. It’s like an egg that has been made more rounded in the middle,” Watkins said.
“Tell them to proceed. They can’t dock if they don’t have the means. We’ll see one way or the other. This is new tech. Our system will show a hard dock if it works,” Commander Lindgren stated. “Let me know how well it works.”
“Aye, sir,” she said.
◆◆◆
 
International Space Station – Pod backing to Quest Airlock
Lux opened the clamshell and it functioned as it should. He turned on the alignment cameras and decided he’d try this manually first. He was moving the Pod all around. It wasn’t as easy as it looked, so he switched it to automatic and the Pod went and snicked into a hard lock in a couple of seconds. Not using blasts of gas to change direction made it much easier. He opened the inner door and had General Dobbs with bags of goodies for the astronauts. The General and the supplies filled the airlock. They shut the inner door and set the airlock pressure to 10.2 psi even the station was 14.7 psi (Earth normal).
◆◆◆
 
International Space Station – Mission Specialist Jessica Watkins
“Commander. They already hard docked. It literally took them only five seconds to align and hard dock. I’ve never seen it done nearly that fast. They say they set pressure to 10.2 psi already. Allow egress?” she asked.
“Granted.  Let ‘em through,” Lindgren was optimistic.
“They have opened the outer door. Pressure set to 14.7 psi. Inner door opening.”
General Dobbs floated in and said, “Permission to come aboard.”
“Granted, General Dobbs. Welcome aboard,” Commander Lindgren said.
“I bring gifts, Commander. You must be Kjell Lindgren. Introduce me around as my other three come aboard.”
Colonel Rankin and Lux cycled through next. When they came into the main module, Rankin asked permission and came in. The crew of the ISS seemed stunned by Lux. Paulus Blakely floated in next and it was getting a bit crowded.
“Hi folks. I’m Lux Blakely. I invented that thing that brought us here and I hope to make it available. This is my father, Doctor Paulus Blakely. He designs hypersonic craft and asteroid mining equipment. Everyone fist-bumped around. Sorry we can’t brief you on the Pod yet, but the airlock I put in, worked well. The automatic docking sequence did better than I expected. I’d never done it before.”
They all turned and looked at him aghast, even the three that came with him.
“You never practiced with it?” the commander asked.
“No. The automatic sequence I wrote was steadier than me. Something wrong?” Lux asked.
“How did you test it?” Mission Specialist Watkins asked.
“We did pressure testing and we did a Monte Carlo type simulation on it 1,000 times. It is simple tech. If I had a problem, we’d just fly back to Earth in a minute, correct it and fly back up here,” Lux said and they all looked horrified. “I use one of your high-pressure tanks for oxygen with the Pod.”
“What does your ship use for protection against kinetic impact and radiation?” the mission specialist asked.
“I won’t go into too much detail but no kinetic material can breach the hull. All higher energy radiation, from ultraviolet to gamma radiation, doesn’t penetrate at all,” Lux said. “I’ve gotten more radiation in the few minutes here than I’ve ever received flying in orbit or around the globe.”
“That’s impossible,” Watkins said.
“Sure is, with NASA tech. Hey, General. We obviously can’t be here. So, dump all the 500 kilos of supplies, and let’s bail. Take some pictures, but don’t show them to anybody, because they’re impossible,” Lux said sarcastically.
“Don’t be that way,” Jessica Watkins said floating close to Lux.
“Ha. Feminine wiles don’t work on me. I’m only ten,” Lux said, with a huge grin.
“Yea. Give it up, Jessica. He’s too savvy for you,” Kjell said, and everybody laughed. “Since it takes about thirty minutes before your sinuses clog up here, let’s see what you got for us to eat.”
“We have chocolate milkshakes with Kahlua that should be about unfrozen now. Here you go,” General Dobbs handed out the small shakes with secure bags and straws.
“If I die this minute, I’ll be happy. These are wonderful. It’s good cold. Yum!” Jessica said as she went through two milkshake bags. “And it’s still cold!”
They exclaimed when they went through the supplies. Most of the items were hits. There were cheers as they pulled out grilled beef tenderloins with garlic, sriracha sauce, kimchi, fresh whole grain bread, rye bread, strong coffee, horseradish, tobacco sauce, jalapeno peppers, and Thai fish sauce. Lux kidded them that they would need mouthwash too.
They soon piled back through the airlocks and into the Pod. The ISS crew gave them a warm farewell. Specialist Watkins gave Colonel Rankin a kiss right on the lips when she found out he wasn’t married. She even gave Lux a very long hug and ruffled his hair. “You’re so cute,” she said, and he blushed hugely. Everyone laughed.
“I just want you to know that I, or one of my people, can probably get here in a half-hour and get you almost anywhere on Earth a few minutes later if you have an emergency. You aren’t that isolated any more. Here is my contact information,” Lux said and pulled out a folded sheet of paper with all his contacts.
They spent more time going through the airlocks than traveling to the ISS. Lux released the Pod from the station airlock. The clamshell covering the Pod airlock confirmed the seal, and they drifted away from the ISS. Ten minutes later, they were back at Eglin Air Force Base. The slowest part of the return was getting permission to approach the base, as the whole area was on higher alert status since the upgrades to the fighter jets.
◆◆◆
 
Eglin Air Force Base – Florida – Building 600
General Dobbs and his XO got out, and Paulus just looked around in awe at the methodical work going on around him. F-35 fighters stripped of their engines were being converted. Their air intakes were being covered with a shaped hybrid material to add aerodynamics and reduce radar reflections. The Tesla Roadster batteries were installed where the fuel tanks had been. The three ‘Blakely’ thrusters gave these aircraft the ability to hit Mach 6 in spurts before they started overheating.
“Who paid for these changes?” Paulus asked. “Why did you want me here? Remember, you said I was working on all that ‘obsolete’ tech.”
Lux looked down. “I’m sorry, dad. I was just upset that you wouldn’t believe in my designs. The retrofitting comes out of their fuel budget without having to get approval anywhere else. They are paying me $1.5 million per plane. Professor Trenton and I pay a quarter million for materials and they do all the work. This is the third squadron they’ve converted.”
Paulus looked at his son with eyes as wide as saucers. “Really!” he giggled and shook his head. “My son…What are the specs of the enhanced conversion?”
“The F-16s can hit Mach 5 but that’s a lot of strain on their airframe. With a full loadout, they can consistently fly at Mach 4. The F-35s can sprint to Mach 6 but start to overheat at that speed. Consistent Mach 5 with a full loadout and no heating issues. They all have perfect VTOL abilities. They don’t need that clumsy vertical takeoff and landing system that the F-35B Lightning II uses. One charge would allow them to fly coast-to-coast and back with power to spare. These are a lot more robust and stable.”
“Ah. You need me because they can’t deploy the current weapon systems they have. You!” Paulus said, looking at his son in surprise. “You want me to use your propulsion system in the hypersonic missiles I design because my frames can handle the stress and adiabatic compression heating.”
Lux nodded.
“You’ve already done some modeling also. Haven’t you?” Paulus asked. “What about maneuverability? Weight?”
“Less weight and near infinite range. I predict Mach 20 with your guidance systems,” Lux said. “My system should give you maneuverability with no thermal signature.”
Paulus looked at the design of the F-35 covered weapon pods.  “I’ll bet they’d rip off the weapons' bay doors at that speed, with that design, right?”
“Yep. I can send you the plans and some of my propulsion assemblies you could use to test in actual weapons,” Lux said. “Would that work?”
“Yes,” Paulus said. “Have you got additional protection?”
“I have four skilled bodyguards coming back in tonight. I sent them for extra training out in Arizona.”
“I think you ought to skip your classes. Going to and from school exposes you to being attacked or seized,” Paulus suggested.
“You’re probably right, dad. I think I can do my remaining classes remotely. I’ll move from the Hayes House to where my bodyguards live at the Alexan on 8th. I think I can get an apartment there.”
◆◆◆
 
Body Guards after the week of Gunsite Academy training - Paulden, Arizona
Elan had certified Polly to fly the Cirrus, the prior week, as she flew it from Atlanta to Paulden, Arizona. She was going to fly the other three back to Atlanta. She was a bit nervous on the way back but Rodney was also a pilot and would be a good copilot. He would love the ‘additions’ to the propulsion system.
Polly turned to Rodney after going through the checklist and a smooth and quiet takeoff on the ‘thruster’. “You like the apartments they got for us?”
“They are nice,” Rodney said. “I think Robert and I will be fine there. We can run to the lab faster than we can drive there. We should drive to the Campus Recreation Center for the morning runs. I noticed we had a special parking permit that lets us park anywhere on campus. How did we get that?” Rodney asked.
“Anna hacked the parking administration database,” Polly said. The trip back was tedious even if it was three hours at the speed of a 747.
The four hopped out of the Cirrus. They moved their bags to the car Elan had left in the Fulton County airport hangar. They were a bit subdued as Captain Branch drove them back.
Sue White was the first to pull up her phone pictures of the ISS and start showing them to Captain Maynard. “We were really there. We went out to Arizona and it only took us twenty minutes. It took a bit longer on the way because we stopped off to fly around the International Space Station.”
Robert scowled at Sue. “I thought we weren’t going to show any of those photos to anyone.”
“Silly. I’m dying to show these to somebody, but you three are the only ones that I can show them to,” Sue said,
The four bodyguards were ecstatic over their new assignments. They had forgotten the car in the indoor parking adjacent to Lux’s lab. Rodney was the designated driver and they started looking through the vehicle as Lux explained the different security features. Dinner would be late tonight. He also explained he was moving down the hall from them in the Alexan on 8th. That would make it easier to cover him but they wondered what had happened that he needed to move.
◆◆◆
 
Home of Chris Tripp – SpaceX VP Spacesuit Division
Chris was surprised when General Dobbs called him. He thought it was a crank call at first, but when Dobbs said it was top secret, he perked up. He knew Dobbs personally and the general said this would expand his worldview. Dobbs mentioned a private company needing spacesuits and would pay without the bidding delays from hell that plagued government contracts. He’d listen to what they had to say. They were supposed to come by in a few minutes but Chris had been watching the long drive and no vehicle drove up. It was getting pretty dark and he heard knocking behind him. There was a man at his back door. The man was wearing a white interior vehicular activity (IVA) suit. He thought this was funny since he had arranged for the suits to be made in the first place - instead of using the 24 different vendors working on similar suits for NASA.
“Hi, Chris. Thought this would be the best way to see you,” General Dobbs said. Dobbs turned to the man coming in behind him, who was also wearing a white IVA suit. “This is Lieutenant Colonel Rankin who works with me at the 94th.”
Chris noticed the man was carrying an extra white IVA spacesuit. “Do you have a complaint? We do good work,” Chris said, trying to be flippant but he was a bit nervous. “Am I being kidnapped?”
“Nope,” Jeffrey said. “Just need you to see something that is Top Secret Plus. I need no more than three hours of your time. People on the ISS wanted some more specialty foods and I promised to bring them some. My pilot is trying to get you to make some spacesuits for him and he can’t get through to you. Nobody will take his calls. He really needs the suits. Come out, at least, and see the vehicle.”
“I don’t know about this. This is way too unorthodox for me. I don’t like acceleration. I can’t stand Gs at all,” Chris said backing away.
“Chris. I was in Eglin less than ten minutes ago. You went to MIT. This is really new,” the general said. “No inertial effects, Chris. The Colonel and I went up months ago. Here are some of the pictures I took.” The general showed Chris the photos on his cell phone.
“This is a joke, right? That’s impossible,” Chris said.
“To quote my pilot. If it happens, it may be possible,” the general said.
“Okay. I’ll see this craft but I’m not saying I’ll go anywhere with you,” Chris said, and turned around and picked up his smartphone. He followed them outside and saw the Pod with the gull-wing doors open and a small person in a too-large IVA suit standing outside.
“Who are you?” Chris asked.
“I’m Lux Blakely. You must be Chris Tripp, the fellow I’ve been trying to reach. You can see I need your help on spacesuits for me and my employees.” His suit looked too large for him.
“What for?” Chris said.
“EVAs and the Moon now, Mars next year or so. I need to finish my Aeronautical Engineering degree at Georgia Tech this next year,” Lux said.
“How old are you?” Chris asked.
Lux let out a big sigh. “How old were you when you invented inertial free propulsion? I have a Top Secret/Sensitive Compartmented Information Clearance with the DoD. I made millions from my patent licenses. This Pod generally travels at Mach 34 in the atmosphere with no sonic booms. It is my design. I’m from the South, so, do you want to fish or cut bait?” Lux said and grabbed the suit out of Colonel Rankin’s arms. He held it out to Chris.
Chris stepped back like it was dangerous.
Lux turned away and said over his shoulder, “Come on. He’s just another boat anchor, like NASA. I’ll wave millions at some other company. Let’s go. We promised that food to the ISS, and their milkshakes are going to melt, if we wait on Mr. foot-dragger here. Come on. Promised you guys a few hours on the ISS.” Lux took the suit and tossed it in the back as he climbed into the Pod, and started strapping in.
The other two soldiers looked at Chris and shook their heads before climbing back into the Pod.
“I’ll tell everyone about this! This is a big hoax, and I’ll expose you. I have my door camera recording all this,” Chris yelled.
“Think again, Mr. boat anchor! It’s all being erased as we speak and no one will believe you,” Lux yelled while the doors shut. Moments later the Pod shot up in the air so fast, that it might have just disappeared. “I really thought he’d go for it,” he told Dobbs.
“I like going up there with you. That is a fun part of my day when I’m not doing all the bureaucratic bits. I feel like I’m really on the cutting edge when I’m with you,” Dobbs said.
Chris Tripp stood there looking up at the sky before he remembered his cell phone was still in his pocket. He had never had it out. He rushed inside and pulled up the security footage from his house cameras. They showed a gorgeous blond, in a partially zipped short dress carrying a bra and high heels in one hand, and blowing a kiss at the camera. She ran out in the dark, before getting into her convertible, and driving away. Somebody had doctored his video, he thought.
He looked up Lux Blakely and confirmed some patents. He also found a story by a local TV station in Huntsville from a bit over a year ago. Couldn’t be the same guy, was it? He’d call an acquaintance at Georgia Tech, and see if he knew anything. He checked the SpaceX database and found where Lux Blakely had put up a satellite that…further information was blocked. It said he needed higher clearance. What the heck? he thought.
◆◆◆
 
Office of Chris Tripp – SpaceX VP Spacesuit Division
“Mister Tripp. You have a call from Mister Lux Blakely. Will you take it in your office?” his administrative assistant said.
“Yes, thank you Denetria,” Chris Tripp remembered the visit the night before and he was a bit intimidated. “Chris Tripp here. What can I do for you, Lux?”
“Hi…Chris. Since we’re using first names, you don’t mind me using yours, do you? Thank you for taking my calls. I’m really sorry you weren’t able to take me up on the trip last night. You give me a call and I can take you anywhere you want to go if I’m not in school or working with the military that day. I can take you and two others since there is no felt acceleration. There isn’t the horrible strain and noise like with spacecraft using rockets.”
“I don’t believe your technology exists. I don’t know what trick you played but that couldn’t be real,” Chris said.
“Sent you a couple of photos. I shouldn’t tell you this, but I’m converting all the fighter jets at Eglin to use electricity. That gets rid of all their noisy jet engines. Sure, wish you’d reconsider making spacesuits for us. I need about ten sets. I’d be willing to pay three-quarters of a million for each. I’ll need some Mars suits soon, probably before you will. Let me know. I could save your company billions but I’m trying to finish up school here at Georgia Tech. You could boost a heck of a lot more into space without the weight of the fuel for those big rockets. Send me the word before I go to Blue Horizon or some foreign company next week. Blow me off and your boss finds out about it…whew,” Lux said and sent two photos plus his contact information.
Chris pulled up a photo that showed Lux, Lt. Colonel Rankin, and General Dobbs with the ISS crew. The second photo showed the clamshell doors wide as the Pod was leaving the Quest airlock of the ISS. “We’ll definitely look at making suits for you. Are you offering your propulsion units for our rockets?”
“I am. Simple and cheap. It is not anti-gravity but for near-earth, it will be orders of magnitude cheaper. This technology exists today. This isn’t prototypes. I sent a 12U satellite to geostationary orbit last year after being launched from Boca Chica when I was just learning the capabilities. I didn’t know I didn’t need a launch. I’m offering your company the front end of this before any other companies. You will still need all the environmental and the capsule tech. Asteroid mining will still need all the mining equipment and the suits but you won’t need to worry about fuel. Your job will shoot up in importance,” Lux said. He'd need at least four more IVA suits knowing his bodyguards would be back this afternoon from training.
◆◆◆
 
Home of Chris Tripp – SpaceX VP Spacesuit Division
Chris was nervous. This was going to affect his job. Either he was going to get fired or promoted.
The rear camera showed the Pod landing and two people getting out. One was the kid and the other was a lot bigger. The kid looked swallowed up in the white IVA suit and the other guy looked like his suit was too little. They came to the rear door and Chris opened it. He was wearing an IVA suit, which was a good sign. The other guy in the room with Chris was wearing an IVA suit too.
“Welcome, Lux. Who do you have with you?” Chris said, in a hospitable tone.
“This is former Special Forces, Captain Rodney Branch. He’s head of my security team,” Lux said.
Chris turned around and presented the other man in the room. “This is…”
Lux cut him off. “No need to introduce you, sir. Nice to see you. You’re probably wondering if we could do a conversion on a Dragon Module. You have a launch weight of about 6,000 kilograms (13,228 lbs.). It would take two of our standard ‘Blakely’ thrusters to do away with the rockets entirely. It would also give you, at least, two weeks of thrust at full power and life support. That is with two Tesla roadster batteries, cooling systems adapted for space, control modules, and software. That would run about 1,600 kilograms. The existing trunk section’s solar panels could remain attached and provide extra electrical power if you wanted.”
“I hear you are converting F-16s at Eglin Air Force Base. F-35s too,” the CEO said.
Lux looked surprised. “Glad to see you keep up. They take about two days to convert. The F-35s can easily hit Mach 5 and fly coast to coast and back without recharging.”
“Recharging what?” the CEO questioned.
“Your Roadster battery packs. They’ve been working great,” Lux said.
The CEO had a big grin on his face. “Chris. The present.”
“Oh. Almost forgot,” Chris turned around and handed Lux a big box. “Please open it now.”
Lux opened the box and said, “Bless you,” as he took out the smaller white IVA suit with ‘Blakely’ printed on the pocket. Lux asked if he could step into the bathroom because he was a bit shy. Three minutes later he came out wearing the much more fitted IVA suit.
“How about we go to the ISS? Sir. I suspect your executive board said you were not allowed to go into space for any reason because of the stress of a launch, radiation, and just the danger of sitting on kilotons of explosive fuel. Liability and stock issues if you were killed?” Lux said.
“Let’s go,” Chris said.
Lux thought Chris was so enthusiastic because his career was riding on this trip. Lux was sure he was scared to death, but wouldn’t show that to the CEO.
The gull-wing doors and Tesla Roadster batteries gave the CEO a big grin, as he climbed into the right front seat. Chris and Rodney climbed in the back. Lux climbed in the left front and handed his old suit to Rodney to put in the back. They strapped in.
Lux did a quick flight check for atmosphere, power, and nods from the crew. He closed the doors and had the view panels lit up showing the night view outside like it was daylight. The monitors at their feet showed the ground one moment, then showed the view from near orbit. A few moments later, Lux turned the Pod so it faced the International Space Station in orbit a hundred meters from them.
“How does this thing function? Chris wasn’t exactly clear,” the CEO asked.
“This is the medium we use for propulsion,” Lux said and turned the viewscreen to show his ‘special’ camera’s view of the magnetic fields of the Earth surrounding them. The colors were vivid and there were waves and eddies of fields. It was not the ubiquitous, fixed system of magnetic fields pictured in most textbooks. “I make the magnetic fields move out of line and that develops thrust.”
“How far out do these fields go?” the CEO asked.
“They go out to 64,000 kilometers (40,000 miles) around Earth heavily and looks like some others exist all over the solar system from the sun, large moons, and most of the planets. Looks like we’d have to become sailors to use this system or hybrid rocket systems paired with it,” Lux said. “There would be pathways of magnetic fields we could use.”
“How do we see these fields? This doesn’t look like simulations,” the CEO asked.
“Figured it out and patented a camera system over a year ago,” Lux said.
“Can we land at Boca Chica?” the CEO asked.
Lux got a one-sided grin and tilted his head down. “Does this mean Chris makes me spacesuits and you will have us convert or let me help you build real spaceships? Obviously, some cameras will catch us, and speculation will drive your stock crazy. No deal unless you’re willing to work with me.”
“Mister Blakely. You have a deal. Let’s go.”
“The cameras always show the Shipyard area. How about the mid-bay area?” Lux asked and he got nods in return. “I can hover for a few minutes before I land if you want to freak out people. Your stock will go through the roof and I’ll need to hide. It is only a matter of time anyway before I get too much attention. This will push the development a lot but it needs a shove.”
The CEO laughed. SpaceX employees on the night shift came running over when they saw their boss emerge from a strange vehicle. There were tons of pictures taken and questions asked. Most questions weren’t answered adequately. They had a hard time running them off before they were ready to take off.
Lux turned to the CEO and Tripp. “You realize I am putting myself on a limb at this point. Foreign governments will try to acquire my tech. Send your people to talk with me at my lab at 563 Spring Street NW in Atlanta, Georgia. You can turn all your large rockets into real spaceships.”




Chapter 3

Social Media was abuzz about that strange vehicle at the Boca Chica SpaceX launch facility. What was Elon up to? There were endless circular discussions about whether these videos were fake or real. If real, what was it? The videos were pretty high resolution for all the camera’s distance. A few workers had posted video clips that showed a person getting out of the vehicle, and another in the back seat. The person getting out was definitely Elon Musk. There was a buzz about them all wearing Space suits. The other person in the back was identified as Chris Tripp from the SpaceX spacesuit division. 
Elon Musk in a space suit? Everyone speculated, but Elon was seen at the Hawthorne, California headquarters an hour later. Elon's plane didn't show it had moved.
The SEC suggested that the CEO might have violated antitrust regulations by speculating about non-existent tech hours later after Musk tweeted:
Flew down to Boca Chica yesterday to test out some possible alternatives to rockets and faster/cheaper ways to go to the Moon and Mars. It is like Tesla versus the internal combustion engines. My electric vehicles are powerful, fast, and quiet…all my vehicles.
Rodney branch looked at his news feed on his phone. “Oh, crap!” he said. The others were soon looking at the news story.
“Have they tied it into us yet?” Sue White asked. “This semester’s classes start this week.”
“We have to get him out of Hayes House. Let’s do that today,” Rodney said.
“I’ll go over with you,” Robert said.
◆◆◆
 
Hayes House – Georgia Tech Campus
Bruce was surprised by the two big guys that came with Lux. “Hey, Lux. What’s going on? Who are these guys?” Bruce asked, always curious.
“These are some friends of mine. Have to move some items out of my room. They’ll help me carry them. You, okay?” Lux asked.
“I’m good,” he said.
It didn’t take five minutes to clear out his room. He left a set of sheets and bedspread in case he wanted to sleep here on the spur of the moment since he was moving to the Alexan on 8th.
◆◆◆
 
CIA Headquarters – Office of Ingrid – Langley, Virginia
Taylor knocked on the open door at Ingrid’s office. “Come!” Ingrid said while staring at her screen. “What’s up?”
“Did you see the video from Boca Chica? What the hell kind of vehicle was that? Was it real?” Taylor asked.
“That’s what I’ve been looking at for the tenth time. Damn if it doesn’t look real. Who has tech like that? Was it antigravity? I’ve looked at five different people who were at the scene and uploaded their videos. All were  employees working at Boca Chica on that shift. Should we check with Space Force? I have a number for Major General Stewart at Schriever Air Base in Colorado. He has a secure line.”
◆◆◆
 
US Air Force Space Surveillance Network - Schriever Air Force Base – Colorado
Day shift General Stewart looked up when Tech 4 Susan Esrilla said he had a secure call from the CIA. He nodded and said he’d take the call. He moved into his office and shut the door. Everyone knew the CIA wasn't supposed to work in country.
“Who am I talking with?” Stewart asked.
“Ingrid,” answered. “I’m a senior analyst here. I’m calling you to see if that video is real from Texas yesterday?”
“Probably,” I can’t talk about it.
“Thanks. We’ll keep an eye out,” knowing the General couldn’t give her more.
◆◆◆
 
Beale Air Force Base, California – Solid State Phased Array System
“Sergeant, I realize you didn’t expect that vehicle. Is it difficult to track?” the major said.
“Our network down in Socorro, New Mexico, tracked a bogie from Boca Chica, Texas to Hawthorne, California. The display ghosted in and out of radar returns. After Hawthorne, it went East. I called the US Air Force Space Surveillance Network and they admitted it was probably going back to Atlanta,” the lieutenant said.
“What do you know about Atlanta, sergeant?” the major asked.
The sergeant looked around and pulled the major’s door closed. “Sir, it’s nothing but ‘scuttlebutt’.” He paused and the major motioned him to continue. “Sir, I have friends who have been talking about some new propulsion technology discovered by some kid in Atlanta. One person mentioned Arizona where a small business jet stopped in mid-air and saved an F-16 pilot with a failed parachute. That plane flew off at Mach 0.86. (1062 kph/660 mph); near twice that biz jet's rated top speed.”
“How do I know nothing about any of this?” the major complained.
“I’ve been training people at different posts and they tell me things,” the sergeant confided.
“A kid in Atlanta? Do you have any more details?” the major asked.
“One source mentioned the name ‘Blakely’, and ‘he’ was doing something down at Eglin Air Force base,” the sergeant stated.
“Thank you, sergeant,” the major said. The sergeant saluted did an about-face, and headed out the door. The major sat for a moment and called a friend. That friend called a female, Eliana Mizrahi.
◆◆◆
 
Israeli Military Intelligence (Aman) – Unit 81 (Technology Acquisition)
Brigadier General Lior Carmeli looked at the report from Eliana Mizrahi. The report said she had confirmed the fuel-less propulsion technology. That would be heaven-sent for his people since the fuel ate up a tremendous portion of the budget. He wasn’t sure he believed the bit about inertialess drive, however. The portion of the report from Eglin Air Force base from Senior Master Sergeant Jeff Blusmettier was fascinating. The pittance he was paid was baffling since he was perfectly placed as an intelligence asset. F35 fighters going Mach 6 and taking off and landing vertically! He could hardly believe that a ten-year-old, wait, an eleven-year-old boy, had invented this technology. He regretted the arrest of Professor Ernest Helmann. The professor had disappeared, so it was clear that the asset was no longer in play. He didn’t think Eliana would have the same effect on an eleven-year-old. He would bump this intel up to the highest levels and assign resources. It would certainly be easier to place operatives in Atlanta than put an asset in Wenchang, Hainan, China.
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW – Atlanta, Georgia
Lux was expecting a call sometime but was surprised who actually did call him.
“Hi, this is Lux Blakely.”
“Hi, Lux. I’m Will Heltsley. I’m VP of Propulsion Engineering at SpaceX. My CEO ‘recommended’ that I should call you. You are supposed to have a new propulsion system. Is this something to do with that DeepFake set of videos from Boca Chica, the other day? The CEO believes they are real, but I know they’re impossible. He ordered me to call you anyway.”
“I’m in Atlanta currently. When can you meet me?” Lux asked. “I’m here with Professor Douglas Trenton from Georgia Tech.”
“I can’t get there for two weeks at least. I hate to fly these days,” Heltsley said. This kid doesn’t sound like an adult. He wished his CEO hadn’t insisted. The CEO had so many screwy ideas.
“I mean, where are you right now?” Lux asked.
“I can’t talk long. I have to go over to SpaceX Tooling to meet Joe Petrzelka in thirty minutes. I’d love to talk but I’ve got to go,” Will said trying to cut this off. He had done what the CEO asked. He could say they couldn’t get their schedules aligned. He prepared to cut the connection.
“Perfect! That’s at 12675 Crenshaw Blvd, Hawthorne, isn’t it? I think there is a loading dock that’s partially fenced in, isn’t there? Tell you what. We’ll meet you there in ten minutes,” Lux said. “Isn’t Joe Petrzelka the VP over Spacecraft Engineering? Have him meet us too.”
“How will I know who you are?” Will said amusingly, believing this kid was screwy like his boss sometimes.
“It’s only 3,500 kilometers (2,200 miles) from Atlanta. We’ll be the only ones landing in the loading dock area. We’ll be there in about ten minutes,” Lux said.
“Sure, you will,” Heltsley said sarcastically. “Can’t wait to meet you.”
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Tooling - 12675 Crenshaw Blvd, Hawthorne, CA
Will Heltsley called Joe Petrzelka. He told him of the CEO’s demand that he call this kid. and recapped the short conversation. He and Joe got a good laugh about them flying 3,500 kilometers. “You want to go out back and ‘watch’ for them. We can tell the CEO we dropped what we were doing and then they didn’t show up,” Heltsley said.
“Sure,” Joe laughed, as they walked out to the loading dock area. “I need to talk with you about the new engine modifications anyway while…” Joe stopped what he was saying and poked Heltsley.
“Hey!” Heltsley said, getting ready to admonish Will for poking him until he saw where Joe was looking.
The egg-shaped Pod came down so much faster than a free-falling object, they flinched thinking it was about to crash into the ground. The object just came to an abrupt stop about a meter off the ground and extended some landing gear and set down so quietly that they couldn’t hear anything above the background noise of the city.
The gull-winged doors lifted up and a kid stepped out. A man got out on the other side and the doors lowered and locked once they were clear. The two walked toward the pair on the loading dock who was standing there looking shocked.
“Hi, I’m Lux and this is Doctor Douglas Trenton. No, this is not the end of your career. It is when your career gets even more interesting.”
They shook hands and Lux said, “I bet you want to go over and see the Pod.”
The two just nodded and Lux raised the gull-wing doors again. The two stuck their heads in and looked around. “You have four seats in here. How is this powered?” Joe Petrzelka asked. "Isn't that one of our Roadster power packs?"
“Yep. We use one of your newer Roadster batteries. “We can go coast to coast several times per charge. You want to go for a ride? We can take you down to Boca Chica and back. Don’t know if they have any good places for lunch down there though.”
Will went over and put his hand near the front of the Pod and noticed it wasn’t hot. “Please,” Will Heltsley said. “We’d love that.”
◆◆◆
 
Boca Chica, Texas – SpaceX Manufacturing Facility
“How much thrust do you get from whatever powers this craft?” Will asked. “And it only uses electricity?”
“Yep,” Lux said. “One of our standard units produces 30,000 pounds of thrust (133 kiloNewtons). We don’t vector our thrust to change direction. We have some of my smaller  thrusters for VTOL and changing direction rapidly.”
“I noticed you had no heating from flying fast through the atmosphere,” Joe commented to Professor Trenton.
“And no inertial effects,” noted Will Heltsley. “What are you offering us?”
“We can put our two modules of our propulsion and control system in your Dragon module, and it will power it for a week of thrust without recharging. The solar cells on the skirt would be enough for you to fly back to Earth, from low-Earth orbit. It would take twenty units to give more thrust than your Big Falcon Rocket but that would be enough to hover or orbit your Starship fully-loaded. It would get the EPA off your case since you could have near-silent launches with no chance of explosion. No fuel is stored to explode or spill. Of course, the environmentalists will complain when you leave footprints on their pristine Mars deserts,” Lux explained with a grin.
“But we wouldn’t be getting the inertialess part, would we?” Joe asked.
“No. Not ‘til you are building space, lunar, or Mars habitats. We would work it out with you if traveling in deep space to block all the harmful radiation. The Pod blocks all high-energy radiation from high-frequency ultraviolet, X-rays, and gamma rays. You could do that next year if you wanted,” Lux explained.
“You’ve tested this with the radiation?” Joe asked.
“Yep. We were surprised too. Trenton designed any necessary tweaks to our environmental system. We took your CEO and Chris Tripp up to the International Space Station a few days ago. Then we took them to Boca Chica, and then back to Hawthorne.”
“That explains why he wanted me to call you. What do we need to start working together? How long is the lead time for getting your ‘Blakely’ thrusters? What kind of specs do you have on them? What kind of costs?” Joe asked and Will was nodding.
“We probably need a week for up to twenty thrusters. Control modules are about the same. Right now,” Lux said and looked over at Trenton. He held up two fingers of one hand and then 5 fingers of his second hand while standing behind them.
“We’d start by selling them for 250 thousand apiece which would include the control module and software,” Lux said. “They show no wear so far, and there is nothing for maintenance we’ve found. That price would come down. I imagine you can get the Roadster batteries cheaper than we can.”
“We would need detailed specifications on mounting and power hookups. The separation between units and how they are used to control direction,” Joe said.
Lux looked at Trenton who nodded. “Here are two data sticks,” Lux said. “This first one has a contract to be signed before it will release the rest of the information. The contract refers to the dissemination of information, confidentiality, and prices, as I’ve discussed, plus all the specifications. Once that document is signed and verified, the second data stick will unencrypt tentative plans for the placement of thrusters for the Dragon module and Starship. The index of available files is available BEFORE you sign the agreement.”
“Wow. We need to go back to Hawthorne. We have a lot to work through,” Will Heltsley said. He had been floored by this information.
They all climbed into the Pod. Lux turned on his magnetic field camera.
Joe leaned forward. “What are those waves? They are everywhere. Are those the Earth’s magnetic fields? I thought they just went from the south pole to the north pole in nice smooth lines. How are you displaying these? I didn’t realize they were everywhere and so chaotic?”
“I invented the camera a while back that shows magnetic fields,” Lux said, and his SpaceX passengers seemed struck again by his youth. “My cameras are available and we’ll need them when we travel between planets because while there are some fields there, but they aren’t ubiquitous like around Earth. The magnetic fields vary in density throughout the solar system. Nothing around Venus and Mars since they don’t have planetary magnetic fields.”
Minutes later the Pod was landing at the SpaceX Tooling facility loading dock. “Thank you for taking us around,” Joe Petrzelka said.
“I was totally wrong about you and this tech,” Will Heltsley said.
Lux laughed. “Join the club. My dad didn’t even believe me until he was in zero gravity. That was the final clue for him.”
Will snorted a laugh.
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Headquarters – 1 Rocket Road, Hawthorne, California
Chris Tripp, Will Heltsley, Joe Petrzelka, and the CEO sat down together. “Let’s look at the data stick and see about that contract,” Will said.
They examined the contract. There were a lot of comments but it looked quite reasonable. It was so simple and relied on trust for both parties. It gave SpaceX primary access to ‘Blakely’ thrusters. It even explained that they were called Blakely thrusters by the techs at Eglin Air Force base. The CEO started to sign the document when Will stopped him. “Don’t you need to get a sign-off from legal before you sign that?” Will asked.
“I don’t think so. Do you think Lux was trying to trick us?” the CEO asked them all.
“No,” they all answered.
“He seems quite straightforward. He is brilliant, with that touch of naïveté that makes him charming,” Will said.
Chris Tripp leaned forward. “He can be forceful too. Don’t let the kid fool you. He can be aggressive. He was that way with me when I foolishly turned him down about traveling in that Pod.”
“You were just cautious. You had to convince me. You know I’ve seen some screwball ideas over the years. I will LOVE not having to deal with those EPA folks as much. Wait ‘til we have our first launch with this stuff. Our stock will go through the roof.” He signed the contract with a flourish and the index suddenly looked different.
“Look at this. Goodness. It shows videos of the test on the smaller and larger ‘Blakely’ thrusters using load cells. It showed that their standard one produced 30,000 lbf or 133kiloN. Look at the length of time the thruster can produce that thrust versus the electricity used. The chart with a Roadster Battery was eye-opening. They could get the 450 kg battery at cost, and they could ‘fly’ for days before recharging. *
They saw the videos of installing three thrusters and two batteries in some type of plane and a chart of the thrust profile. Wow! Getting rid of that explosive, dangerous liquid would make launches so much easier. The environmental impact would be so much less troublesome. The details were amazing. The second data stick had detailed plans to remove the tanks and install thrusters, control modules, and software for the Dragon and skirt. It also showed several configurations for lighter airlocks, and docking software, as he had designed for the Pod. It even gave access to funds transfers and environmental reports.
Joe was impressed with the video showing the steps it took to add the airlock to the Pod. It then showed the actual video when they attached it to the ISS. There was even a video from inside the ISS showing the connection and time from start to dock. Wow! It hard docked in five seconds. Trenton and the kid do good work. The CEO gave the go-ahead on the conversion of the Dragon Module.
◆◆◆
 
AE 4080 Aerothermodynamics - Georgia Tech
The new semester brought new challenges. This class was one of them. Professor Xie thought he was god’s gift to the world. He was smart but the dumbest kid in these classes was smart as hell. This class was on hypersonic flow.  Lux supposed Xie set upon him in the first class  because Professor Wei Xie must have decided Lux would be a threat to his brilliant teaching.
“You will learn how inviscid hypersonic flow impacts shock relations for high temperature chemically reacting gas,” the professor said impressed with the impressive sounding title he had recited. He looked around the class and zeroed in on the gangly boy in the back. “You are the Lux boy. I’ve heard about you. Tell me, Lux boy. What does that mean? What I just said.”
“It means you’re just looking for equilibrium solutions using oblique shock tubes and other detonation waves. A way to make a complex topic more simplified, I suppose,” Lux responded.
“You are just throwing complex words at me. Do you understand what it means?” Xie asked.
“Professor, I was enthralled by your syllabus. I am hoping you will explain this complex subject to me,” Lux said.
“Are you trying to get me angry?” Professor Xie demanded.
“Sir, I am trying to answer your questions to the best of my ability,” Lux answered.
“Keep your vapid comments to yourself,” Xie said, proud of using the word vapid. It sprang to mind. He smiled to himself. He sure put that student in his place. “Now we shall look at inviscid flows and their relation to the Reynolds number.”
Lux sighed. Maybe he’d learn something later in this class. It did give him 3-semester hours of credit even if a lot of the first half was reviewing AE 3030.
A coed came up to him after class. She looked really young too. She had big eyes and jet-black hair with perfect skin. She looked athletic with a great figure, and she smelled nice. Something threw him off immediately about her for some reason. “I’m Hannah. You must be Lux Blakely. Do you think we could get together after classes today? I’d love to have you help me with the homework. I think it is so - hard,” she emphasized while getting uncomfortably close to Lux.
Lux thought she was attractive, but she gave off the wrong vibe. She would be batting a thousand with older guys, though. She made him feel – queasy. He had learned in the last year to trust his gut. “Not anytime soon,” he said. “I’m too busy. Ali, there is really good with this stuff. He could help you. See you, next class.” He had dropped his AES 4801 Planetary Spacecraft Development and signed up for AE 6373 Advanced Design Methods I which was a four-credit hour course.
Lux got to class and it was full of grad students. He stood out in the class being a decade younger than the youngest ones in the class. He didn’t plan to go out drinking with them. He settled into the class. There was a ten-minute break after being fifty minutes into the class and one of the older guys came up to him. “Hey, kid,” the older student said to him. “What are you doing in this class? There are a lot of theoretical and design protocols in this class. It has some pretty high math. I’m Sid, by the way.”
“Hi, Sid. I’m Lux. I was looking for an easy course, and this looked like I might actually learn something too.”
“Easy. Did you look at the text and the syllabus? Response Surface Methodology: Process and Product Optimization Using Designed Experiments, 3rd Edition,” Sid recited the title.
“I read a couple of sections in it. Looked decent. Had stuff I hadn’t considered in it, and that is always fun,” Lux said. “We got to get back in there. Talk later.”
Sid nodded and they went back into class. Lux thought the guy seemed genuine, but he’d have his team check out Sid What’s-his-name and Hannah hot-pants. Never can be too careful.
◆◆◆
 
Friday Morning - Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW - Atlanta
Robert Allen came up to Lux the next day with several sheets of paper. “We’ve run all your current teachers and students. You were right about Hannah. Her real name isn’t Hannah, its Leah
Mizrahi. She’s a Lolita.”
Lux looked confused and he’d not heard that term before. He gave Robert a questioning look.
“She’s an Israeli operative who specializes in compromising older guys. I guess they thought she’d be young enough to seduce our eleven-year-old,” Robert said.
Lux wasn’t sure how he felt about that but it sounded interesting. “What about Sid?”
“Sid Hammel is an interesting case. Grew up in Texas and joined the Army at 17. Served four years and moved to inactive reserve when he blew out an ankle. GI Bill for college and got an undergraduate degree at UT Austin. Working on his master's here on a partial scholarship. He has excellent grades but his parents have money troubles from his younger sister. He repairs electric vehicles at a local Mercedes dealership but they don’t pay him the going rate. He sends most of the money home.”
Professor Trenton came in huffing and puffing. “What’s up doc?” Lux asked. “Did you run all the way here?”
“I had a faculty training I was required to attend,” he said. “Controlled Items and Export Compliance. It will be something we will have to dance around so I’m glad I went. Have the thrusters been ordered for the Boca Chica upgrade of Dragon?”
“We should have them here Friday a week. Sounds like you ought to come run with us in the mornings. Even Sue doesn’t wheeze much anymore,” Lux said, looking over at her as she was heading out to surveil Prissy, now that they knew Israeli intelligence was involved.
“Hey!” Sue said pointing at Lux with a mock scowl. “Mean boss makes girl run,” she said and headed out while testing communications.
“Read you five by five,” Rodney said. “Everybody get frosty. We now know the Israelis are on the case and where they go, the other nationals follow.

◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Boca Chica Manufacturing Facility
“What have you accomplished so far?” Joe Petrzelka asked the contractors.
“Copied what was in the plans, even if it didn’t make sense. We put in the bracing, mounted the attitude control modules, and those ‘Blakely’ thrusters. Don’t know how those will ‘thrust’. We removed the heat shield and installed the batteries in their place. We installed that lightweight airlock at the rear of the ‘trunk’. The Dragon module and the trunk are now merged into one pressurized whole. We added the additional air tank and the CO2 scrubber and the dehumidifier. You lost about half your cargo capacity. We got rid of the parachutes. What the hell? This is screwy. Who is this expert we’ve got coming in today?”
Joe laughed. “It’s the guy that designed this mess. You are going to freak when you meet him but he’s the real deal.”
“Is he the guy that designed that weird egg-shaped thing that landed here six weeks ago?” the contractor asked. “Wait. Is this thing supposed to fly without rockets?”
Joe Petrzelka nodded. “Ah, here he is,” Joe said as Lux and Professor Trenton walked around the corner of the building. They had not even seen his vehicle land.
“Hi, Lux. This is Mike. He’s in charge of the conversion,” Petrzelka said.
“Nice to meet you, Mike. Let’s go check your baby out,” Lux said.
“You really designed this stuff. How old are you?” Mike said with no filters.
“I’m eleven, Mike,” Lux answered while fighting back the ‘How old are you?’ retort he wanted to say. “How’d you end up heading up this rodeo?”
“Went to UT Austin for undergraduate and masters at Georgia Tech. They scooped me up after that. Been here ever since. You going to college after middle school?” Mike asked with a smirk.
“I’m finishing up my Aerospace Engineering undergrad degree at Georgia Tech too. Who’d you have as an advisor? The FBI arrested Helmann for espionage. I have Professor Wei Xie now but he thinks he hung the moon. Also taking AE 6373 Advanced Design Methods. Easy and fun so far,” Lux explained. “This is Professor Douglas Trenton. He teaches there too, but I don’t think he was there when you were there.”
Mike nodded to acknowledge Professor Trenton. “Dang. You think Advanced Design Methods is easy and fun! I still have nightmares from that class. I’m still traumatized from the tests,” Mike said, looking at Lux with a bit more respect. “We’re just now attaching the landing gear.”
They came over to the conversion area and started crawling through the vehicle. Lux let out a sigh. “All these are backward. The ‘thrust’ comes out the narrow end of these. You were thinking of rocket nozzles, weren’t you? Easy to do. The batteries look fine and they’re already charged. That’s good. Flip these thrusters while I’m here.  We can try this thing out this afternoon if you do that,” Lux said.
“You’re kidding, right? This afternoon? What about EPA approval? I guess we don’t need fuel,” Mike said, surprising himself as he thought it through.
“Sure. Get it done to my satisfaction and you can go with me while we try it out,” Lux said and gave him his contact information. “Call me when you’re done.”
Joe, Lux, and Professor Trenton got out of the way of Mike’s crew and walked over with Joe to the Starship that was being designed from the get-go for ‘Blakely’ thrusters.
The BFR booster and the StarShip Second Stage were other stories. They looked through the tankage section without the fuel and oxidizer storage tanks and all the plumbing for the Raptor rocket engines that weren't going to be used now. There was plenty of room to install the myriad ‘Blakely’ thrusters and power packs they’d need to get this huge beast off the ground. They had been going over the design details for three hours when Lux got a call from Mike. “We’re ready,” Mike said.
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Boca Chica Mid-Assembly Manufacturing – near Brownsville, Texas
Lux and Professor Trenton crawled through the Dragon Module conversion and checked connections. Lux was really pleased with the thoroughness of Mike’s crew. Lux turned to Douglas, Joe, and Mike. “I ran the diagnostics and it all came back okay. I don’t want to go to orbit or anything, but shall we take this out of the assembly building?”
No one said anything, but Lux could see the tension on their faces. The four climbed into the cockpit and strapped in. Professor Trenton and Lux checked each thruster and all the controls. He touched the thruster control and eased it forward. The ship creaked a bit as it just lifted off the surface. “Check the welds under the photovoltaics on the trunk portion when we get back.” He checked all the attitude thrusters. “Number three is a bit out of line.” Lux floated the Dragon out of the assembly building. He moved it about twenty meters up in the air. He set the controls on automatic hover.
The ship just hung there until he confirmed clearance. Then he edged the thrust control forward and they felt about two Gs of acceleration and the ship shot into the sky. Lux turned and did a short run to Mach 1 and then loped back to base. He lowered the ship and floated back into the assembly building. “Gentlemen. You have entered a new era and we have violated many outdated laws and regulations. Enjoyed it. Let me know when you are ready to train your pilots. It will take several hours.”




Chapter 4

Federal Aviation Administration
Office of Rulemaking - Room 810 - 800 Independence Avenue, SW - Washington, DC
“Look at this piece of work,” Dimitri demanded.
“What is it?” Sean Diebold said. They loved to show each other the screwy suggestions from the public.
“Yeah. This one is screwier than most. Listen to this:”
(SAOEV) Service Area Operations Experimental Vehicles: Designate a 500-meter diameter traverse column (no-fly zones) For VTOL to 82,000 ft+ (25,000 meters+). Unlimited speed (typically Mach 34) over populated areas as long as the craft produces no sonic booms. Vehicles must be equipped with TCAS II and Mode S transponders set to 0100 (east to west), 0200 (West to East), 0300, (South to North), and 0400 (North to South).
Lieutenant General Frank Parsons – US Space Force (Note – these vehicles have already entered service)
Contact: Lieutenant General DeAnna Bost – Peterson Air Force Base – Space Operations Command – Space Delta 2 Colorado Springs
Link to Peterson AFB.
“Man, this looks legit. Could this be about that vehicle that showed up at Boca Chica SpaceX?” Dimitri asked.
“Have no idea. I guess we should post this.
◆◆◆
 
CNN Office of Carol Matthews – Atlanta, Georgia
Jennifer came running into Carol’s office again. “Have you seen the latest video from Hawthorne, California? It was taken behind SpaceX Tooling, from the Crenshaw Business Complex. This guy Stephens was emptying a storage bin and he actually caught the landing because he was filming the contents of the storage locker when the craft landed.”
“Do you think it’s real?” Carol asked.
“Oh, yeah,” Jennifer said. “Guess who got out of the vehicle and who met them?”
“Jennifer, I’m going to beat you if you don’t just tell me what you have and quit asking questions,”
Carol said.
“Okay. Okay! Lux Blakely! The kid we were supposed to avoid talking about because of his dad. John ran a search on the other person with him, and the two people they met. John ran them through the new public facial recognition database. Professor Douglas Trenton from Georgia Tech was with the Blakely kid. Get this, the ones they met were: Joe Petrzelka, the VP of SpaceX Spacecraft Engineering, and Will Heltsley, the VP of Propulsion Engineering at SpaceX. The Stephens guy videoing was so enthralled, he stayed around until they came back out. He videoed Blakely and Trenton getting back into it the vehicle until it took off. The video has sound and the only sound recorded was the faintest hum, almost drowned out by the background noise, when it took off. There was no engine noise, air passage sounds, or sonic boom. The science guys here said, looking at the video frame rate, the vehicle went faster than the speed of sound with no sonic boom,” Jennifer took a breath.
“What do you think?” Carol asked. “Is this the same vehicle that showed up in the short videos from the Boca Chica SpaceX facility?”
“It’s the same vehicle, we think,” Jennifer said. “Want me to call the FBI? They wanted us to hold off on featuring Lux because of his father, Paulus.”
“Let’s contact that Professor Trenton. He probably is the one that designed that thing. Wasn’t Lux going to college?” Carol said. “The Feds never said anything about Trenton.”
“I’m on it,” Jennifer said.
◆◆◆
 
Professor Douglas Trenton – Examining his email
Professor Trenton was working with Lux to design a larger version of the Pod, in order to carry a load of cargo. “Uh-oh,” Trenton said.
“What’s up?” Lux asked. He had just been surprised by an email. Lux had just gotten a message from his father wanting him to come to Huntsville. “Has there been a problem?”
“Somebody videoed us at SpaceX Tooling and then got a video that they put through the public facial recognition database. CNN wants to talk with me about the new type of vehicle that goes faster than the speed of sound without sonic booms and doesn’t crush passengers with acceleration,” Trenton said. “I don’t want to appear on that show? We’re going to eventually have to release the information, even though this is really early,” Trenton said.
“It would hurt the SpaceX big debut. I don’t want to drop their stock value. Put it off until the day of their liftoff, at least. I need to go to Huntsville. Where do you want to build our larger ship? I’ll call General Dobbs and see what he has to say but I need to go see my dad in Huntsville, apparently. I’m calling him now and telling him to expect me,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
Blakely Home - Huntsville, Alabama – Meeting with Dad
Lux landed the Pod out the back of his Huntsville house. He knew he’d be setting off some of the the military radars enroute, but the Pod was very difficult to detect except by the most sensitive systems. Lux was glad he could detect other planes with his TCAS III (Traffic Alert and Collision Avoidance System) which looked for the transponders of other planes.
His father came out and greeted him with a big hug. “How is school going?”
Lux grinned, “I have two main courses plus the design project for the SpaceX Dragon module. Why’d you need to talk with me?”
“I took those two sample ‘Blakely’ thrusters you gave me and evaluated them on the large load cells at Marshall Space Flight Center. My issues had been fuel stability and range. You solved that for me, so I’d like you to join me in my section of the lab,” Paulus said. “I went several steps further.”
Lux had never been allowed to be in his dad’s section of the lab, and his father had him sign his name to the visitor's log as he entered. It looked virtually the same as his lab on the other side of the basement, though he had some neat equipment for materials testing at high temperatures that Lux didn’t need. “Have you tried it on a missile yet? What are you anticipating?”
“I did. I had the other scientists, following my design, close off the air inlet and make it more aerodynamic. My propulsion estimate with your thruster design will let it go up to Mach 20. Closing the air inlet helps a lot. This would give us intercontinental range with maneuverability and speed that cannot be compared to any other weapon system,” Paulus said. “You just saved my career and put us in the driver’s seat. We have a test today to see if the simulations were close to the mark.”
“Where are they testing? Are you using my attitude control system?” Lux asked.
“Yes. In simulations, it appears to be much better suited for high-speed attitude control than legacy systems. In fact, I think it will be orders of magnitude better. We have a secure feed here from Edwards,” Paulus said.
“What are they going to test?” Lux asked.
“They plan to fire one of my prototype missiles off a B-52H,” he said and chuckled. “Yes, those old planes are still flying. They’ll do an acceleration run to a velocity where any overheating will trigger a reduction in thrust. They will test some detection and evasion maneuvers before ending near Hickman Air Base,” Paulus said.
“How will they terminate the test? They should have enough power to fly back and into the back of a C130 if they had a good operator. You realize it can stop and hover,” Lux said.
“I do. They don’t. I planned to end the test with the missile hovering over the water until the recovery ship is alongside. I plan to surprise them a bit there, son,” Paulus said beaming with pride. “Just hope it doesn’t just fall in the ocean. There’s the countdown.”
They listened to the countdown and watched the missile track as it zoomed away and then went slithering over the ocean. It reached Mach 23 for a moment before slowing to Mach 20 to stabilize the skin temperature. A bit later, it went through a series of the craziest turns and dips. It was a dizzying array of moves that looked like it was out of control. Finally, it approached Hawaii and stopped, right over the recovery ship, gently lowering itself to the deck of the ship. Lux knew the sailors would be hard-pressed not to gossip about what they saw.
“What do you call it?” Lux asked.
His father laughed and shook his head. “Made a mistake there. They asked me for some acronym but I said, to name it the ‘Hasta’ instead, which is Latin for ‘Spear’. They said that name was great and called it the ‘Hasta Luego’ which is Spanish for ‘Bye’ or See you later.”
“What distance did it fly and how much power was left?” Lux asked.
“It flew 4,000 kilometers (2,500 miles) from Edwards Air Force base to near Hickman Air Force Base in Hawaii. It had enough power to fly more than triple that distance – so around 12,000 kilometers (7,500 miles). I think we can call this a success,” Paulus said. “They will want to manufacture the missiles at the Lockheed Martin Plant in Troy, Alabama. They’ll call me after this test of the Hasta and we can fly there in your Pod. That would stir them up. Is there a way you can keep them from getting in it? Aren’t you supposed to have your bodyguards with you? You can’t go around without them - not anymore. Hear me?”
“You’re right, Dad. I get to thinking about doing something and I put myself at risk. Would we be all right at Troy?” Lux asked.
“I’ll make some calls before we go. As long as they know you’re the inventor, they will treat you better. I won’t tell them how old you are,” Paulus said laughing. “That ALWAYS sets people off.”
“Don’t I know it,” Lux said, and hugged his dad. “Gotta go now. Love you, dad.”
◆◆◆
 
Call to Lockheed-Martin Fabrication Facility – Troy, Alabama
Paulus had indeed made a call to the fabrication facility. He said that the inventor wanted to look at their facility.
“Certainly, if he has the proper clearance level,” unknown person at Lockheed.
“He does,” Paulus said. “He plans to bring two security people with him.”
“Armed? Can’t do that,” Lockheed said.
“I see the president toured recently. Did he have Secret Service Protection?” Paulus said.
“Yes, but you can’t equate the President to some anonymous inventor,” Lockheed said.
“Are you saying that you want Boeing to manufacture the missiles instead of you? I’m sure I can convince the Alabama senators to manufacture them somewhere else,” Paulus said.
“This Friday would be fine,” the person from Lockheed said. “Use the East gate.”
“We’ll just fly into the helicopter pad you just put in,” Paulus said.
“You can’t do that,” unknown person at Lockheed.
“Why not?” Paulus.
“Too much noise and it raises dust,” unknown person at Lockheed said, giving excuses that made no sense.
“We cause no noise or dust. Oh – you mean a helicopter. This isn’t one of those. No noise or dust,” Paulus repeated.
A big sigh was heard. “This Friday at 9 am. At the Helipad. Watch the wind. It’s supposed to be strong on Friday,” unknown person at Lockheed.
“Wind does not affect our vehicle,” Paulus. “This Friday at 9 am.”
A big sigh was heard before the connection was cut.
◆◆◆
 
Visit to Lockheed-Martin Fabrication Facility – Troy, Alabama
Paulus related the call to Lux and his bodyguards. Robert Allen and Polly Maynard were with him today. They were dressed in the typical black suit and new spider silk-graphene body armor. It was lighter and more flexible than the layered Kevlar from the last century, and it distributed energy better. No other armor was cooler, since armor kept heat from escaping where it covered. They found they had to reach under the front panel of the vest and pump the material to get some of the hot air to escape.
The Pod had picked up Paulus in Huntsville and flown down to Troy, Alabama. Lux had noticed that Space Command had not given them a call as long as they stayed above 25,000 meters (82,000 ft) and squawked the proposed codes in the proposed air corridors. The Pod simply appeared at the helipad of the Troy, Alabama - Lockheed Martin facility.
Verner Abrojec stood aghast as this rounded, egg-shaped vehicle descended onto their helipad. He was with Karen Dubois. She was there as ‘eye candy’ but was a savvy intellectual in spite of Verner’s opinion of her. She let out an ‘ooh’ as the pod landed. The two security guys added a colorful expletive or two. Verner prodded them as the gull-wing doors of the Pod swung up. Four people emerged as they walked over.
The doors swung down and locked as Lux set the Pod on a low standby that would fix it in place and leave the ‘field’ running.
“Ah. Mister Blakely,” Verner said with his hand out to Paulus. “I pulled up your photo from my files. Introduce me to the inventor,” Verner said as he reached out to shake Robert Allen’s hand who stepped back. Verner also stepped back and looked perplexed. He stuck a hand out to Polly, who stepped back also. He looked confused.
Lux stepped forward. “I’m Lux Blakely. I invented the tech we’ll be using,” he said and turned to Karen. “You must be Karen Dubois. I really liked your thesis on inviscid flows. My father, Doctor Paulus Blakely covered work similar to yours in some of his research. I look forward to working with you. This is Robert Allen and Polly Maynard who are my security today. Let’s see, you must be Phil Waters and Grady Pinchon. I too, looked at your files before I came down today.”
Lux saw the two Lockheed security people jerk back when he knew their names. They didn’t have sewn nametags on their uniforms and they had made sure their lanyard security cards were turned away. They couldn’t know that Anna had hacked the database partially at the facility and practiced the names and photos of who might meet them today for a couple of hours. Lux wanted to see what type of security they had – Anna had been underwhelmed, to say the least. There were areas where explosives and nuclear materials were kept that had higher security.
Verner apologized to Paulus and called him doctor two or three times on the way into the building. Karen came up to Paulus and they talked as Verner gave the Berlitz background tour. Verner finally said to Paulus, but indicated to Lux, “I thought you said he had a TS clearance?”
“He does,” Paulus confirmed.
“You said he was a university student,” Verner said. “He isn’t old enough to be in high school.”
“I’m right here, Abrojec. I have a bit over a semester before I graduate in Aeronautical Engineering from Georgia Tech. I also do work with the Air and Space Force,” Lux said, more disgusted than angry.
Verner seemed off balance a bit as he led them to a plush little conference room. He turned to Karen. “See to their refreshments while I get set up,” he said and ran out of the room.
◆◆◆
 
Down the hall Lockheed-Martin Fabrication Facility
Verner ran to the group of four techs on the shop floor, who stood with all kinds of test instruments in their hands and on portable carts. “They landed in that vehicle we’ve heard so much about. I was hoping they would. Go! – go! – go! Get as much data as you can. I want to know everything about that vehicle. I’ll keep them distracted for an hour.”
Verner came back to the conference room. Karen frowned as he walked in. “We definitely want to manufacture the Hasta. Why’d you pick that name?”
“How many have the Air Force requested?” Paulus asked.
“We don’t have a number yet? The propulsion systems look complicated. What are you expecting to charge for each? How many can you produce in what time period? We could produce a thousand of the navigation packs and armor-piercing or area explosive warheads in a month,” Verner said.
“That’s no problem,” Paulus answered because he had already discussed this with Lux. “We’d charge a half-million for each of the first twenty-five sets including: propulsion, control, and power systems. You could have your conventional navigation system and plug it into one of our sets and it’s complete. You would just need to make sure it was charged. The only explosives would be the warhead you supply. Twenty-six to 1,000: $250,000 each. We can get you twenty-five in a week to start. We can easily ramp up production to whatever you need.”
“When can we get the detailed plans for the missiles?” Verner asked.
Paulus handed Verner a data stick. “They’re right here. It includes the contract, with pricing and security protocols.”
“That’s very good,” Verner said, and he seemed upset. “Why don’t we see the shop floor where we make these things? We’ll need to screen you so you don’t take photos or anything. That will only take us about fifteen minutes before and a search afterward.”
“We’re not interested in that,” Lux said, finally having enough of a runaround. “If we wanted to see buggy whips or blacksmiths, we’d have gone to see a Renaissance Festival. Your tech is obsolete,” Lux said to make Verner angry, knowing that the navigation systems and warheads were top of the line.
Lux gave his group the ‘let’s go’ signal by swiping his finger forward on his nose. They all got up but Verner rushed in front of the door and looked at his watch. “You can’t go. You just got here. I’ll get fired if you leave too soon.”
Karen went up and pushed Verner out of the way. “Have you lost your mind? Right this way people. I’ll escort you out.”
They hadn’t taken two steps out the door before Lux started laughing. He was soon joined by others on his team. Karen looked embarrassed and Verner looked appalled. A team of four men was focused on the Pod with all kinds of instruments spread out around it. They looked very frustrated.
Robert and Polly strutted forward and ordered the men to step away from their vehicle and take their equipment with them. Verner gave the four a head thrust to show them to get out of there and started yelling. “What are you doing here? Get away from these people’s vehicle. You know better than that!” He said while shooing them away. “I’m sorry about that. I guess curiosity and the cat.”
“Doesn’t that go ‘curiosity killed the cat’?” Lux said.
Lux motioned Karen and Verner to move back to the building. When they were farther away, Lux raised the doors and they all climbed in. As soon as they were buckled in, he took his dad back to Huntsville. He sat in the backyard of their Huntsville house and turned to his father. “You need to hire 7x24 security guards that you know, or you need to move. You know it’s going to get bad.”
“Doctor Blakely,” Polly spoke from the back seat before Paulus got out. “I think Lux is right, sir. I can get my company to recommend some good people.”
Paulus let out an exasperated sigh. “Captain Maynard,” Paulus said to Polly. “Pick me five good ones, will you? I’ll interview them remotely. It would be cheaper to involve the military, but you’d get what you paid for - and they’d be in control.” He got out and as soon as he got in and closed the door, the Pod took off, back to Atlanta.
◆◆◆
 
Aftermath of Visit to Lockheed-Martin Fabrication Facility – Troy, Alabama
Verner yelled at the four techs who were supposed to inspect the strange flying vehicle that had landed only a short time before. “You were supposed to X-ray the damn thing, find out what it was emitting, and then get away before they saw you!” Verner ranted.
Aayansh didn’t like the abuse. “You said to do that! You said you’d keep them away, for at least an hour. You said they wouldn’t mind. Don’t blame us!”
“Okay! Okay. Let’s calm down here,” Verner said, trying to get his breathing under control. “What did you find out? What did the X-Ray show?”
Aayansh answered again after looking at his team. “The X-Ray didn’t penetrate at all. As far as the surface of the craft…we could only get within a centimeter of the surface.”
“What do you mean? You didn’t learn anything?” Verner grumbled.
“What! Of course, we did. We learned it has some field that covers the surface that is impenetrable to X-Rays. Veer. Tell them what you found,” Aayansh said.
“The surface had some type of ‘field’ that covered the entire surface as far as I could examine. We could not get ‘any’ closer than one centimeter of the surface,” Veer said.
“What do you mean you couldn’t get closer than a centimeter?” Verner asked.
“We could not physically get closer than a centimeter. I jabbed it with a probe. I threw a handful of sandy soil at it. I got a handful of mud from the edge of the helipad and threw it at it. Rudra got a video of that. The mud just stops and falls straight down. The mud didn’t splat and spread out so it may be that there is no transfer of momentum,” Veer concluded.
“The field is invisible and doesn’t ‘emit’ anything we can detect,” Aayansh said. “Visible light seems to go through it. We don’t know what material is covering that ship.”
“You have the prototype missile from the Edwards Air Force Test. You’ve taken that apart. What did you find out there?”
“We found out that the device makes a cyclic magnetic field that has a weird shape,” Aayansh said. “We’ve tried to duplicate it but we haven’t been able to do so. The propulsion unit in the prototype was cast block epoxy. We can duplicate the power going to it. The control unit is also cast in a block of epoxy. Our navigation unit simply plugs into the control unit. Power comes from a lithium-sulfur battery. It’s a decent, stable battery that is easy to recharge.”
“Luckily, I have the detailed plans right here,” Verner said and held up the data stick. They went into the assembly area and scanned the data stick for malware. They then opened up the files and it opened to a letter and confidentiality agreement. Verner started cussing and started reading to the group. “It won’t let me open it until I sign a confidentiality agreement. Whoever signs it must be at a certain level in the Lockheed-Martin hierarchy. The signer is held personally responsible for the security of the enclosed detailed plans and the organization could face withdrawal of access and civil penalties if a violation occurs. Then it spells out what is considered a violation.”
“Does it have a list who can sign?” Karen asked.
Verner stated cussing again. “Just me for this facility.”
“Do it,” Karen said. “Seems less strict than the ones we use. You want to look at that data, right?”
Verner applied his digital signature to the document. There was a brief ‘blink’ of the monitor and then a diagram of the Hasta missile showed. You could click on the navigation system or the warhead and it showed all the details. It had the Gerber files for the circuit boards and all components that went into them. It listed the original manufacturer and had the programming code strings for the basic operations. Detailed code strings were only available for people with a higher DoD classification than Verner.
Verner clicked on the black box of the propulsion system and all he got was the input voltages and dimensions. It did also show how it was fastened to the missile. The battery showed the manufacturer, make, model, and serial numbers of the batteries, including how to charge them in different ways - installed or externally. The control module was another black box that showed the placement and wiring of the navigation system. The warhead options were detailed and showed armor-piercing shaped charge, bunker penetration, and fragmentation: including air and underwater burst. This schematic even showed the latest version of their Electro-Magnetic Pulse weapon.
Verner started cussing again. “This shows all our technology but doesn’t detail THEIR technology. They show our most secure designs. How could THEY get all of our designs?” Verner said.
“Maybe they don’t trust you since you’ve been trying to pick apart their tech. You know it wasn’t patented,” Karen said. “You already showed you were trying with that stunt you pulled. Did you ever consider asking? No,” Karen said, answering her own question. “Being honest would never occur to you.”
“You, watch it. I can fire you for any reason. Remember, Alabama is an ‘at-will’ state where I can fire you just because I want,” Verner said. “I can fire you without providing any reason.”
“Knock yourself out, big boy. The EEOC is still the law of the land and I’ve got plenty of justification to hang you for harassment,” Karen said and walked out of the room.
◆◆◆
 
Chinese Embassy in the U.S.A. – Washington, D.C.
Ambassador Cui Zhang was yelling at the attaché. “How have we missed this technology? Why are we finding out about it so late? They had a missile travel 4,000 kilometers and lower itself down to a ship? Incredible! It wasn’t destroyed and it went in excess of Mach 18 from release to end. Find out about it.”
The attaché tilted his head to the floor, raising his hand even with his head.
“WHAT!” yelled the ambassador. “There is more?”
“They have a vehicle that flies carrying passengers. It flies as fast as the missiles. We think it is made by SpaceX. We have a video of it flying to the SpaceX Hawthorne, California, and Boca Chica facilities. We thought it was a DeepFake, like the levitating Volkswagon floating car video. We didn’t realize they actually made a flying Pod.”
“Find out who makes it, and steal the plans. We can’t let the ‘gweilo’ get ahead of us in this tech. It is fine for them to invent it. It saves us money for them to invent it and then we develop it,” the ambassador demanded of his spy. “You are getting soft on the life here. Hire whomever you need. Money is no object. Your career depends on getting this technology. The PRC must have it.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW - Atlanta
Robert was upset. He related what had happened at the Lockheed facility to bodyguards Rodney and Sue. They had just come into the lab.
“Hey, guys. Heads up. Lux’s friend, Prissy is headed this way. She’ll be here in a minute,” Sue said a moment before Prissy showed up on the outer monitor. Lux went to meet her.
Prissy came into the lab. “I’m so angry. Why in the world did you start messing with SpaceX?” she fussed at Lux. “Have you seen all the stories out there about this ship?” Prissy said pointing at the Pod.
“I can see you’re upset. Come back to my office, so we can talk privately,” Lux said.
“Who are all these people? Who is she?” Prissy said pointing at Sue White. “I’ve seen her around the sorority house. What is going on here? We have problems.”
“Let’s talk in my office,” he said. “I have cold Sprite with cherry syrup and fresh limes in my office.”
“Okay. Pulling out the big guns, are you?” she grinned and followed him into his office.
“What’s going on? I haven’t talked with you since we came back to school,” he said.
“Oh. You’re that busy,” she said with a sarcastic tone as he got crushed ice out of the refrigerator in the corner of his office and poured in a Sprite.
He pulled out a bottle of cherry syrup and squirted some into the iced drink. Then he squeezed a couple of quarters of lime into the drink. “One cherry limeade,” he said with a smile as he stirred with a straw.
She smiled hugely and closed her eyes as she sipped the drink. “I love this stuff. Who is that girl? Those girls…there are two of them.”
“Those are part of my security team. They look after me and my important friends. They are retired Special Forces and Marines. I am working with SpaceX to get spacesuits. We are going into space with my tech now. We need those suits. I plan to go to the moon, next year. We need to become a multi-planetary species or we won’t survive,” Lux said.
“You really believe that stuff, don’t you? I’ve got more important stuff to talk about,” Prissy said with her head down sipping the drink. She was sheepishly looking at him over the top of the drink.
He scrunched his mouth up into a ‘this-ought-to-be-a good one smile. “What did you promise somebody you’d do?”
“Remember when I told you I was the head of the International Lummi Fan Club? There are 100,000 members in France. They found my name and contacted me. I told them I’d come over. The UK fan club found out and wants me to give a talk too. Oh – and Frankfurt kind of wants me there too. The only way I can do it in the time I have is with that,” Prissy said while pointing out where the Pod was in the lab.
“Come over. As in Europe? Let’s talk with Anna. Anna. I know you’ve been listening,” Lux said aloud.
“You realize I listen to all that goes on around me,” Anna said.
“Of course, Anna. You’re the smartest being in the room. I want you to look after me too. We both have to be diligent so we all don’t get picked up and carted off to some remote place. We also have to keep up our revenue stream. I couldn’t do any research without Lummi's money. If I take research money from the Feds, they’ll own me. What do you think of traveling to England, France, and Germany?”
“I think we can be in and out of all three places before they can do anything. They will get mad but I will get all the venue paperwork. I will make them think we are flying in and driving to the venues. Prissy, do you mind if I look through your emails about Lummi? I won’t talk about anything else,” Anna said.
Prissy blushed but nodded. “Okay.”
“No problem. Do you mind if I suggest some emails to them over the next couple of days? The emails would pop up for you to edit before I send anything,” Anna suggested.
“Let’s arrange for Lummi double number one or two to fly to London. Anna, can you apply for a passport for Lummi? Say she was born in Huntsville, Alabama, or somewhere in the South. Make her between 21 and 25 years old. Is that possible?” Lux asked.
“Getting a passport is easy, but I will try to find parents who fit the backstory. I can have four Lummi passports printed for each of our doubles. The social security number is the one big problem, as she’d have tax returns on that number. I’ll do all of those and pay any back taxes out of my portion of her profits,” Anna explained. “Hmm. Four Lummi dummy passports just for show. I made a joke.”
Prissy sat there slurping the last of her drink. “School’s going fine. Courses are relatively easy. I’m being treated REALLY well at the sorority. Let’s go meet my bodyguard before Anna gets us all thrown in jail.”
◆◆◆
 
FAA – Secretary of Transportation – Environmental Assessment Released for New Vehicle
Suzanne Hernandez, U.S. Secretary of Transportation was looking at the report she had received. “Have they lost their minds! Are they taking drugs? What do they mean by this tech? There are no measurable emissions of any kind? It emits no heat – no gases. It is nearly silent. Is this possible?”
Tandy Malik, her assistant replied, “Madame Secretary. We sent observers there when they first submitted the paperwork. They had documentation from tests done at a lab at Georgia Tech. We also got a redacted Secret report that confirms the capabilities because we did not believe the Georgia Tech report. You’ve seen that video of the SpaceX CEO landing in a strange vehicle at Boca Chica – the video we thought was a DeepFake. It is real. Observers have seen the test flights that were done without full approval. It is feasible and it is going to open up space. We let them blow up in the past. Now – we need to let them go up.”
“Let them go up since they don’t need to blow up is catchy. Run that by the PR office. I’ll release it today.”
◆◆◆
 
NEWSY – FAA Releases Approval of Converted Dragon Module for Orbital Flight
Anchor reading story on NEWSY:
“The FAA published the Final Programmatic Environmental Assessment (Final PEA) and Mitigated Finding of No Significant Impact/Record of Decision (Mitigated FONSI/ROD) for the SpaceX Dragon Module Magnetic Field Vehicle Program at the SpaceX Boca Chica Launch Site in Cameron County, Texas (PEA).”
Anchor continued, “This means that blazing plumes of fire and smoke will not happen with this latest SpaceX launch. It will not have the thundering noise that accompanied all prior launches and protestors will now have to find other issues to complain about. The CEO of SpaceX was asked about the protestors. He said, “People will protest we use the metric system, like the rest of the civilized world. People would protest not giving them wallets if we gave them money. People have protested that we aren’t expected to blow up this time.”
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Boca Chica Mid-Assembly Manufacturing – near Brownsville, Texas
Lux and Professor Doulas Trenton were examining the Dragon Module conversion. Today was the day when they were launching the new vehicle to orbit. Lux went over to Joe Petrzelka. “What is the final launch plan? Are you still going to hold?”
“Yes. They want to launch and hold stationary for 30 seconds at 305 meters (1,000 feet) altitude to check the system stability,” Petrzelka explained, and continued. “Then, the plan is to reach the speed of sound at about 12,000 meters (40,000 feet) altitude going 1,062 km/hour (660 miles/hr at that altitude) to keep atmospheric stresses low. Then a higher acceleration (about 2Gs) until the orbital velocity is reached. It takes longer at lower acceleration but stress on the vehicle and passengers is minimized.”
“Do you still plan to rendezvous with the International Space Station?” Trenton asked. “I thought that was not on the plan you gave the FAA.”
“Well,” Joe said. “We’re trying to show that the US government doesn’t regulate wherever private companies go all over the solar system. This is just an early turf battle with the governments on the Earth trying to hold on to power when we are off the planet. We’re delivering a ton of supplies to the ISS.”
Lux grinned. “When?”
“We’ve moved up the liftoff a half hour because we’re ready to go,” Joe said. “We would have been waiting for all kinds of things before that have no relevance now. We have power and the sky is clear of vehicles near our flight path.”
“Let’s go over to tracking,” Trenton said.
◆◆◆
 
LanPadre Live Coverage of the Launch of the SpaceX Dragon Magnetic
Media streaming host: “Hi. Welcome back to the LanPadre coverage of the SpaceX Dragon Magnetic launch. We don’t know much about this launch but they got approval really fast through the FAA. The environmental impact approval also seemed to go through really fast. This may be tied to that flight two months ago, where the CEO visited in some odd vehicle. Everybody thought that was a DeepFake. Apparently not. We’ll see today. They moved the launch up thirty minutes. They always delay but this is the first time we’ve heard them move it up. We’ll see. We also don’t have a detailed description of the flight, as we’ve always had before. We’re supposed to start in five minutes…”
Five minutes later. “Ten, nine, eight, seven, six, five, four, three – nothing’s happening – no plume of engine start. Wait, wait! The dragon ship is lifting and going straight up like it was being raised by hidden cables! There’s no noise? It stopped…is it falling…no…it’s just hanging in one spot over 400 meters in the air. (thirty seconds elapse). It is now shooting up in the sky. We just heard the sonic boom and it’s disappearing into orbit. We now switch you to the onboard cameras with the ship. There is no booster rocket drop because there are no rockets. We’ve entered a new age, people!”




Chapter 5

Embassy of the Russian Federation in Washington – Office of the Ambassador
Ambassador Dimitri Lebedev was irate. “How could we be blindsided so badly? We were always ahead in directed flow and then this comes along. How is it done? We have people within the launch site and we still can’t get copies of their technology.”
Resident envoy, Grigory Grishaev, was struggling with a line of intelligence failures. This one could be his last. “Ambassador. We will have the plans. We thought the innovation came from within SpaceX, but instead, it came from an associated team from the Georgia Institute of Technology, from Professor Douglas Trenton and student, Lux Blakely. We have hired private detectives in Atlanta, Georgia and they are reporting daily.”
“Did you see the video of the launch to space? Did you!? They didn’t use rockets at all. We confirmed they rendezvoused with the International Space Station. We should not have pulled out of that cooperation,” the ambassador lamented. “The costs to boost to orbit would be comparable to ordering from Amazon soon. We cannot compete with that. I will try to get more help. I do NOT want to have to deal with the Russian mafia here.”
The envoy left and the ambassador leaned forward with his head in his hands. He knew he was going to play dirty with this one.
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Headquarters – 1 Rocket Road, Hawthorne, California
The CEO was meeting with Joe Petrzelka and Chris Tripp after the last successful launch of their Dragon Magnetic. “What does the new propulsion system mean to our bottom line?”
Joe looked at Chris and started talking. “It would mean we could launch for one-tenth the cost we were incurring using conventional propellants. We’ve sold five spacesuits to Lux Blakely. We could not reverse engineer their propulsion system. Their control module is individually coded to only work with paired Blakely thrusters. We have gotten a base thruster unit from the company that makes them in Huntsville. We have figured out how to wire them to work but we still can’t get them to function as they did in our Dragon launch.”
“You don’t think we should continue to try to reverse engineer the thrusters?” the CEO asked.
“No sir,” Joe said. “We did sign a contract that states we will not try to reverse engineer their propulsion system. We have already violated that agreement though I don’t think they know it yet.”
“That kid, Lux, is eleven years old. What is he going to do if he finds out we did try to reverse engineer his tech?” the CEO asked, with disdain.
“Boss,” Chris said. “Don’t dismiss this kid like he’s some child. He told us exactly what he’d do. He said he release the tech by license to all our competitors at half the cost. He would sue us and tie us up with injunctions until others were on Mars. He said he had the time.”
“We’re ahead of everyone else now. We’re too far ahead to be worried by that. Let him sue. He’s still just a kid,” the CEO said.
“This Blakely kid is no slouch, boss,” Criss Tripp said. “He said, if we made it hard on him in court, he would freely give the technology to the Russians and Chinese with their promise to sabotage our launches. The kid said he is a great friend but would be a terrible enemy. I’ve dealt with him. Be a friend.”
“Do you think this little kid thought of this stuff on his own? Maybe we should just use his design help as is? He charges a reasonable cost for his products. I was impressed by what our Dragon module could do. Not having to pay for school, or catch the stages and capsules when they deorbit would lower our costs a lot. I just hate that he made a lot of our tech obsolete,” the CEO stated.
“Lux said we’d need the spacesuits and some means of nuclear or chemical propulsion in deep space. Our plans for the Mars mission could use his other technology that controls inertia. We have no idea how they do that. I’d say we ought to treat him as an ally and not as a disposable supplier,” Chris further stated.
“Do we have any idea how they avoid inertial effects?” the CEO asked.
“Not a clue,” Joe and Chris said simultaneously.
“Okay, then. Roll out the red carpet for our little friend. Get him working to transition our Starship Magnetic. That moon landing mission burned through most of our reserves. That Dragon Magnetic got us so many contracts, we will have a hard time completing them,” the CEO concluded.
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW – Atlanta, Georgia
Douglas Trenton, Paulus Blakely, and Lux were having a rare face-to-face progress meeting.
“Lockheed-Martin in Troy, Alabama got the expedited contract to manufacture the Hasta missiles,” Paulus said. “We gave them a license to use our propulsion system for $250,000 for each missile. They said they could only make ten a week to start. They said that with the learning curves, they could conceivably ramp up to 20 a week next month, but they'll never make that many that fast. That would earn us $1.5 million per week to start and then $3 million after they ramp up production.”
“That’s great,” Trenton said. “SpaceX liked the designs I did for the Starship conversion. There were some tweaks they did for the Dragon Magnetic but they got it squared away quickly down in their Boca Chica facility. They’re looking forward to a long relationship. Their words. You certainly maxed the design parameters for my seven-semester hour class with the airlock by itself. Fourteen large Blakely thrusters for the Starship would be graduate credits after you graduate this semester. Lifting 200+ tons to orbit ought to be worth a few semester hours of credit. Have you decided what you want to do? You’ve definitely decided not to do your Master's degree here?” Trenton asked.
“If I do anything, it will be a Ph.D. in Aeronautics from MIT,” Lux said. “I’ve got my AE 4080 Aerothermodynamics class squared away for this semester and I submitted the Dragon Magnetic design for my AE 4803 Planetary Spacecraft Development, minus all the proprietary bits. I’m set to graduate this December. Everything seems to have gone so fast.”
***
Emergency Meeting with Security Team – Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW
“I’ve seen surveillance outside Hayes House and an oriental-looking gentleman came asking the resident advisor about Lux,” Robert Allen reported. “We’ve alerted the University Police and they will be enforcing any trespassing violations. We think those were from the Chinese delegation. They have hired local ‘detectives’ that have sketchy reputations and those were hanging around our apartment up the street.”
“Were? Are they not hanging around any longer?” Lux asked.
Robert looked at Rodney and Polly who grinned. “They were ‘discouraged’ from continuing their surveillance. We explained to them, as a ‘courtesy,’ that they shouldn't be working for the Chinese government,” Rodney stated.
“What was the extent of the ‘discouragement’?” Lux asked.
Polly spoke up. “Three broken fingers were sufficient.”
Lux nodded. “I take it, I should finish my classes remotely then for this last little bit before I graduate. I hadn’t planned to walk. I don’t feel the need for the publicity any more than I did in high school.”
“Good,” Robert said. “That makes our job easier. We can always move out to Arizona for a while if it gets bad.”
“Sue?” Lux asked. “Any surveillance on Prissy’s student housing or sorority house?”
“I have had a woman come by intermittently. She may fit the profile for an Israeli operative that was working with Professor Helmann before he was arrested,” Sue explained.
“So where are the Russians?” Lux asked. “I figure all the other countries would be sniffing around as well as Iran and Saudi Arabia. North Korea starts out with cyber-security instead of physical attacks.”
Anna chimed in. "I have frustrated any cyberattacks by implanting my own malware on the servers of those who attack us. I have found that it is better to give than to receive."
"Thank you, Anna," Lux said.
“Joe Petrzelka explained to me that the Russians have moved in around Boca Chica. SpaceX knew about one employee there and they manage him,” Rodney explained.
“Why would they allow a spy to keep working there if they knew about him?” Lux asked.
Rodney chuckled and explained further. “You can control the information access if you know the spy. It’s the ones you don’t know about that will get you. We’ve contacted the FBI Counter Intelligence Branch and given them the information. They said they would call you personally with the names of any agents before they would approach us. It is a scam if you are approached by anyone without getting a phone call first.”
“What about other agencies?” Lux asked. “We have a lot of three-letter agency folks carrying guns.”
His team looked at each other but Rodney was the one that spoke up.
"Same old ones like the FBI, ATF, DOD, and DHS. We've also seen NSA and CIA and they aren't supposed to work in-country."
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW – Atlanta, Georgia
Lux had finished his last homework for the semester after the break and he was ready for any exams they could throw at him. The holidays were tougher to get through since Prissy just turned sixteen. He knew she’d gravitate away from him as puberty hit full steam. He was just getting to that awkward stage with growth spurts and urges. He knew she needed her space but he sent her a present anyway. He hoped she’d like it.
He turned back to his research into the ‘effect’. He was trying to determine if it was the charged ultracapacitor that caused the effect or just the hybrid material in the presence of a cycling magnetic field.
He took a small Blakely thruster and put a hybrid graphene-ceramic polymer supercapacitor in the field. With the thruster on low cycling, he approached the surface of the material and the ‘effect’ was created once the power and cycling were at 10% of the rated capacity.
Then he varied settings to find which combination of power and cycling rate was required before an ‘effect’ was noted. He noted that even at the minimum strength, there was no transfer of momentum which seemed counter-intuitive.
Lux then tried a supercapacitor without the hybrid coating and it did nothing. He tried many different outer coatings on supercapacitors and the effect was not created. He then tried just a layer of the graphene polymer material and was startled to find that the ‘effect’ was produced. He ordered as many variations of the graphene-ceramic blend as he could. He was excited to show Professor Trenton the next day.
He ordered a slightly used, 32-foot-long - Airstream Classic and had it brought to his parking garage the next day. He wanted a place he and his team could sleep comfortably without leaving the building and exposing themselves to surveillance or attack. He hooked the alarm system into the security system so he and the team could monitor everything, even while in the trailer. It was very comfortable though the electric air conditioning on the trailer raised the heat in the parking garage a good deal.
The sample materials arrived the next day after paying the exorbitant ‘next day’ shipping charge that was becoming the norm. Lux wasted no time taking the new materials to test them out. It wasn’t long before he was in the thick of testing while his security team worked out with weights, a treadmill, and sparring. Polly and Robert were no slouches, but Rodney was a bear and really fast.
◆◆◆
 
Breakthrough – Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW – Atlanta
Professor Trenton was at the lab working with Lux on the graphene-ceramic polymer hybrids. They had tried materials that were just sintered (heated selectively by laser in layers for this type of material) and they did nothing unusual. They reexamined their original material and discovered a nano-contaminant that was unlisted in the specifications. The original graphene-ceramic polymer had a tiny portion of bismuth in all the production from General Graphene near Knoxville, Tennessee. Evidently, bismuth from some other mining operation near Tullahoma, Tennessee, had been added to the material. It was distributed throughout the material but it was embedded in all the graphene samples from that company.
Lux added a rush order to be made that purposely added bismuth in varying amounts to a wide array of materials. The expedited materials would take a month to create in a variety of patterns and styles. Trenton and Lux continued with the work on the existent graphene hybrids.
“How do you think that minuscule amount of bismuth contaminated their production?” Lux asked.
“They must have been exposed to some dust from nearby metals processing even though there are mines in the vicinity – none mine bismuth, per se,” Professor Trenton explained. “Bismuth is a by-product of granite pegmatites. Those were found in small quantities near that area around Knoxville. It could have been an old deposit that was disturbed causing the dust.”
“However, it got into the material, we were lucky to detect it,” Lux said. “This works as well as the supercapacitor did but allows us more flexibility in design. Now, I’m going to change the shape of the cycling magnetic field. We don’t need the thrust if we are going to try to produce the other effect.”
“What should we call it? The military and SpaceX are calling your thrusters - ‘Blakely’ thrusters,” Trenton said.
“How about the ‘B.T. effect” or a BT Field…you know…after the Blakely-Trenton effect?” Lux said.
“Other people calling it the ‘Blakley thruster’ is okay. You calling it that yourself is another matter. We are probably out to lay off naming the effect after ourselves. We do have to call it something other than ‘the effect’ though,” Trenton replied.
“How about the ‘Force Field’?” Lux said. “That’s what people call it in all the sci-fi.”
Trenton laughed. “The Force Field is good enough for now ‘til we know better. We’re lucky it’s not the Helmann Effect. He was going to claim he had invented everything.”
◆◆◆
 
The Raid – 563 Spring Street NW – Atlanta, Georgia
Rodney was staying with Lux at the lab in the trailer. Lux had crashed at about 1 am on the redesign of the thruster. Robert and Polly were in their apartment. Sue was finishing up at the sorority house because Prissy had a date with some guy.
Anna alerted Lux and Rodney through an intercom within the trailer that was connected to the lab. “Two moving vans just pulled up near our building and three individuals got out of both. I have alerted Robert, Polly, and the head of the local FBI office at his home and several other agents’ homes. I alerted the local Atlanta Police.”
Rodney was scrambling out the trailer door with Lux  less than eight seconds later. He had slung his body armor over his shoulder and was cinching the belt carrying his holstered handgun and spare magazines. He grabbed the gas mask while struggling out of the trailer after Lux. Lux had grabbed his mask and they were in the interior lab seconds later. Lux sealed the doors. Rodney Branch was thinking his cushy security just got real.
“They just cut our hardwired connections,” Rodney said watching the cameras. “They’ll immediately breach the garage and possibly break off two to search the trailer. Then the attackers will use blast–distraction grenades. They will have silenced weapons for security people and knockout darts for you. Don’t expose yourself. They may use double-flash bang grenades. Those go off in two seconds and have a second blast a second later that usually blinds people. Earplugs in?”
Lux nodded and then took a deep breath and let it out slowly. He was not going to be an easy target. He now had his three-knife scabbard and a leg scabbard on both legs. He was trying to calm down and get into the state of ‘mushin’ (empty mind). He felt his heart rate slow. He slipped his fast-polarizing welding goggles off the tank and put them on. They reacted super-fast and he’d be able to see. He heard what must be the outer door being breached with a hiss. There was no talking and there was a slight delay as they heard a noise outside their main lab door before it was blown out of its frame and something was thrown inside. There was a dazzling flash and explosion followed by another blast a second later.
Lux saw two figures sweep into the room on opposite sides of the doors. Lux stayed on one knee while he drew and threw. The first one crumpled but two more followed right behind and Lux heard the spit of a pneumatic gun. He felt the brush of the dart above his head. He had two more knives out and flying as Rodney was firing double taps steadily. They heard sirens coming from outside but there were a couple of shots outside before they arrived.
“Are you okay?” they heard Polly yell.
“We’re fine,” Rodney said patting Lux down and examining him carefully.
Lux slipped off the goggles and pulled out his earplugs. He saw the four bodies in front of him. One had a knife sticking out of his eye. One had a knife in his throat and the third had a knife in his shoulder but he was unconscious. No sooner than he saw that, his teeth started chattering and he passed out. The local police arrived and wanted to throw everybody in jail until the FBI arrived about ten minutes later.
◆◆◆
 
Emory University Hospital – Midtown – 550 Peachtree Street NW
Lux woke up with an IV in his arm in a darkened private hospital room. He couldn’t remember what happened. Then he remembered the raid.
A young, female doctor came in and approached his bed. “You remember me? I’m Doctor Reilly,” she said smiling at him. “We have two officers right outside the door. Your bodyguard, Robert Allen, just stepped out. He had your power of attorney to handle the paperwork. Looks like we’ll release you as soon as he comes back. You look no worse for your wear. They won’t tell me what happened but you impressed somebody.” She unhooked his I.V.
Robert came in with a new set of his clothes and helped him get dressed. They were out of the hospital with minimal fuss. He was not in a wheelchair in spite of the rules. It seemed fast and efficient and totally unlike any hospital visit he had heard of. Their black car was waiting for them. Rodney was driving. They drove back to their apartments.
“Who is guarding the lab?” Lux asked.
Rodney looked at Lux. “How are you doing sport? You had a rough day yesterday. You holding up?”
“I can logically think through it all but it’s a bit of a blur. It seems unreal,” Lux said.
“We have the lab covered. They were after you and the Pod,” Rodney said, “…and they were going to go to any means to get it.”
“I killed people though. It’s against everything I’ve ever learned…but …but they were going to kill you. I felt they were going to kill me if they couldn’t capture me. Something told me that,” Lux said crying softly.
“We found two darts that just missed you and three-gun shots later in the battle. The last guy you hit in the shoulder with a knife got hit with a fentanyl dart from our drone. We were able to save him with naloxone spray and remove his cyanide capsule. Yes. He really had one. The FBI crime techs did a great job on forensics and kept the locals from poking around. He’ll be the gift that keeps on giving. They were all from China. Two were not registered as being in this country. We think it’s time to move out to Arizona. You can finish school remotely, can’t you?”
“Yep. Think so. I only have two exams and I’m done anyway. What about Prissy?” Lux asked.
“Sue told me Prissy had a boring date. She said she thought you ought to know that,” Robert said with a grin. This lab is getting a bit too hot. Sue will keep watching Prissy and Professor Trenton is moving with us. He’s not married and he says he wants to move this research along. Sue is getting two more people donated from the US Marshal’s Office on loan ‘til Prissy is out of school or out of danger. Professor Trenton is waiting at our apartments for us to coordinate. The FBI wants to talk with you. They are there with Trenton.”
“Great. Do I need a lawyer? I’m talking with law enforcement about killing people,” Lux questioned. “I haven’t had the greatest luck with law enforcement in the past. I knocked a guy unconscious once when he attacked me and was thrown in jail and charged with a felony. It made an impression on me. I’m a bit leery.”
“Do not elaborate. Answer questions and explain you thought they were going to kill you and that you were in fear for your life. That’s good enough in Georgia,” Rodney said.
“That I can do,” Lux said and sat with his jaw clamped the rest of the way to his apartment.
◆◆◆
 
FBI Interview at the Alexan on 8th Apartments at 880 W. Peachtree St. NW
They parked the car and walked together into the lobby of the apartments. Four men in suits were waiting for them. The oldest man, a distinguished man in a dark grey suit who was tall as Rodney and looked about 45 - though Lux wasn’t good at estimating ages over 20. Lux set his phone to record all the conversation and his nano-cam to record video.
“Hi, Lux. I’m Special Agent Dean Bectel from the Atlanta Counter Intelligence Section of the FBI. These are Agents Browder, Stoneham, and Isabell. We’d like to talk with you about what happened at 563 Spring Street NW.”
“I see you’ve met my associate, Professor Douglas Trenton. This is Branch and Allen. They are part of my full-time security team” Lux said. “May I see your credentials, gentlemen?” Lux looked at all their badges when they were presented. “Thank you. Let’s get out of the public and go upstairs to my apartment.”
“You have an apartment here too?” asked Agent Isabell. “I noticed there was a trailer at your lab.”
“Yes,” Lux said and didn’t elaborate even though the agent stood there expecting him to continue.
He then directed the entourage upstairs to his apartment. Professor Trenton went with Robert and Rodney at Lux’s urging. Lux was videoing the interrogation. Having four agents with an eleven-year-old would get anything thrown out of court, so he urged the associates to go to their own apartment. Lux directed the four agents to his apartment.
“Why do you think Chinese Nationals attacked your lab?” Agent Bectel asked.
“It is a DoD Top Secret Facility,” Lux answered. “They were Chinese Nationals? Thank you. I didn’t know that,” Lux said and took a little notepad off the coffee table and wrote that down.
“What do you do there?” Agent Isabell asked.
Lux looked at her and smiled.
“You need to tell us something,” Isabell said. “You killed five people.”
“Am I being charged with killing people? Five of them?” Lux asked.
“No. No. that’s not what I meant. Five people died at your lab,” Isabell said.
“You are referring to the foreign agents that used explosives and firearms to assault a lesser security force at a DoD Top Secret facility that I operate in the middle of this city?” Lux said.
“How old are you?” Isabell asked.
“I’m eleven but plan to leave your fair city shortly. I’ll finish my aeronautical degree here at Georgia Tech next week,” Lux explained.
“Did you know they were going to attack? How much warning did you get?” Bectel asked.
“Rodney and I had about ten seconds warning. Our security system called for reinforcements,” Lux said.
“Did you get any other warnings?” Isabell asked.
“There was surveillance of Prissy Hunnicutt? We’ve noted that the Israeli operative, Eliana Mizrahi, has been surveilling Prissy Hunnicutt for several weeks on and off,” Lux said.
“Why didn’t you call us?” Isabell asked.
Lux laughed. “And?”
“We would have done something?” Isabell said. Bectel looked at her and shook his head.
“Have you noticed any other suspicious activity?” Bectel asked.
“The Russians are moving intelligence resources around the Boca Chica, Texas facility. Talk to Joe Petrzelka with SpaceX about them,” Lux said.
“You work with SpaceX! You’re the one doing those weird, quiet launches,” Bectel said.
“Folks. It’s been a long day. It was very nice to meet you,” Lux said standing up and opening the door.
They nodded as they left and Bectel thanked him as they left. Lux shut the door with a sigh. Rodney came to his door as he heard them leave.
“I see you are not in chains, so it must him been, okay?” Rodney said.
“They were doing the very best they knew how. They weren’t bad. I recorded the whole thing if anything comes of it. I’ll send it to you but first I’m sleeping for quite a few hours,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
FBI Agents leaving the
Alexan on 8th Apartments
“That was kind of creepy,” Isabell said.
“What? The fact that he acted like a mature adult? Have you seen the file on this kid? He’s getting his undergraduate degree this month from Georgia Tech in Aerospace Engineering at either Magna or Summa Cum Laude level and he’s eleven. He invented that weird stuff that let the Dragon Module fly without rockets last month and I hear, the stuff he does now makes that look trivial,” Bectel said.
“Yeah,” Isabell said, “But he’s just a kid.”
“Don’t forget,” Agent Browder spoke up and he never talked usually. “Don’t forget that crime scene. Those attacking them had surprise, explosives, stun grenades, firearms, and anesthetic dart guns. They outnumbered them three to one and five of the six are dead. That kid killed two in the near dark with perfectly placed throws to the eye and neck. A third had a knife stuck almost to the hilt in his shoulder. Shoulders are hard to cut through.  How would any of us have stood up against all that?”
“I think we need to yank a knot in that Israeli agent that is shadowing Prissy Hunnicutt. Isabel. You and Browder find her and give her a little dose of religion. Explain what is going to happen to the Israeli unobserved freedom of movement, if any type of threat or action occurs to Ms. Hunnicutt. Mention the pile of dead agents that tried to attack Lux Blakely. Don’t mention the one we sent to the CIA, for further ‘interviews’.
“Why was that one unconscious?” Agent Stoneham asked. “I also didn’t find out why they didn’t just climb into that vehicle they had inside there.”
“I asked that ex-SF Captain Branch,” Agent Browder said. “Branch said one of their defensive drones used a fentanyl dart on the guy. Think how advanced that is. They revived him with Naloxone spray. Oh, I asked him why they didn’t get into that vehicle. You know what he said?”
“What?” Bectel said.
“Branch said, the doors opening and closing would have taken too long. I asked him why they were so slow. He said they took four seconds to open and four seconds to close and that would have been too long. That should give you some idea of the speed of the attack,” Browder concluded.
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s graduation from Georgia Tech
Lux got his graduation notice and saw he graduated Magna Cum Laude. He felt a kind of a hollow letdown but he still sent Prissy his notice. He took her out to dinner with Rodney and Polly sitting at a table within throwing distance. He didn’t think the Chinese would try again so soon but knew the foreign agents weren’t going away.
“Don’t be disappointed by Magna Cum Laude,” Prissy said. “I’m really glad for you.”
“When do you graduate?” Lux asked.
“Not ‘til next year. What are you going to do?” Prissy asked. Lux hadn’t told her anything about the attack on his lab. He was still embarrassed about killing humans. He felt…tainted.
“I’m thinking about applying for a Ph.D. in Aerospace at MIT,” he said. “I could probably get through it in just a few years and I can do a lot of it remotely now.”
“Your second-choice school,” Prissy said, remembering how Lux had applied to Georgia Tech originally. She suddenly looked more cheerful. “You could stay here,” she said.
Lux looked down a little sheepishly. “I’ll probably be working out of my Arizona properties.”
Prissy blushed a little. “You’ll visit me, won’t you?”
“Oh course,” he said and realized he ought to warn her a little. “Umm. I’ve got some female bodyguards watching out for you. Like those two bodyguards over there,” Lux said and tilted his head toward the table with Rodney and Polly. They are both ex-military professionals.”
“Oh!” Prissy said. “Why? Who?” She was turning beet red and he wasn’t sure if she was mad, embarrassed, or whatever.
“I…I just wanted the people I cared about to be safe. I assigned Sue White to you. She is ex-military and she’s into Computer Science. She specializes in hacking and computer security. She’s always armed and she’s excellent at unarmed combat, shooting, and driving.”
Prissy just sat there for a minute. Their savory Italian dinner was all but forgotten. “Why? Am I in danger?”
Lux knew he shouldn’t tell her but they were close friends and he thought she deserved the heads up. “There was an Israeli female agent following you for a while.”
“How do you know?” Prissy asked.
“Sue saw her and we let the FBI Counter Intelligence people have a talk with her and the Israeli agents with her. They warned the agents away,” Lux said.
“Why are you making up stories? Just say you’ll miss me. I think you’re being way too paranoid. I’ve got to go to the bathroom. Excuse me,” Prissy got up and headed to the restroom. She didn’t notice that Polly got up and followed her in.
Prissy got madder and madder thinking that Lux had gone off his rocker with this security stuff. She could see he was way smart, but now that she was 16, she should distance herself from him more. She did want to do more with the fictional Lummi character though and she needed access to Anna for that. She wanted to go to Europe as part of the Lummi fan club. She looked over at the woman at the sink beside her adjusting her lipstick. She looked familiar. “You’re one of those bodyguards, aren’t you?”
“Yep, as Lux would say,” Polly said.
“I’m grown and I don’t need babysitters. Lux told me everything about those foreign agents. I’m sure the FBI is enough to handle them,” Prissy said thinking about that Israeli agent. “What would those agents do? Kidnap me?”
Polly looked shocked. “He told you everything? I’m surprised he told you about it. He usually keeps this stuff to himself. For a little guy, he’s really mature in some ways.”
“I’ve been friends with him for years. We went to school together back in high school,” Prissy bragged. “We still work on projects together.”
“Still. Telling you about the five killed in the assault of the lab last week means you’re a true friend. Especially since he killed two with those thrown knives of his. The FBI is treating us with kid gloves too and four of them grilled him themselves. Who knew?” Polly said and held the swinging door open for Prissy who stumbled a bit going out.
Prissy focused on Lux as she walked back to the table. She sat down and didn’t say anything for a minute while picking at her food. “Why are you moving out to Arizona? Something wrong with the lab?”
Lux sat for a second chewing his food longer than necessary. “There was some damage at the lab next week that we’ll need to repair.”
“Oh. An explosion or something?” Prissy asked innocently and ate some more. The manicotti was really good here, she thought.
“Yep.” Lux said and pressed his lips together.
“Anyone hurt?” she asked.
“None of my people,” Lux said.
“I want to know when we can do the lightning shows in Europe. I’d like to do London, Paris, and Berlin with our doubles. Can Anna be made portable? That would solve any syncing issues with the video and sound,” Prissy said, looking at Lux a little differently.
“I’d like to do those and Singapore but it will have to be after I get the lab repaired and that will be a while,” Lux said. “We’ll see about adding Anna.”




Chapter 6



Applying to M.I.T. Ph.D. in Aerospace Engineering
Lux applied to the MIT Ph.D. Program after completing his undergraduate degree at the Georgia Institute of Technology. He also took the Graduate Writing Exam (GWE) in June covering 4 – 5 articles on magnetic propulsion and wrote a 1,400-word analytical summary that synthesized the information from the articles clearly, in a logical structure, and with careful attention to accurate paraphrasing and citation of the sources. He explained how their theory was flawed or too speculative. 


Lux then wrote Professor Paulo Lozano, who was director of the Space Propulsion Laboratory at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Lux introduced himself and explained that he had invented the method for the SpaceX Dragon Magnetic and patented the Magnetic Field Camera that allowed viewing of the Earth’s magnetic fields. He explained he was developing a method for inertialess travel that would allow low-cost travel to orbit and throughout most of the solar system.



◆◆◆
 
Office of Professor Paulo Lozano – Space Propulsion Lab – MIT
“Look at this, Oliver. Talk about a screwy applicant. This guy claims he developed the system that the last SpaceX ship used,” Professor Lozano said and laughed.
“Lux Blakely?” Professor Richards said.
“What? Let me see. Yes. That’s who it is? How would you know his name?” Lozano asked.
“You’ve obviously been focusing on electrospray thruster technology too much,” Richards said. “That kid patented a camera that can show the Earth’s magnetic fields in real-time. You can pull the patent up on Google Patents. A friend of mine down at SpaceX in Boca Chica, Texas said he’s the kid that invented the technology they use on the Dragon Magnetic. They’re adding it to their Starship, so they won’t be using conventional fuels in the future.”
“¡Venga!” (the Spanish equivalent of ‘come on’) Lozano said. “Really. So, you think we out to try to get him into our Ph.D. program?”
“Oh, man! We need to try. What does he say he wants to study? How did he do on his Graduate Writing Exam? I’ve had too many grad students that can’t write a proper sentence,” Richards said.
Lozano studied the file by flicking through different screens. “He maxed the GWE. The evaluator noted the analysis was a ‘masterful job’ and wants to use his work as an exemplar for new students. Blakely wants to study inertialess travel. Who is he kidding? An unachievable goal is enough to exclude him from our program.”
“My friend at Boca Chica said this Blakely kid left faster than the speed of sound without a sonic boom carrying the CEO of SpaceX,” Richards said. “Have you seen the video from Hawthorne, California? A random guy videoed the ‘vehicle’ leave there at an acceleration some grad students calculated was more than 10Gs, with no sonic boom. I don’t think it’s fake like everyone else says. Most people think it’s just CGI. The guy who took the video can hardly spell CGI. I looked him up.”
“Why’d you call Blakely a kid?” Lozano asked.
Richards laughed. “He is eleven years old.”
Lozano raised eyebrows for a split second and said, “I’ll fly him up for an interview.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Residence/Airstrip - Paulden, Arizona
Lux looked at the email from Professor Paulo Lozano. He was offering to fly him up to MIT for an interview and show him around the Space Propulsion Lab. He decided to call him instead after Anna had ascertained the Professor’s schedule and saw he had a three-hour block of time free.
Lux texted the professor and asked him if he was free for a five-minute phone call.



◆◆◆
 
Office of Professor Paulo Lozano – Space Propulsion Lab – MIT
“Professor Lozano here,” he said answering the phone.
“Hi, Professor. Lux Blakely here. Sir. I’d like to come to visit but I have some other projects that I can’t leave at the moment.”
“Do you have time to fly up on another date? I can have you met at the airport,” Lozano said.
“Professor. I can meet you in fifteen minutes at the loading dock between the McNair building and building 35,” Lux said.
“Oh. I didn’t realize you were that close,” Lozano said. “That would be fine. I’ll meet you in fifteen minutes then.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Residence/Airstrip - Paulden, Arizona
“Boots and saddles, folks. We’re going to Boston and touring MIT. Who’s up?” Lux asked.
“It’s me and Sue today. It’s Polly’s turn to surveil Prissy. I haven’t been to Boston in years. What’s it like, weather-wise?” Robert asked.
“A bit cooler than here and more humid,” Lux said.
Sue and Robert nodded and put on the lightweight sport coats to cover their weapons and climbed in the Pod.



◆◆◆
 
McNair Building to meet Professor Lozano – Space Propulsion Lab – MIT
Professor Lozano was unsettled with this student, Blakely. He had signed the non-disclosure the student had sent him even though it was against school policy. This case was an outlier and he was curious. He heard a slight hum and saw a vehicle gently settling down next to the dumpster. The professor was scared. This was outside his experience but he was also excited. The doors on the vehicle opened up and a young man and two adults stepped out. The two adults were both in dark suits, and constantly looked around themselves. The doors lowered on the vehicle and resealed with a slight hiss.
Professor Lozano approached the trio. Lux walked over to him. “Hello Professor Lozano. I’m Lux Blakely. Most people just call me Lux. These folks are Robert Allen and Sue White. They keep me safe when I’m allowed out.”
Professor Lozano shook Lux’s hand and nodded to Robert and Sue, showing he was cognizant of security. “Won’t you come this way? Where did you travel from today?”
“Arizona,” Lux said, and Lozano stumbled a bit but said nothing. He thought Lux may have just misinterpreted his question.
“We have the best facilities for this type of research. Let me show you around.” Lozano said.
“Professor. Why don’t we go to your office and talk for a bit before the tour? I think we need to see how studying here would help us both,” Lux said and Lozano frowned but directed them to his office. Sue and Robert stayed outside.
“Why do you want to study at MIT?” Lozano asked.
Lux had already considered what to say and practiced with Anna and a caricature of Professor Lozano. “Professor. I need a Ph.D. from a prestigious university in the US. I need the people researching with me to have Top Secret clearance. I have some physical effect mysteries I need help to solve.”
“I have Top Secret DoD clearance already, from another project,” Lozano said.
“That will make this easier. You saw the vehicle we arrived in. We traveled 4,160 kilometers (2,600 miles) in less than fifteen minutes to get here.”
The professor didn’t say anything but just raised his eyebrows in surprise. “We have great facilities. Will you let me show you around?” the professor asked.
“I’d like to do a lot of the research in my lab in Georgia and property in Arizona,” Lux said. When Lozano looked consternated, Lux explained. “I’d like to do the research remotely.”
“But we would need to be able to observe your work. We also even have a new hypersonic wind tunnel,” Professor Lozano countered.
“Professor, my Pod outside isn’t affected by the atmosphere, so we don’t need a wind tunnel. Whenever we need to work on something it’s only a thirty-minute roundtrip to Arizona or a twenty-minute roundtrip to Atlanta,” Lux said. “Do you have any secure facilities? We would need a secure facility here to study the fields around my vehicle.”
“Fields?” Lozano was trying to absorb the implications of what this young man was explaining. It would make much of his research obsolete. “We would need to apply for grants to proceed with research in new areas.”
“That’s not a problem. I can personally fund the research. My concern would be remotely attending the required graduate classes. Would you be able to arrange that?” Lux asked.
Lozano found himself mentally off-balance.
“Professor. How about a short ride in my Pod? It is perfectly safe,” Lux proposed.
“I’m not so sure,” Lozano said.
“It would add weight to my application to see where I’m starting from. I saw a Garmin GPS Map locator in your office. Does it work? Bring it with you,” Lux said.
They trooped out to the Pod. “Try to touch the surface,” Lux said.
Lozano looked at him oddly and then reached out to touch the Pod. “I can’t. My finger won’t get close to the surface. Why can’t I?”
Lux grinned. “Force field. Step back a few steps and get in on the other side, if you would.”
The gull-wing doors of the Pod swung open. Lux and Lozano got in the front seats and Sue and Robert got in the rear. “How do you see out?” Lozano asked. The viewscreens came on as the doors closed and showed all the surrounding features. They could see over their heads, under their feet, out the sides, and front. There was a screen-in-screen feature to see to the rear.
“We’re going to go to the Northeast a bit. You might want to record this on your phone,” Lux said.
Lux selected the destination and set it to 70% of the maximum rate. The view got darker and their ears felt a pressure change. Thirty-five seconds later they were landing and doors swung open. They stepped out on the barren, rocky shore and felt the cold sea breeze.
“Where are we?” Lozano asked. “What body of water is that?”
“Where does your GPS say we are?” Lux asked.
“It says 43.392, -66.017. Seal Island, Nova Scotia! That’s 427 kilometers (267 miles) from Boston!” Lozano bent down and picked up an unusual sea shell.
“I’d video your GPS and then do a panorama,” Sue suggested.
“So, you can talk,” Professor Lozano said with a big smile. “You are not just beauty and guns.” He took her suggestion and started videoing all around him.
Sue smirked but Lux could tell she was pleased.
“Let’s head back,” Lux said, and they all piled back into the Pod.
Less than a minute later they were back at MIT. They sat there for a minute before Lozano spoke. “I will talk with the chair as I am over graduate admissions in our section, I think we can accept you into the Spring semester. Thank you for taking the time. I realize why you had me sign the non-disclosure but why did you suggest I video the trip and where we landed.”
“Past experience, professor. You can now reflect back on the experience if you ever start doubting it really happened. The video will be a decent anchor for your sanity,” Lux said.
“I can’t imagine why a young man like you would understand complex psychological effects,” Lozano said.
“You’d understand if you met my dad. He had a hard time realizing that what I did was real. We have to get back to Arizona this afternoon. Text me when you have time to visit. I look forward to hearing from you,” Lux said.
Professor Lozano touched Sue’s arm as she turned to leave. “Please come back with him the next time you come. Do you have contact information?”
Sue smiled and touched her phone to his. She gave him a big smile and then hustled to climb into the Pod.
Robert, who had been quiet the whole time, turned to Sue. “Giving him your contact information?”
“Are you kidding? He is handsome AND smart. That’s a nice package. I’m certainly not going to meet men like him hanging around guys like y’all. No offense boss but you’re a bit young for me,” Sue said.
Lux blushed but smiled at being included in the ‘guys’ comment.
◆◆◆
 
Repair/Experiments – Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW – Atlanta
Professor Trenton was supervising the final repairs to the lab. They had reinforced the doors and added another drone with fentanyl darts, since those had worked well. Rodney was pleased with the relatively rapid repair since they had to have a 7 X 24 security coverage of the facility while repairs were underway. The security team had received hazard bonuses after the attack. Sue had been corresponding regularly with Professor Lozano at MIT. They seemed to have struck up a ‘friendship’. They all kidded with Sue about her current interest in learning Spanish.
Lux was back to studying the original graphene-ceramic polymer. He had received the new shipment of sample materials which included a tiny portion of bismuth in all the production from General Graphene. Now he set a Halbach thruster near the original material as a control and set the thruster to a minimal cyclic rate. He had several of his small satellite thrusters. He used the same cyclic rate and distance applied to the different materials. He found that having a large concentration of bismuth did not do any better than a lesser concentration and did find that the sample of thin mesh still produced a field that covered the material.
Trenton suggested he try a layer of electromagnetic coils that would be pressed adjacent to the hybrid graphene material and as long as the cyclic rate powering the coils was a thousand cycles per second or higher – the field was created but it didn’t extend as far as when the Halbach thrusters were used. Lux immediately got a rectangular sheet of polycarbonate he had and put handles on the back of it. He drilled a hole in the center to run wires through the shield and glued a layer of multiple, large, thin coils on the whole surface to create a pulsed magnetic field. A battery and control module was attached to the back of the sheet. A bismuth-impregnated sheet covered the surface of the coils.
When the control module was switched on, it created a thin version of the ‘field’ on the surface. 

Douglas Trenton was dubious that the field was anything other than a weak conventional magnetic field. “All right Lux. It appears to be on. Poke it with your knife.”

“It doesn’t do anything, I think. I just can’t touch the surface. I’m going to throw something at it. Get the camera to show it in slow motion. On three,” Lux said. “One, two, three.” He threw the knife and it stopped and dropped. “I want to see that camera recording.
They played it back and it was just like the control. “I can’t believe that worked,” Trenton said. “Shall we go for destructive? Are we sound-proofed enough we won’t freak out the lawyers in the front section of the building? I’ll call Rodney.”
“Rodney. Got a minute?” He came out of the Airstream trailer in the parking area.
“What’s up?” Rodney said stretching.
“Need you to shoot that for me,” Lux said.
“Was it bad and you want to punish it?” Rodney said with a straight face.
“Yep,” Lux said. “We’re testing the protective effect of that field that covers the surface of the Pod. Shoot when we give you the indication.”
Rodney aimed at the panel from about 3 meters and when he got the signal, he fired one round from his Glock. The bullet was on the floor and hadn’t penetrated. They pulled up the video and Anna fast-forwarded to the pertinent frames.
“Looks like it did the same thing that happened with the thrusters,” Trenton remarked. “There was no transfer of momentum and gravity pulled it down. It is as if the kinetic energy of the moving object just flowed into the field. I suppose the physics in the field is different from how we are accustomed.”
“We need to go to a gun range near here,” Lux said.
“I need to call a buddy that lives nearby to meet us there,” Rodney said.
◆◆◆
 
Stoddard's Range and Guns 485 Bishop St NW – 2.7 miles away
“Hey, Mitchell. Thought you might have the weapons we need. We want to test some new armor. You get the first civilian chance at sales if it works and goes on the market. Can we get a whole range for rifles?” Rodney said.
“I’ve known you a long time, but is this on the up and up, Rodney?” Mitchell O’Neal said.
“I know you have the best range in Atlanta. I know you like to shoot. I’d let you do the shooting. I do need you to sign a non-disclosure. This is a big deal. It may not work at all,” Rodney said.
“Everyone will be out of here in a half hour. That’s why I had you come so late. Let’s go to my office. I see you have already signed my waivers and watched the safety video while you were waiting on me. Who’s the kid?” Mitchell asked.
Mitchell read through the non-disclosure thoroughly, nodded and signed it. He ran off a copy and handed the original back to Rodney. “Okay. Who’s the kid?”
“This is Lux Blakely. He invented the stuff we’re going to test,” Rodney said.
Mitchell shot up from behind the desk and went over to Lux to shake his hand, so fast, it scared Lux. “I just want to shake your hand. I use your Slazh knife. Troy got me a license to sell it and that model is flying out the door. It is really something. Let’s see what we’re going to do today. Everybody should be gone by now.”
They trooped out and Mitchell made sure all outside doors were locked and the bathrooms and closets were empty. “You want cameras off, I assume?” he asked.
“Yes, please,” Lux said. “We need to set up for rifles. We only have one target so it may not take us long but Rodney mentioned you have a variety of unusual guns. We have the target, cameras, and lights to set up if you’ll show us where to put everything.”
“Right through here. Yes. Set up in the middle lanes as far down as you want to go. I’ll go get the weapons. Rodney. Need you to help me load the cart. Some of this stuff is heavy.”
Trenton and Lux took their test ‘target’ downrange about twenty meters. Most of the current, best Level IV protection was designed to stop .30 caliber (width of the bullet in inches) armor-piercing bullets (really hard steel) going up to 2,880 ft/sec (878 m/s). Bullets also used an archaic measure of weight in grains. There were 7,000 grains per pound. Heavier weight bullets have more mass which transfers more energy to the target.
Trenton used a heavy clamp to hold the test sample ‘shield’ up. Lux set two cameras on tripods that would view the target in profile and another at an angle. He had them set up so he could operate them remotely. They had extra lighting to ensure they could see the impact clearly.
Rodney and Mitchell came back pushing a cart with several large cases. They set them out in the back of the room and then Mitchell began to describe what he had to shoot. Lux could see he was proud of his collection.
“Rodney wanted me to pull the biggest and ‘baddest’ out of my collection to test tonight. I don’t think we’ll need anything past this first one to defeat the armor ‘thingie’ you brought in but what do I know? Rodney thinks it's hot stuff so I’m game.” Rodney opened up a case and brought out a rifle that would have looked cool in a Star Wars video. He began to describe the rifle with a scope.
“This is a Tikka T3x TAC A1 – with Sniper Trim. It’s the pro version of the simple 308 Winchester bolt action rifle. It has a 20-inch barrel, aluminum chassis, a 10-round magazine, and a lot of nice touches. Today, we’ll be firing a 308 caliber, 168-grain MatchKing BTHP (Boat Tail Hollow Point) 168-grain bullet that flies at 2,650 ft/sec (808 m/sec). Eyes and ears everyone.”
Lux snorted with a little grin because Mitchell sounded like some chef announcing a dinner entrée. He stuck in his earplugs.
Lux had switched on the shield and when Mitchell was ready; he cut on the cameras and saw that they were working. Rodney counted down and fired. “I think it went straight through because the target didn’t even move from the hit.”
They all walked down after the weapon was cleared and safe.
“I can’t even see the hole,” Mitchell said. “There isn’t a mark on the target.”
“Look down,” Lux said to Mitchell. There was a .308 bullet lying on the ground in front of the target.
Mitchell bent down to pick it up. “It’s still warm,” he said. “Dang!” he said and grinned hugely. “I have one that will put a hole in this bad boy. Can’t wait to try it. I couldn’t shoot it here because I’d lose my liability coverage according to my insurance agent. Let’s try it anyway.”
They walked back to the firing line and Mitchell packed away his Tikka. He opened another case and brought out a huge rifle. “This is a Barrett M82A1 .50 caliber sniper rifle It weighs 32.71 pounds (~15 kg) and has a 29” fluted barrel. It has a 10-round magazine using a .50 caliber MG (machine gun cartridge) which produces 11,000 ft. lb. of energy (1521 kg-force meters) traveling at 2,750 ft/sec (838 meters/sec). They make these guns in Murfreesboro, Tennessee. This is the official State rifle of Tennessee. Snipers have killed with these from over a mile away.”
Lux grimaced a bit at the description of a sniper shooting a person but his mouth gaped open when he saw the huge bullet Mitchell was holding up.
“An armor-piercing round like this one will go through 5 feet of wood or 2.8 cm (1.1 inches) of steel armor. This ought to put a ding in your thing,” Mitchell said and readied his rifle with his bipod and huge bullet.
Lux reset the cameras and made sure they were working and nodded to Mitchell. Mitchell fired. The muzzle brake at the end of the rifle (redirects the escaping gases to reduce the recoil) nearly blinded them all from the huge flash. Lux felt like he had been hit by the concussive shock wave of the weapon's muzzle blast. His earplugs hadn’t been effective, and his ears were ringing. When they all had sufficiently recovered from the shot, they walked down to the target which was unscathed.
“I never would have believed that if you had shown me a video of that. Here’s the bullet on the ground and there isn’t even a dent on this target. That means there was no impact transmitted to the target. Dang. Wow!” Mitchell looked at Lux with respect. He patted Lux on the shoulder. “If you can commercialize this for our troops, you will save a lot of lives.” Mitchell looked at the shield and then back at the firing land. “We don’t know how this will handle multiple hits, but I have just the right weapon to try – my GE Six-Pac. Come on. I’ll set it up. Rodney. I’ll need your help with this one.”
Mitchell put up the Barrett with meticulous care and put it in the back of the room. He had Rodney help him with several cases. He started those explanations again. He lifted the gun reverently out of its case. “This is the XM214 Microgun (Video of a new version). It is a 5.56 mm rotary-barreled machine gun. It uses an electric motor to rotate and fire the six barrels. It was designed and built by General Electric. It fires M193 5.56×45mm ammunition. It weighs 38.6 kg (85 pounds) complete with a tripod, battery, feed shute plus 1,000 rounds of ammo in the container. It fires 6,000 rounds per minute (100 rounds per second) at 3,250 ft/sec (990 m/s). This will let you know if you can absorb multiple hits in a short time.”
“How accurately can you keep it on target? Are my cameras at risk?” Lux asked. “How do citizens legally own a machine gun like this?”
“We’ll only fire it in short 3 to 5-second bursts. As long as a gun
was made before 1986, it can be registered as a transferable machine gun, and pass a six-month background check, you can pay a $200 tax, show you have safe and secure storage for it, yes, it is perfectly legal (at least on a Federal level but states vary) for a civilian to own a minigun or any other machine gun. I’ll keep it on target,” Mitchell proclaimed.
“How much does one of those things cost?” Lux asked.
“They cost around $150,000 - if you can even find one. They cost about $1,500 to $3,000 a minute to shoot since it fires so much ammo,” Mitchell explained.
“Wow,” Lux said. “I never knew. Let’s see it do its thing.”
Lux keyed the cameras and nodded to Mitchell. Lux had gotten some shooting earmuffs after the round from the Barrett.
Mitchell fired a five-second burst that covered the floor in spent brass. They rendered the weapon safe and started putting it away before they even walked downrange this time. The Shield looked unscathed. They all walked down together and stood just looking at the pile of projectiles in front of the target. They looked like they had been poured out of the box.
“That is about the most impressive thing I’ve ever seen. I hate you, Lux,” Mitchell said.
Lux looked at him, shocked. “Why?”
“I’ve seen something startling – momentous – and you had me sign a non-disclosure. I’m not allowed to talk about it! Exquisite torture is what it is. Thanks for letting me be part of this,” Mitchell said. “What’s next with this?”
Lux looked to Rodney and Trenton. “Some deep thinking, I guess.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW - Atlanta
“We need to do concerts while Lummi’s music is at the top of the charts,” Prissy said to Lux.
“Concert tours take a lot of time and preparation,” Lux said.
“I’m afraid it’s too late to back out now. All the venues are sold out and have been for weeks,” Prissy said.
“What are you talking about? Concerts take a lot of planning and directing. We would need support crews for sound and lights. Our doubles would have to rehearse with dancers and singers and musicians. They’d need passports and visas. We’d have to make hotel reservations and transportation, food, and security arrangements. I don’t have time to do that,” Lux said ticking off the needs he thought of in the spur of the moment. “It would take months to advertise and sell tickets.”
“It would take a group of people and a lot of time to do that for you or an incredibly smart being who could multitask,” Prissy explained.
“I guess but it would still take time,” Lux suggested.
“I asked Anna if she could do it three months ago while you were finishing up your degree and Lummi had released her songs," Prissy said. "I knew they would be hits.”
“How many venues are we planning to perform?” Lux asked.
“We have twelve in the US and nine in Europe and Asia. Anna has written some new songs for Lummi to sing. Groups of singers, dancers, musicians, and support roadies have been practicing this last month,” Prissy confided.
“Why didn’t you tell me?” Lux said.
“Anna lives to stretch herself and we haven’t been pushing her very hard. She had some great ideas. They’ll cost more but all the people in the shows will enjoy it more.”
“Like what?” Lux said sardonically.
“We have double the support singers and band members and multiple Lummis,” Prissy said enthusiastically. “They do three or four venues and then we rotate in half of the other crews so they don’t wear out. We always have extras so we don’t cancel. We’ve selected cities that were the highest draws from Katy Perry’s Prismatic World Tour. We’re not going to all on the list, just the highest-grossing ones.”
“Why do it that way, Anna? You’ve been looking at this the most,” Lux asked.
“Most tour groups get bored to death by doing the same routines over and over again,” Anna explained. “They get worn down physically and mentally. They hardly get to see the beautiful cities where they perform. Now the troupe can do a few concerts and then take an extra day or two in the cities they visit while others take their place. Anna can keep all of them coordinated. They will be practicing ten new songs throughout the length of the tour to try them out. The body doubles only know that they are relieving another ‘Lummi’. They each get a guaranteed $100,000 extra and a percentage of the net income after all the expenses. They are ecstatic. You want to see the new songs?”
“This is a shock. I want to see the songs. What about the singing and dancing skills of the three?” Lux asked.
“Being athletic and young has really helped there as well as having similar features has made them able to mimic most of Lummi’s moves and timber of her songs. They say it’s like a million-dollar karaoke night for each show. Prissy and I designed the costumes and they are risqué. Most of the numbers mimic the music videos. We even have a lifelike robotic baby with the programmed laugh like in your third release.,” Anna said.
“Let’s see these songs, Lummi,” Lux said to Anna.
◆◆◆
 
Lummi’s New Songs for the Tour
This new song started out showing a man and Lummi eating dinner There are couples on either side of them. The women on both sides of them were eating dinner and the girls at the other tables are flirting with Lummi’s partner. Lummi stood up and started singing a racy, risqué version of ‘He’s a Tramp’. The other girls stood up and then they were all dancing - erotically. The other girls kept trying to take the man away from Lummi. She finally shoves the man away and dances off the stage with one of the jilted men.”
Lux frowned. “Really? Another woman? Just have her dance off the set, in a pout, or better yet reach over and eat his steak. Maybe even get another guy.”
“Okay. I’ll work on it. You want the sets purely hetero?” Anna asked. “We did say in one of her interviews that she has male and female intimate friends.”
“Talk it out with Prissy and go with what she says,” Lux said. “Let’s see more.”
The next song was with Lummi at a synthesizer in a sheer outfit where she started playing a honky-tonk tune. She started singing about how men always wanted just three things from women. They just wanted the three ‘S’s’ – Sex, Sustenance, and Silence. A guy came out and danced with his hands out in longing for her. The spotlight now showed a man sitting at a table with an eating cloth (a serviette) tucked in at his collar. He was banging on the table demanding food. The spotlight changed to show a woman in curlers (not Lummi) haranguing a man watching a football game. The music poked fun at the concept and the way it was done was funny.
The next one was a tear-jerker. I had men going off to war and Lummi waiting for them while they were away and all the trials a woman has to endure when they don’t come home. One song where she was a test pilot climbing out of a jet and then flying over the audience singing like Cher or Katy Perry except, she had on a Blakely thruster with no wires.
“Anna, What’s with this setup?” Lux said angrily. “I haven’t even built one yet. I admit I designed one but I was worried that it would be stolen.”
“I liked your design. I added some features to make it hard to reverse engineer. It’s small and we have been showing our ‘Lummis’ how to use it.”
“What did you change? How did you make it secure?” Lux asked, acting getting worried.
Anna told him and he started laughing so hard he had tears. The rest of the songs were better and he relaxed. He was going to let Anna handle the logistics of the show with the people she had hired. Prissy had it well in hand.
Lux went up to Prissy. “I think you’re brilliant. I’m going to take the personal thrusters to the military. I’m almost ready to take a few other products to them.” He gave her a big hug and he noticed she felt even better. She was two inches taller than him and she smelled different. He realized she was heading into sixteen full speed ahead, and he wasn’t even twelve yet. “Holler at me if you need help with anything. I’ve been accepted at MIT for my doctorate. I won’t be as accessible.”
“You’ve been great. Our Lummi doubles love the Blakely lifter they’ve been using. They use a wireless microphone and we can dub in the ‘Lummi’ recordings while they are flying. It looks really good and it’s so small, it looks like magic.”
“Realize there will be attempts to steal it. I’m going to get DARPA working on it,” Lux said.
“Is that the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency that does all the wild stuff?”




Chapter 7



Office of Lieutenant General Frank Parsons – US Space Force
“Sir, you have a call from a Lux Blakely. He says you know him and it came in on your private line. He sounds really young. There is also a package for you from the same person.”
“Thank you, Anita. Always forward his calls to me,” the general said.
“General. Lux Blakely here. I sent you some videos to watch. Two prototypes that I need more eyes on. I thought you might know someone at DARPA. Would you watch those and call and get me a referral? I can go meet them today if possible.”
“Your previous demonstrations for us were amazing. I will call you after I have watched this one,” the General said, even though he had a Logistics appointment in fifteen minutes.
General Parsons thought the Eglin demonstration was interesting but really didn’t change much until the weapons could be brought up to the standard of the faster fighters. He was curious about what the kid thought was ‘earth shattering’. The general knew about things that might blow the kid’s mind, but he had fifteen minutes to kill before the next boring meeting. He opened the package and took out the data stick. His computer scanned it for malware and then started playing the movie in the gun range.
The general saw how lightweight the shield was and saw it stop a .50 caliber armor piercing round and then 500 - 5.56 mm rounds. He got on his intercom. “Anita, clear the next hour. Bump that meeting later or cancel it. Get me Doctor Tomkins at DARPA.” He watched the shooting and then saw a pretty girl flying around. Who is that? he wondered. Then Lux was demonstrating a strap-on flying device that looked like it weighed 3 kg (about 7 pounds) but was only 8 cm X 20 cm X 30 cm. Lux explained in the video that the device could lift 160 kg (352 pounds) and fly as fast as a human could tolerate.
◆◆◆
 
Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency – Director Stephanie Tomkins - Arlington, VA
“Stephanie Tomkins. How may I help you, General Parsons?”
“I think I can help you, Dr. Tomkins. Are you familiar with the retrofits we did at Eglin AFB?”
“Those are the ones that supposedly allowed F16s and F35s to fly non-stop, coast-to-coast at Mach 5.”
“There’s no ‘supposed’ to it. They can do that and more. No propellants. Spreading out through the entire Air Force. We could do helicopters without the rotors. We do the upgrades for the cost savings from our fuel budget.”
“I have my doubts,” Dr. Tomkins stated.
“Your doubts just mean you haven’t seen it. They work better than well and the young man that designed the technology sent me some more work. He made a ballistic shield that stops .50 caliber AP with no impact shock. He has developed a personal flying device that runs on the electricity charge like a cell phone and can fly a 160 kg person for days on a charge. I’m going to give you his private number. Call him and he will come to see you and show you. He needs help getting these into production.”
“So, this is a mature technology and not just theoretical pie-in-the-sky stuff. Tell me about this guy.”
“He just finished his Bachelor's Degree in Aeronautical Engineering with their highest honors from Georgia Tech. He just enrolled in the Ph.D. AeroAstro Program at MIT. He has several patents which make millions from his licenses,” General Parsons said. “His name is Lux Blakely. He’s eleven.”
“He’s eleven, what?” she asked.
“Eleven years old,” the General said.
“You’re kidding me. No, really,” she said.
“I texted you his number. Call him and he’ll fly to meet you. He flew me to the ISS with my exec. He’ll come right to your door if you have a place to land. His vehicle is very quiet.”
“If you’re kidding me, I’ll never forgive you,” she said.
“Totally on the up-and-up. Let me know later after you meet him.”
“Okay. I will. Thanks for the tip, I guess. I’ll call him right now.”
◆◆◆
 
“Lux Blakely. This is Dr. Stephanie Tomkins with DARPA. General Parsons suggested I call you.”
“Nice to speak with you, Doctor. You are in the DARPA Building at 675 N. Randolph Street in Arlington, aren’t you? How about I meet you at the side loading dock in about 8 or 9 minutes? Would that give you enough time to meet me there? I’m hard to miss. I’ll bring what the general was talking about.”
“Where are you now?” she asked.
“I’m in my lab in Atlanta,” Lux said.
“But that’s …” she said.
“No ma’am. May have been in the past but not now. I’ll grab my stuff here and meet you.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux brought the Pod down gently outside the DARPA Building on N. Randolph Street to the amazement of Dr. Stephanie Tomkins. Lux climbed out of the Pod with Polly Maynard and Rodney Branch as his bodyguards for the day. Rodney pulled out the shield and Polly carried the flight module. Dr. Tomkins and the man with her shrank back away.
“Hi, Dr. Tomkins. I’m Lux Blakely and these are retired Captains Rodney Branch and Polly Maynard. We all hold current DoD Top Secret Clearances. I had the Office of Personnel Management make sure you were current. I take it the fellow with you is Dr. Abram Porter? Nice to meet you, folks. Shall we go inside or would you like to see my Pod? It gets me around but we’d like a military version and I don’t have time right now since I upgraded Space Force and SpaceX and I’m in grad school. Like Napoléon said, ‘You can ask me for anything, except time’.”
Dr. Tomkins was a little flustered by the deluge of information from this little man – this boy – but she was impressed. General Parsons was right about this kid she thought. Abram practically dragged her over to the Pod.
“You want a short ride of fewer than five minutes. It’s quite comfortable. No inertial effects.”
“Yes, please,” Dr. Porter said. Dr. Tomkins only nodded.
“Rodney. Do you mind staying here with our stuff? Polly, will you sit beside Dr. Porter?”
◆◆◆
 
Joy Ride – DARPA

“How do you see out?” Dr. Tomkins asked, but the gull-wing doors locked with a hiss, and the viewing panels surrounding the passenger compartment lit up. “Oh, I see.”
Lux took the Pod straight up and they were soon in space. They went and observed the StarLink satellites.
“I can almost reach out and touch them,” Dr. Porter said.
“SpaceX is providing us with extravehicular activity spacesuits to replace the indoor suits we’ve used in the past. We’ve only used the lightweight new airlock at the rear to visit the ISS twice but it worked well and we’ve made it automated. Let’s head back.” Lux directed the Pod and slowed down as he got closer to the DARPA building, so as not to alarm his passengers. They touched down without a bump and Lux lifted the doors.
“That was lovely,” Dr. Tomkins said with a smile. “Thank you for that.”
“No problem,” Lux said as he sealed the doors and followed their hosts into the building.
◆◆◆
 
“Mister Blakely. What do you think DARPA can do for you that you couldn’t do yourself?” Dr. Tomkins asked.
“You have the industry contacts that would allow you to make a proposal for rapid manufacturing enough volume of the personal flight modules to equip a division. A group like the 10th Mountain division would probably be ideal since they are used to hazardous conditions. Let them figure out the best use of the tactics. All I want is a licensing fee and to help in the software development for the security of the units wherever they are manufactured. I’m sure there will be attempts at theft. We have already fought off an armed assault on my lab in Atlanta.”
“What are you considering for a license fee per unit?” Dr. Porter asked.
“I think a license fee should be around $500 each, for the first 10,000 units. It should drop to about $250 after that. I can help keep manufacturing costs to around $1,000 each in lots of 1000. I can also help you train the trainers. I am still developing the shield, so I will not turn over the design to you yet but I would like you to release a proposal on the specs,” Lux said.
“You think very highly of yourself to ask so much in licensing fees,” Dr. Porter said.
“Funny you should say that when this meets many of your hidden objectives for this agency. Mobility without much need for a supply train would be a heaven-sent plus. No need for fuel and noisy helicopters. Soldiers could travel 1,500 kilometers (920 miles) in a couple of hours carrying 50 kilos and have plenty of battery charge left to travel further.”
“Why should we believe your so-called flight module could do something like that?” Dr. Porter asked.
“Last year I flew from my lab in Atlanta to Eglin Air Force Base. Call Brigadier General Dobbs at Eglin over a secure line and ask how he first met me. I flew there in a bit over an hour hanging from an earlier model. The flight tests are highly classified but we have converted two squadrons of F16s and a Squadron of F35s using my thrusters there. Didn’t General Parsons call you, Doctor?” Lux said turning toward Tomkins.
“What about this shield? Why won’t you let me have the prototype to use? What are you hiding?”
Lux chuckled. “I’ll leave you the data stick I gave General Parsons but yours has several additions. It has the complete manufacturing specs for the flying device less the software. The shield has virtually no ballistic protection when uncharged but when charged, it has been tested to stop any purely kinetic projectile. A meter square section weighs about 4 kilograms (~9 pounds). Thickness is approximately three (3) centimeters (a bit more than an inch). Currently, it is not very flexible but could be manufactured in complex shapes or curves. It can be made much larger.”
“What am I supposed to do with this information? Doesn’t seem to help us much,” Tomkins asked.
“The flying unit is ready for prime time, it’s a finished unit. DARPA could help with productivity improvements. We need tactics. We could pit one Brigade 1 against Brigade 2 with the Mountain Division. Let the aviation brigade make suggestions. The shield is a prototype that needs ideas. I am doing my dissertation about why it works. I recommend you put out a proposal. Odd proposals from DARPA are known for being a challenge. I will fund it with a million dollars if you will recommend that I am on the evaluating team.”
When they didn’t immediately ask questions, Lux looked around and got up. “Thank you for your time. Polly. I think it’s your turn to fly back. Thanks again, doctors.”
Lux and the bodyguards picked up their samples and headed back to the Pod. While flying to their next stop, Rodney asked. “What was this trip about?”. “You could get the production done as fast as DARPA. Why show them the shield and your flying pack?”
Lux turned to Rodney and put his finger in front of his mouth to ‘shush’ him from saying more. They landed. Lux reached under his seat and picked up a device. He turned it on and scanned them. He zeroed in on Polly’s pocket and his left sleeve. He turned on the powerful light on his phone and picked up something with tweezers and put it in Polly’s hand. He found a similar spec in Polly’s pocket. The inside of the Pod now scanned clear as did all their clothing. Lux put the specks in a sample bottle.
Rodney started to talk again but Lux signaled him to be quiet a moment longer while he stored the specs. “You can talk now. Those were micro-transmitters that link to any nearby cell phone and transmit conversations and locations. I heard they had them and I was sure they’d use them. I did what I did to plant software in THEIR system. Their network is better protected than most government servers. They’ll scan my data stick but it’s going to be played. Viewing some of the pages of information will assemble an application together and use their phones to send me data. They MAY know different manufacturers that can speed up production. Ah, here we are. Thanks, Polly.”
◆◆◆
 
10th Mountain Division Headquarters off S. Riva Ridge Loop - Fort Drum, New York
Major General Gregory Anders was surprised to get a call from Lieutenant General Parsons since Parsons went to the Space Force instead of Army. They had met for the latest Space Flag exercise at Schriever in Colorado. He was curious to know why he should meet with this Blakely fellow, even after a high level recommendation. Odd that he should be asked to bring a non-com with guts and a Top-Secret clearance too. His aide, Lieutenant Swiftwater, knocked and came into the office when given permission.
“Sir, Lux Blakely has arrived. You wanted to be notified,” Swiftwater declared.
“Thank you, Lieutenant. Send for Sergeant Gunnarson. Tell him to double time and show in Blakely.”
“General, he wouldn’t come in. He and his bodyguards are in the field, North of us. He said that’s where he would like to put on the demonstration.”
General Anders shot up from his seat and stomped through the building. “Demonstration! Who does he think he is!? Yelled the general. He was fuming and the lieutenant hated when he got that mad. “Why didn’t he just park in the parking lot?” The general surged through the building and out the North exit. The general stopped as soon as he saw the vehicle. “What is that vehicle?”
“Sir. It just landed,” the lieutenant explained. “A soldier ran in and alerted me to a vehicle landing in the field.”
“Landed?” the general asked.
“He said it came straight down, real fast, and stopped just before it touched down.”
“Let’s go meet this guy. Is the big guy Blakely? Who’s the kid?” General Anders asked.
“No idea, sir.”
The kid started walking toward the General and stuck out his hand. “General Anders, I presume. I’m Lux Blakely. General Parsons said he called you. I just left the DARPA Headquarters in Arlington a few minutes ago. These are my bodyguards, former Captains Maynard and Branch.”
“Former 3rd battalion 2nd SF Group, General,” Branch said and shook the General’s hand.
“Former Marine Aircraft Group, V22 Pilot, General” Maynard said.
“Where’d you serve? The General asked.
“Haiti and mainly in Eastern Europe,” Polly said.
“Oh! Marine Expeditionary Force. I’m impressed, son,” the General said turning back to Lux.
“You’ve got some good people with you. I’m more inclined to entertain this ‘demonstration’ now.”
“Where is your non-com?” Lux asked as they saw a huge soldier running toward them.
“Is this your aide, General?” Lux said approaching the lieutenant.
“I’m sorry. This is Lieutenant Swiftwater. He is indispensable to me. The soldier approaching would be Sergeant Gunnarson,” the General said grinning as the soldier ran up and saluted while not trying to breathe too heavily. “This demonstration?”
“Give me five minutes with the sergeant, General” Lux said and walked over to the sergeant. “Put this in your pocket, sergeant. Strap this on. Put this around the back of your neck and touch the little nodes against your jaw. Put on these eyeglasses. How much do you weigh? Can you hear me?” Lux whispered.
“I can hear you. I weigh right at 100 kilos (220 lbs).” the sergeant looked like he was listening. “There is another voice too. It is asking if I’d like to go through accelerated training,” Gunnarson said.
“Tell it you want to,” Lux said.
“It’s asking if I’d like to hover just off the ground.
“Tell it you would,” Lux said.
“It’s asking if I’d like to hover ten (10) meters off the ground.”
“Just say ‘Yes’ unless you get scared. Anytime you want to finish, just say ‘Go back to start’ or ‘Stop’. Tell it what you’d like to do. We’re putting on a show for the General.”
Lux turned to the General. “We’re putting him through the basic expedited training with the flight unit. He says he weighs 100 kilos. I’d say he’s closer to 120. That unit carries a max of 160 kilograms.”
“How many minutes will it run on a charge? I notice it makes no sound,” the General said.
“Not sure how long this one lasts. We could probably fly coast-to-coast on one charge easily. It depends on how fast your people are flying. I flew over 500 kilometers hanging from an earlier version at 400 knots. The device will allow you to fly faster but the wind is cutting and cold,” Lux explained as Gunnarson shot up in the air and then did some high-speed runs while Lux looked at his phone. “Wow. He’s testing how fast he can stand. He is certainly going faster than I ever could. He got it up to 800 km/hr (almost commercial airspeed). He’s slowing down and practicing maneuvers and hovering.”      
* 741 km/hr or 460 mi/hr
“This thing is something you invented and it runs on electricity? How long does it take to charge?”
“General. It’s like a fast charge on a cell phone. I think it would change a lot of battle logistics and strategy,” Lux said.
“Can you talk to Gunnarson? Ask him to land at the commissary and pick me up a six-pack of beer he likes and bring it right back. Tell him that if he can get back right here in under five minutes, we’ll drink it together in my office,” the general said with a grin.
Lux mumbled into his phone and three minutes later, Gunnarson landed with a dark beer. Lieutenant Swiftwater gave the sergeant some cash and they walked back into Hays Hall.
“That was incredible, General,” Gunnarson blurted. “We could cover 1,000 klicks traveling almost as fast as a jet and the glasses showed me everything. This thing trained me in no time, sir. I’m no good with electronics and I had no trouble hearing or talking. It became intolerable if I went really fast but I could go faster than a C130J plane at top speed easily carrying about 40 or 50 kilos of kit,” Gunnarson volunteered.
“That’s why I asked for you, sergeant. Too many people just tell me what they think I want to hear. Could you train a bunch to train others?” the general asked. “Mister Blakely. How much would it cost to outfit two brigades worth - about 20,000 soldiers?” the general asked and opened five beers – handing the first to Gunnarson, then Maynard, then Branch, then Swiftwater, then himself. “Cheers. Lux, you’re our designated, underage pilot. I hear from General Parsons that you’re the one that usually flies that contraption.”
“I think we could do 20,000 flying units with the control pack for about $27.5 million. The glasses he wore are a commercial product. One of my programmers hacked the gamer’s glasses just like I do to the encrypted, bone conduction communications. DARPA has the schematics for the flying units and accessories. I bet you could get Dr. Tomkins to supply the manufacturing expertise and money to build these,” Lux suggested.
“Why do you call these flying units? Don’t you have a better, catchy name for them? Flying units sounds pretty dull. Sergeant Gunnarson. Here,” the general said and handed him the last beer. “What would you call these things, Sergeant?”
Sergeant Gunnarson wasn’t about to turn down a General offering him a beer even if it was against a dozen regs. “Why don’t you call them ‘Lifters’? I never thought that thing could lift me. I almost peed on myself the first time I hung there floating above the ground.”
“We would need to get DARPA to expedite the first 100. I’ll consider the ways to utilize the advantages this would give us. I’d have the sergeant train the first mixed group,” the General said.
“General. I originally thought you could pit Brigade 1 against Brigade 2 and have your aviation brigade think why they would still be important in exercises” Lux suggested. “People get creative in competition.’ Let me know what Dr. Tomkins says, and you might run it up the chain, to see what headquarters thinks of the idea.”
◆◆◆
 
Trouble in Jurong Island near Singapore
Lux got a call from Lummi double, #2. “Mister Blakely. I’m not sure what to do. We’ve been really successful on the tour and it was three’s turn to do the show since she speaks Mandarin. She’s gone. Some men got her and the flying pack.”
“Where are you, Lucy?” Lux asked, knowing her real name from the file when he and Prissy hired her.
“I’m at Singapore Indoor Stadium. We had just finished the show when a van drove up and seven or eight men all ran straight at our security and fired darts at our security guards. The Singapore Police are here. They are everywhere. They say they’ll find her. What should I do?” Lummi #2 (Lucy Cocachina) asked.
“Did anyone else get hurt? How are the security guards?” Lux asked and motioned Rodney in and put his phone on speakerphone. “How did you get away?”
“I hid behind some trash cans. They never saw me,” Lucy said. “They just grabbed Lita.”
“Where are you staying? We’ll send extra security. You’re supposed to go to the Impact Arena in Bangkok. Thailand in three days. Do you feel like you can do the show with April?” he asked.
“We’re staying at the Executive Suite on Jurong Island. April, number one, and I have performed together before. We have been using our numbers for so long so we don’t expose ourselves too much – it feels weird to use my name. Yes, we can do it. You’ll get her back, won’t you,” she asked.
“You know I will,” Lux said. “Rest up and I’ll keep you informed.”
◆◆◆
 
Crisis Hostage Situation – Bangkok, Thailand
“Anna. What have you got?” Lux asked his AI.
“I’ve been monitoring the traffic on the phones of the captors. You were right to suspect that someone would steal one or both of the ‘lifters’ we use in the shows.  They are moving the lifter to the Chinese Embassy on 57 Ratchadaphisek Rd., Bangkok, Thailand. Looks like they are mostly members of the People's Liberation Army (PLA). The officer leading them is with the Intelligence Bureau of the Joint Staff Department. Lita has been mentioned. They apparently want to keep her alive until they know how to use the lifter. She is being fed and is conscious. They are meeting with the Military Attaché, Major General Wu Xiaoyi. This seems to be the plan of Second Bureau, Li Huichang.”
“Keep me informed Anna. Infiltrate their systems as much as you can. There is so much high-level infiltration software in that lifter, I’d hate to mess with it.” Lux turned to Rodney. “Any way we could fly in and get her out?”
Rodney laughed as did Polly. “Too much chance for many to get killed and Lita.” Anna played back a few of the translated conversations of the captors to Lux’s four bodyguards through their systems. “It’s a professional team. No way we could do something like that. How did you get those translations.”
“I made that ‘lifter’ to be stolen. They’d have to be nation-state actors to do that and Anna enabled it to have some functions I didn’t mention to anyone. It’s made to hack nearby communications networks and squirt encrypted info back. Anna. Go private with me,” Lux said and started talking privately with the AI.
“Suggestions?”
“You imply without loss of life and a war,” Anna said and there was a human-like chuckle. “I’m starting to understand irony and humor. I could bring down the Chinese internet and destroy their ability to communicate but that would be a bit extreme. I could call the generals in charge. Oh, oh! I have it. Came to me in a flash,” Anna said to Lux.
“Everything comes to you in a flash,” Lux said. “You’re way ahead of me on all this. Lay it out for the slow organic, if you would. You would call the head guy on the captor team, the military attaché at the embassy, and the General that thought up the plan. Right?”
“Spoilsport,” Anna said. “I would threaten them with loss of intelligence operatives until they called back to tell us Lita was on the roof of the embassy and unharmed. We would start sending files with the background and names of Chinese intelligence operatives in other countries. We would let those three hear the names and then where they had penetrated. We would also send the names to the NSA and CIA. I don’t want to send so much that they panic and start a war – just enough that they get executed by their own government.”
“Okay, guys.” Lux turned to his bodyguards. “I think they will be calling to release her pretty soon. I plan to leave the lifter with them.”
“Don’t you even think of going there,” Rodney said.
“They will be desperate to turn her loose,” Lux explained.
“They need to see adults or they’ll do something dumber than what they already did,” Polly said.
“I need two of you to go with me to pick her up. She knows me and she’ll be spooked right now. I plan to stay behind the shield.”
“If you hadn’t been in that scrap we had in the lab,” Rodney said, looking at Lux. “I’d never allow you to go with me. Those guys might have been too much for me that day if it hadn’t been for you being there with me. Guess I never acknowledged that before.”
“I realize. I would be handcuffed to some workbench in China or dead that day if it hadn’t been to you. Back on point. Anna is making the call with a synthesized voice.
◆◆◆
 
The Call

“I have Major Xu, the leader of the capture team, Military attaché, Major General Wu Xiaoyi, and the planner from the Second Bureau, Li Huichang on the phone,” Anna said in her male synthesized Voice in Pu Tong Hua (Mandarin).
“Who is this? General Xiaoyi demanded. “How did you get my number?”
“You are holding Lita hostage in the Chinese Embassy in Thailand after kidnapping her in Singapore. You may keep the flight pack but you must return the girl,” Anna.
“We know nothing about any kidnapping!” shouted Major Xu.
“Oops. Just released your personnel file and all seven of the PLA soldiers under your command on the raid to the Singapore Police. They got all your fingerprints too and recordings of your conversations after the raid. We must have someone in your support personnel.”
“What do you want?” Huichang said in a calm voice accustomed to command.
“You may keep the flight unit. Release Lita unharmed. I am releasing a list of your agents in India. I include their background history and who or what they have compromised. I am sending the Second Bureau the files we release so they can make sure we have accurate information. Send Lita to the roof of your building and we will pick her up.”
“This is ridiculous,” Major Xu said.
“I am now releasing more files on your operatives in India. There are so many and you have spent so much effort infiltrating their government and military – oh – and businesses. You’ve been busy. Send her to the roof,” Anna demanded. Anna texted Lux, Polly, and Rodney to go now. Lux flew the Pod at its fastest rate, toward Thailand.
“Thailand National Security, Special Branch just received your capture team’s files along with the files of your military attaché, Xiaoyi. Looks like they will be deported. You still haven’t moved her up to the roof.”
“You keep calling her Lita. Why is that?” Huichang asked.
“That is her name,” Anna said. “The files of your operatives in Pakistan were just released. She is still not moving to the roof. Looks like I will have to let the First Bureau know that you were the one that arranged the release of all this information. Are the files inaccurate?”
Huichang was aghast at the data he was receiving. It was internal files from his Bureau about thousands of operatives. This couldn’t be happening, he thought.
“You better send her to the roof, Huichang, before I implicate your brothers and cousins. Your father is still alive, I think. How will he take it if you are shown as a traitor.”
Anna contacted the Pod team who were coming in over the Bay of Bengal.
“Do you know where you are going?” Polly asked.
“Thailand? Hardly but Anna is piloting currently. The forward viewscreen started showing information and pinpointed the embassy. “We’ll stay high until she’s on the roof. Anna? Scan for people with a view of the roof.”
“Lita is moving. You tweaked enough nerves,” Anna reported. “I see two personnel in scans through your cameras. Both are to your West so the sun will be in your eyes. Looks like a sniper and a spotter.”
Anna called Major Xu. “Major Xu. I am about to implicate your brother in the PLA if the sniper to the west of us shoots.”
◆◆◆
 
Major Xu Bin – Commander of Capture Team
Major Xu was usually calm under stress but this was far outside his experience. How could these gwáilóu have gotten this information. They will not defeat my mission to obtain that flying unit. He was about to call off his team when his radio cut in. “Major! The girl is on the roof and a vehicle is descending to the roof. We will put the vehicle out of commission first and will only shoot to wound the girl. Over!”
The spotter said, “The vehicle has landed but I don’t see an engine to shoot. The door on the opposite side is opening up but I don’t see anyone. Shoot something. Shoot where the motor would be!” the spotter yelled at his partner, the sniper.
The sniper shot the 7.62 X 51 round from his highly modified Norinco rifle. He could see nothing happening. The girl ducked down and a person came running out with some type of lightweight shield. The sniper aimed where the person’s head would be behind the shield. He fired and saw the bullet drop to the ground. It had no effect on the shield. There was no apparent impact. He fired again and again but the man with the shield had put it in front of the girl and walked her to the other side of that vehicle. The sniper saw the door closing and the vehicle came right at the sniper and then disappeared, straight up into the sky.
◆◆◆
 
Rescued – In the Pod
Lux was in the back seat and Polly was flying. Lux told Lati, “Take a deep breath and let it out slowly. Again.”
Lati had her jaw clamped shut. She started shaking with her teeth chattering. Lux wrapped a blanket around her he had thrown into the Pod. “You’re going to be okay. They can’t get you. They will never do it to anyone else.” Lux hugged her to him tightly and she started weeping on his shoulder. He held her until she had cried out and she fell asleep. They had landed at ‘The Balance’ in Mallorca, Spain. Polly was going to stay with her ‘til she was stabilized.
Rodney carried the sleeping girl into the building in a ‘princess carry’. Anna had made reservations and paid for two weeks for Polly and Lati.
Lux turned to Polly. “Ask Anna to connect you with our other two doubles and have Lati assure them she is okay whenever she wakes up. Explain to her where she is and she can leave at any time. Two weeks paid leave plus a bonus. The amenities of this place are all explained in the file Anna sent you. Sit with her all you can and let her know you’ll be watching out for her. They will have a program here for her – probably good for you too. You have an expense account here for clothing or anything you need.”
Lux met with the Retreat’s staff and decided it was a spa for the wealthy as much as a treatment center. He and Rodney finally climbed back into the Pod and headed back to his lab.
◆◆◆
 
Anna’s Retribution
Anna thought the perpetrators of the plot should face some consequence for attacking her organic partners. She knew she could communicate with the lifter the kidnappers had stolen. Even though it was a poor connection, she thought she should keep them from doing this again. They should have no partial success either because they might reverse engineer the thruster. She did not want the lifter to just smash against the wall because they could assemble the debris. She decided to take steps.
The lifter was in a basement room of the embassy. There were two people in the room and one was holding the controller which Anna had virtually disconnected. Anna had enough bandwidth through the phones the investigators had with them. She could sense their position from the anti-collision sensors in the lifter. When it was just right – she accelerated toward the neck of investigator one. The lifter severed the head. Anna lined up investigator two and did the same, almost smashing into the wall. She hovered over the entrance door to the room and forty-five minutes later the door opened, the lifter did the same to someone coming into the room. She pulled image of the exit on the wall and quickly went up the stairs and straight up into orbit. The lifter clipped 25 Chinese spy satellites in orbit that had been produced by the Aerospace Dongfanghong Satellite Co., Ltd. before it was damaged too much to function. Most of the satellites impacted ceased to function or were severely impaired.
◆◆◆
 
FBI Counter Intelligence Section
Collier came in with eyes big as saucers. He was hyperventilating so badly; he could hardly speak. “Did you see the files that just came in? I don’t know if it’s a hoax or what but it’s scary.”
“What are you talking about, Collier? You need to chill,” Sarina said.
Collier slammed his hand down on her desk. “Look at those files now! This is not a chill moment.”
Sarina had never seen Collier like this before and knew it must be huge to cause him to act like this. She opened the files Collier had identified. “My god! It’s a list of translated Chinese files from the Second Bureau of espionage agents within the US. It has their history, fingerprints, photos, known associates, their missions, and even their past missions. This is crazy. It has copies of all the original documents in Mandarin. This even lists suborned students in the US and their tasks. Look. Here is that Professor Helmann guy we arrested and two hidden payments from Tianjin University in Shenzhen, China. It was really PLA money. Who sent this? Is it real?”
Collier leaned over and went to another directory. “I found this addressed to me in my private directory.” He opened the note.
“Oh, no!” Sarina said as she read the note.
“Collier. You and Sarina have generally treated me fairly in dealings and as a good American with a ‘unique’ skillset – I was forced to use some of those skills when Chinese intelligence operatives kidnapped me after a show in Singapore. It was another team of eight, Led by Major Xu, that took out my security and took one of my body doubles to Bangkok – to the embassy there. The military attaché was implementing a plan made by Li Huichang of the Second Bureau. We rescued her and she is undergoing PTSD therapy in Spain. I released a lot of Second Bureau files to India and Pakistan. I sent copies of the files (the ones I sent you) to the NSA and CIA to save some legwork. They needed to know even if they are SUPPOSED to work outside the borders of the US.
You friend,
Lummi (the original)”
“My God!” Sarina said.




Chapter 8



NSA Fort Meade Headquarters – Office of Tom Arnold
Tom Arnold came into Fredrik’s office. “Did you…?”
“Looking at it now,” Fredrik said. “Did you see who sent it?” Fredrik said with eyes wide.
“No,” Tom said. “I’ve been going through our suspect file and almost every one of them is listed here in technicolor.”
“Technicolor?” Fredrik asked.
“It’s something my dad used to say meaning ‘in great detail.’ I always liked the phrase. This has hundreds of names we’ve never considered. This tells their handlers, their backgrounds, and more. It’s like the Second Bureau dumped their own secret personnel files in our lap. This puts us on a more even footing since they’ve violated all the unwritten rules the last decade.”
“I guess it’s reasonable that only someone like Lummi could pull off something like this,” Fredrik said.
“Lummi sent this?” Tom queried.
“Didn’t you read her note at the end? I checked AND the Singapore Police did have a kidnapping of Lummi at a concert two days ago. She’s supposed to perform in Bangkok tomorrow – a few hours from now, our time. There has been enormous chatter between Bangkok and Beijing for a day. The Chinese lost over twenty spy satellites yesterday. We know Lummi is friends with Lux Blakely and Prissy Hunnicutt. Think we should call Ingrid and mention that we know they are friends?” Fredrik asked. “You call her.”
◆◆◆
 
CIA Headquarters Langley, VA - Office of Ingrid – Senior Analyst
“Why call us, Tom?” Ingrid said. “Hope this isn’t casual talk over our secure line.”
“We got some files from Lummi,” Tom replied.
Ingrid let out a big sigh. “I bet the FBI got them too.”
“Did you know that Lummi is personal friends with Lux Blakely and Prissy Hunnicutt?” Tom asked.
“No, how do you know that? What does ‘being friends’ mean?” Ingrid asked.
“It means they have made videos together but they have to wear a Mylar suit with a ground clamp. Lummi also has friends in Europe who are immune.”
“Immune?” Ingrid asked.
“Evidently, some of her friends don’t forget her if they get near her. We have some solid support on these tidbits,” Tom explained.
“Did you know that those two people have shell companies in the Caymans that receive money from her videos? They are all legal and pay proper taxes,” Ingrid said.
“I’d say the Chinese Intelligence Community made Lummi angry when they kidnapped her and a body double at a concert in Singapore and then brought her to a place where she had access to top-secret files,” Tom said, piecing things together, what may have happened. “The captors would forget about Lummi and just remember the double. Then, Lux Blakely takes out those satellites. He has that capability but we have no evidence he did anything.”
“We have no evidence either but there is turmoil in the Chinese intelligence Services right now. The Indian and Pakistan governments are kicking out many diplomats and arresting others too. I’d say she gave us a year or two of breathing room. This explains a lot,” thanks, Tom.”
◆◆◆
 
Lummi #3 Call to Lummi #1 & #2 – Recovery at THE BALANCE from PTSD
Lucy (#2) and April (#1) got the call from Lati (#3) in Mallorca, Spain. “It is heavenly here. I’m at a 5-star resort on the beach with counselors. For all the scary parts, I knew that Lux and his team would come to get me. The captors didn’t hit me or anything. They fed me and let me use the bathroom. They were interested in the flying unit, but Lux let them keep it. Someone fired a rifle at us but it didn’t do anything and Lux flew me here. He left the bodyguard, Polly, to stay with me. I was terrified but I miss you guys already. Let me know how the show goes. I’ll be back with you soon.”
The girls talked for another hour and then Lati had to go have a massage. They were lucky and they hadn’t lost any of their own, Polly thought but whatever Lux had done to twist the arm of the intelligence services had worked. That shield was something too. The boss was something else.
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Boca Chica – StarShip Magnetic Launch
Robert Allen and Rodney Branch accompanied Lux and Douglas Trenton to the Boca Chica launch site. They were meeting with Chris Tripp and Joe Petrzelka for the liftoff.
“Is your CEO going to join us?” Douglas asked.
“Don’t know,” Tripp replied. “I have four spacesuits ready for sizing. Are you wanting an extra one smurf sized?”
“Funny,” Lux said. “No. I’ll be as tall as you by next year. I’m 157 cm (5’2”) now. The small Dragon suit I have will suffice ‘til I have time to train and others need a suit more. What is the plan today?”
Joe Petrzelka stepped over. “We tested all the Blakely thrusters and they worked fine. We can do that without a lot of publicity because there is no roaring flame and they are sealed units. We tested all fifteen together repeatedly and did a short lift at fractional power. The batteries are all charged and your camera on the Dragon showed a dense magnetic field. We’re good to go.”
“But have you cranked up the social media yet?” Lux asked Chris with a grin.
“Yes. Our boss has been touting the changes in strategy and explaining how this is a dress rehearsal for a magnetic field mapping mission of the solar system. We have your camera on the Dragon Magnetic and it’s giving us excellent data.”
“I have partial maps out to the equidistant orbit I would sell you if interested,” Lux said.
“Really. Was that from your 12U satellite a year or so ago?” Joe asked.
“Yes. The military had kittens when I almost collided with their stealth-capture satellites,” Lux commented.
“Yes. I’m very interested in whatever maps you have,” Joe indicated.
“I also have detailed tree-top to 50,000 meters altitude for 100 kilometers in the Eastern US,” Lux added.
“That would be valuable,” Petrzelka said. “I’ll get back in touch with you on that shortly. We plan to go into orbit and come back down here. You’re just in time today. Liftoff is in an hour but our local, live audience has dropped a lot since there isn’t as much chance of a huge explosion. People are weird.”
“Come on into the control room. All my people want to meet you two. I’m sorry that the CEO isn’t here. Between us, he heard you two were coming and didn’t want to be upstaged. He’d never admit that but he always wants to be the brightest light in the room. Here are your official access key cards. Wear them with the barcode and picture facing outward. Right through here,” Joe said and led them into the huge building.
There was a large packed crowd of spectators but Lux and Douglas were led into a room with a sea of monitors. The operators glanced over at their entrance and started talking and pointing. There was a susurrus of comments and then some spontaneous clapping and whistling at Lux and Douglas. Lux looked around and blushed. He and Douglas waved at the group with a big smiles until a man shouted, “Back at it!” Everyone swiveled their eyes back to their screen. “T-minus 30 minutes.”
The minutes dragged by as it came to launch. “Five – four – three – two – one – Lift off - the StarShip Magnetic is rising at 3G acceleration,” the control center announced. Three-point seven minutes later. “We are in stable orbit!” The crowd and all the operators cheered, clapped, and whistled their joy at the successful culmination of their hard work. They knew it was just the beginning.
Joe turned to them. “When do we get inertial dampening and proof against radiation? When do we get the kinetic protection that your small ship has?”
“We are working on it. It won’t be much longer. We are trying to discover why it works now,” Douglas answered.
Lux didn’t want to get into a long discussion. He thought it best if SpaceX and the world became familiar with this version first. He realized people in other countries would be looking at everything differently and that was disturbing.
They left Boca Chica and Lux dropped off Douglas at the lab in Atlanta and practiced with his knife throwing and Escrima stick fighting with Robert who was pretty good. Polly had just taken Lummi #3 (Lita) from The Balance resort in Mallorca back to the tour group. She had taken the tour group another spare “lifter’ for use in their shows. It seemed DARPA had pounced on the idea of flying infantry with ‘Lifters’. Financial support from programs that were foundering was transferred. The Lockheed-Martin Fabrication Facility evidently had the means to expand production of the ‘Lifters’. They were cranking them out at a thousand a week. Money seemed to overcome some bureaucracy.
◆◆◆
 
Lockheed-Martin Fabrication Facility – Troy, Alabama
“Lux Blakely set this in motion is all I know. I have no idea where DARPA got the money. This didn’t go through any appropriations committee. We didn’t get the usual visits by members of Congress. I’ll look into it. Don’t call me. Now I have to use another burner phone. You’re lucky you caught me driving to work. I come to work at 6:30 am. Yes, I’m aware of the time change. Give me a week,” Verner Abrojec turned off the phone and pulled over to the side of the road. He took out the phone’s SIM card and threw it out the window. He took out the battery and threw that away too. He tossed the phone in the dumpster near a Stop & Rob along the way to work after he had stomped on it.
◆◆◆
 
Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency – Director Stephanie Tomkins - Arlington, VA
Dr. Tomkins was arguing with one of her coworkers. “Yes. I run this shop and I have the power to redirect monies. Those projects were dead in the water and putting it into fast manufacturing is the right thing to do.”
“We usually run this through the congressional appropriations committee,” Dr. Abram Porter pleaded.
“That is just a stupid waste of time. Lockheed has already manufactured 5,000 lifters and the General at Fort Drum is ecstatic. This is what we do, Abram. We will have two brigades of troops able to move really fast. No one else has anything close. They will be developing procedures to implement this new tech – charging and security.”
“I’m worried some of them will be stolen and reverse-engineered. You know our military leaks like a sieve when new tech comes out.”
“Lux Blakely said the software takes it all into account and said ‘Do not worry about theft. There are built-in safeguards.’ That’s what he said verbatim. He wouldn’t tell me what those safeguards are but that kid is something else.”
◆◆◆
 
10th Mountain Division Headquarters off S. Riva Ridge Loop - Fort Drum, New York
Sergeant Gunnarson was having the time of his life. For once, the Army had done what they said and gotten those ‘Lifters’ manufactured in record time. The troops had not quite gone wild with them, but it was close. He had to do it like the Harry Potter movies showing how to ride broomsticks. He had finally gotten shock collars, like some people use training dogs, to attach to the more ‘rambunctious’ soldiers so he could get them. He soon had them fly in formation. Sergeant Gunnarson especially liked the new, encrypted communication gear that came with the Lifters. It was quasi-intelligent and let him direct his orders by looking at a group of ‘screwups’ or verbally saying where he wanted to direct the communication. He would first designate the units by name and squad (10 to 11), platoon (4 squads), company (130-150), battalion (400), or in this case, up to Brigade size 3,000 – 5,000 with equal support), division (10,000 – 20,000).
Sergeant Gunnarson had trained a company of instructors and they were doing fine. They had one death from a soldier on a cross country movement exercise. He obviously had a breakdown at 1,000 meters (over 3,000 feet) altitude. He had become frantic at the height, even though flying in formation with a platoon of others. He had stripped off his harness and pushed it away. Others tried to catch him. Some of the men handled speed better than others and these were assigned to the ‘Lightning Squads’ as they were comfortable flying 180 meters per second (just over 400 miles per hour) for long periods.
Getting the support and headquarters battalions trained was a trial. They came in thinking they were better than the ‘grunts’ and had quite a few injuries. As the comedian, Ron White said; ‘You can’t fix stupid.’
It took weeks but they could do large scale movements, covert movements at night with Nightvision goggles, and small unit incursions. The two brigades were running ‘operations’ against each other by the end of the month. Many had no qualms about jumping out the back of C-130 or other aviation vehicle. The units were almost silent and soon were able to work out ways to deploy and move in coordinated fashions. Land mines? No problem. Fly over them. Rivers or mountains – not a problem. The soldiers loved them.
Two Congressmen were visiting the general at Fort Drum and caught the tail end on an exercise.
“What is this, General? We didn’t authorize this expenditure?” Congressman Keating from the Massachusetts 9h district said.
“You didn’t need to, Congressman. This was funded through DARPA using just the leftover funds from projects that had failed or stalled and weren’t going to complete,” the General said proudly. “This adds a new dimension to what my division can do wherever we’re posted. Our enemies are going to have a hard time containing my troops. The communications network alone, lets us work with more precision than we ever had. We’ve tried eavesdropping and jamming. Can’t eavesdrop and jamming is hard because it squirts messages that punch through a lot.”
“You should have brought this for our approval. You can’t just go out and use gear that isn’t compatible with other communication systems. How would you coordinate. I’ve served. I know you don’t mix gear,” Congressman Rogers expounded. He was from the 3rd District in Alabama.
“Really! Congressman?” the general said, incredulous at his complaint. “I thought this was why you were here since these are all made in your Congressional District in Alabama. I suppose we could stop production or move to another facility.”
“Oh…em…I suppose. Yes, that’s why we’re here. Carry on, General. Who is responsible for this tech? I wasn’t…it’s new,” the Congressman said, stunned by the revelation. “This is incredible. Why wasn’t I told?”
“This was top secret until not long ago,” the general explained. “I suppose you weren’t in the loop. Lux Blakely is the inventor, congressman. He designed the communications gear and the lifters. He’s also completed an aerospace engineering degree from Georgia Tech. I understand he’s in the doctoral program now, at MIT.”
“That man needs some recognition,” Congressman Rogers said and his companion nodded.
“I’m not sure we want our opponents to know about this new ability,” the General said knowing the two Congressmen were thinking how they could milk good publicity for their reelection campaigns and not about how to give credit to some person.
◆◆◆
 
Zhongnanhai - State Council General Office of CPC Central Committee
Xicheng District, Beijing, China
The Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (CPC) was having an emergency meeting in the State Council Hall next to the Regent Palace. Core Leader Jiang Lei laid out the startling information.
“The Second Bureau failed in its attempt to ‘obtain’ the singer named Lummi. It seems they disabled the security team in Singapore and did get her to the embassy in Bangkok but that is where their plan fell apart. Somehow, this woman Lummi, got into the files of the Second Bureau and started releasing files about our operatives to our enemies. Years of work was destroyed. The Indian and Pakistan governments know how we infiltrated them. She released who was on the capture team to the police and intelligence forces in Thailand. She implicated the ambassador, the Second Bureau and the military liaison at the Embassy.”
“How could this woman get those files?” asked another.
“This woman has a power. People forget her after they meet her. It is like she doesn’t exist. She apparently speaks Putonghua (Mandarin) fluently. Then the small flying vehicle the Second Bureau tried to capture in Atlanta, Georgia, USA landed and spirited away the one we had captured. We had snipers positioned and shot the vessel and then the rescuers. The shots did nothing to the vehicle or to whomever held a light shield in front of them. We are falling behind the West again and it is intolerable,” Jiang Lee said.
“What type of action have we taken against those that failed?” another asked.
“All but Li Huichang of the Intelligence Section have been removed. The military attaché and all team members have been eliminated. Li Huichang has been moved to the First Bureau in charge of overseeing security. He is the son of…he is too important to eliminate. We shall see how he performs,” Jiang Lee said.
“What is the impact of these intelligence leaks? Have there been any further repercussions? Did we, at least, get the device and disrupt that disgusting tour?” another asked.
“We only captured an apparent body double of this Lummi and the show continued on schedule. They used the device in the following show. The device we captured killed several scientists examining it and then, we suspect, attacked twenty-five spy satellites,” Lee said and paused and ran his hand through his hair. “No. I have no idea how that was done. It only attacked our satellites and apparently destroyed itself in the process.”
“Is there no hope of obtaining one of these Lifters?” one asked. “Did you find out what agency rescued the body double?”
“It was not any US agency. We think it was Lux Blakely. He has been identified near SpaceX with this same vehicle. He is the one, the operatives were after from the first failed capture attempt,” Lee said.
“That is intolerable,” another voice asked. “Where are Lifters being manufactured?”
“We do not know where those units are manufactured, but the US Army is doing something with them at a military base near the Canadian border. We have several Mafia Russian contacts that are willing to obtain units for us. We are offering them an inordinate amount of money, but it may be more efficient than using our own people. We don’t know how many of our intelligence files have been compromised. It is disturbing when you don’t know how many of your critical intelligence secrets have been revealed,” Jiang Lee said.
“This Lux Blakely continues to be a thorn in our side. What is the plan?” the Chairman asked.
“With your approval – we release an open contract to pay $2 million US dollars for his confirmed death. We have enough cutouts that no one can directly blame us. We get others to remove him.”
“Good plan,” said the Chairman.
◆◆◆
 
Office of John Clark – Lockheed Skunkworks – Palmdale, California
“What do you mean there are people outside that want to see me? I don’t have anything on my calendar,” John Clark said. He had finally gotten this place running smoothly and then something like this pops up.
“Security has them surrounded but they are just floating there,” Anish explained.
“Floating there?” Clark asked. “Who is it?”
“We think it’s that Lux Blakely kid…the one we’ve seen around SpaceX.”
“How do you know it’s Blakely?” Clark asked.
“He stepped out of his vehicle. He’s just floating next to his vehicle.”
“I’m busy. What does he want?” Clark asked.
“He said he wants us to build something for him.”
“Just like that. Doesn’t he know how this works? We negotiate a contract. Everything we do is Top Secret. He’s violated our security as is. It’s a lot more drawn-out process,” Clark said.
“He knows that. He said he needs it completed faster than going through all that.”
“Doesn’t he know how long a design process takes on experimental vehicles?” Clark asked, getting more and more perturbed.
“Oh. He knows all that. He said that we were one of only a few facilities that could fabricate it fast for him. He has the design already completed he said.”
“How long did you talk with this kid? I think he’s only twelve,” Clark said. “I don’t have time to mess with this. Doesn’t he know how much something like this costs? I doubt he’s rich enough to fund this himself.”
Anish laughed. “The kid said he’d trade us for three vehicles of his design. Two for the Space Force and one for him. You really ought to talk with him.”
“He’s crazy. That’s the stupidest thing I’ve ever heard. What’s he got to trade? Why would we work with him?” Clark asked.
Anish laughed. “He said, he’d go to the Boeing Phantom Works, if we didn’t want to work with him. Then he said he’d trade something unbelievable. He said he would give us the ability to make inertialess travel possible. That’s what he said. He said he’d give you ten minutes to make up your mind because he didn’t have time to waste kissing your feet. He’s interesting to talk with since he’s just standing there – floating outside his ship.”
Clark stood there for a full minute before he rushed to the front of the building to talk with this kid.

◆◆◆
 
Skunk Works – Lockheed – Palmdale, California
Clark hurried out the door and came to an abrupt halt when he faced the vehicle and the boy floating a half meter off the ground. He looked around at security. “These people are here to work with us. Don’t scare them off people,” he said indicating the guards should stand down. The guards reluctantly backed off, but were alert from a discrete distance.
Lux lowered himself to the ground. Douglas Trenton, and bodyguards Robert Allen and Rodney Branch stepped out of the vehicle. The guards immediately tensed up again when they saw people with body armor and weapons. Rodney had the lightweight shield hung from a shoulder across his back. “I’m Lux Blakely. This is Dr. Douglas Trenton," Lux said. "I am wearing a unit I designed that lets the wearer fly at any speed and altitude their body can withstand. I’m willing to trade you some of the abilities for three vessels built to my specifications. You would know about that since we use your facility in Troy, Georgia.”
Clark was enough of an intellectual that he listened before he spoke and showed he had good manners when he greeted Lux and Dr. Trenton and nodded to Lux’s security. “Bodyguards?”
“Yes. There have been several armed kidnapping and assassination attempts in the last year. May we go somewhere that is not out in the open. All of us have Top Secret clearances though it is for other projects. This is more of a personal nature,” Lux said.
Clark was taken aback by the fact that the others with him didn’t speak up. It was eerie seeing this young boy talking while the adults stood around him. They either were intimidated by him or they respected his judgment. He was leaning toward the latter theory. He considered that Anish was right and he was hooked when Anish had mentioned inertialess flight – the Holy Grail of aeronautics. He escorted them to a non-classified conference area near the front of the building.
“This isn’t how we normally conduct business,” Clark said and indicated seats. Douglas and Lux sat together and Robert and Rodney stood in the back.
“Certainly,” Douglas explained. “We have had too many times when we needed to move more people. We need craft that can go anywhere. I flew fighters back in the day. We need three vehicles made as prototypes for the US military.”
“You mean for the Army?” Anish said, interrupting and Clark glared at him.
“Army, Navy, Marines, Air Force, Space Force, and Coast Guard,” Lux interjected.
“Those have radically different design considerations. It would cost billions to design and test different systems. The F35 fight jet had a billion-dollar budget for two prototypes,” Clark said.
Lux snickered. “Where Lockheed went $100 million over budget due to a $30-million-dollar clerical error and you still got the contract. Dr. Trenton and I recently retrofitted a full squadron of F35s at Eglin so they are near silent, fly Mach 5 with a full loadout, and they now have a 19,000-kilometer range or more. We also gave them vertical takeoff and landing for all versions without that dorky lift system you came up with.”
Clark was getting angry at this kid. Insulting designs was common practice amongst the Skunk Works engineers but this kid hadn’t paid his dues. Then he comes in without an appointment and disrupts my day. He got angrier the more he thought about it. “Why should I work with you at all? I don’t like you. I don’t dislike you but this is business and I don’t do business like this.”
Lux tilted his head a bit to the side. “Tell you what. Come for a ten-minute ride. Trenton can fly. He still has his Airline Transport Pilot rating. Bring Anish with you. It is Dr. Anish Patel, isn’t it? Your boss never introduced you but your credentials are impressive.”
“You recognized me and studied my resume?” Anish said impressed.
“Yes, sir. I am in the doctoral AeroAstro Program at MIT currently. I thought your dissertation was masterful. Especially the research into far wake calculations of hypersonic vehicles,” Lux said.
“I didn’t realize that was available for the public to read,” Anish said.
“Doctor. I am not the public. It’s rare that research is so valuable.”
“Blakely. That name seems familiar. Is your father Paulus Blakey? He does hypersonic research, I think.”
“Yes sir. Can you convince Clark to ride with us? I DO NOT want to have to go to Boeing.”
“I’ll try,” he said and grabbed Clark’s arm. “Come on boss. This ought to be interesting.”
“I don’t want to stand multiple G’s of acceleration,” Clark said feigning one excuse after another.
Trenton got in the front left and Robert ushered Clark to the right front seat. Anish sat behind Clark and Lux sat down behind Trenton. Robert and Rodney didn’t make a fuss since they knew what they were after.
Trenton took off as they were fastening their seat harnesses. The viewscreens showed the planet receding rapidly beneath them.
“That’s not just a video?” Clark asked. “That’s a lot of ocean out there. I don’t feel any acceleration.”
“I ordered lunch ahead for us. Hope you don’t mind. Choose from Ahi Tahitian with lime, coconut milk, and island crips, and Macadamia Nut Crab Cakes, Lobster Luau Soup, or Mama’s Bouillabaisse. We have a lunch reservation Mama’s Fish House,” Lux said. Someone may have mentioned that even though it is late afternoon – it is the perfect time for an uncrowded time for late lunch there. They landed on Poho Place just south of the beach and the temperature was perfect. The restaurant was adjacent to North Shore beach. They got out and Douglas locked the Pod. The view was stunning.
“2,577 miles (4,147 kilometers) in five minutes,” Douglas said as they walked into the restaurant.
Clark and Anish just seemed stunned and kept looking around. They would stop and stare at the position of the sun and then look at their watches.
Anish had a phone with him which was unusual in a secure facility but that meant he worked the outer office a lot. Lux suggested, “Look at the time. Check your GPS location.”
They entered the open front of the restaurant.
“Mister Blakely, I assume,” the manager came out and greeted them. “Right this way. The food will be out in just a moment. We didn’t expect you quite so soon but we have the best table reserved for the group.”
Lux smiled and Clark, Patel, and Douglas seemed to be enjoying the tantalizing smells and the fresh island breeze. Clark started to talk business and Lux politely cut him off. “I’m not quite twelve and I’ve never been here. I’m determined to enjoy this without the business. Let’s talk business after we eat if you don’t mind. I skipped my workout this morning, no bodyguards – this is a vacation for an hour.”
Douglas chuckled because he felt the same way and admitted it. So did Clark and Anish. Everybody laughed and relaxed and the food was out before they knew it. It was as delicious as it smelled.
The meal was delicious and they walked out to the beach after eating. Lux took off his shoes and socks. He rolled up his pants legs and walked out to where the water was lapping. He was surprised to find Clark, Anish, and Douglas standing beside him.
Clark turned to him. “I was annoyed and prepared to dislike you. Now you’ve ruined that. What is this proposal you have for us? I need to get back. My secretary will be going nuts about now.”
“I need you to build three prototypes. One the cargo size of a C130 carrying 90 soldiers. One is the cargo size of a CH47G Chinook variant and I don’t want to go to Boeing. Think that one can seat around 44. The last with the cargo capacity of a V-22 Osprey carrying about 24,” Lux said.
Clark just shook his head. “You don’t understand. Those are all obsolete or soon will be. The design work to alter them isn’t something we do.” Clark had enjoyed the lunch and the ride was incredible but this boy couldn’t understand the enormity of what he was asking. It was a childish request. “We wouldn’t design something like those old vehicles. You don’t know what you’re asking.”
Lux held up both hands. “Whoa. These would be spacecraft with armament. Here are the rough designs enough for your cost estimates. We’ve done the design work already. I designed the propulsion systems and Dr. Trenton designed a lot of the environmental systems. I designed the anti-laser and kinetic shielding. My bodyguard brought a shield for you to see. I’ll show you a video of the testing we did in Atlanta. I was hoping to test a railgun on it. Haven’t done extensive testing on the anti-laser system yet but, maybe you could help with that if we become partners.”
“Spacecraft. You’ve got to be crazy. This would cost billions.”
Lux tapped Douglas on the shoulder and looked up to give Trenton a clue. The Pod shot up into space. Lux’s ears felt a slight pressure change. “That’s better, doc. My ears don’t pop anymore. Welcome to low Earth orbit gentlemen. You are now officially. astronauts. Cost projections following our plans come out to right at $480 million. Maintenance is almost non-existent. The biggest costs will be the spacesuits. Oh. Our design eliminates all radiation frequencies above mid-band ultraviolet. X-rays and Gamma rays don’t penetrate. Kinetic projectiles just stop. Looks like we’ll be able to go almost anywhere in the solar system with these designs. SpaceX has one part of this technology. It’s relatively inexpensive.”
“It’s impossible,” Clark said.
Lux was accustomed to the phrase. Lux indicated to Douglas to take them back. He indicated fast. The Pod shot down through the sky at Mach 40 heading for the ground and then slowed abruptly. It eased down to the ground in front of the Skunk Works. Lux stopped Clark from getting out by grabbing his shoulder. He handed him a data stick. “This contains the contract and the plans for the three vehicles. Look these over for a couple of weeks. I have to do some research at MIT. I left details out but this is enough to get you started. It doesn’t give you the crucial details but it does give the performance specs. Watch the kinetic armor video. It is interesting.”
“We have a small railgun we’re testing,” Anish said.
“Don’t explain any of the work here. It’s top secret,” Clark said, obviously irate.
“Boss. We rode to Hawaii at Mach 40 or so with no inertial effects and then went into space and re-entered. They showed us a lot of tech that we had no idea about. They claim to have lightweight armor that will stop any kinetic projectile. If it blasts it to bits then we have a solid weapon. If it stops it…? What do you think corporate would say if we had a kinetic shield?”
“We were supposed to test this anyway. We’re about an hour late because I usually eat a late lunch,” Clark said. “I’ll get cars for us. It’s almost a kilometer from here. Do you have your shield?”
Lux indicated for Rodney to come with them. Robert and Trenton piled into the large vehicles that pulled up. They drove a bit and came to this enormous concrete building. It appeared to be a kilometer long. They went inside but had to give up guns, comms, and phones and go through a search.
They walked down to the target area. “How accurate is this thing? Use about 30 Megawatts of power?” Lux asked rhetorically.
“It’s accurate enough to hit the center of that shield at this distance though there won’t be anything left once it hits,” Clark said.
“You’re developing these for space anyway – aren’t you? The Navy ones had a range of about 110 nautical miles (204 kilometers) and that wasn’t far enough to be safe from shore-based missile systems. These must be for space,” Lux said.
Clark looked at Anish. “Set up your target. We have extensive video capability down there.” Anish and Rodney drove down to the huge sand pit at the end and after turning on the shield and setting it up, they drove back. Everyone went into the interior block house with heavy glass and soundproofing. Eye and ear protection were given to all.
They stood looking at the shield in the video at the target end of the range. There was a short countdown and the railgun fired. There was no effect on the target. “You missed the target!” Anish yelled at the operator. “How could you miss the target? Those rounds cost $10,000 each.” He turned to Lux. “They’re made of tungsten and depleted uranium. Not good to breathe the dust.”
“He didn’t miss. Those weigh about twenty kilograms (44 pounds), and don’t they travel
2,500 meters/sec (8,200 ft/s)? Look at the target video again in slow motion,” Lux suggested.
The operator ran the video back to the firing. The blast from the railgun had diverted them from seeing the round hit. The operator ran the high-speed frames back and you could see the tip of the point of the heavy railgun round get within a centimeter of the surface of the shield. Then there was a little purple flash and the round fell down sideways. It was as if someone had held the round in front of the center of the target and dropped it.
“I’ll be…” Clark said. His eyes were wide with surprise. He reached into his pocket and made sure he had the little data stick. “Let’s get you out of here so we can begin to study this information. I’ll beat corporate over the head with this. We can’t let this go to Boeing. You said you had a laser defense too!?”
“It’s not as far along," Lux said. 
Rodney put on one of the Tyvek coveralls with a filter mask and went down with the operator to recover the projectile and the shield.
Clark and Patel both took pictures of them holding up the shield with the railgun operator holding the tip of the projectile a few centimeters from the shield. They all noted that the shield showed no notice of being impacted. Flying to Hawaii in five minutes didn’t get them but the shield astounded them. Who knew?




Chapter 9

Reviewing the Data stick – Lockheed Skunk Works – Palmdale, CA
Clark and Patel couldn’t wait to look at the details left by Lux and Douglas on their last visit. The files opened easily and depicted three different vehicle sizes. Clark opened the large one first.
“My god! Look at this. This thing is huge. It has no stealth design. Look at the size and specs,” Clark blurted to Patel even though Patel could see as easily as he could. “The specs say it’s designed to go on year-long missions – in space. That’s crazy. We don’t have rockets built to do that,” Clark said.
“This definitely isn’t your average bear. They’ve incorporated the SpaceX StarShip designs, added some survivalist ideas, and then Star Trek stuff. The barracks show individual rooms for the officers and eight a room for the non-commissioned soldiers. That is more like the workers’ rooms at Foxconn where they manufacture low-cost electronics,” Anish said.
“It has two galleys and private berths. It’s the size of a Corvette Combat ship. It is 100 meters long, and 18 meters in diameter. Look how the layout shifts to handle different gravitational orientations. Look at the way they laid out triple-redundant environmental systems. Look – Blakely thrusters. He has a lot of guts to name them after himself,” Clark said.
“No. The engineers at Eglin Air Force Base started calling them that. We still haven’t been able to reverse-engineer them. I thought I’d faint when I saw them here. I thought they knew we had a set of thrusters from Eglin we were trying to get to work. What’s the specification for the wall thickness? That can’t be right. It’s only three centimeters. How could that be with the overall weight they listed?” Patel explained.
“Remember their shield was only two (2) centimeters thick, and it stopped that railgun round cold. I would never have believed that in a hundred years if I hadn’t seen it with my own eyes. This does look like a viable design. It shows the stages of construction clearly. Much of this tech is off the shelf so we don’t have to reinvent the wheel. This design calls to support a vehicle complement of 70 plus a crew of eight.”
“What about the other designs he gave us?” Patel asked. “What’s the general size and crew complement?”
“Looks like what the kid explained in cargo size but there is way more to these designs. They are meant to be lived in with exercise rooms, galleys, observatories, comm suites, computer cores, cargo bays, missile launchers, and lasers. It even has an armory,” Clark looked at the three designs. “I need to look at something further.”
“What next?” Patel asked.
“Answer this for me, Amish. Who would buy these if we built them? How many would they buy and at what price?”
Anish leaned back a second while thinking? “Everyone would want to buy them. We might be able to build them for NATO forces. If they could stop radiation and any kinetic weapon – what did Blakely say about lasers? He said he has some mitigation of the laser threat. That would change warfare. Nuclear weapons would still be effective against fixed locations and threaten civilian populations. Many countries don’t have the fuel and runway infrastructure but these could land and take off from any field. Nearly silent and super-fast – these could replace airliners. How did he create those effects? What does he want?”
Clark was skimming through the proposed contract. He kept reading and making noises like ‘Um’ and “Ah ha/. It was amusing for Anish to just watch.
“Well?” Anish said.
“It’s clear. It’s elegant. I’ve never seen a contract like this. He wants to license the designs to us. He wants two million per ship. He will help us correct any flaws and update them regularly. It’s reasonable and looks like something I should take to the leadership. How could that kid put together something like this?”
◆◆◆
 
AeroAstro Doctoral Program MIT – Space Propulsion 16.522
“Today we’re covering the Characterization of Space Propulsion Devices. I’ve covered Kaufman Ion Engines and the plasma sheaths. We’re now going to cover magnetic field propulsion. I’d like one of our students to give this portion of the class. Mister Blakely. Would you do the honor?” Professor Lozano said.
One of the seven grad students raised her hand. “Professor. I’m really tired of this kid
showing us up every chance he gets. Why would he know about this topic more than you? He’s eleven.”
Lux got up and grinned big. “Lakshmi. Showing you up is pretty low-hanging fruit and I didn’t mean to do that. I apologize but this topic is something I am more conversant with than anyone else on our planet currently. I would love to have the support of more bright people. I’m currently twelve.”
Lux held up a camera. “This is the camera I invented because I thought we could do more if we could see the magnetic fields in real-time. Be careful with it – it cost me about $100,000 for the first one I made. I’ll turn it on. It has a focus lever on the left side of this one. Pass it around. Try looking at this magnet,” he said and tossed a rare Earth magnet to stick with a snap as it landed against the steel-backed whiteboard in the front of the room. “Also look for the magnetic fields that are passing through this room.”
There were a few ‘Whoa!’ comments and a ‘Wow!’ or two amongst the grad students. They handed the camera back to him.
“Then I considered how electromagnetic field fields moved the Earth’s fields and I wondered if they could be used for propulsion. Lots of others did too. I had to make a Halbach array to squeeze magnetic fields further in one direction for physics class. Then I considered a jet engine where air entered a wide aperture and was squeezed and ignited the compressed air - forced out the rear through a smaller aperture to make thrust. I wondered if I could make a cycling Halbach array that would move the Earth’s magnetic field like a jet engine and push against the concentrated fields for thrust. It seems we can.”
“This is B.S.,” Lakshmi said.
“Always had a LOT of people tell me that when I was younger. Now, the ones that say that are just people that have little knowledge and think they know more than they do. It’s called the Dunning-Kruger effect. I keep one of my first satellites around. Here it is,” he said and the black rectangular tube lifted from behind the podium. “I need a volunteer. Lakshmi.”
Lakshmi was a brilliant student from Phopal, India. She came up to the front of the class reluctantly.
“Put your arms around it and tell me how much it weighs.”
Lakshmi reluctantly did so. “It doesn’t weigh anyth…it’s getting heavier…heavier…lighter…lighter. Hey! It’s lifting up!”
“Don’t drop it!” Lux yelled.
Lakshmi kept holding it even though it lifted her just off the ground. “Put me down!”
Lux lowered his satellite down and displayed a slide of the internal components of the satellite. “Still think it’s BS? This is my mid-term project.”
Lakshmi let go and put both hands in front of him. “Twelve. I thought you were eleven. Sorry.”
Lux laughed with her for that so-called apology. Lux knew Lakshmi was a prodigy too.
The class went well after that and the students came up to him later to find out more about the process. They had VERY interesting questions that he had not considered. He stopped Lakshmi as she was leaving the classroom. “I need help in Advanced Energy Conversion and Kinetics of Chemical Reactions. That ideal and resistive magnetohydrodynamics is kicking my butt. Everyone says you’re the master. Trade you for help on Blakely thrusters,” Lux said.
“Naming them after yourself? Glad to see that you are struggling with something. The Russians are way ahead of everybody on this topic. Luckily, I can read Russian because a typical translation on the web is terrible. Text me a time. I can think of ways to improve your setup too,” Lakshmi said.
Lux was surprised and pleased about Lakshmi but he knew grad students here weren’t slouches. She was really pretty too and didn’t seem much older than him. She had a dark complexion and jet-black, long hair that fell all the way to her waist. She had large eyes and a narrow waist with full red lips.
◆◆◆
 
Tutoring Exchange Session with Lakshmi Varma – Exchange Street Apartments near MIT
Lakshmi opened the door to her apartment and looked down the hall to see Robert and Polly opening folding chairs. “What’s with the goons?” she asked with a grin. She was wearing a gauzy jumper with sandals.
Lux looked back down the hall. “My bodyguards. May I come in?”
“Certainly. Come into my parlor. Have you eaten? I have some tiffin; fried vadas I dip into hot sambar. It’s good, try some,” she said.
“Okay, it smells good,” he said and tried it. “Ooh, it’s hot. Spicy, but yummy,” he said and there was no way to eat it gracefully. So much for showing his coordination and class.
“We can study over here by the windows. Explain to me again how your magnetic propulsion works. What type of cyclic rate do you use?” she asked.
He was reluctant to go into too much detail but she did smell nice…sandalwood, he thought. “Typically, I use about 1,000 cycles per second.”
“What about the magnetic hysteresis as the Halbach array is magnetized and re-magnetized?” she asked.
“I had to add some features to speed up the change to get more precise control. The cyclic rate is similar to paddling faster and faster. At some point, you get diminishing returns.”
“I see. So, there is a real limit to how much acceleration you can get out of this system. You could get more thrust by adding other units in different locations,” she said. They talked about the magnetic propulsion system for another fifteen minutes before Lakshmi changed topics. “What are you having trouble with in ideal and resistive MHD?”
“I get the process but the magnetic field reconnection with the localized Raleigh-Taylor instability math keeps throwing me off,” he said.
She went through the processes on her slate and he felt himself drifting off to thinking what it would be like to run his fingers through her hair and kiss her full lips. “Hey! Back to earth. Where did you leave me?”
“I think with arbitrary external electric fields. You have pretty eyes,” he said, hardly realizing he had spoken out loud.
“You think so,” she said.
He shook as head up and down and he was fixated on her face when she set her slate down and slipped in next to him in the big chair. She reached behind his head and pulled him into a wonderful kiss. His heart was racing and he could hardly breathe. He finally came up for air and she lifted her chin and pulled his head to her neck. He kissed her neck and licked her ear. He didn’t know what to do with his hands. She took his hands and placed them on her breasts which excited him even more. His breath was coming faster and she pulled his head back to kiss her again. He felt her tongue and he opened his mouth a little. This was more than he had ever known. There was a knock on the door and Lux jerked upright realizing he had told his bodyguards to let him know when 90 minutes had passed.
He let his breath out and held Lakshmi at arm's distance. He smiled and she gave him a light kiss on the lips that she held for a few seconds. She smiled. “You really think I’m pretty?”
He was floored. “You are gorgeous. My bodyguards were to let me know when I’d been here an hour and a half. I’d like to see you again. I do need more tutoring.”
She grinned and looked off to the side and motioned with her head for him to go to the door. He let out a big sigh and said, “I’ve never done anything like this before.”
“Me either, she said. My parents would kill me. You should have seen how hard it was to convince them to let me go to school here at 15,” she said.
“I’ve got to go but thank you for letting me come over,” Lux said.
Lakshmi smiled demurely as he went to the door with him. He held the door half open with his head inside. “Thanks for showing me your magnetic thruster.”
“Thank you for letting me study with you,” Lux said.
“Get much studying done?” Polly asked with a huge grin as they walked away.
“Uh-huh,” Lux said.
Polly stopped him and looked at him. She pulled out a handkerchief. “Wait,” she said and wiped off his face a couple of times. “Better,” she said. “Learn to get rid of the evidence.”
“Huh?” he said.
“Lipstick,” she said. “My lips are sealed, boss. Good for you.”
◆◆◆
 
Armed Services Committee – US Senate – Senator Stephens (R-AR)
The chair of the Armed Services Committee was irate. “Who is this Blakely character? Why is he interfering with our decisions? Why are we not being informed of decisions that affect our ability to defend our nation? Senator Blackburn?”
“Mister Chairman,” Senator Blackburn (R -TN) said. “I had my people look into this guy. He’s a child. He grew up near Huntsville. His father is some type of reliability engineer. His father has clearance and he does something with hypersonic missiles. His boy is twelve and is still in school. He has worked some with Eglin Air Force Base on that unauthorized conversion of our fighter jets. I understand he has some property in your state near Paulden, Arizona. He has been disturbing military flights there, according to my sources.”
“That’s why I had Lieutenant General Frank Parsons flown in to answer questions for us today. Remember. Everything said here is Top Secret and is not to be uttered outside this room. Show in General Jeffrey,” Chairman Senator Stephens said.
In walked a military officer who had made US Space Force recruiting posters and memes to be so effective. He looked like a jaguar stalking his prey – smooth and deadly. He took a seat when indicated and sat there unperturbed looking around the committee and noting its members but showing no emotion.
“Thank you for coming from Colorado today. Do you know why we requested you come?” Chairman Stephens asked.
“No senator,” General Parsons said while wondering what asinine reason they had ‘summoned’ him to drop what he was doing and fly to DC.
“Are you familiar with a character named Blakely?” Senator Blackburn asked.
He would get a question like that from her. He wondered what plot she was complaining about this time. “Yes. I know about Paulus and Lux Blakely. What do you need to know?” he asked and wondered why they hadn’t just placed a secure call instead of making him kowtow to them here, but he knew it was the political way of demonstrating their power.
“You’ve met this Paulus and Lux Blakely?” Blackburn asked.
“I haven’t met the father but he designed our latest hypersonic missiles that are a couple of generations ahead of all other countries – allies and adversaries alike. The propulsion system his son, Lux, invented is what gave us the edge,” Parsons replied.
“What about Lux? Is he still in school? Is he really just twelve and how could he be working on sensitive government projects?”
“Lux is currently twelve and is still in school. He is just finishing his first year in the AeroAstro Doctoral Program at MIT after graduating summa cum laude level in Aerospace Engineering from Georgia Tech. He and his professor, Douglas Trenton, designed and implemented a conversion of two fighter squadrons at Eglin Air Force base.”
“Why weren’t we informed of this before it occurred? Did you just skip the House Appropriations Committee? Where did you get the money?” Blackburn demanded. “Are we giving you too much money?” she said and all the other members laughed.
“There was no need for further monies. It was a way to save fuel costs and radically improve our fourth and fifth-generation fighters. They all can now do VTOL (Vertical Takeoff and Landing) with all our upgraded fighters, even with a full loadout of weapons. Our old F-16s can now fly Mach 4 with a full load and quintupled their range. All our F-35s are now VTOL and can fly loaded, Mach 5, coast-to-coast, and back. They are nearly silent except for the sonic booms. The upgrade made us deadlier, and more versatile with less maintenance and longer service life for less money than our annual fuel cost. He has a TS/SCI clearance.”
“You said this other Professor helped design your conversions though, not Blakely,” Blackburn said.
“The other professor worked on the environmental systems in their spacecraft. Lux and several of my officers have ridden with him as he visited and docked with the International Space Station. That craft makes no sonic booms and can fly over Mach 30 in the atmosphere with no thermal heating and very little radar profile.”
“Why didn’t he build those for us?” Blackburn said pouting after being embarrassed.
“I understand he is negotiating with Lockheed on several designs of warships for the US that will, they suspect, have so many buyers that they will have to open up licensing to many other manufacturers. It will positively affect the GDP,” the General stated.
“So, you think this child could affect the aerospace that much?” Senator Blackburn asked.
“Yes, senator,” he said.
A senator who had remained silent the whole time asked, “Have our adversaries zeroed in where all our advances have come from? Won’t they try to capture or kill him?” asked the senator from Hawaii.
“They have already, senator. A team of eight Chinese assassins attacked his laboratory in Atlanta. He and his bodyguards killed seven of the eight. The eighth one is still undergoing rendition,” the General said.
“Is he at risk, being only a child, even with bodyguards?” a senator asked.
“Senator. He killed two of the assassins himself and wounded a third – with knives,” the general said.
“Any further questions?” the chairman said. “I think we got what we needed. Thank you general.”
General Parsons nodded and knew that the senators had gotten exactly what they wanted. They wanted to know where they should throw money to invest before it was public knowledge. They could enrich themselves and their friends with insider information and they knew where they could get positive publicity for their next campaign. If it helped the public in their state – that was a bonus but not necessary. They’d claim the idea was theirs even if their party voted against it. It was solid bipartisan corruption, American style. Why try to sway voters when you could ‘influence’ your own congressman? It was only the Republicans, Democrats, and Independents though, he laughed at the thought.
Blackburn was probably going to have to fire her intern who had researched the material on Lux and spun it to make him look bad. He was so used to that from the Senator, it set her up to look bad herself. He knew the two rules with superiors: 1) never embarrass them and 2) never surprise them.
◆◆◆
 
Knife Practice with Troy – Lux’s Lab - Atlanta
“Come on. You’re being too timid. You have to be aggressive in a knife fight. Pure defense only lasts so long. Joe Corley is an old Tae Kwon Do guy from Atlanta,” Troy said.
“What’s that got to do with anything other than you’re really old and slowing down?” Lux said taunting Troy to attack him again.
“You attack me and I’ll act defensive.”
Lux was used to being defensive so it was a different mindset to be the aggressor and often not in his best interests in a knife fight because of his short arms but he realized he was tall for his age at 165 centimeters (5’4”). He was already as tall as Lakshmi. “Ow!” Lux yelled.
“Where’d you drift off to?” Troy said and then looked to the side of the room and smirked. “Be aggressive and stay focused. A small distraction like that can cost you your life. Try again.”
Troy was totally defensive and retreated around the round as Lux tried one attack after the other. It was hard to do feints but he tried to pull Troy off balance. He got frustrated and decided he’d go all out. He started his attack and before he could finish the movement – Troy sidestepped and closed with him and stuck him one under the arm and then tapped his nose rather than his neck to show he was dead.
Lux yelped and grabbed under his arm and nose. Those hurt, but he was trying not to show it.
“That was what Joe Corley was good at – you’d chase – chase – chase and then he would counter and stick you with a foot – not a knife but it’s an apt analogy,” Troy recounted.
Lakshmi clapped and Lux looked over at her smiling. “When I went to visit my aunt in southeast India in the winter, she used to train me in Kalari with different knives. I was a young girl but I still remember some of the forms. May I borrow a couple of your knives?”
Both Troy and Lux were intrigued. Lakshmi warmed up and stretched some but Lux could tell she was already looser than him. She started doing a deadly dance of blades like his Kali. It had sequences that dipped much lower than he had done and some interesting slashes that he could incorporate into his workouts. It was only six minutes but she had a thin sheen of sweat when she finished.
Troy and Lux both clapped and made a few comments. Lux was interrupted by a buzzer on an outside door. Lux noticed Prissy in the outdoor monitors. He felt oddly embarrassed but went to the door. Prissy came in and gave Lux a hug. She jerked back a bit when she saw Troy and another girl.
“Prissy. This is Lakshmi Varma. She is in grad school with me at MIT in the AeroAstro doctoral program. Prissy Hunnicutt and I were in school together at Georgia Tech where she’s finishing up her computer science degree.”
“What’s up?” Lux said awkwardly.
“I came over to tell you I got a job at Google but I can see we’ll be going our separate ways,” she said with a bite in her tone.
“Google is great. Where are they going to start you out? When do you go?” he asked.
“I’ll be starting after graduation in the Google Brain Robotics program,” she said and stuck her lip out. “I was going to ask you out to dinner tonight to celebrate…but I can see you’re busy. Bye, Lux,” she said and she was out the door in a flash.
“Former girlfriend?” Lakshmi inquired.
“Sort of. We’ve been friends since high school.”
“She’s older and taller than you. You are just my height. I like that,” she said and grabbed his arm. “Let’s fly back to Boston and get something to eat. That workout made me hungry and you have a
Kinetics of Chemical Reactions final. Don’t you want to study for that?”
◆◆◆
 
Phi Mu Sorority House – 240 Ferst Dr. NW – Georgia Tech
Evelyn, Prissy’s sorority sister's roommate was concerned. “Why are you so upset? You’ve been stomping around the house like you’re carrying a load on your shoulders.”
“I’m mad. I’m mad at myself. I’m mad at the world,” Prissy said with her jaws clamped tight.
“Tell me. You can tell me anything. A new guy?” Evelyn queried.
“No. An old guy. No. A young guy. I just thought…I don’t know what I thought. It’s Lux. He’s seeing this little tart,” Prissy said.
“Lux? The little guy you grew up with? He’s twelve now, isn’t he? You’re turning 17 in a month. How old is this girl he’s seeing?”
“I don’t know. She acts like some vamp. Hangs all over him. She looks like an Indian princess. They were doing his knife stuff,” Prissy said.
“Knife stuff?” Evelyn asked.
“You know like the rumors where he fought off those frat guys or the Chinese assassins,” Prissy rambled.
“I heard a rumor about the frat guys and a gun but assassins?” Evelyn commented with her eyes getting wide.
“I shouldn’t have said anything about that. One of his bodyguards told me about it,” Prissy said biting her lip.
“You sure you haven’t been out in the sun too long? Assassins? This is Atlanta, not some waterfront dive in Hong Kong. Whatever. There are too many fish in the sea and you are too pretty to worry about your young friend. Let him get a little experience. It’s kind of like seasoning. Makes bland food taste better. You do the same. What’s that tall Lacrosse player that calls you each week…David? Go out with David. Nothing wild. Just go out and have a good time. It’ll do you good.”
“Yeah. You’re right. I need some ‘seasoning’ too.
◆◆◆
 
Professor Lozano was discussing Lux’s progress and coursework at MIT
“It’s rare that the student knows more than the instructor in any of these topics but I’ll grant you have experience in Space Propulsion,” Professor Lozano said. “You’ve done well this far. Your laboratory project freaked out some of your fellow students. We had a few skeptics as to your claims. With the small satellite, you resolved all the doubts students had, but no one wants the study Hall thrusters now. I’m going to have to update a lot of my material. Do you mind me taking the notes from your presentations and using them in class? You know what they say, ‘When you steal the work of one person it is plagiarism and when you steal from many it is research. There aren’t enough in your field yet to have research.”
“It’s the other basic grad classes that threw me a bit,” Lux said. “It took a while before the light clicked on, so to speak.”
“You did well with the Chemical Reactions and Advanced Energy Conversion courses. Most students struggle with those two,” Lozano said.
“I had to get help with those two courses. Lakshmi Varma had to tutor me on those until I figured out what was going on. She had to lead me by the nose through magnetohydrodynamics (MHD) until I understood it. I could always do the math but it took me a while to understand what the math really represented. I’m developing the math for the magnetic propulsion,” Lux said. “I may be able to apply MHD to power the external fields. I have some ideas I’m considering.
“I’d like to publish a couple of papers with you on your magnetic propulsion system in the Journal of Advanced Research or Reviews of Modern Physics. Would you mind me being a second author?”
Lozano said.
“That would be fine. Professor Hutchinson said he’d talk with you about some ideas I mentioned to him before he retired,” Lux said.
“He suggested you work with Netta Engelhardt. She specializes in quantum gravity. What were you planning to research with her?” Lozano asked.
“I had been speculating with him on the creation of that odd field that allows us to negate inertial effects. I think it may be due to resonance within the bismuth nanoparticles in the outer skin. I think other exotic materials may cause resonance. It’s just a hunch right now but we feel gravity effects through our current field but not inertia. That’s counterintuitive for that to happen and it’s contrary to current theory. I’ve always been taught that gravitational and inertial mass are nearly the same. An object with mass will possess the same amount of inertia regardless if it’s in a gravitational field.”
“Just don’t get to where many of our theoretical physicists are…they are so enamored by their math. Many of their ‘proofs’ are tenuous at best. It may as well be theology,” Lozano said.
“No. No. I plan physical applications that produce visible results. I’m an applied physics kind of guy,” Lux said. “That’s why Hutchinson signed off on those three courses in the 22.6 series:
22.611: Introduction to Plasma Physics I, 22.612: Introduction to Plasma Physics II, and 22.67: Principles of Plasma Diagnostics. He appreciated your help grading. The other students seem to have accepted me.”
“It doesn’t hurt that you are having this incredible growth spurt. How tall are you now that you’re a teenager?”
“I’m 168 cm (5’6”) now,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
Lockheed Skunk Works – Palmdale, California
John Clark was incensed. He was screaming at coworkers and currently at Dr. Anish Patel. “How could we have gotten into this position? YOU let me talk corporate into backing this fantasy. We invested half a trillion dollars into this venture and what do we have…three inert paperweights. Those ships don’t fly. They don’t do anything! I’m ruined! Our stock price will fall through the floor. Maybe that’s why they did this…so they could sell our stock short and make a killing.”
Dr. Patel was trying to help Clark hold it together as he stalked back and forth with spittle coming out of his mouth as he raged and yelled. He was devastated. “I’ve called Dr. Trenton and he can’t come but Lux Blakely is coming from Boston. He’ll be here in a minute. I asked the security guards to bring them right to us. Here he comes. I’m sure there’s an explanation.”
“Explanation! I don’t want an explanation. I want three working ships. Let me at that little con man. I’ll wring his neck,” Clark said with bulging eyes as he saw Lux walking toward him. Clark rushed forward and reached to grab Lux, but Lux jabbed him in the top of the hollow of his throat. Clark started coughing and gagging. He grabbed his neck and looked very surprised.
“Hear you have a problem,” Lux said. “Have you nearly finished all three? That was really fast. I think the contract says I’m to be notified when you finish the construction phase, so I can initialize each ship. Shouldn’t take a minute. Glad you didn’t do it before I got here and killed a bunch of workers. Do you have designated test pilots ready?”
“Initialize the ships?” Patel stammered. “I don’t remember that in the contract.”
“Sure. Let me check them out and we’ll get y’all up and running. You look that clause up while someone takes me to inspect the ships.”
Patel was flummoxed. He stumbled back to his office while Clark and the guards escorted Lux to the huge construction bay where the ships were constructed.
“Sweet!” Lux yelled when he first saw the ships. He had stopped for a second and then went to the largest first. The Corvette Combat ship was 120 meters long, and 18 meters in diameter. He went up to the techs milling around the ship first. “Everything charged?” he asked. They nodded and he went in a side airlock, shut it behind him, and marched to the ship core. He pulled out a data stick and inserted it into the console. The ship queried the data and verified its authenticity. Lux walked back to the rear. “Mister Clark. Would you have one of your techs hold the end of an arm-length ruler against the hull? Video the ruler but keep everyone and everything you want to keep at least 15 centimeters (~6 inches) from the hull. Everywhere around the hull. Lux had a comm set tied to the work crews’ frequencies. Tell me when you have done so over?”
Someone had a meter-long measuring stick made of aluminum. They held the end of the stick against the hull. Another tech got a camera from somewhere and was videoing. “On three,” Lux yelled. All work had stopped in the facility as they joined the channel. Everyone was watching and Listening. You could hear a pin drop. “One. Two. Three!” Lux yelled.
The man holding the measuring stick yelled, “Damn!” and dropped the stick he was so startled.
“Keep videoing,” Clark yelled. “Look the ship is floating. The ship silently rose another meter in the air, hovered, and then lowered down onto landing gear that came out the distance of the field. To see something that big, rise, and lower silently was awe-inspiring.
Lux came out of the side airlock. “That’s one. Are you better now, John? You were looking rough around the edges. Let’s go look at that meter stick,” Lux said. “Or better yet – what’s left of it.”
They picked up the meter stick and saw that 15 centimeters, exactly, was sheared from the end. It was mirror smooth with the faintest curve. “What would have happened if someone was leaning up against the hull?” John asked.
Lux looked at the ruler and shivered. “You can warn people but that’s why the initialization shouldn’t be done without a clear warning.”
“Does that happen every time?” John asked.
“Yep. We had a hell of a time figuring out some type of landing gear mechanism that would adjust as the field adjusts. If the ship is off and turns on – we lost a lot of landing gear until we figured how to do that and have it work with the field at different strengths,” Lux explained.
“Isn’t a 15-centimeter-thick field, a lot thicker than your ship field?” Clark asked.
“Yep. It’s what I calculated, but we don’t know how the field depth changes performance. I’m interested to know how our laser defense works in weightlessness and on the move in space,” Lux said. “Let’s get your other ships initialized before you have a stroke.”
“I’m sorry I freaked out. The ships wouldn’t do anything. I didn’t see that portion in the contract. It’s hard to believe they do what you said they’d do,” Clark apologized.
It took two hours to finish even a cursory check of the corvette class ship. It became easier on the second ship. Again, it had the 15-centimeter field when initialized. The function check took another two hours just to check that everything that was in the design was included. They didn’t have time to see if they all functioned as planned. Each ship would need a shakedown cruise to work through the bad design decisions and non-functioning or poorly functioning equipment. Lux understood that the first crews had not finished their training quite yet.
The last ship was the smallest but he had planned to keep this one for himself. It had some weapons emplacements. It had four missile bays. The small cutter had a small railgun he had seen demonstrated and he had a mass launcher that would launch tungsten rods from orbit or at another target. It had a 20 MW mid-infrared laser that was good for stand-off distances in space. The ship was equipped with a laser protection system that would spew a silica cloud outside the ship to disburse and absorb hits.
Lux walked through the cutter. It could hold a complement of 24 maxed out but a crew of ten would be comfortable. There were two smaller cabins for junior officers. The Captain’s cabin and Executive Officer’s cabins were larger with a sink, shower, and toilet. There were two berths that could hold eight personnel in swingout bunks with two sinks and two toilets. You could swing a cat in the two largest cabins but that cat would have to fold to fit in all the others. The central column allowed access to the two deck levels with a cargo bay, galley, armory, and storage. The thrusters were built near the walls. There was a computer room in the core, environmental oxygen & CO2 scrubbing, environmental, water reclamation, septic system, drones, robots, and suits (whether EVA or IVA).




Chapter 10



Phi Mu Sorority House – 240 Ferst Dr NW – Georgia Tech
“I can’t believe you aren’t doing anything next weekend,” Evelyn said. “You are a multimillionaire. You are upset by a twelve-year-old dating someone in college a huge distance from here. You have seniors and grad students all around this campus practically frothing at the mouth to take you out. Ask David out. Double date with me. Let’s go somewhere that is memorable.”
Prissy tilted her head back with her eyes closed. I guess I have the right to get some experience too. He was just showing her his knife stuff and his lab. She was upset because he had probably taken her to his lab from Boston in the Pod. It wasn’t exclusive to her. “Yes. I’ll ask him out.” She called David right then. Evelyn listened in but Prissy walked away from her. Prissy talked with David for a few minutes. She was walking with a spring in her step. “Question for you Evy?” she asked.
“Okay. Did David say yes? We’ve got a four-day weekend coming up next month. Do you have a passport and a friend with a passport?” Prissy asked with a gleam in her eye.
“Yeah. What are you planning?” Evelyn asked.
“Gotta’ call a friend to set this up. Hold on,” Prissy said. “Hey, Anna. Need you to arrange some stuff for me.”
◆◆◆
 
10th Mountain Division Headquarters off S. Riva Ridge Loop - Fort Drum, New York
Lieutenant Swiftwater had never seen Sergeant Major Benoit so anxious. “Yes, sergeant major. What do you have for me?”
“It’s not an accounting mistake sir. Ten of the lifter units have been stolen. They included the full instruction manuals, extra batteries, and control unit software. We think we know how it happened. Corporal Davenport went AWOL (absent without leave) at about the same time. He had partial access to the storage. He went missing just before we discovered the discrepancy.
Major General Gregory Anders hated getting notifications of AWOL soldiers. He had always prided himself on motivating his people. He was good at it as were his troops. He looked at the death notification again just as Lt. Swiftwater tapped on his door.
“Permission to enter sir. This is confidential sir. I have Sergeant Major Benoit with me,” Swiftwater came to attention, as did the Sergeant Major.
“What have you got?” the general asked.
“Sir. We discovered ten of the lifter units have been stolen. They got the full kit with manual and software,” Swiftwater explained. “They did not get the associated communications gear.”
“What date did you discover the theft quartermaster?” the general asked sergeant Benoit.
“The 23rd sir,” Sergeant Major Benoit answered. “That’s when we think it happened. Corporal Davenport was the last one in the area and he’s missing.”
The general held up a report. “The RCMP (Royal Canadian Mounted Police) just found Corporal Davenport’s body at a rest stop. CID (Criminal Investigations Division) was notified. It looks like a professional assassination. Davenport had just paid off most of his gambling debts. CID thinks it was a Chinese ‘hit’ because IBIS (Integrated Ballistics Identification System) showed death of a Chinese diplomat in Montreal with the same gun three years ago. They had suspected the Chinese Military Attaché.”
“I filed a report already sir,” the sergeant reported.
“Very good sergeant. I’ll send it up the chain, for what good that will do. How are those lifters doing, Lieutenant?” the general asked.
“It’s going to change warfare, sir. I’d recommend all infantry get those things. You wouldn’t believe what our two battalions have come up with sir. The soldiers have gamed them. I’d put our regular people up against elites. We can outmaneuver any fixed positions. Our guys figured out how to fly high and come in silently on a position at night and drop loads of grenades and zip away. It’s like having air support all the time.”
“Send me a summary, Lieutenant, of the best tactics. Make a note of whoever came up with it. We’ll give them credit. Thank you, Lieutenant. You two, Sergeant Major. That will be all,” the general said and the two men saluted and left.
◆◆◆
 
Lux’s Lab – 563 Spring Street NW – Atlanta
Sue White was conflicted. She was bodyguarding Prissy Hunnicutt for Lux Blakely but she felt reluctant to talk about what Prissy was planning. The A.I., Anna, weighed the different factors and decided it would probably be best to tell him what was going on.
“Lux,” Anna said as he came back into the lab after sparring and knife practice with Troy and a couple of added partners. Lux was wiping off the sweat off his face with a hand towel.
“What is it, Anna?”
“How did the knife practice go today?” the Anna avatar asked.
Lux stopped and looked at the monitor. “Okay. What’s bothering you?”
“Nothing is bothering me,” Anna said as Sue White walked in.
“I need to talk with you, boss,” Sue said.
“Spit it out, Tech Sergeant,” Lux said.
“Prissy is dating a GT Lacrosse player named David LaMonte.”
“Uh-huh,” Lux said.
“She wants to take him to a Lummi concert.”
“Uh-huh,” Lux said.
“In Sydney, Australia. She’s bought first-class plane tickets for four and they have two hotel rooms in a swank hotel in Sydney. Anna got them tickets for the Sydney Superdome in Olympic Park. They used to call it the Qudos Bank Arena.”
“Uh-huh,” Lux said. “Who’s doing the opening act on that continent?”
“BTS K-Pop,” Sue said. “They’re a…”
“I know who they are, Sue. They’re that Korean, 7-man group that’s fading a bit now, but still popular. They’ve been around forever since 2013. Thanks for letting me know. They’re going to need more security. Anna. Hire eight Australian locals and send them photos of all the principals and their schedules. I want them covered for a couple of hours before they land until they are safely home. Sue. Hope you like Australia. I need a shower. Let me know if you have any problems.” Lux said and walked away.
Sue turned to Anna’s avatar. “That went smoother than I thought. I thought he’d be more upset. I guess he’s distracted by Lakshmi, that MIT grad student.”
◆◆◆
 
Lux stepped under the hot sheet and just let the water beat on him as he leaned forward against the shower wall. He was in shock. He knew Prissy was a lot older, but it still made him uncomfortable to hear she was dating. He was not one to talk - since he’d been seeing Lakshmi. She was smart and aggressive. He was learning a lot but they were supposed to share a lab together at MIT next semester. Lakshmi had helped him in a couple of courses but he was helping her with some of the theoretical stuff. He imagined Prissy and David and he felt…angry? Jealousy? He didn’t like the feeling.
◆◆◆
 
Field trial Completion – Lockheed Skunkworks – Palmdale, California
“Normally we’d truck the secret planes to coast and or attach them to a bomber. These we just let float out the door and zoom up into the sky,” Dr. Anish Patel said to John Clark. “The military is going nuts over our two larger spacecraft. There are major programs that will soon be cut to accommodate these new additions.”
“Where did you hear that? These things are top secret. We’ve only told the generals and some Congressmen on the military appropriations committee,” Clark said.
Anish rolled his eyes knowing how some Congressmen and Senators talked way too much. These ships will take the place of any number of craft. We are having trouble getting enough spacesuits. We’re getting the IVA suits like Tesla use in their Dragon module. Those are reasonable.
Captain Tom Watler had gotten a ‘mystery call’ where he was training pilots to fly the upgraded F-16Vs and the F-35s down at Eglin. He had been temporarily reassigned to the Lockheed Skunk Works Palmdale, California facility. He was inspecting the ‘corvette’. The ‘Beast’ as it had been nicknamed by the fabrication crew was fascinating. Watler had thought of leaving the military when they had asked him to test a new F-16 upgrade at Eglin. He was planning to leave the Air Force and transition to commercial aviation and fly airliners. His wife convinced him that would have been like driving a bus. Then Lux Blakely came along and changed his life for the better. The F-16 and F-35 upgrades would scream. He thought he was in heaven – then this…  The shakedown crew was coming aboard and he was to meet them at the front airlock entrance.
The new crew saluted and asked permission to come aboard. Captain Watler enjoyed the looks of awe as they entered. It would take a bit before they could become accustomed to the flexible orientation of the interior of the craft for launch, spin, and weightless operation. This ship was 120 meters long with multiple decks and a central shaft that was used to transfer from one deck to another with a powered central shaft handgrip while weightless.
Captain Tom Watler had done some flight movements in this ship indoors but his 24-person shakedown crew had fixed a myriad of trivial problems over the last month of trials. This ship was well-designed. They had flown Mach-35 speed sprints over the Pacific. They had even done a few orbital flights. This was the first time they had set out to test the weapons systems. He thought they were ‘jumping the gun’ but Lockheed needed these function tested so they could recoup their outlay of money. It looked like a good bet, but who knew? Today’s exercise was to test the 20MW laser system. They didn’t know how it would perform in space or how the system powering the laser would handle multiple uses. They had just reached low-Earth orbit when they got the encrypted communications from Space Command.
Watler keyed the internal communications. “Battle stations. This is not a drill. This is not a drill. Taiwan reports a Chinese spaceplane is shooting down Taiwanese satellites. There is some glitch in all our reconnaissance satellites. Space Command thinks this action may be the precursor to an invasion of the island. They think the Chinese have tested a manned space plane similar to the shuttle. We have orders to investigate and interdict the actions of the space plane. We’ll be in the area in six minutes. Seal your suits. No firing without my specific orders.”
Watler’s heart was pounding and his co-pilot, Taylor, looked at him with raised eyebrows. The ship appeared on his radar first. He started recording images as the Chinese craft (it did look like the old shuttle) jerked and a Taiwanese satellite flew apart. It was identified as the FORMOSAT-8 Earth Observation satellite. Watler flew the ‘Beast’ in front of the 40-meter-long shuttle and turned nose to nose with it. Watler couldn’t believe the lack of communication. What had happened?
“Looks like they’re using some form of rail gun. How do we stop them?” Taylor asked.
“I have some ideas but let’s see what they do. Let’s see how committed they are to destroying satellites or us. I’m certainly not worried about any kinetic weapons on this ship. Oops. They’re blasting for another location. This will be good practice for you. Fly all around them. Zoom away and then zoom up close. Annoy the hell out of them. Good practice,” Watler said.
Taylor bit his lip when he was concentrating. It looked funny but Watler didn’t want to bother him when he was controlling the ship. Going around the shuttle was obviously disrupting the shuttle’s plans. The ‘Beast’ backed off. Taylor turned to Watler. “I think they’re just trying out some new weapons. If they were really trying to knock out Taiwanese satellites, they would use their Earth-to-space ballistic missiles. They test those missiles every year or so. That’s what caused the debris that damaged the International Space Station last year.”
Watler just got another encrypted burst. “Damn. You’re right. China has just launched four ballistic missiles. Looks like they’re heading our way. Port and starboard laser crews. You have the authorization to shoot down those missiles. Watch overheating and make these count.”
Taylor turned to Watler. “We didn’t get authorization to fire. We just got a notice of the launch, didn’t we? We are going to start a war.”
“Too late on that,” Watler said. “They are betting we won’t be able to respond fast enough and they’ll have a fait accompli. Let’s see how our targeting system is doing. Has our detection system even picked them up yet?”
“There they are, Captain. They are definitely targeting their communications and reconnaissance satellites. One of them is headed toward another US satellite. They’ve tried to blind that one twice in the past with a ground-based laser system. In range, fire when you have a lock.”
Port and starboard lasers confirmed fire on the lock and there were four deep ‘throm’ sounds as the laser fired. “Four for four, captain,” said the tech on the port laser. “Still see debris that might take out the satellite sir.”
“Put us between the debris and the satellite, Taylor,” Watler said and Taylor swallowed big and flipped the ‘Beast’ to protect the satellite. The debris touched the shield of the Beast and just stopped – losing all momentum.
“Take us down over Kaohsiung at the southwest end of Taiwan. Railgun/Laser teams. Anyone who shoots at us is fair game. Sink ‘em. Don’t fire on anyone unless fired on first.”
◆◆◆
 
Shandong - Chinese Carrier group off the southern coast of Taiwan
Admiral Bin Lihua, son of Major General Qian Lihua watched as a complement of his planes launched one after another. His accompanying forty ships would move to land troops and support the landing. The US hacking attack should give them 48 hours unobserved from any of their reconnaissance and communications assets.
“Captain. We have some type of ship in our sensor net. It just appeared on our screens,” said a Hǎijūn xiàshì (Junior non-commissioned officer).
“It is not ours. Shoot it down. Order the frigate Weifang to do it.”
“Order the Weifang to shoot it down. Yes sir,” the Jr. NCO said and communicated the order.
“Sir. The two missiles from the Weifang were destroyed and the Weifang is sinking,” said the Junior NCO.
“Have the Nanchang, Lhasa, and Anshan destroy that craft,” the Admiral ordered.
The orders were quickly relayed and confirmed. The three ships fired HHQ-9 missiles and its H/P J-38 130 mm naval gun at their target about 6,000 meters away.
A brief time later the admiral saw all three ships destroyed. He ordered a squadron of his new J-20 aircraft to attack the craft. Surely, they would destroy this interloper.
The admiral had a communications officer tune to the fighter jet frequency and listened carefully. He had too much going on coordinating the invasion to listen but he must know what was happening. “Admiral – that ship has some type of laser that is destroying our planes from kilometers away. We have already lost half our squadron. This vehicle has no hot exhaust to target. Our missiles often track our own planes.”
Admiral Lihua had anticipated light to no resistance. The invasion plan was not progressing and he had already lost thousands of personnel and several vital ships. He decided he would press the issue and ordered all ships forward.
◆◆◆
 
Aboard the Beast
“Captain. They are sending their ships forward anyway. It’s going to be hard not to drown all those troops,” Taylor said.
“Lasers and railgun. Do not let those ships get to shore. Disable them if you can. Sink anyone who fire on us,” Watler ordered hoping his troops could even approach compliance with his order. His armament teams acknowledged.”
◆◆◆
 
Aboard the Chinese Aircraft Carrier Shandong
Admiral Lihua was weighing whether he could carry out a successful attack. He saw the Changbaishan (Amphibious Transport Dock) have its aft speared with the infrared laser and the Yimng Shan was struck with a railgun round that punched through the aft quarterdeck. He clamped his jaws and made the decision. “Notify headquarters that we are breaking off the attack with significant loss of life.”  He ordered repair ships to tow his disabled ships out of Taiwan’s Territorial Waters and ordered the rescue ships to where his ships were sunk.
◆◆◆
 
Aboard the Beast
“They’ve broken off their attack,” Watler stated. “Let’s head to the ‘Taipei’ end of the island. I’ve seen several broad invasion plans and the one I saw in war planning showed the Fujian Aircraft Carrier on that side and the older Liaoning carrier coordinating the fleet east of the island.”
The Beast jerked to the side when hit by a hypersonic missile from a Chinese destroyer. The missile touched the field of the Beast, just pushing it with its thrust. It didn’t explode because it didn’t ‘recognize’ it had impacted and slid off the surface. It had shoved the ship since its rocket was still providing thrust.
The laser crew targeted the destroyer and punched several neat holes through it. The railgun also fired and made the holes larger. The ship sank in less than a minute.
◆◆◆
 
Aboard the Chinese Aircraft Carrier – Fujian just off the northern coast of Taiwan
Admiral Xua aboard the Fujian aircraft carrier had doubted the reports from the Shandong. He had never respected Admiral Lihua and thought he was prone to exaggeration. His troops were further toward shore and the Taiwanese military had awakened and were sporadically firing on his ships with little damage. That cursed ship that had appeared sank another ship full of PLAN Marines after it had fired Surface to Air Missiles at it. More ships had started firing at the cursed shiny, flying ship and any that did were sunk. Another ship nearing shore began to sink and the ocean boiled where the laser burned holes through it.
The Lhasa fired a hypersonic missile that barely left the launcher before it blew up and then the ship was disassembled with laser and railgun rounds. It was a brutal response.
Admiral Xua ordered all ships to cease fire and withdraw. The surprise was lost. The fact that all communications with the West had been severed, diverted, or suborned would not be easily repeated. Admiral Xua contacted the Commander of the Aircraft Carrier Liaoning. They both agreed to withdraw troops.
◆◆◆
 
US Space Force – Space Operations Command – Peterson Space Force Base, CO
Lieutenant General Frank Parsons as livid on the phone talking with the NSA. “How could we lose all our reconnaissance and not know about it? What do you mean we were watching looped footage of previous surveillance? We were hacked? How could all our assets be hacked? How extensive is it? Have you found out how it was done? What about now? What is working? How badly were we affected? We did see a Chinese space plane shooting down Taiwanese satellites. We had one section of our Space Fence still functioning. We warned the new space frigate which was on a shakedown run, but we don’t know much further than that. We registered that the Chinese had launched four ballistic missiles to knock down more Taiwanese satellites. Get the word out and reboot and reset all our assets. Find out what happened and fix it.”
◆◆◆
 
Lt. General Michael Guetlein got the call from an irate Lt. General Parsons. “Guetlein. All our assets have been compromised. Something to do with Taiwan. We had one piece of our Space fence working and it showed a PLA Space Plane shooting down Taiwanese satellites.”
“Calm down Parsons. I just pulled up the reconnaissance views from several of my assets and everything is unchanged.”
“You friggin’ idiot. Of course, it looks the same. It’s a digital loop. Clear your buffers and reboot everything,” Parsons said.
“That will leave us blind for a few minutes. I can’t do that,” Guetlein said.
“We’ve been blind for hours. Our communications have been severed. We only could talk with that one ship because it was out over the Marshall Islands doing a field test in orbit.”
“I’ll do it with one of our satellites now and prove it to you. Give me a minute.” Guetlein said. Five minutes later. “Uh. There could be something to your report. There are Chinese ships in and around Taiwan. Most are leaving but there appear to be ships inside Taiwanese Territorial Waters. I am resetting all our assets and changing all our codes. Chinese Artificial Intelligence must have gotten to the point where they could use a quantum computer to break our encryption. What ship is that? It seems to be heading back toward us?”
“It’s the ‘Beast’. It was one with the Blakely thrusters. It was in low Earth orbit. It was armed with lasers, railguns, and hypersonic missiles. We don’t know what they’ve done. The PLAN (People’s Liberation Navy) is withdrawing from the island. It appears they had performed a full-scale invasion. Surveillance indicates all three Chinese carriers and over 200 ships of the Chinese Navy were involved. Apparently, several Chinese destroyers and frigates were sunk. I suppose the ‘Beast’ did it because I doubt the Taiwanese Defense Force would have been effective. They’re based out of the Skunk Works in Palmdale. I am headed that way and sending some of my intelligence staff.”
◆◆◆
 
Douglas Trenton and Lux Blakely testing their 40-meter armed scout ship
The other two ships had been released for trials. Lockheed had allowed releasing the dual railguns and twin 10 MW infrared lasers but were adamant about holding on to the hypersonic missiles even though Lux had practically invented the propulsion system. Trenton had argued there would be no way they could fight off someone from stealing their technology if they had no effective weapons (a weak argument but Lockheed wasn’t worried about one scout ship the size of the old space shuttle. Lux and Douglas had taken it to their spare hangar in Arizona. They had the second hangar extended so the new ship would fit into it.
“Anna. Is this going to be enough power for us in long trips? Tell me how you got this for us and when you started planning?”
Anna’s avatar put her finger under her chin and looked shy with pigtails tied with ribbon bows. “Remember that I got some of my own ‘Lummi money’. I invested it with company called TerraPower. I happened to give them a little help with information I ‘obtained’ from Russia, India, and China. They all had pieces of research that let me ‘figure out’ how to make it smaller. So, now we have a Traveling Wave Reactor that has a closed fuel cycle using thorium as an initiator. It runs for ten years and produces 100 MW (Mega Watts) of power. It runs for that time and then you replace all the guts.”
“Okay. I’ll buy that explanation. What about your A.I. clone? We need you protected and tied into the control system. I imagine you could fire our laser and railgun with more accuracy than humans,” Lux said.
“I am well established in the ship. I have improved your communications. We now can break 512-bit encryption levels in real time,” Anna said. “What new test flights do you plan?”
“I’d like to map the magnetic fields around the moon and other planets. SpaceX is about to do their moonshot. They do have some of the fields mapped out with my camera system. I traded them the Earth fields I had mapped. Magnetic field maps will be a big dollar item soon, I suspect,” Lux said as Douglas rushed into the house. Everyone was sitting around watching the high depth feed from satellites to their Paulden, Arizona house. “Whip over on CNN or another news channel!”
“The People’s Liberation Navy and Air Force attacked Taiwan today in a full-scale invasion. The Chinese leadership is saying that it was just a training exercise and they never set foot on land. Reportedly, some Chinese naval planners have been punished and stripped of their commands for crossing into the territorial waters around the island. CNN has just received movies of Chinese ships firing missiles at satellites and around the island. The Taiwanese envoy to the US, Hsiao Bi-khim, the de facto ambassador to the United States, stated that the Chinese military attempted a full-scale invasion but were repulsed by the Republic of China Armed Forces (ROCAF). This dubious assertion has left many military advisors scratching their heads in doubt.”
Polly Maynard brought up something that hadn’t occurred to Lux. “Isn’t Prissy planning to fly to Australia this weekend for the Lummi concert your people are putting on in Sydney?”
“Yep,” Lux said with his brow furrowed. “And…?”
“She has a Qantas flight but I’m wondering if any airline is flying right now in that area.”
“I’ll check,” Polly said. “I have friends in aviation that will know about any pending restrictions. I’ll also give Sue a heads up.”
◆◆◆
 
Phi Mu Sorority House – Georgia Tech
Prissy was upset. Notification of the flight cancellation had taken the joy out of her day. Evelyn came up to her.
“Why did they cancel the flight?” Evelyn asked. She had been all geared up to fly to Australia. The only other time she had been out of the country was when her parents had taken her to Mexico. “Did they say why?”
“It's the Chinese invasion of Taiwan. It has made everything in that area a bit unstable. I haven’t been able to find another flight. It was going to be a connection in Dallas anyway and we’d be in the air a whole day to cover the 15,000km (9,286 mi) with a direct flight,” Prissy said. She was crushed because this was her first real attempt to get out on her own and do something with the money she had been earning.
“Can you charter a flight? Is it too expensive? Can a small jet make that distance?” Evelyn asked.
“No, blast it. We would have to do it in hops even with the larger private jets but they’ve grounded all commercial flights to Australia ‘for the duration of the emergency’. I had planned this so carefully and then this happens. It’s not fair,” Prissy said feeling despondent.
“Why don’t you ask your friend?” Evelyn asked. “He might know a way. You used to talk about him a lot.”
“You mean Lux? I don’t want to ask him. He’s seeing this girl up in Boston…an Indian princess type who’s all over him. He’s the last person I’d want to ask for help.”
“Ooh. Guess I hit a nerve on that one. Is your plan to fly to Australia because he’s seeing this girl?” Evelyn asked.
Prissy blushed. “I don’t think so. He’s always been around and now he’s away at MIT in a doctoral program.”
“He may know a way to arrange some transportation. Didn’t you say he does something for the military?” Evelyn questioned.
“Yes, he does,” Prissy said, and thought back about Lux taking her to Arizona in only ten minutes. The thought of being in the air for over 20 hours wasn’t appealing no matter what accommodations were on the plane. Did she plan this because Lux was dating that little tart? Was she jealous? I’m jealous, she realized. Did I have feelings for Lux? He is brilliant. He is handsome but he’s so young. Blast, she thought. She decided she’d act through Sue White, her bodyguard. She called her.
“Hi Sue. This is Prissy. No danger. I’m just wondering if you’d let Lux know about a problem I’ve got. You would, okay,” Prissy said and then related her plane to travel with three friends to Sydney, Australia and stay at the Langham and go to the Lummi concert.
◆◆◆
 
Blakley Properties – Paulden, Arizona
“She wants to do what?” Lux said while talking with Sue White. “Why didn’t she just call me directly? You think she was embarrassed because she was going on an overnight date? Make sure they all have their passport and any needed vaccinations. Tell them we can pick them up at the Fulton County Airport (Charlie Brown) outside hangar five. We’ll need to meet customs there.”
◆◆◆
 
Phi Mu Sorority House – Georgia Tech
“Yes. They will. Immunizations should be okay and we’ve all got our passports. Okay. We won’t be using his little vehicle, will we? No. One suitcase and one carry on. Okay. You’re going too. Cool. See you there.”  Prissy cut off the call and practically floated with happiness. She was a little conflicted about Lux seeing her with David but she was determined to enjoy this outing.
◆◆◆
 
Fulton County Airport (Charlie Brown) – Hangar Five
Prissy and David LaMonte were there outside the hangar standing in the dark of an early evening. David was tall, blond, with an athletic build. He had blue eyes and a nervous disposition. He was just about to turn 19. Evelyn was with Jerrold Barber. Jerrold was shorter than David and had a dark complexion with jet black, short hair. He had piercing, brown eyes and a dazzling white smile. They stood around several minutes before deciding they needed to go inside.
They noticed how all the people inside had dark suits and checked out their roll-on bags and shoulder bags. Polly Maynard came up to them.
“Hi folks. Did you get your eVisas? Show me you’ve got it with the latest immunizations,” she said and they all showed them to her.
“I thought we didn’t need to do anything on leaving the US,” Jerrold said.
“You don’t but our job is to keep you safe while you are there and make sure you get to stay. Australian Customs at Sydney is expecting you but you will make it through easier if you have your ducks in a row. I’m checking the ducks,” Polly said with a grin. The lights came on bright in the hangar and everyone stood and focused on the shiny silver vehicle.
“Whoa!” They all exclaimed as they looked up and saw the vehicle that filled the big hangar.
“We’re going to Australia in that?” David said. “It doesn’t have any wings.”
Polly had them enter through the carbo bay ramp rather than trying to go through an airlock.
“How big is this thing?” Prissy asked.
“Forty meters by eighteen,” Polly said. “Right through here. This is your cabin. The screen on the wall displays an external view. Your bags should go in the wall lockers. We’ll be staying in atmosphere for this flight so you don’t need to put on the suit. The buttons on the chair are labeled for internal communications. Stow your things and then strap into a seat. Any questions?”
They all shook their heads They felt a little intimidated.
“Is there a bathroom?” Jerrold asked.
“Yes,” Polly said. “Please sit down for all uses if you would. It works better especially when in weightlessness.”
“Weightlessness,” Evelyn said, with eyes wide.
“Just pulling your leg a little. Put your bags away and sit down. Strap in. Got it?”
They all shook their heads.
They were feeling pretty nervous and the main screen came on. The view showed the hangar door opening and seeing the dim light from the light from the lights outside. The view moved forward like they were floating and they went to end of Runway 32. Then the view changed to a downward view that sped past.
Polly’s voice came over the intercom, “We are currently traveling at 49,000 kilometers per hour (~30,000 miles per hour) at an altitude of 24,000 meters (~78,700 feet).” They were soon over water with flashes of land appearing at intervals. It was fascinating to see the night giving way to the light of morning and more water. It seemed like only minutes later before they were descending to Sydney Bankstown Airport about 9 km from Sydney. Their craft arrived and set down next to the Aerobatic School off Gipsy Street at 4 Rearwin Place.
“We hope you enjoyed your 20-minute flight. An Australian Customs official will meet you just off the cargo ramp. Make sure you recover all your possessions and have your visa and passports ready to be stamped. Your transportation is arranged to the Langham Sydney Hotel by your eight-person security detail. Learn their names. Thank you for flying Lux Blakely Airlines,” Polly said with an obvious titter in her voice. She went to meet the Australian Customs Officers and meet their security and escort vehicles while Lux called the extra eight security personnel to let them know they were disembarking.
Prissy came down the ramp and into the bright morning light. Her mind was blown. It was nighttime twenty minutes ago. Lux was standing with Polly and Sue White. They were all in their white IVA Tesla suits. Lux looked mighty good and he was much more…athletic. He must have grown an inch taller in the last month, she thought. He looked lean and commanding.
Evelyn jabbed her. “Hey, dreamer. You have a date. Pay David some attention. Oh. He must be the Customs guy.”
◆◆◆
 
Australian Border Force Officer Dinkins – Bankstown Airport near Sydney
ABF Officer Dinkins had dodgy assignments before, but this one was out there. His skipper had ordered him to take a customs stamp and check out a group of an important Americans. He was told this group had four young people and four crew. They didn’t tell him that vehicle was a spaceship! It didn’t have any wings and it had floated down. The crew was armed but they were to be met by local security services and the Special Air Service Regiment. What a dog’s breakfast.
“You four. Come here and let’s have those papers. Are you here for business or pleasure?” Dinkins said.
“Pleasure. The Lummi concert,” Prissy said.
“Do any of you have agricultural products, weapons, or drugs?” Dinkins asked.
“No sir,” each young passenger replied and had their visas and passports stamped.
Lux regarded the men with the security detail as they held up the passport pictures as each person, introduced themselves, and escorted them to the black SUVs. Prissy turned back to look a Lux. He waved and she got into the vehicle while looking at him.
“Enjoy your stay,” Dinkins said. “What are those blokes getting into?” He decided he didn’t want to know. Dinkins watched the kids as they went with the security personnel just as two up-armored Toyota Land Cruisers pulled up. Six soldiers in camouflage OCU (Operational Combat Uniform) got out with a variety of assault rifles. One even had a Barrett M82A2 sniper rifle. They also had backpacks and armored vests. Dinkins thought they must be SASR soldiers. He wondered why these kids were involved with an SASR team but that must be above his pay grade.
◆◆◆
 
Brigadier General Dobbs Partially Pays Back a Debt
Captain William Joynt didn’t know what this was about but his colonel had never steered him wrong before and the major supported whatever this was. He was supposed to find the shortest person in the group and ask for Captain Lux Blakely.
He approached the two men, two women, and a boy he said, “Captain Lux Blakely?” asking Sue.
She shook her head and nodded her head toward Lux. “Captain Blakely?”
“Who’s asking?” Lux asked with a twinkle in his eye.
“I was told you were the shortest one of the bunch and you commanded a spaceship. I was told to tell you this came from Brigadier General Dobbs at Eglin,” the soldier said.
Lux started laughing. He couldn’t help it and the rest of his crew started laughing too. Lux caught his breath. “I’m Lux Blakely and I’m going to get General Dobbs back when I return to Eglin. I’m not a Captain, Captain, but I did design that spaceship that we are about to take you for a ride in. Folks. Please introduce yourselves to the Captain here with a short background.”
Robert Allen, Rodney Branch, Polly Maynard, and Sue White introduced themselves to the Captain.
The soldier came up to Lux. “My name is William Joynt and I am a captain but how would you know I was that rank and not some colonel or general.”
Lux smiled. “Captains usually head a patrol of five or six in the Special Air Service regiments, if I’m not mistaken. You got out of your vehicle with an H&K417 which uses the heavier 7.62x51mm NATO rifle cartridge. Higher ranks would have gotten out with just a sidearm to first assess the situation. Introduce me to your team and then I want to show you how to stir up a hornet’s nest.”
The captain introduced the US team to the other five on his patrol.
“Where would you like to go to test some weapons where no one will see or hear us?”
“Well. I’d go to the middle of the Great Victoria Desert but that’s over 2000 kilometers (1,300 miles) there are places closer but they’re not as good,”
“My only joy sometimes is blowing people’s minds. Only takes us four or five minutes. Please Stow your weapons and gear in the lockers. The wall screens will display in front and below us. Please strap in and we’ll stay in the atmosphere so you don’t need the suits in the locker. Use the intercom if you see where you want me to stop. My computer is monitoring – just say stop. Try it.”
“Test. One two three. Works.”
“We’re off. Call out anytime you see a place,” Lux said.
◆◆◆
 
Recruiting Allies for a Shaky Enterprise
“Stop around here. This is good. Take us down near those marble gum trees,” Captain Joynt indicated. The ship landed and the cargo ramp was unsealed and lowered. “Okay lads. Three hundred meters in every direction and back here.”
The soldiers all repeated ‘three hundred meters and return’.
Lux and Rodney turned to Captain Joynt. “Now. Talk to me. What is all this nattering about?”
“Come back inside Captain. You need to meet our other crewmate,” Lux said and walked back up and to the small conference room/galley. “Coffee?”
“Yes, please. Black,” Joynt replied as Lux poured a cup for Joynt and Rodney.
“Anna. Would you introduce yourself to William?” Lux said and the wall monitor lit up with Anna’s avatar.
“Captain Joynt. I’m called Anna – your shipboard personality. I take it you were named after the WWII Victoria Cross awardee?”
“That’s correct. What is going on? What are we here for? It isn’t for target practice,” Captain Joynt said.
“No Captain. We expect a Chinese attempt to kidnap ‘Lummi’ – a close friend of Lux Blakely here. They already attacked our Lummi concert in Singapore and Thailand and successfully kidnapped a double of Lummi. We had to kill many of their assassins, in order to return our person. The Chinese have used teams of eight PLA special forces. They had silenced weapons and fentanyl-filled darts. We have acquired their plans.”
“Why us then? Why this ship – which is very nice I might add?” he asked. “No inertial effects. I like that. Who makes these? You say you designed them?” Joynt asked incredulously.
“Lockheed is manufacturing these and larger ships. We can go anywhere on Earth in minutes. They are pretty inexpensive. Our power source lasts ten years on this one before it needs to be replaced. We have railguns and two 10 Megawatt lasers that will burn through about anything. We suspect thousands of shots. We have shielding that, when closed up, will stop any kinetic projectile.”
“Any kinetic projectiles? How much is ‘pretty inexpensive’ according to you folks?”
“About $100 million US. Fuel costs are the Thorium initiator and Uranium waste fuel amortized over a decade. Works in space just as well,” Lux explained.
“So, this is a sales pitch AND a rescue operation. You want us to do the rescue since you’ve already killed a lot of Chinese operatives and we are in Australia.”




Chapter 11



Hacked plans of the Chinese Capture Team
“Let’s see these weapons,” Captain Joynt demanded as his team reboarded. They accelerated up to 5,000 meters altitude. Polly was flying with Lux as the copilot. Robert was with Captain Joynt and his sergeant on the railguns while Sue and Rodney were on lasers showing their SASR partners.
“There are some boulders down there that I’d like to try the railguns on. Zeroed in on it. Fire,” Joynt said. There was a deep ‘thrum’ sound and the boulder simply exploded and left a five-meter diameter crater a couple of meters deep. “That is impressive. Let’s try those lasers on the top of that hill. “Fire. A meter to the right. Fire. Ten meters down fire. Meter to the left. Fire. Take us down to the surface.”
The ship descended so it was hovering with the tip of the ramp just off the surface. All the crew and soldiers cycled down the ramp and examined the still-smoking holes bored deeply into the rock. “Crikey. That went more than a meter deep through solid rock.”
“This thing doesn’t make a sonic boom either, does it?” Captain Joynt posited.
“Smart. That’s correct Captain. We’ve docked with the International Space Station with my first four-seater,” Lux explained. “They all are space capable. You can make orbit as easy as driving to the market.”
“You have bigger ones? Cargo? Number personnel?” the captain asked.
“The largest current one is 120 meters by 20 meters. It has the cargo of a C130 plane and about 90 to 100 in full complement. It has internal barracks, galleys, an armory, and room for an auxiliary craft. Heavier armament than this one,” Lux explained. “Have your people contact Lockheed Skunk Works in Palmdale, California. Have your people ask for John Clark.”
“I’m sold on these ships. Now, explain what plans you have intercepted,” Captain Joynt said. “When, where, and how?”
Anna started a briefing. “I intercepted a call two days ago to the Chinese embassy in Sydney about an eight-man team coming to kidnap Lummi. They said it would be immediately after the concert as the people were leaving to add to the confusion. They have two white vans so they can get Lummi and any doubles she may have had with her. They plan to come in the back loading dock, They have somehow gotten credentials as vendors and plan to have their weapons on carts they will be pushing. They also plan to have body armor, pistols (most silenced), dart guns, and submachine guns. They may have grenades. They are to all to speak Korean during the raid to throw people off to who they are.”
“How do they expect to escape? They plan to escape to the Chinese embassy. Then they plan to use Lummi’s capture to have you turn yourself over to them or plans for your newest ships. The leaders had given up on you until the attempted Taiwanese invasion. They were apparently stopped by one spaceship. They explained that their people should use any means to capture Lummi or you. They traced where you get money from Lummi concerts.”
“You get money from Lummi concerts? My daughter is a huge fan of hers. How are you involved with that too? Would you get her an autograph?” one of the other soldiers finally said something and the captain just sighed and looked down rubbing his eyes.
“Yep. I’ll get you one if I can,” Lux said. “Do we alert the Sydney Police?”
“Gods, no. We had enough of a time when they had us locking people down with COVID stuff years ago. There are still bad feelings about that. They wouldn’t respond in time. Alerted beforehand they would saturate the area and scare them away so they’d hit at some other time,” Captain Joynt said. “We need two more patrols of six. I can get them fast enough if you can transport twelve more and their equipment. “I’ll need to brief my CO (commanding officer).”
“Call him if you think it would be worth it. Aren’t they located near Perth? How was your patrol near here when General Dobbs called your colonel?” Lux asked.
“We were flying back from some specialized mission in New Zealand. The guys I want would tighten this up a bit. I’ll probably have to brief the General too. You can make it and back in less than an hour.”
“Give him a call and then we’ll get going. We lose cell network connections even with satellites most times,” Lux said worried that they’d get bogged down in political wrangling that always popped up over territorial issues. Everybody wants to hang on to their little illusion of control,” Lux said. He had involved the locals because of the flak he’d receive doing it all himself.
◆◆◆
 
Campbell Barracks – Special Air Service Regiment – Perth, Australia
General Harold Smythe didn’t know what to make of this craft. His man, Captain Joynt had called from Sydney. He noticed the trace delay that gave away long-distance calls in Australia. It was a thing. Then this ‘spaceship’ lands with this civilian crew skippered by a child – not a child but a young strapping lad who was 13. He was the one that designed it! There it was floating off the ground and the claims for the vehicle were crazy. He decided to ‘man up’ and act confident. Are terrorists hitting the Sydney Arena? Of course, the SASR would send more teams but it was to happen tomorrow. They said they could do these things and when his people said they could do something – they could.
“I’ve talked with your Colonel, Captain. I’ve even talked with General Dobbs at Eglin Air Base in Florida. They all say to believe you and this lad. Have two more patrols kit up and you are in command. Go – go. Be back here in an hour.” The General turned then to Lux. “Well, lad. How did you happen to design this ship?”
Lux was accustomed to the questions. “I designed a camera that showed the Earth’s magnetic fields in real-time. Then I designed a way to use them for propulsion. It happened in a way so we can move without inertial effects. That protects us from radiation and any kinetic projectiles. Got my Aeronautic degree from Georgia Tech and I’m in the doctoral program at MIT if you’ve heard of that. I have a product that your guys might like. Let me go get it,” Lux said and turned back to go into the ship.
The general wasn’t sure what to make of this lad but saw the ship floating off the ground. The young man came out of the ship with some type of plastic shield on one arm and two knives in the other hand.
“What have you got there?” the general asked, his curiosity piqued.
“This is a portable shield that protects against any kinetic projectiles. These knives are training knives I designed. Do have someone good with knives? I’ll show you what they do while we’re waiting for the others.”
General Smythe was never one to turn down a bit of entertainment – especially in Perth. “Sergeant Thomas. Front and center. You have some knowledge about knives. Uphold the reputation of the regiment.”
“Sir!” the sergeant came forward and saluted. He was a good 100 kilograms of muscle.
“At ease. Go with Mister Blakely here. Show us what you have sergeant.”
Sergeant Thomas went over to Lux. “Lad. I’m a bit larger than you and have more reach. You sure you want to do this even with these dorky practice knives.”
Lux grinned. “Everyone I’ve ever fought is bigger than me. Let me show you how these work. They are electric. Flip this switch there to turn them on. That’s right. The harder you grip the knife, the harder it shocks. Just use it like you would in a real knife fight. No less.”
Lux didn’t have the sergeant try out the shock on himself so he’d have the benefit of surprise.
They faced each other and the sergeant was standing casually. “You realize I outweigh you and have more…”
Lux shot forward and stabbed the inside of the sergeant’s wrist with the point of his knife. The sergeant’s knife dropped to the ground as he jerked his hand back reflexively. “Crikey!” he yelled and shook his right hand.
“Like a real fight sergeant. Think of me like you are fighting some Filipino commando and your life is on the line,” Lux said hearing the mumbling from the other soldiers watching.
This time the sergeant bent over in a classic stance. He also shifted so he could kick but he didn’t rush in. Lux left an area open as he did a forward slash trying to lure the big man in. The sergeant went for it and Lux countered. The big man parried and performed a front thrust kick. Lux shifted to the side and slashed for the leg and got a glancing cut to the leg.
“Whoa!” the sergeant said. “It works through clothing?” Thomas said smarting from the slash but now moving a lot more cautiously.
“Yep,” Lux said and moved around the big guy. Several more feints had the sergeant sweating and he knew he was outclassed. He saw an opening that was too good to be true and Lux nodded just a bit for him to take it. The sergeant lunged forward and slashed across Lux’s wrist and ended with a riposte of the sergeant’s knife under Lux’s chin. Lux held both hands palm out and yelled “Yield!” and went forward and hugged the big man. “Thanks for a great match. Do you like these training knives? They are yours. I designed these.”
Sergeant Thomas raised the two knives up and his mates cheered and came around to see the weapons. There were a lot of gasps and grunts as they all tried the point and edges of the knife on their arms, legs, and chest. He respected that Lux didn’t beat him in from of his peers. Thomas recognized that the kid was a better knife fighter, he thought.
Lux went to the general. “Would you like to see another invention that should be available to you soon…this shield? It works with the same principle as the exterior of my ship. Do you have someone that is willing to discharge an automatic weapon into the side of the ship?”
“Ricochets?”
“None,” Lux explained and saw his bodyguards talking with the soldiers. He knew they were telling them about some of his inventions. He wanted that to happen as he needed other countries than the US to buy his products. He needed his allies with similar weapons.
“Sergeant Smith. How long to get an H&K here to shoot a ship? Need two magazines. Snap to it.”
A soldier ran off and momentarily came running back with an H&K 417.
The soldier with the automatic rifle was putting in earplugs. Everyone else was putting fingers in their ears. The general nodded. The sergeant leveled his weapon toward the ship. Lux had already put in his own earplugs and tapped the soldier on his shoulder saying, “A full magazine, sergeant.”
The sergeant sprayed the weapon along the sides of the ship until his slide locked back. Everyone walked forward and saw the bullets on the ground where they had fallen. The bullets were still hot and undeformed. “Can we touch the ship?” the sergeant asked.
“You can try. It won’t hurt you. Try it,” Lux said and most of the soldiers went forward and realized they couldn’t get their fingers closer than three or four centimeters from the surface. “Now let’s try this shield. I’ll get behind it and you unload another magazine. We’ve already tested it with a Barrett .50 caliber firing armor piercing. I’ll make sure it’s turned on.”
Lux turned on his shield and tested the surface. His finger couldn’t get closer than a centimeter or two from the surface. He raised his hand above the shield with a thumbs up and then hunkered down behind it. Sergeant Smith got a hesitant nod from the general. He took aim and unloaded another magazine. Lux waited a moment and then stood up and switched off the shield. All the soldiers rushed forward to find the pile of bullets that had hit the shield field and dropped to the ground. The bullets were still too hot to pick up.
The general came forward and tried to touch the ship and looked with amazement at the bullets strewn on the ground around the ship. He turned to Lux. “You say these ships will be available from Lockheed.”
“Yes sir. The largest right now is like the one that beat back the invasion of Taiwan. That ship only had a shakedown crew I’m told. It is 120 X 20 meters with a lot more armament than my little craft. That large one can carry 90 to 100 plus an auxiliary spacecraft in the flight bay. It has the cargo capacity of a C130 too. This one,” Lux indicated his craft, “…is 40 meters and though it has interior cabins – it can carry up to 24 personnel, like a V22 Osprey. Of course, mine can fly Mach 40 in atmosphere with no sonic booms and is space certified. Mine would cost about $100 million US with another $10 million for the ten-year traveling wave nuclear power supply. That includes the lasers and railguns.”
“I got your digital information packet on these marvelous ships. You will be hearing from us. Those ships would be just what we need to cut down on our rapid deployment times and fuel costs. Let’s get my people cracking.
The rest of the soldiers returned moments later with huge backpacks and their weapons.
The general had them fall in and snap to attention. “At ease. Men. Our nation looks to you to protect them. Just like we trained. Make us proud. Captain Joynt. It’s up to you.”
The men came to attention and were told to fall out.
Joynt’s people helped the other teams into the ship with Lux’s bodyguards showing them where to stow their gear in lockers.
Everyone got strapped in rapidly and they were off on their 20-minute trip back to Bankstown. They were able to get the NSW State Tactical Operations Unit to lend drivers and two vans to move the teams around from Bankstown to the arena. They decided to bunk on the ship and the galley was soon smelling of hamburgers and ‘chips’ from the ship's stores. The soldiers stated the ship smelled like ‘America’. They had the night to plan and look over the floor plans for the arena and the Chinese embassy plus the surrounding areas. They were up late plotting out different responses to different scenarios.
◆◆◆
 
Prissy and Friends at the Langham Sydney – their first day and night in Australia
The girls got the Observatory Suite while the guys got a room nearby. The security people had been very professional and they were always at hand. They had rooms down the hall and were stationed outside the doors of both their rooms. The girls and guys quickly dumped their bags in the room and were off to the World Square Shopping Mall with their bodyguards. It only took eight minutes. They had lunch at YAYO, a Japanese restaurant that was packed. The bodyguards had one of their people order food for all eight of their people so they could eat on the run.
The girls loved the accents of the locals and they were treated very well. David actually spoke a little Japanese and Prissy thought they got better service because of that. It surprised and pleased her about the tall Lacrosse player.
They were soon out sampling the myriad stores for fashion and tech. The guys bought some ear pods that weren’t even available yet in the states due to import restrictions. The gals both got some Lorna Jane workout clothes and Ally Fashion sun dresses while the guys each got a blazer from Politix. They gathered their spoils and headed back to the Hotel for afternoon tea, a dip into the pool, and a spa massage. They went to their rooms to change into dressier clothes and came down to dinner at Kitchens On Kent.
Prissy had the butter chicken with cashews and chickpeas and a Caesar salad. David had Australian pork ribs with the house BBQ sauce with seasonal vegetables. Evelyn went with Queensland Spanner crab and Japanese Soba noodle salad with seaweed, edamame and sesame dressing. Jerrold got the southern highlands lamb leg with garlic and rosemary and mixed vegetables. All the dishes were perfectly cooked and seasoned. The desserts were the old standards: death by chocolate ice cream, Italian tiramisu, raspberry opera slice, passionfruit and chocolate trifle, and Heilala vanilla crème brulée.
Prissy was the only one under 18, so when they ordered a bottle of Champagne and a pinot noir, no one batted an eye when they asked for four champagne glasses and four wine glasses.
They were stuffed to the gills and Prissy was a little woozy from the alcohol. The guys seemed fine but they went to the Observatory Bar for coffee and just to talk. Evelyn and Jerrold said they would go up to the boys’ room so David and Prissy could have some time alone. Prissy didn’t want coffee and was going to order some iced tea. David insisted that she should not get regular tea and he ordered Prissy a Long Island tea. He said it would settle her stomach. The security detail had split when the couple went back to the room and four were stationed around the entrances to the bar with deep frowns on their faces.
Prissy thought the tea tasted delicious and was pretty thirsty for the champagne. She hadn’t liked the red wine. It was too strong for her taste and she only had a few swallows. She almost immediately felt the Long Island Tea. She didn’t know it had four different types of liquor in it and asked David to take her back to her room. He signed the tab and had to hold Prissy steady as they went back up to the room. Prissy did her best to walk straight as she went to the elevator. Two security were with them in the elevator and two had gone up the stairs. One of the security asked Prissy if she was okay and she said she was but she had eaten too much.
They got to the girls’ room. When they got in, David pulled Prissy into a long kiss. Prissy jerked away from David. She ran to the bathroom and projectile vomited into the toilet. When the first violent pangs of nausea passed, she yelled to David to get Evelyn. She went back to dry heaving into the toilet. Too many mixtures of foods, sweets, and alcohol claimed the evening. David’s ideas of romance disappeared when he had to retrieve Evelyn from next door. Evelyn was inspired by Prissy’s vomiting when her effort to hold Prissy’s hair out of the way was only partially successful. Evelyn ended up throwing up in one of the two sinks.
◆◆◆
 
Concert Day – The Langham Hotel Sydney
David and Jerrold got up early and went down to breakfast. The girls asked for plain toast and coffee to be sent to their room. Room service was pretty fast. They didn’t want to try to handle the breakfast buffet with three types of sausage, fruit, and pastries. The thought of food made them both queasy. It had taken a couple of showers each to get rid of the smell. They had gone down to lie by the pool while housekeeping came up to restore the bathroom et al to its original splendor. The felt good enough to have a fruit smoothie in lieu of lunch.
They were feeling a bit better by afternoon and met the boys to have an early light supper at a local restaurant down near the hotel. They went back to change clothes for the concert and made sure they’d get there early. The security detail around them was getting them looks and winks. The guys they passed tended to get appreciative glances a lot and a few ‘good looking shelias’ comments. The security team made room as they moved through crowds.
When they got to the Arena – the first car was always ahead of them. They set up and checked out the area before the next two cars stopped to let their passengers out. There were four pre-positioned and two more security with the second and third car. Transitions were the most dangerous. They were most exposed when the four already out came and took the cars to the nearby VIP parking. Five escorted them into the arena. They were whisked through screening and were soon to their seats. There were a number of NSW police positioned around the Arena. Prissy looked around and they were perfectly positioned to see the show.
◆◆◆
 
The Concert
The Korean BTS K-Pop Group put on a ‘heck-uv-a’ opening act. They sang and danced across the stage trying to look ten years younger. They had been doing the act for so long, they had all their moves choreographed with their gymnastics. They were really good and had excellent voices. It was a fun group and got the crowd fired up for Lummi.
There was a short pause between acts but not nearly as long as some shows, Prissy had seen. Lummi had enough extras and doubles so they could take breaks at every other venue. The curtain opened and Lummi (2) rose out of the floor of the stage like a flower opening. She was bent over and spread out her hands and she raised them high and looked at her back and frowned. She started singing one of her sad songs that got brighter as the song progressed. She danced and sang across the stage but came to a climbing wall on the side. She started singing her climbing song and many in the audience started singing the popular song with her. She looked like she slipped, caught herself and the timbre of the song changed and she got to the top of the ‘cliff’ with the help of friends pulling. She looked over the edge and the song changed to a hopeful tone.
She sang through her repertoire with super-fast costume changes. The audience didn’t know that Lummi 2 and Lummi 1 weren’t the same women since they looked the same with the heavy makeup (actually without it too). They both played their parts perfectly. Lummi 1 did the baby in the park song and it looked like a real baby that just happened to be belly laughing at the appropriate times. Lummi 2 was the best singer and she could belt it out as well as the enhanced DeepFake Lummi. The two hours of the Lummi portion sailed by. Lux accompanied one of the NSW State police and was able to see the last three songs. He had wanted to see how Lummi did the flying portion of the show.
Lummi came out in the same sparkly costume she wore for the first song and looked sadly at her back while facing the audience. She suddenly smiled and two gossamer wings seemed to sprout from her back. She started singing and ran directly like she was going to run off the stage and then jumped straight out. Several in the audience screamed but then she floated hovering and singing. She started dancing in the air and people could see her back and no wires. She sang and swooped and did acrobatics in the air. She swooped down and grabbed a policeman’s hat – his acting looked a little staged but she looked adorable – floating there – taunting him and singing. She tossed the hat back and floated back down to the stage.
The crowd roared their approval and Lummi 2 bowed several times and disappeared behind the stage. The crowd stomped and chanted for long minutes before Lummi 1 came out like she had been taking a shower and drying her hair, She had the microphone on and started humming a tune and the other musicians came out and started playing some jazz. One of them came out pushing a piano. Lummi started riffing with the band and then they started her famous jazz piece with the musicians. When they finished – Lummi and the musicians all bowed and Lummi raised her hands for the crowd to quieten down.
“Thank you for being such a lovely audience. I love you but I must go,” she said. The crowd screamed “NO!”
Lummi continued and raised her hands again after a moment. “I must go and find out the answer to a question that has been plaguing me since I got here. Maybe you can help me answer it?” The crowd again yelled all kinds of questions at her. “Here’s my question and I’m going to find out. Which is better? Bentspoke Crankshaft IPA or Your Mates Larry Australian Pale Ale?” she asked and then flew off the stage waving at the audience while they were still laughing and trying to answer.
Lux heard the radio crackle. “Two white vans just pulled out by the fire doors with Chinese drivers. We’re taking them down out here.”
“There aren’t any others in the vans! Just a driver and a partner. They’re old men It’s a cleaning crew.”
“We’re buggered. There is suppressed gunfire inside! Inside plan 2!”
“White guys in grey jumpsuits going for Lummi. Big guys. They have suppressed handguns and submachine guns. They’re Russian.”
“Tattoos and grey coveralls. They’ve got one Lummi.”
“I got him. We’ve got the doubles secured. Three down here. Alpha - we’re Secure”
“There are three more and they are cutting toward the civilians. The NSW State guys have the one that made for the stage. Uhm. I don’t think the NSW guys like the Russian mafia. Beta is Secure.”
“Outside. Two vans in the loading dock. Two more out here. “Theta. We’re secure.”
Lux felt something wasn’t right about this. This was a setup. They were going to stop these guys. The Chinese had set them up. The Chinese must have known their plans were compromised but why would they involve the Russians with Lummi if they weren’t really after Lummi? What could they want? Did they do this to get me to come here so they could kidnap me? “Robert, Polly, Rodney, and Sue – front and center. We need to stay here ‘til they’re secure and then back to the ship.”
◆◆◆
 
Prissy and Friends after the Concert
Prissy knew Lummi and the team they had assembled was talented but what a show. They were great. That was two hours plus was…everything went black.
◆◆◆
 
Five weeks earlier - Liu Guozhi at Tsinghua University – Haidian District, Beijing
“You finally had some success. The soldier that had access is dead. We acquired ten units from Fort Drum by going through Canada. We gave two units to the Russians for their promised help in Australia. We kept eight to compare to our units. How have you been progressing with that SpaceX engineer?”
“He had made already constructed a working copy of a lifter device but he was having trouble with the software. He is totally in love with his Chinese mistress. He was easy to lure here since he was disgusted with their CEO. A few modest conveniences were a cheap price to pay. She was easy to convince to service him in exchange for getting out of the rural working conditions.”
“Did the lifter units we acquired have the software with them? Yes. They were all tied to the American GPS system. We were able to convert them to the BeiDou Global Navigation System.”
“How difficult was it to make better units? How many we have by next month?” Liu asked.
“We have thirty thousand manufactured. It is relatively simple and the software allows great flexibility. We still have plans to get Blakely to come to us. He is young and naive.”
“Did we get the plans for the vessel they are building in the Skunk Works? What an odd name! I’m sure it is some comical, historical significance. They are so weird,” Liu commented.
“Just the larger of the three. We think the SpaceX engineer can create one as good or better. We can certainly make the laser more powerful and more supercapacitors for power than the US versions. We are ahead of them with energy storage. We did get those plans.”
“I am glad I formed a version of their DARPA here even though we have sections in Wenchang and in Guangzhou. When will we have the ship built from the plans we’ve secured?” Liu queried.
“The construction is simplistic and made easy with many off-the-shelf components. We have no idea why the outer hull would allow it to go as fast through the atmosphere. It uses the magnetic field of the Blakely thrusters. There I go again using that name. We need to change the name to something like Prodigious Achievement Thrusters (惊人的成就推进器 - Jīngrén de chéngjiù tuījìn qì). That sounds better than using the western name. We can get it working a bit after the date we get all the lifters. We took over several factories and have them producing them in truckloads. You can’t do that in the West. It will give our troops time to train before we project troops into Taipei. We don’t need to land on the beaches when we can land troops anywhere in our breakaway republic. We shall also take back our land in Ladakh and Arunachal Pradesh.”
◆◆◆
 
Security Team Guarding Prissy and friends on Concert Night
The eight security professionals had not expected to have young Australians in Rugby Jerseys and jackets attack them with knives. They had walked up, pulled fiberglass knives out of their back waistbands, and started stabbing all the security first, causing pandemonium outside the arena. The drivers in the cars were attacked next since the cars were blocked from moving by the crowds. The young attackers smashed right through the side windows with bricks or rocks. People pleaded with them but spectators were attacked indiscriminately. One of the youths was shot by police and more were tackled by bystanders. The attackers seemed to enjoy pain and only stopped fighting if their glasses were knocked off. It was like they were on drugs because they were exceedingly strong but not finely coordinated. 
Prissy and her friends were surrounded. Prissy was shot in the neck by a Rugby player who seemed to be coordinating the others. He had pulled the dart gun out and shot her from behind as a signal for the attack to begin. He was wearing the number 10 on his jersey and he was tall and solid. Two on the security detail tackled others who had mobbed Prissy when she fell. Evelyn was knocked unconscious but David and Jerrold were stabbed. Prissy and Evelyn were dragged to a nearby van that drove off rapidly. Two on the security team had only minor wounds and called for help. The whole attack hadn’t taken more than twenty seconds.
◆◆◆
 
Lux, his team, and the SAS Regiment
Lux listened to the calls from Prissy’s Security detail with horror. This attack on Lummi was just a diversion. They heard the SAS repositioning while turning over their prisoners to the NSW State Police. The NSW officers in the front of the arena were getting emergency services for all the wounded and trying to deal with the still struggling attackers. They were absurdly strong and incoherent to questions. Officers had stabilized many of the wounded. A description of the teens who attacked them left them confused as to the motivations but they all agreed that two young women were dragged off to a white van. The license plate came back to a local team. It was incomprehensible. These students had a reputation for being some of the most academic and athletic in all of Sydney. They all came from upper-middle-class families.
The van was spotted on the M4 by police coming toward the Arena. Lux suggested to the local NSW State Police that they were going to the Chinese Embassy. The NSW State Police ordered their people should watch the Russian Federation consulate since it was also partly in the same direction. The NSW police sent their police to wall off the Russian Federation along the A4. Fifteen minutes later the NSW police said they had not seen the white van. When Lux asked again about the Chinese consulate, the NSW blew him off – telling him, “Get away from them young man. We’re dealing with a situation.” The SAS Regiment Captain was angry that the intelligence was wrong.
“Your intelligence was the dog’s bollocks. We were in the wrong place to stop the Rugby players' attacks on your friends. It made us look bad,” the Captain said.
“I’m sure if you were in Perth when this occurred, you would have done much better. You could have stopped the Russian attack here. Right? Do you have a way to recover the two women from the Chinese embassy?” Lux asked after his sarcastic quip.
“No. I’ll need to explain all this to Headquarters and the politicians. We are in no position to assault the Chinese embassy on the suspicion that they have kidnapped foreign nationals. It would be easier if they were Australian citizens, but not by much. What is the tally from the attacks so far?” the Captain asked.
“Here, we have captured three Russians," the Captain continued. "One of those three is seriously wounded. Five of the eight are dead. Five of the Russians appear to be locally operating Russian mafia. Three showed up on Interpol records and are multinational players. They’re dead. The drivers we captured with the vehicles at the loading dock, don’t know much of anything. The three with international records took whatever information they would have revealed to the grave. None of your show personnel were injured. One NSW officer was shot in their vest with mild blunt trauma and one had a minor glancing wound. None of the audience was injured.”
“What about my people in the front? What about my security team? What about the audience?” Lux asked the SAS Regiment Captain.
His second in command came up to him to give a report and the captain indicated to give it audibly so everyone could hear. “Sir,” the sergeant reported. “It is stabilized in the front now. We have five of Blakely’s local security personnel with moderate to light lacerations and blunt trauma. His security people stopped eight of the around 14 or 15 attackers but they got cut up pretty badly. One of the attackers was shot by an NSW officer. Several onlookers were cut. Most of the attackers had been at the concert and had knives. The knives were made of epoxy so they wouldn’t alert a metal detector.”
“What happened to my people?” Lux was shifted from foot to foot. He wanted to know about Prissy. “What happened to Prissy?” he said before he realized the man wouldn’t know who he was talking about. “She is a blond, 17, about an inch shorter than me. There was another girl and two young men with them.”
“The attackers used a plastic dart gun on her. She collapsed and was carried to an awaiting van with the other girl according to witnesses. The two young men were hurt more seriously. The tall one was stabbed in the lung while fighting another attacker. He’s in fair condition but he’s stable. The other male is good. Most of the public were treated and released without a need to be transported,” the SAS officer reported.
Lux turned to his bodyguard team. “Suggestions?” Lux said.
“Let’s get back to the ship. We can plan there,” Rodney suggested. “Should we have a representative from the SAS with us as a liaison with the local military?”
“Good idea,” Lux said and approached Captain Joynt. “Captain.”
“We are going somewhere in our ship to plan. Are you willing to send one of your people with us to be a liaison with the military here?”
Captain Joynt looked thoughtful for a minute and then called over one of his subleaders. “Wilson. Take your patrol and handle this here. Report to the locals. Be succinct with law enforcement. Explain you had heard chatter about some type of attack at the loading dock area only. We let NSW State Police handle the rest of the arena. We’re going with Mister Blakely to see where to go from here. Headquarters can get in touch with me Monday when they start looking at their reports.”
“Give little to law enforcement. Explain we were working with tenuous intel and are planning further actions to contain the terrorists if headquarters gets around to asking. Understood,” the young soldier reported. “Good hunting, Captain.”
The Captain turned to Lux. “How about sixteen of my people with you? We are good at rescues and such and those shields would be useful.”
Lux smiled a tired, worried smile with a furrowed brow. He turned to Rodney and his other team. They gave him small nods and ghosts of a smile. “Welcome. Get your people to Edwin Flack Ave area beside the arena.”
Lux nodded and he and the four bodyguards walked behind the arena and called his ship which had been hovering, just above another structure outside of the view of the public. The ship appeared next to them as the soldiers came running in a column, two abreast. The ramp lowered until it was just off the median. The ship adjusted its thrust as the soldiers entered. They went to where they boarded last time and the team leaders met in the small conference room. It was small but there were eight seats.
“Do we wait for the Chinese to call and begin threatening us?” Captain Joynt led off. “I take it that they kidnapped those girls to pressure you to give information to them. I also think you are not going to do that.”
“Yep. Let’s get Anna on this. Anna. What information have you gathered as to what has happened? Any insights?” Lux asked.
The monitors lit up with Anna’s avatar wearing a trench coat with a magnifying glass in her hand. “We were handed that information to get Lummi again. They wanted Lummi to pressure you. They didn’t think they could get you since you killed so many in the last attempt,” Anna said and the soldiers turned to Lux in surprise and respect. “Then they got word that Prissy Hunnicutt would be here and all their plans changed.”
“What were those Rugby players doing? That was a total shocker and using the Russians to divert us was also a surprise?” Lux said.
“This was all supposed to work out differently. They had seen the concert schedule and planned this one for months. They had planned to hit Lummi and the team at the airport when they got off their jets but then found out you had multiple concert crews and one had been here a week already. Lummi came in separately and they didn’t know how. The Rugby people were a test using Virtual Reality gear given to the local winning team. That was used along with getting some females friends to get these young men to test some Flakka (a Chinese manufactured Zombie drug mixed with Ecstasy (MDMA). The Chinese combination produced an almost immediate addiction to the supplied drugs. Using the VR see-through glasses with bone conduction sound, they were able to condition the young men into euphoric states where they could get them to do anything. Supplied epoxy knives and knockout darts and you have the perfect, expendable hit team.”
Anna continued. “They found out Prissy was here and got the Russians to attack to pay off a debt. Just found out that debt was the acquisition of lifter units from Fort Drum. Those have been duplicated in mass with the intent to attack Taipei plus Ladakh and Arunachal Pradesh on the border to India.”
“How many were they able to reproduce? Are they reliable? Mass-produced?” Lux said concerned he may have created a monster.
“The Chinese changed the units from using the US GPS system to the BeiDou Global Navigation System. That is one of my embedded triggers to the hidden software they copied. The Beidou system is a two-way system. I can tell where they are too instead of just transmitting to the device from satellites. I have another way to do that, but what they did made it so-o much easier for me to manipulate. Maybe you ought to contact the embassy. The PLA army also is currently practicing to invade those areas as we speak. I could take over the lifters and launch 30,000 soldiers up to geostationary orbit if I wanted and then have them – their bodies fly down as little organic missiles anywhere we wanted.  I’d have to have them fly slower in the atmosphere so they wouldn’t burn up. One hundred kilos of mass going Mach 3 would make nice little splashy missiles if I aimed them at the CCP (Chinese Communist Party) homes.”




Chapter 12

Dealing with kidnappers
Lux was horrified. “Anna, we are not going to kill a bunch of people, if we can help it. Thirty thousand! I can’t let them attack Taiwan, but I do have an idea to stop them and return our girls. I will call the embassy if you can hack into their communications. Let me know where everybody is located. I want to know where the lifters are massed and any communications about the girls.”
“The girls are at the Chinese embassy at 39 Dunblane Street. The Rugby team has been turned loose. Internal communications show they were given Flakka laced with fentanyl as a ‘going away’ award. They expect none will be able to report what happened after they take the drugs because of induced death or psychosis. The military liaison is having one of the attachés take pictures of the girls. They already have statements they will have them read to get you to come work for them.”
“Okay. Captain Joynt. I assume we can’t assault the embassy even to get our girls back. That would be an act of war as an embassy is considered the land of that country and an attack would be considered an attack on that country. They could claim the girls were helpless victims dropped off by drug-crazed Australians. They could say they were keeping them safe until they could find out what happened. Anna, I imagine, is now tapping into social media and game communications about drug connections with the Rugby team as well as all their encrypted conversations.”
“Anna, any suggestions,” Lux asked. “SAS folks?”
Captain Joynt spoke up. “I’d like to hear anything Anna or you have to say. They haven’t been far wrong on anything yet everyone was Holy Dooley when those Rugby guys fronted up. Why would they try to kidnap her in the first place?”
Lux was surprised Anna and he weren’t criticized more strongly. “Israeli Intelligence was the first to target her before the Chinese. That’s why Sue here was hired to watch her. The Chinese attacked us in Atlanta with an eight-man hit squad to capture me. We killed all but one who was questioned. The Chinese attacked and kidnapped Lummi in Singapore and moved her to Bangkok. My people and I rescued her from the Chinese embassy there. We killed a few there. They try to capture people I care about to pressure me to work for them.”
Joynt made a noise like a grunt of acknowledgment.
Anna’s avatar spoke up. “I still like my idea of commandeering the 30,000 lifter units and using them as 150 kilograms of missiles would be so much fun. I could fly them at Mach 3 into all the embassies in the world or knock satellites out of the sky or destroy the Chinese Space Station. Turn her loose or splat – thousands of flesh missiles. They’d already be dead so we wouldn’t be killing them again. It would make them take notice.”
“That’s not an appropriate, humane method though it might work,” Lux said. “Yes. I know you aren’t human.”
“You mentioned you thought of something,” Captain Joynt interjected.
“We would need to find out when the Chinese were massing to invade Taiwan,” Lux commented and Anna answered immediately by anticipating his questions.
“They have been building up supplies of munitions and food for months now. They have canceled leave for the PLA military. The People’s Liberation Army Special Operations Forces have the lifters and are massing under Commander Kong Jun in Fuzhou, Fujian. They have stationed all the troops at this location under strict lockdown while they trained with the lifters. I can take over control at any time and have them fly anywhere at any speed,” Anna said. “Squishy missiles?”
“Quit that,” Lux said. “You think you’re funny, don’t you?”
“Yep,” Anna’s avatar said. “It’s kind of funny. Okay. My bad. What do YOU want to do?”
“Do you know when they plan to invade precisely?” Lux asked.
“Yep,” Anna said. “They wanted you out of the way – dead or captured by tonight. Buildup and orders appear to be for early tomorrow morning.”
“Whenever they launch – take over all the units and put them up in the air. They will have fifty kilograms of weapons, gear, and food. They will have enough food and water for three days. Put them on uninhabited islands all over the East and South China Sea. Use really small islands and then disable all the lifters. When they are on land and they take off the lifters because they don’t work – fly all the lifters up and we can use them as a threat along with trading the locations of the soldiers. We can use the lifters to either burn up in atmosphere or slow them to Mach 3 or 4 and fly them into houses of the 2nd Department commanders who would have planned this operation.”
“Will do, boss. I like it. I can still smash lifters into things if they don’t turn the girls loose,” Anna said. “I can see thousands of soldiers on tiny islands having to go to the bathroom. Most wouldn’t have drinking water. It would get messy. They could live five or six days. After ten days – I’d hate to think what they’d eat. Can’t see this going that long. It would take a lot of logistics to transport them off all those islands.”
“Brutal but it will destroy all the units and disrupt the invasion. Should you alert the media?” Captain Joynt suggested. “They’d have to ride and video from your ship because those soldiers still have rifles and munitions and will not be in a pleasant mood.”
“Okay, I guess,” Lux said and wondered why his bodyguards had been so quiet. “Rodney. You guys haven’t said anything. What’s up?”
Rodney looked at the other three. “We’re remembering Bangkok. That was a little dicey and you did a lot better than we thought you would. We had to reevaluate how we felt about your judgment. We’re open to your ideas.”
“Thank you. You do realize we have to wait until those Chinese troops are committed to the attack? I would let them land first but I don’t want to make it look like they were just threatening. Having a reporter along would help. Suggestions Captain Joynt?”
◆◆◆
 
Piquing the Interest of an Award-Winning Reporter
Grace Tobin didn’t expect the call. Certainly not from a SASR Captain while she was reporting on the Rugby Team. “Grace Tobin. How did you get this number?”
“Ms. Tobin. My name is Captain William Joynt. We have a situation and we need a reliable source – you – to record and comment on it. The Chinese PLA is getting ready to attempt to invade Taiwan again. They used the Rugby Team to kidnap a pair of visiting Americans in an attempt to gain control of new technology. My team stopped the Russians from kidnapping the performers at the concert. We had just received information about some kind of attack. We captured three of the eight Russian mafia attackers. Five attackers were killed – the Russian mafia killed had international ties.”
“Who are you? Why are you calling me?” Grace questioned.
“You are one of the most competent and trusted reporters in Australia. We need you and your crew to ride with us and video the negotiations with the kidnappers. We also plan to stop this invasion of Taiwan and India at the same time. You can have the exclusive and we need you to make it known. May we pick you up?”
“I am currently outside the house of the Fly-Half of the local team. Number 10 was reported to be the ringleader,” Grace said.
“They’ll all be dead in a few minutes. The Chinese gave them Flakka & Ecstasy laced with Fentanyl to kill all the ones linking them to the plot. We’ll be at your location in twenty seconds.”
“Wait. How do you know all this? Wait! How do you know my location? How will I know it is you?” Ms. Tobin asked.
William laughed. “You’ll know.”
◆◆◆
 
Negotiations With the Embassy
Lux’s ship came straight down a half block from all the reporters, police cars, and ambulances. The ship hovered just off the ground and the cargo ramp came down. The reporters and NSW police officers ran up to the ship as Lux, Rodney, and Captain Joynt and his sergeant came down the ramp.
The reporter ran up to Captain Joynt with her microphone extended. “Are you Captain William Joynt?” Grace said gulping for air between words. Her cameraman came plodding up behind her trying to get a good shot as he gulped air.
“I am indeed Ms. Tobin. Thank you for meeting us. Excuse me a moment while I talk with this police sergeant. Sergeant. I am Captain William Joynt with the Special Air Service Regiment based out of Perth. We were sent to stop the attack on the performers at the recent Lummi concert where they were trying to capture Lummi. That was just a diversion from the Chinese-inspired attack by the Rugby Team here. Those young men were forced into using Flakka and Ecstasy combination and they were controlled with the VR glasses they were given from the Chinese Embassy here. They have been given more of those same drugs but this time laced with Fentanyl to kill them and remove witnesses. We have to go Ms. Tobin. You and your videographer. What’s your name?” Joynt asked the videographer.
“Harvey Danby, former Staff Sergeant Special Operations Engineer regiment before my knee got buggered up.”
“Good people. This way Sergeant. Right up the ramp. Ms. Tobin. May I call you Grace?” Captain Joynt said.
Tobin blushed at the request from the handsome commander. “Certainly,” she said with all her qualms overwhelmed by the Captain’s charisma.
The NSW police sergeant looked gobsmacked with his mouth hanging open and staring at the ship hovering just off the ground. Then he shook his head, just shut his mouth, and ran back to the ambulance personnel to explain the drugs they would encounter. They could at least counter the Fentanyl with Naloxone they all carried.
They were all soon aboard and seconds later over the Chinese embassy at 1,000 meters. Anna gave Lux the number and nodded to him. He indicated for the reporter to be quiet with a finger to his lips as he made a call.
“Senior Colonel QIU Xuqiang. Who is calling? I do not recognize your number,” Colonel Qiu said in Mandarin.
“Colonel. This is Lux Blakely. You are holding two friends of mine. I’d like to see if they are okay,” Lux said in Mandarin.
The colonel answered in English. “I don’t know what you are talking about Mister Blakely. We are certainly not involved with any missing friends.”
Anna indicated something and Lux put the phone on mute. “There is a hidden tunnel that goes to the bay. Found it with infrared. Lasers would make it collapse.”
“Do it,” Lux said and took the phone off mute. The heavy thrum of the lasers was audible.
“What are you doing? You realize an attack on our embassy is an attack on the People’s Republic of China!” the colonel yelled into the phone and Lux could hear him cussing in Mandarin in the background.
“Colonel. There was an unauthorized tunnel leading to your embassy. Criminals could have entered your embassy from the bay. I am protecting you. Send them out the front gate and I will not go further.”
“I don’t know what you are talking about,” Colonel Qiu. “I would personally show you through the grounds if you would like to search. I would guarantee your safety.”
Lux disconnected the call. “That went about like I thought it would. Anna,” Lux said. “Any vehicle coming out of that place – punch a hole through the engine or motor. Use the narrow beam. I expect one in the next hour.”
◆◆◆
 
Phase Two of the Plan
Anna indicated the Chinese invasions had been instigated after the soldiers were inspected and PLA soldiers were sent out in groups of 1,000 at a time. Twenty-five thousand went to Taiwan and five thousand went to support the troops on the border to India. The news media in Taipei and across Taiwan were alerted that there were incoming waves of PLA soldiers for another invasion attempt. They were informed that the People’s Liberation Army had stolen US technology developed by Lux Blakely and that you gave them the means to redirect the stolen technology if it leaves mainland China. They were sent photos of the lifters and where some of the soldiers or ground personnel had taken photos on their phones. Anna had acquired several photos of the mass troops from unauthorized Chinese phones.
These reports were sent to the Chinese Embassy in Sydney. It was reported that these Chinese troops were held 350 to 1,000 meters feet off the ground. Taiwanese troops on the ground had shot a few of the stranded soldiers. Anna directed them all to spread out like a net between Taiwan and the mainland. Chinese fighters trying to support the troops that were supposed to be on the ground had to pull up to avoid the floating groups of their own soldiers. The fighter jets attacking soon broke off their attacks rather than fly into their own troops.
Anna, and all her clones, were coordinating the responses. Suddenly, all the Chinese PLA soldiers zoomed off under Anna’s control. They flew toward the uninhabited islands in the south China Sea, some so small there was almost no vegetation. They were deposited on Jarijima Island (Gravel Island) and Patag Island in the South China Sea region which China had claimed. Most of these islands had no buildings or sources of fresh water.
◆◆◆
 
Advertising the Aftermath of the Invading Soldiers
Lux’s ship suddenly flew to the South China Sea. Anna displayed the news broadcasts, captured images, and hacked the military communique for the journalist.
“They had 30,000 soldiers attack Taiwan again? Didn’t they attack Taiwan last month with a lot of ships and aircraft?”
“Yes. One ship a little larger than this one helped defend the island. The hard-liners in the Chinese government wanted to distract the population from the economic failures of late,” Lux said.
Anna said, “Taiwan must have hacked their software through the BeiDou GPS system. You must pass over those groups of items so those soldiers can be rescued before they die of thirst, starvation, and exposure. I will try to analyze where they were all sent.”
“I’m sorry,” Grace Tobin finally turned to Lux. She had thought Captain Joynt was the one in charge of this ‘group’, but the young man seemed to be the leader. “Who are you? Why are you even involved with all this?”
“My name is Lux Blakely. I designed this technology, this ship, we’re riding in. I have an Aerospace Engineering Degree from the Georgia Institute of Technology and am currently in the doctorate AeroAstro Program at MIT. The two young ladies were kidnapped in an effort to force me to work for them. They had a team attack me in the States. They attacked Lummi because Lummi works for me and Prissy Hunnicutt, the kidnapped girl being held in the Chinese Embassy by Colonel Qiu. The use of Zombie drugs on the Rugby Team was just an unrelated trial method the Chinese were going to use in the future and decided now was a good time.”
“My god, Harvey. Did you get all that?” Grace said.
Harvey grunted affirmatively. He finally asked a question he wanted to be answered. “Where did the Chinese get those things that let them fly?’
“Also, one of my inventions was stolen by a US soldier who was killed to cover the theft by the Chinese. The Chinese copied the tech and mass-produced it but Taiwan must have been able to take over the devices and accurately place them on uninhabited islands in the South China Sea rather than kill them all. Those soldiers should be able to survive about three days. They may be able to construct small solar stills to make potable water. I’d hate to have 5,000 or more soldiers stuffed onto an island that is barely uncovered at high tide. We are now going to get some footage of those soldiers.”
“Right-O!” Grace said realizing this story would make her career.
Anna was monitoring the embassy with a drone and the small cameras she had left in place. She noticed that the attempts to contact the Chinese Foreign Services had increased dramatically in the last ten minutes. The ship approached Jarijima Island and it looked like roaches crawling over the surface. They saw it was PLA soldiers as they got closer. Many of them started yelling and waving their arms. Some pulled their rifles and fired at them as they were drifting higher. Anna fired a laser that boiled the sea just off the land and they stopped.
The other islands were the same. The soldiers made thousands of solar stills on the slightly larger island. There were ten islands where the thirty thousand soldiers were located. It would take five or six days to get them all rescued and they’d be in pretty sad shape in some cases. It only took an hour to visit them all and get recordings. They immediately flew back to the Chinese Embassy in Sydney.
Anna took over that attaché’s phone and captured photos of the kidnapped women. Anna had located the thermal images of where the girls were being held prisoner. Anna didn’t like Colonel Qiu’s attitude. Anna’s avatar chuckled and sent the photo and statement to everyone with a phone in Sydney, along with footage from Taiwan from the attempted invasion using the emergency alert system.
◆◆◆
 
Renegotiating the release of the two prisoners
Lux called Colonel Qiu again. The man hardly let the phone ring before he connected. “I will carve your women to pieces if you don’t turn yourself in and work for us.”
“I recommend you don’t force me to do something rash. I obtained the coordinates where all your 30,000 PLA soldiers are located on the uninhabited islands in the South China Sea. I will trade you that information if the girls are released unharmed and put outside your embassy doors. You can tell the Foreign Office that you traded that information for the release of the girls. You can be the savior of all those soldiers.”
The colonel disconnected.
Captain Joynt came up to him. “I need to send this information to my Headquarters in Swanbourne near Perth.”
“Go ahead and brief them. We know where they got the drugs and those emails are damning. That was an attack on our country. They thought they would get away with it. I got a video of the conditions on those islands. I would hate to have to stand in water at high tide while rubbing elbows with thousands. I’ll let you know what they say.”
Lux’s phone rang. Lux answered. “Yes.”
“They are outside the doors. Send me the coordinates.”
“As soon as we confirm they are outside the doors,” Lux said.
“They appear to be there,” Anna said.
“Captain Joynt. Would your people do the honors? Be careful. Ms. Tobin. Would you video this for us?”
The ship landed fifty meters from the embassy and the SAS soldiers positioned themselves in pairs behind any cover. A group of four ran forward and grabbed the girls who were just standing there. “We have them. Bringing them back.”
The captain signaled Lux a thumbs up and brought the girls back to the ship. Evelyn was having trouble running. Prissy looked fine and Lux relaxed his jaw and nodded to Anna. She sent the locations to the Embassy.
The soldiers brought the girls into the ship and Grace Tobin was there to video the reunion. Lux noticed Evelyn was wearing glasses and moving stiffly. As soon as she saw Lux, she screamed and tried to stab him. She was acting like an insane person and it took two soldiers to control her until her glasses got knocked off. Then she just stared straight ahead. The soldiers who had her said they needed her taken to the same Psychiatric Wing where the Rugby team survivors were taken - the Professor Bashir Centre.
Lux went up to hug Prissy and she slapped him hard. “Were you using me as bait? Is that why you gave me and my friends a ride? Do you know what those Chinese agents did to Evelyn? They gave her these drugs and put those VR glasses on her. They were going to do that to me. How could you?” she shouted. She went over to hold Evelyn’s hand.
Lux didn’t know what to say.
The sergeant from the SAS came over to him. “We’ll assign soldiers to stay with her the whole time she’s here. If you could ferry some of us back to Perth, it might help. We’re going to need more here to contain what’s going to happen here when the public knows what happened. The SAS has resources here. I’ve got some cars meeting us. We have accommodations and support. My lads will explain over the next couple of weeks but your friend Evelyn is always going to be messed up on this stuff. Those ‘bath salt’ cases leave them permanently twerked.”
They dropped the girls off at the Psychiatric wing of the hospital. Anna contacted the Langham and sent compensation packages to the injured security team. Anna negotiated with some others to act as an outer perimeter for the two boys and Prissy when she would come back to the hotel. They dropped Grace Tobin and Harvey at the ABC studio.
Rodney came over and patted him on the shoulder. He was nauseous from the stress and lack of food. “Let’s go to the galley and get something to eat. That will help.”
Lux and a patrol of soldiers went back to Perth. The base commander, General Smythe, had Lux give him a blow-by-blow, and he seemed impressed. He assigned three more teams and Lux brought the new groups back to Sydney. They had rows of cars and trucks waiting for the soldiers when they got back.
Grace gave Captain Joynt a non-platonic hug and a business card with a wink. An ABC representative vehicle was waiting for the reporter and his cameraman. Lux knew it wouldn’t be long before the video of their ship, the Chinese soldiers, and the kidnapping would be on international news programs.
◆◆◆
 
Airing the Aftermath
It took two days of interviews with the military and police hierarchy about the Chinese kidnapping and turning over evidence of the photos and original text messages that had been intercepted by Anna. There was outrage from the citizenry about the Rugby players. Two had died and eleven had ongoing treatment. The Australian Prime Minister and Foreign Minister compiled a list of Chinese officials in Sydney and two other consulates to immediately expel. Twenty-five Chinese officials were listed as ‘persona non grata’ and were forcibly expelled within two days of the announcement. Grace Tobin had agreed to wait a day before airing the segment of the Chinese embassy’s involvement in the attack.
Lux and his team watched Grace’s Special Report of Breaking News. It was also on every streaming platform on the Net. It had gone viral with hundreds of millions – and then more than a billion views. The program started explaining the multiple attacks on the concert. The program showed video clips of the SAS regiment's takedown of the Russian mafia when they tried to kidnap Lummi. Her program pieced together the attacks by the hometown Rugby Team and how the Chinese Embassy had supplied the altered Zombie drugs with advanced Virtual Reality glasses to addict and control the players. The program showed highlights of the translated secret messages of their plan and who supplied the drugs. The NSW State Police also arrested several shipping agents who had no diplomatic immunity.
Grace’s Program then took a turn that had his bodyguards rolling their eyes and Lux was blushing. It started with his ship landing outside the Rugby player’s house and the police and reporter running up to him. Then it showed a caption – Who is Lux Blakely - What is his role in all this? Then the video went to Lux’s video aboard the ship he blushed thoroughly while watching himself as he discussed his degree from Georgia Tech and being in the Ph.D. program at MIT.
There was some commentary by Grace added here about the ships and tech Lux had invented. The video then gave an overview of the Chinese invasion of Taiwan with news clips from Taiwan, captured video from Chinese soldiers’ contraband phones, and finally – the crowded islands with the hordes of Chinese Special Forces soldiers stranded on the little islands of the South China Sea.
The video then went on to show the negotiation and evidence showing the kidnapped girls and the conversations between Lux and Colonel Qiu. It showed Lux’s torment and relief when the girls were reported safe. There was a closeup of Lux’s face when he found out about Evelyn’s drugged state and Prissy slapping him.
Lux was bereft. He had been crushed when Prissy had slapped him and seeing it again made him relive the moment all over again. Then Tobin’s story showed that Lux and Prissy Hunnicutt controlled the Lummi concert. The Lummi concert personnel had been able to move to Park Arena (Auckland City Arena) in New Zealand as the last venue in this area of the world. The Police coverage was huge there.
◆◆◆
 
Uncomfortable Trip back to the States
Lux got some comrade sendoffs from the SAS soldiers. He told them to let him know if they were ever in the States and said he had jobs for them if they could get work permits in the States. Lux planned to ferry David and Jerrold back to the States and Prissy showed up with them unexpectedly.
“I thought you were going to stay with her. I’d give you a ride back anytime you want,” Lux said.
“I don’t want to have anything to do with you,” Prissy said vehemently. “You purposely set us up as targets.”
Lux was horrified. “No. I had no idea. I found out about a plot to kidnap Lummi when I got here. I didn’t know anything about…
“I don’t believe you,” Prissy said, cutting him off. “They said Evelyn might be catatonic forever,” she said and started crying. “Just take us back,” she said between sobs and David came over and held her as she cried.
Lux just wanted to comfort her. Had he set her up? He didn’t think he did. He turned back and let Polly Maynard fly them back to Atlanta. The thirty-minute flight felt very uncomfortable with Prissy in with David. They landed the ship in the Russ Chandler Stadium field just north of the Phi Mu Sorority House. Lux and Polly thought it would provide Prissy with more solace. Sue White accompanied the young men and woman. Sue could open the locks and let them out of the gated field. Sue called the campus police to meet behind the sorority house and they carried her to the campus Georgia Tech Police Department on Hemphill Avenue.
Sue White identified herself, showed her ID with her permits, and spoke with the Police Lieutenant about the students who were kidnapped in Australia and would be super sensitive right now. She explained what had happened in great detail about Lux Blakely. She explained how Evelyn Hobbs was still in treatment in Australia and Prissy Hunnicutt was a computer science senior, and a millionaire, and they would need to concentrate on her sorority house, her dorm, and her classes. Sue left her schedule with them and explained that Lux Blakely was giving the Provost a deposit of $250,000 for the police department to pay for any overtime or equipment needs for their people. She explained that Lux was also an alumnus of the university if there were any questions.
◆◆◆
 
Back to his old stomping grounds
Lux still had a lease on the apartments here in Atlanta but had issues with storing his ship here since his lab didn’t have a large enough space to store it. He quirked a smile when he thought about the issue for a second. He turned to his remaining three bodyguards. “Y’all have clothes and stuff still down here in your old apartments, don’t you? I know you have clothes and stuff in Arizona.”
“You want to go back to Arizona daily?” Polly asked.
“No. Put this on the roof over our apartments. With the current power system, we could leave it running for ten years with no problem. It would be more secure and we would have near instant access to the ship and Anna. We’d have it float just off the surface, in the section with no heat pumps, so there would be no weight on the structure.”
“Good idea, boss,” Polly said and directed the ship to set down just off the top of the Alexan on 8th apartments.
“Y’all go on and shower. I’ll be down in a minute. I just need to get my head right,” Lux said.
His bodyguards slapped him on the shoulder and left. Polly turned around. “I hate to see you all messed up. You did everything you could. She’ll come around. I hate what they did to Evelyn and that Rugby Team but some people do things for their country without thinking about what they are really doing. You limited what would have happened without you. See you later boss. A hot shower will do you wonders.” She turned and left him on the ship.
Lux turned to the monitor. “Anna. Have the soldiers been rescued yet?”
“The PLA commander on Woody Island sent planes and confirmed the locations of the soldiers on your list. That took two days to get them to even check. There is a major push to get shipping to those areas. They don’t have the air resources to move many but the ships are on their way,” Anna’s avatar said and she canted her image’s head. “You are thinking about my suggestions, aren’t you? You are wishing you had squished them all, aren’t you?”
“No. That would kill those soldiers. They are not the problem – those soldiers were the symptom of a deranged leadership that is so set on power,” Lux said. “It’s a saying that Herbert Hoover paraphrased in 1944 from generations of previous world leaders: old men start the wars, young men have to fight. Have all those soldiers removed their lifters? I want to solve the problem; not the symptoms.”
“Ah,” Anna said. “I have located all the People’s Republic of China (PRC) Committee members that were involved. The attack on Taiwan goes all the way to the top – ‘all were hard-liners’ working hand-in-hand with the 2nd Department working with the Intelligence Bureau of the Joint Staff Department. They have also copied the plans for a ship similar to the Skunk Works ‘Beast’. That’s the first ship that fought off the first Taiwan invasion while on a test run. The Chinese have amazing manufacturing capacity since they can commandeer any production facilities they need.”
“If they copied the ‘Beast’; this ship couldn’t outfight that one.”
“They did not get the outside composition correct, so they will not have the inertialess flight. They did use a radioisotope thermoelectric generator for power, which has a longer service life than the Beast’s power supply but is much inferior to ours. I have control of it and it is currently unoccupied outside an assembly building.”
“Use the copied ship to destroy the hard-liners, if you can… away from the rest of the Politburo. Use the individual lifters as kinetic artillery. A light mass flying really fast. Destroy all the lifters, but make sure some can be identified as being of Chinese manufacture. Most should travel at Mach 10. At that velocity - they would be melting and crashing into locations of plotters for the Taiwan invasion, the Indian border attacks, and especially Colonel Qiu from Australia and the Russian mafia. I’m exhausted. I’m going to sleep. Don’t kill our species.”
“I will make a special video talk to be released afterward. I see surviving hard liners as being as much of a problem and have a way to stop it. See me after sleep. You look worn out,” Anna said.




Chapter 13



Zhongnanhai - State Council General Office of CPC Central Committee

Xicheng District, Beijing, China
The Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (CPC) was having an emergency meeting in the State Council Hall next to the Regent Palace. The Premier had recently been reelected for his fourth term. He had promised to ‘unify’ Taiwan with the mainland in his last term and failed to do so. He wanted those 24 million people under his control. Mainly he wanted their manufacturing prowess and to cut their ties with the West. He had eliminated all the ‘doves’ from the Central Committee. He knew he could distract the population from their economic and by pounding the drum for…
The purloined copy of the ‘Beast’ approached the State Council Hall from the northeast at Mach five so it wouldn’t burn up in the atmosphere. It flew at treetop levels and the sonic booms blew out windows from Shenyang Aircraft Corporation in Liaoning to the Regent Palace. It hit the State Council Hall at Mach 20 at an angle and it left a two-kilometer scar. The vehicle, the State Council Hall, and the hard-liners of the Chinese Communist Party disappeared. 
Simultaneously with the impact – a video was released through the Fuxing Road Studio (in Beijing) that releases videos of political, economic, and diplomatic issues pertaining to the Communist Party Leadership. The same video was released through the State Twitter account of Xinhua, a state-run news agency, plus transcripts and videos appeared on the official Website of the Communist Party. The video showed the General Secretary solemnly addressing his nation and the world. “I have come to the realization that forcing people to do what I want is not efficient in the long term. I have removed the hard-liners from my party and am doing the same with others throughout my government. The People’s Republic of China (Zhōnghuá Rénmín Gònghéguó) drops all claims on our sister, The Republic of China – Taiwan. I plan to retire in obscurity for the few remaining years of my life.” The video ended and left many unanswered questions in its wake.
PLA Air Force General Chang Dingqiu had been charged with retaliating with China’s expanded nuclear and space arsenal if they were attacked. He saw the surprising video and decided to wait and see, as none of the nation’s infrastructure had been attacked. He didn’t know who to retaliate against anyway.
Colonel Qiu had just finished ‘entertaining’ his mistress when forty redirected lifters hit his house after she left. All of the members who had planned the kidnapping attempts and Zombie drug attacks were eliminated similarly. Leadership who had promoted the Xinjiang internment camps of one million Uyghurs disappeared also. The leadership vacuum would not last long but the leadership that survives would be different – not necessarily better – just different.
◆◆◆
 
A Different Reality in the World
Lux woke up feeling better until he turned on his news and streaming apps. He saw the reports on how many soldiers on both sides had been killed over Taiwan. Hundreds of PLA soldiers and many Taiwanese defense soldiers had died. Handfuls of civilians had died when crashing PLA fighter jets ran into helpless PLA soldiers held in place with Anna’s control of the lifters. The news reported that most of the stranded soldiers on the uninhabited islands had been rescued but some had turned their guns on themselves or their colleagues to get their food or supplies.
Then Lux saw the scattered reports from mainland China that had leaked out. Thousands dead from riots and reports of civil unrest where the Uyghurs were released. There was very little loss of life in Xinjiang at the internment camps. There was more unrest where internal security had suppressed the population. Civilians protested and some rejoiced. The Australian government was jubilant that the expelled attaches and embassy personnel who had instigated the Zombie drugs and kidnapping had all perished overnight.
Lux watched the news and cried. He felt he had caused much of the trouble with his inventions. The world seemed lonely and he felt like he didn’t have anyone to talk to. He called his dad.
“Hey dad,” he said when his father connected. “Do you mind if I come to see you?”
“Did you have something to do with this in China?” his father asked.
“Yep, mainly me – one way or another,” he said.
“How about that attempted kidnapping of Lummi in Australia that everyone is talking about and the drug-crazed Rugby Team that got those Chinese diplomats expelled?” his dad asked.
“Those men are now dead as are most of hard-liners of the government,” Lux said trying to get the words out.
“Those Uyghurs too?”
“Yep. Anna and me,” Lux said.
“You made that video, didn’t you?” his father said laughing. “I knew something was off about that video. I thought he had gotten cancer or something and came around because he was dying,” his father’s laughter cut off. “Don’t you second guess yourself? That’s what other people do for you. I’m very proud of you son. I’m even proud of those damn DeepFake videos you and Prissy made. Don’t kick yourself.”
“Prissy hates me. She thinks I used her as bait or something. I didn’t know anything was going to happen ‘til Anna caught a sniff of some plans the Chinese let slip. I don’t know how they found Prissy was in Australia unless they had a trigger setup with worldwide airline reservations.”
“That’s probably what happened. Prissy is smart, isn’t she?” his dad asked.
“Of course, she is,” Lux replied.
“She will figure it out. I heard about that Evelyn girl. I’m sorry about her but a lot more people would have been injured or killed if you hadn’t been involved.”
“I don’t know dad. We moved 30,000 soldiers to little deserted islands after they attacked Taiwan and India. Some of them killed themselves and other soldiers before they were all rescued. I traded their location to get them to free the girls from the Chinese embassy,” Lux said.
“That part didn’t make the news here. They did show the soldiers on the islands but it looked like a botched Chinese takeover of more land the way they spun it here. I must watch the wrong news channel. That’s even better than I thought. You didn’t kill them all,” his father said. “Anna would have, wouldn’t she?”
“I hate it when people are injured or killed because of me,” Lux said, feeling a bit better just by talking about it.
“That’s good, son. When you don’t care when people are hurt or killed is when you need to watch out. I was sort of getting that way with the hypersonic missiles I was designing until you got involved. Now I realize they are deadly weapons and I put in more safeguards against misuse.”
“Can’t the government use them any way they want?”
“I made them smarter and harder to use against civilians. It makes them a tiny bit harder to use but I think the benefits outweigh the risks,” his father said. “Get some rest. I know you’re exhausted. Stress wears us down. Get back to the research. That will help keep you distracted. Prissy will come around or she won’t. You can’t make her. Just be her friend when she needs you. She will.”
“Thanks, dad. Talking to you makes me feel better. I’ll get back into school. I can’t believe all this happened over the break. I might be behind an assignment or two. I bet I can step right back into it.”
"Good luck with that, son. You will find your perspective changing as you experience more and more. It’s why people my age are often cynical and older people are resigned to the foibles of government. Night, son. Love you,” his father said and disconnected.
Lux sat there for a moment just staring at the wall and went to bed. He felt he might be able to sleep now.
◆◆◆
 
CIA Headquarters – Office of Ingrid – Langley, Virginia
Taylor knocked on the open door at Ingrid’s office. “Come!” Ingrid said while staring at her screen. She saw who it was and instantly knew what he was disturbed about. “You saw the synopsis from Taiwan. Tens of thousands of copies of those ‘lifter’ things. Heck. We just got the report from Fort Drum that ten had been stolen. Then that spaceship crashes into the Chinese State Council Hall that eliminates most of the hard-liners and heavy hitters who had been plotting the Taiwanese invasions.”
“Have you seen the report by Grace Tobin in Australia? They wouldn’t broadcast the whole thing on the ABC affiliate there because get this, ‘it’s too farfetched for an audience to believe.’ I found it on one of those commentator streaming sites. It’s our boy again. It’s an hour but you need to see this…good grief. I think he may have pulled our fat out of the fire but the way he did it makes me very leery. I can see why the Chinese keep trying to get him…never mind…you watch. I’ll wait here.”
Ingrid pulled up the link. She watched and had gasps at part of the video. How did he do that? she thought. She sat there with her mouth open when it was finished.
“He worked with the SAS in Australia. Russian mafia working with the Chinese. Those conditioning drugs combined with VR. We need to find out about that. Get someone researching that since it seems fairly dependable. How did they steal plans from Skunk Works? They got the plans for the ship that fought off the first Taiwanese invasion. That didn’t have a thing to do with Blakely, did it?”
“Well, he did design that ship,” Taylor said with a deadpan expression and then raised his eyebrows.
“What kind of ship was Blakely in during the video? How did all those PLA soldiers end up on islands in the South China Sea? Is there a weak link in our software that makes our equipment vulnerable? How did the Taiwanese government control all those lifters and that ship?” Ingrid had a lot of questions. “Let’s call our guys at NSA. They throw us a bone from time to time.”

◆◆◆
 
NSA Fort Meade Headquarters – Office of Tom Arnold
Tom Arnold got the call on the encrypted line and beeped Fredrik when he saw who it was.
“Hi, Ingrid. How are you? Suppose you’ve seen the news from Taiwan. Yes, we just saw the Grace Tobin piece. That had a lot of meat in it, didn’t it? No, we don’t know how the Taiwanese got control of those lifters or that ship. Did you see the video report by the premier? It was released from the right sources at the appropriate time to be legit but it doesn’t match our psych profile. It looks legit right now though. I’ll share what I can when I can on this one. Thanks for the heads up.” Tom turned to Fredrik. “Have you seen it?”
“Looking at it now,” Fredrik said with eyes wide.
Fredrik turned to Tom when he finished reviewing Tobin’s story. “I think there’s a lot more to Lux Blakely than meets the eye.”
“How so? I agree with you but why?” Tom said.
“Lux Blakely does DeepFakes but Lummi is more than a DeepFake. We have the conversations and the French café incident, the mall incident, and the Studio West incident. Those suits with grounding straps. This Chinese Premier video could be a DeepFake. He can’t contradict it if he’s dead. He destroyed his base of support if he’s alive. Blakely can hack things we can’t touch. Is he too dangerous for us to control?” Fredrik posited.
“I don’t think we have a chance at controlling him but maybe we ought to try to enlist his aid. He’s been supportive of the US these last few years, even though his tech is destabilizing. I think we ought to try to get him to work with us. He could go places we couldn’t get to with his ship,” Tom said.
“I don’t think Blakely is going to stick around long. Those ships of his fly in space as easily as through the air. The nations of Earth are going to try to control the solar system. I don’t see him going for that.
◆◆◆
 
Return to MIT Research and Grad Classes
Lux was sitting in Fundamentals of Advanced Energy Conversion class and the professor was doing his best to interject political views into the class. Lux sighed and resigned himself to the fact that this was the price he’d have to pay to get a Ph.D. Lux felt it was a kind of Union Card to be listened to – by others. Oops. The professor caught his glazed eyes. He couldn’t zone out as he could in a larger class.
“Yes sir. What was your question again? I zoned out for a second,” Lux said.
“I asked you how you felt about radioactive thermoelectric generators compared to solar and energy storage designs,” Professor Ghoniem said.
“I have used supercapacitors successfully but don’t use solar due to the large surface area needed and it restricts movement in the atmosphere and close contact in space. Others have recently tried RTG devices. They are great for long-term, low power but I have needed more power,” Lux said.
“When you say ‘more power’ – how much are you referring to? We should use precise terms, not a lot or more,” the professor stated.
“You are correct, professor. Sorry. My older vehicle has supercapacitor and lithium-sulfur battery storage to provide about 75 kilowatts – about enough to power three modest homes. My current ship can provide 60 megawatts of electricity for a decade between fuel changes. It is the size of a large steamer trunk,” Lux said truthfully because he wasn’t going to downplay his role anymore to assuage the feelings of his professors.
“What kind of power supply is that supposed to be? Some fictional one?” the professor said. “I was told about you, Mister Blakely.”
“Good. Then you know I don’t like posturing in the classroom. I use a traveling wave reactor that uses thorium as a starter.”
“…And this reactor exists? Why don’t I know about it?” the professor asked, jerking like he had been slapped.
“I suppose you don’t because you don’t keep up with the latest research,” Lux said feeling snappish.
“Why do you need that much power?” the professor asked the first thing that came to mind.
“Actually, powering the ship’s flight in the atmosphere and in orbit takes very little power. The large power needs are for the railguns and 20 MW for the lasers.”
“Those are weapons. What in the world would you be doing with weapons like those?” the professor asked, appalled at the thought of the lies. He didn’t quite believe it – but if he did – he didn’t approve of it.”
The professor shook his head. “Then you don’t like solar or geothermal?”
“Professor. I didn’t say that. I have a 100 KW solar farm and get my fresh water, 400 gallons a day, from collectors at my property in Paulden, Arizona. I recycle my gray water and use geothermal for heating and cooling. I could take the class there and tour sometime during a class if you like. I could take the class there and back, tour for an hour, and come back and discuss it. It is only ten minutes or so for me and my staff. I come up from Atlanta daily unless I’m staying over.”
“You are either the biggest liar in history or have a psychological problem,” the teacher proclaimed.
“My ship is hovering over the roof of this building. I have another course after this one or I’d show it to you. I can have one of my bodyguards take you and show you around if you’d like.”
The class ended a few minutes later and Lux asked Robert to take Professor Ghoniem up and show him around the ship if he would. The professor was shocked when Robert introduced himself as one of Lux’s bodyguards and he was available to let the professor tour his ship.
Astrodynamics at MIT was a totally different class. It was taught by Professor Richard Battin. People who liked mathematics liked the course. Lux loved it because he could forget the world and deal with Barker’s equation, or Kepler’s, or Euler angles – fun stuff. If you liked math. Lux loved the presentation of Lambert’s theorem and how it fits in with Lagrange’s time equation. Lux could get into the three-body problem and Clohessy-Wiltshire equations of relative motion. He could relate the math to flying between planets or orbiting another celestial body. It was intellectual fun for him and he got to explain examples of his space flights which some believed were fanciful instead of actual. It was still fun.
He had two more courses (one more than the normal load of three graduate courses a semester).
He had Electromagnetic Theory I and Rocket Propulsion. He thought they were good reviews. The math was more in-depth than the undergraduate course but that had not been very long ago for Lux since he had studied a lot of that back in his year of high school. Rocket propulsion was a necessary evil – like getting a vaccine that you need but makes you a little sick. Yep – he thought…that was a good analogy for rocket propulsion class. The nuclear propulsion and electric propulsion Plasma transport and Diagnostics were interesting and there were tidbits in every class that would spur new ideas.
Lux felt hollow after finishing up a year of doing assignments and studying. It was definitely more demanding than Georgia Tech and the instructors treated their students like this class was the most important course on the campus (or the world). Other classes interfering? Nonsense. Do the work. You may need sleep but you won’t get it.
The director of the Space Propulsion Laboratory at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Professor Paulo Lozano, kept pushing Lux into research. Lux had turned into a gangly teenager and had several months of relative obscurity. He had dated Lakshmi but the relationship seemed little more than hormone-churning. Pleasant and stirring with every new thing he learned but she wasn’t Prissy. He would be with Lakshmi and wish he was with Prissy…not good. Lakshmi was really smart but they just became good friends and little more. He appreciated her insights.
◆◆◆
 
The Breakthrough
Lux was examining the graphite material with nanoparticles of bismuth they had used from the company near Knoxville. All their material had been slightly contaminated but he noted linear, rodlike structures that grew along the basal plane of the graphite. Why would crystals form like that?
Could that be causing anything contained in the magnetic field to…what? He got Lakshmi to look at it.
“What do you think? Does that crystalline growth cause the effect when a magnetic field is applied?
What is it doing?” he asked her.
“Let’s look at under impact,” Lakshmi said. Lux got out one of his bodyguards’ handguns. He and Lakshmi set up the ultra-fast video with the help of Professor Ramesh Raskar. He had access to a camera that could take thousands of sensors triggered a trillionth of a second apart when lit by a titanium-sapphire laser. Lux watched the impact of the energized field and there was a flash of energy but that was it. The moment the bullet impinged on the edge of the field – there was a flash. Lux changed the multiplexors in his magnetic camera to trigger a trillionth of a second apart. Since he had a much denser array of sensors – he could produce more of an image and not have it repeat to make a movie. It took a month even with Anna’s help to get any image at all. It took Anna several days of computing to determine what they were seeing. The result was staggering.
“Do it,” Lux ordered and Robert fired his gun at the shield and mag camera setup. Robert hated firing a gun near his boss but he had faith the shield would stop it. Having faith wasn’t the same as not being worried.
Lakshmi and Lux were watching the monitor as the bullet touched the field area. Lakshmi jerked back. “What the heck was that!” she yelled.
“What happened?” Robert asked.
“Let me replay that,” Lux said and he replayed it three or four times. “I think I know what it was.”
Lakshmi elbowed Lux. “Don’t keep me guessing. Tell me.”
“I think we saw the macro effect where the energy of the moving object dumped all its energy into the field. It looked like it sprayed the energy like a burst of lightning into a cavern or like a bucket of water into a huge hole. Now we know there is a transfer of something into something,” Lux said.
“That just gives me more questions,” Lakshmi said.
“This is so cool. I saw that crystalline structure on the graphite. I wonder if there is a resonance effect that has something to do with it,” Lux said.
“Spouting mumbo jumbo terms now? I do applied physics. This doesn’t fit in with what I know,” she said.
Lux laughed. “Today’s physics is yesterday’s theology. My convoluted math says string theory or dark matter or other crappy theories don’t pan out. I think this all has to do with the nature of gravity. They are close but they'll never get it with current perspectives. I can take stacks of papers on gravity and build a house out of them. I think I need the equivalent of a scanning electron microscope but for viewing magnetic fields.”
Lakshmi said, “I’m going to see what I can get out of this system before I do something else. You’re on your own. I can get a journal paper out of this one.”
“With my name as the primary author,” Lux said. “I appreciate your help on this, but it was my work that made any of this possible. I don’t mind sharing credit with you but I’ve been through this before at Georgia Tech and I’m not doing that. Go ahead and write a draft but realize I made any of this possible.”
“You’re going to be that way. You are jealous of my work. This is just the male coming out,” she said.
“I have appreciated your help as I appreciate Robert shooting projectiles but do some original work. Derive the math for this phenomenon. Replicate it with another type of shield. Expand what I’ve done and you will be the primary author,” Lux said.
Lakshmi sniffed and walked off in a huff.
Lux had Anna order the tiniest hall effect sensors made and had them sent to the company that had made his first camera arrays with a new design. He wondered what their costs would be but he knew the company that made the cameras on his patent licenses was making a fortune. He thought they’d be reasonable.
Anna sent the company the new design they derived and Lux got a text immediately where they wanted to talk.
“Hi, Mister Blakely. This is Kevin with MetroLab.com. We made those magnetic field cameras. This looks like a whole new deal. Can we get the patent licenses for these as we did for the first ones? We can make these at cost if we can. I’m not sure how these are going to be used. You’re looking at some tiny aspect of something. You know you’ll have to change your multiplexors, don’t you? We can do it.”
“How soon? Yes, something tiny. I do understand the multiplexors. I will give you ‘first dibs’ on the licenses.”
There was a long pause as they heard Keith turning around and talking to other people. “We can have it to you next week for $190,000.”
“Sounds good. I’ll wire you half today and a half on receipt and compliance check,” Lux said and saw that Anna had sent MetroLab.com a wire for $95,000.
The week went by with writing about the phenomenon with the first magnetic camera showing the impact transfer of force to the ‘field’. Lakshmi was busily trying to equate the kinetic energy transfer with the absorption of the field. She didn’t know the capabilities of the field or even what the ‘field’ was. That was a huge roadblock.
The new camera array arrived a day after the altered multiplexors. Lux was tweaking the software and Professor Lozano started ‘hanging around’ the lab. Lux had a setup that looked like a mad scientist had thrown it together. The new ‘camera’ array was set to examine this tiny area of the shield from the inside. He didn’t want to destroy his camera by being exposed to the field. He wanted to see the difference between the crystalline structure with the field off and when it was on.
Lux had Robert line up the gun again and made sure he was ready. He started the camera recording but it could only store the tremendous amount of data for three seconds. The field turned on and when it was confirmed ‘on’ – the gun fired. The bullet dropped on the floor. Lux had Anna run through the data and ‘she’ singled out a section of months of data when played at the normal speed. Lux’s mouth fell open, hours later when he played the singled-out ‘selected data’ showing the transition to the ‘on’ state. The magnetic fields formed a ‘crust’ of joined, magnetic, super complex dodecahedrons – Icosahedrons. The magnetic fields of polygons were translucent in the video – they ‘were the field’.
His next experiment was to test at the impact side of the field. He had the shield set to ‘on’ and set the thickness of the field so no field extended beyond the surface. The camera’s focus with new magnetic array was set up just a centimeter away from the impact area. The gun was held in a specially made Ransom rest to align and fire the gun. The gun was 1.5 meters away from the shield. The shield was turned off.
Lux set the firing solenoid to turn the camera on as the field turned on again. Again, the gun fired and the bullet was stopped by the shield. The ultra-fast three seconds of recording would have taken months to inspect in human time but Anna could analyze it in hours. Lux played the recording and saw the ‘field’ of magnetic structure formation. Then the bullet touched the ‘edge of the polygons’ and there was a flow of ‘something’ into them as they briefly flared.
Lux was angry because he wasn’t getting what he expected and he hadn’t eaten anything for hours. He was so tired his eyes were practically bleeding. He placed a steel rod, so the tip would be ‘in’ the field when it came on. He started another 3-second run and the portion of the rod in the field dissolved in real-time. When he had Anna analyze the recording, she finished the analysis in an hour this time. When he played it back, he saw the ‘polygon’ form and the portion of the rod just dissolve into the void. He thought he could have a great molecular disintegrator ray if he could ever project the void.
He went back to sleep aboard his ship. He woke up feeling like warmed-over toast. He stretched and ate a bite in the galley and went down to his MIT lab. He missed working out this week but he had an inkling of an idea. Maybe the icosahedrons served as a barrier to matter but acted like a filter to let Planck energy 1.855 x 1019
YottaHertz frequencies through with a wavelength of 1.61623 x 10-17
attometers
or higher. Lux set the shield below a sensitive scale and put a five-kilogram weight on the scale. He turned on the shield and noticed a very slight drop in the registered weight on the scale.
He sat back and thought for a bit before he placed the shield directly above the scale and turned the shield on again. The registered weight on the scale changed to 4.9 kilograms. That would only be a 1.3-kilogram difference for my 66 kilograms; I probably wouldn’t even feel the difference, but it had changed the weight. Was it because it blocked – gravity. What was gravity? Why was there more change above than below? Oh! Gravity was a push, instead of a pull. No wonder scientists had been wrong about one of those ‘everybody knows’ ideas.
Lux ordered some more graphite sheets from the company in Tennessee and asked them to contaminate it with different diamagnetic elements. He asked for silver and ammonia to be added. It was shooting in the dark. He felt like Edison who had his assistants test thousands of different plant materials before they found a filament that would glow hot enough to produce light. He had Anna order additional hybrid materials to test and let Lakshmi and Professor Lozano know.
Professor Lozano insisted that there was something wrong with Lux’s setup that caused the results. Lux repeated the test and got the same result. He got one of his larger shields and set it beneath the digital and mechanical scales. He also got a fifty (50kg) kilogram (110 lb.) weight to test. With the shield placed under the weight the 50 kg weight displayed 50.1 kg even though the scales had been zeroed before the shield was switched on. Lux put the large shield above the scales and retested even though Lozano said the scales must have been affected by the magnets and that was why the scales were off. The larger shield turned on and the scales both displayed the same reading – thirty-five kilograms. Since one scale was electronic using strain gauges and the other purely mechanical, it must be a lessened gravitational aspect. Lozano had to agree since the results could be replicated.




Chapter 14

Enhancing the Research Results
Professor Lozano sat in the lab with Lakshmi and Lux and discussed how they would handle publicity about these experiments. “If you show we can block matter and drain the inertial effects of kinetic energy, you will create a firestorm. The militaries know you can, but the US military would frown on us releasing the secret to the general population since the effect can be duplicated fairly easily. Letting people know their accepted physics is – to say it crudely – ass backward would be imprudent. Do you two agree?”
“I too think we need to develop it further before we release anything on it. I want Lakshmi to get the credit for developing the math on it,” Lux said. “I want students in the future to learn how to spell her name for exams,” he said with a grin. Lakshmi punched his shoulder.
“Lux why did you consider gravity a push, rather than a pull? All the current literature says it’s the ‘pull’ of gravity?” Lozano asked.
“Newton said he didn’t think a pull would work but said he didn’t know one way or another,” Lux explained. “If there are pervasive standing waveforms as background radiation – it has to be a push. Let me explain. Think of this radiation pushing on the Earth and the moon. The Earth would block (attenuate) a cone of an area with the Earth’s mass toward the moon. The moon, at a quarter the diameter of the Earth, would block a smaller cone of this radiation in the direction of the Earth. Masses would be pushed toward each other – gravitational ‘attraction’. It would also explain the high tides on the opposite side of the Earth a heck of a lot better than that sophistry explanation they pander to in school.”
“But everyone knows gravity is a pull,” Lakshmi said.
“My grandfather was in the third grade when he told a teacher that he thought the continents looked like they had fitted together at one time and the teacher said he was ‘silly’. That was in the early 1950s. Alfred Wegener proposed ‘continental drift’ in 1915 but it wasn’t until 1957 when Jason Morgan proposed plate tectonics that it was beginning to get accepted. Let’s say you had made a plate that would block gravity and you stood on it. Would you weigh less?”
“You’re saying that hypothetical plate would block some of the radiation that passed through the Earth but the radiation from the sides and top would be unchanged. I guess you’d weigh a little more,” Lakshmi said.
“If you put that hypothetical shield above your head, it would block more radiation pushing down so you would weigh much less,” Lakshmi said. “You would still have some radiation pushing up through the Earth.”
“Ta-da!” Lux said. “Exactly. Supermassive bodies would block more radiation. This is an attenuation effect. This is where the ‘missing mass of the solar system’ comes in. NASA thinks they found it with some tenuous math but it was just a theory that really wasn’t supported. At some point, the attenuation causes almost no radiation to pass through a large enough planet – missing mass – dark matter. It’s more of a perception issue because current scientists are hung up on old ideas, ‘they know are true’, in spite of evidence to the contrary. It becomes theology you can’t challenge.”
“But your theory would make gravity control really difficult,” she said.
“Not necessarily. Other scientists will bring in lots of other theories to challenge the push theory and that’s fine. If it fails – it fails. That’s why they call it a theory. When we show solid, supporting evidence – that is where your math will come in. I have some ideas now I think I can develop. We’ll see,” Lux said. Lux was accustomed to people not believing him even when the evidence was staring them in the face.
Lakshmi looked at him skeptically.
◆◆◆
 
Alone Time
Rodney, Robert, Polly, and Sue were surprised when Lux had them gather for a talk.
“I need to get away from everybody for a bit and the only place I have to work with some privacy is my Arizona property. I need to expand my lab there. There is room for my Pod, the Cirrus, and the new ship. Y’all think of a name for it,” Lux said.
“You could call it the Prissy,” Polly said with a twisted little smile.
“Oh yes. That would strike fear into our enemies,” he said with a laughing snort. “Prissy won’t have anything to do with me since she thinks I used her for ‘bait’ in Australia. Lakshmi is working on the math of my new research. I need your help getting a lot of the equipment I purchased here, and moved to Arizona. It will fit in the underground hangar. Last month, I had Anna contract to build a low-profile hangar that should be finished now. Let’s load up the ship – How about the Courier?”
“Huh,” Rodney said. “The Courier? What’s that?”
“The ship…name it the Courier. Non-threatening…deemphasizes the weaponry. What do y’all think?” Lux asked.
“Your thinking jumps around a lot,” Sue said. “Guys say that about girls.”
Lux laughed. “You know what they called the generation older than me?”
“What?” Sue said.
“The ‘permanently offended generation’ or the ‘pancake generation’.”
“The pancake generation?” Robert asked for clarification.
“They have a wide knowledge but that knowledge is only as deep as a pancake,” Lux explained. “I think it’s more like a crepe. Definitely not as deep as a pancake…about one media feed.”
“Let’s get moving,” Polly said. “What will they call your generation, Lux?”
“Social Media addicted generation, I suppose,” he said.
◆◆◆
 
Back to Paulden, Arizona – the Bunker
The ‘Courier’ landed in Paulden and they were met with Marie and Elan, Shelia and Ford coming out to see them. They all hugged but the four stepped aside so two others could come out. Douglas Trenton and Paulus Blakely came out.
“What are you doing here?” Lux said to his dad with tears in his eyes.
“I realized I hadn’t given you grief in a while and wanted you to know how proud I am of you. I wanted to apologize for the way I treated you over those DeepFake videos. We’ll talk later after you all have eaten. Marie was stuffing us with food waiting for you. A panicked Professor Lozano called Professor Trenton trying to find his student who had run off and cleared out his lab. You evidently ‘mentioned’ to Lakshmi Varma, that you were going to work on some ‘ideas.’ Douglas called me and we decided you needed me here.”
“I guess I need to call Professor Lozano and get him off the ceiling. I just had some ideas that could be dangerous in an urban lab.” The food smells coming out of the house distracted him. “Marie. Is there enough for us?” Lux asked Marie and indicating his crew.
“Of course. Come on in. There is plenty,” she said. That ended cogent discussions until that ravaging horde had fed.
After they ate, Elan came up to Lux. “I suppose you want to see your new bunker. It was just finished.”
“Bunker?” Lux said.
“What do you want to call an underground, camouflaged facility?” Elan said.
“I wanted a place to put my Courier ship, the Pod, and the Cirrus. I wanted it insulated with the earth with natural vegetation on top. Did they get the drainage and cabling as I wanted?” Lux asked.
Elan laughed. “The company you contracted to do the work builds top-secret bunkers for the military. They said you paid to get it done in a month and paid huge bonuses. They did a heck-of-a job. Let’s go look at it.”
“Mind if I tag along?” Paulus said. “I am just stopping by. Douglas said he’d run me home in the Pod and then come back. I wish I could stay but I’ve got to get back to work.”
“I wish you could stay but I understand having to work,” Lux said with a frown.
“You want to go in the big door or one of the covered side entrances?” elan asked.
“The big door,” Lux said as they walked toward the hill in the distance. When they got to forty meters from the end of the runway, Lux saw the front of the hill lifting up and a wan glow from the inside. There was a slight downgrade with drains to the sides and dirt-colored concrete leading into a huge bay. It smelled like curing concrete and sealer. The area was huge and could have housed the Beast-sized ship. The Courier would have plenty of room for company. There were bright LED lights all around and a strong ventilation system.”
“The floors, walls, and ceiling are all reinforced, insulated concrete. We have electricity with a new traveling wave reactor. We’d have electricity for ten years,” Lux said.
“How much did this cost? It must have cost a ton. Just the septic system alone would be expensive. Why would you make it seal as it does? They built it really fast and they said some of the designs were really easy to fit together. The contractors asked if NASA designed it,” Elan said.
“What was the weird gray fabric and copper wiring they coated the outside walls with last before they covered it up? That stuff felt weird. It felt like…I don’t know what it felt like. What was it?” Elan asked.
“I was just trying out some new graphite hybrids impregnated with different elements. I’m going to be storing the Courier and the Pod in here. We’ll use the original hangar for the Cirrus,” Lux said.
“Okay. The Cirrus and the Pod are here now. I helped ferry the Cirrus here and Trenton brought your dad in the Pod.”
“Great. After your meal settles, will you help my folks set up the equipment in the second hangar? Make sure everyone is armed for more than snakes.”
◆◆◆
 
Warm-up Projects
Professor Trenton walked over to Lux where he was watching one of his 3-D printers. “You making more of your shock knives? I thought a company makes them for you?”
“Those knives are for training. This is a more lethal variety,” Lux said. “You know how when the field comes on it can dissolve matter that is in the field? This has our special graphite material on the blade and I cycle the fields on and off at 1,000 cycles a second. The hard part is making the field flux on and off at a minuscule thickness. In a sense, it is a sharp edge that makes matter disappear as it forms. I intend to make a blade that cuts through any matter.”
Trenton’s eyebrows went up. “How would you carry it on your person? I sure wouldn’t want it to accidentally switch on.”
“I think in a sheath that disables the power source as long as it is in the sheath. It would be a fearsome weapon. I’d planned a timer if it left my hand and a biometric sensor when in my hand. I could throw it and it would only stay on until it hit a target before it switched off,” Lux said.
“What are these gray mats?” Trenton asked. “Why is that one held up on that frame?”
“Step on the scale under it and tell me what it says,” Lux said.
“I won’t get disintegrated, will I? That knife has me a little spooked.”
“Nope,” Lux said. “Wait. Am I in in your will?”
“No…not in it,” Douglas Trenton said with a smirk thinking about this quirky teenager.
“Then, no. It’s safe,” Lux said with a chuckle.
Trenton stepped on the scales. “Whoa. These aren’t right. I weigh right at 80 kilograms (176 pounds). This says I weigh 40 kilograms.”
“Oh. I’m sorry. Let me turn off that thing about your head,” Lux said and threw a switch.
“Whoa!” Trenton yelled. “Now it says I weigh eighty kilograms. That’s incredible. I feel heavy now.” 
“That’s the best I can do unless I cover more around the sides where the Planck frequency radiation is pushing down on you, I think,” Lux said.
“I know that’s not the case because…” Trenton said. Lux switched on the current again and the displayed weight went back to 40 kilograms. “Humm. Maybe something is happening.”
“Like when you first saw the thruster and couldn’t believe it worked?” Lux asked.
“It could be something else,” Trenton said.
“I totally agree but it’s looking like something is going on. We’ll need to do tests in space,” Lux said, “…but I want to get better weight cancellation first.”
◆◆◆
 
Cutting Up
Lux was in hangar two’s workshop and his additive manufacturing (3D printing) machines were ceaselessly making components in the background. He was taking the four-meter square sheets of treated carbon fiber sheets he used to make his shields. He had a stack of the ones that he knew worked and others with possible alternatives. He had paid a fortune to have these sheets fabricated but he was making fortunes a day as licensing fees came in from manufacturers and sales. His investments, through Anna, would have made him a wealthy man  even without the royalties. He still got millions, he shared with Prissy and Anna from the Lummi concerts.
He was taking a piece of the effective graphite with a magnetic mesh underlayment. He was going to try to make his new knife. He was doing this while thinking about how he could generate a field that would affect gravity. He had taken past noon to attach the fabric layers to the test circuit in a test frame. He was able to turn on a steady current and measure a field that was much too thick. When the knife was off – it was shaped similar to a Gerber Mark II non-serrated, with a 16.5 centimeters (6.5 inches) long blade. The blade felt sharp even turned off. The tang was larger than earlier inert blades because Lux didn’t want to lose fingers by touching the blade.
Marie came by bringing food. “Here you go sugar. You need to eat something or you’ll fade away. The guards said you’d come up for air when you got hungry enough. They said you come up with your biggest breakthroughs with these episodes.”
“I guess I was focused a bit and missed lunch. That smells delicious,” Lux said.
“You missed lunch for sure. This is dinner. I wasn’t going to let you miss two meals,” she said.
“Thanks, Marie. I’ll come back inside in a bit,” he said and smiled before he tucked into the food.
A few hours later he thought he had the field adjusted and switched it to pulse mode. He wasn’t sure how it would react when it touched different types of matter so he switched it on from a good distance. He approached the edge of the knife with a wooden rod. He tried to hit the side of the wooden rod against the blade but it lopped off the end of the rod. He felt no resistance. He tried it again and again at different points on the blade. It did the same. He then got a leftover piece of #19 (19 mm or ¾” diameter) steel rebar to test. The blade cut the heavy steel rod just like it did when cutting the light wooden rod. He switched off the circuit and decided he’d call it a night.
He was in a much better mood the next two days but they left him alone pretty much though his bodyguards were nearby watching or training in shooting, fighting, or regular fitness training.
Lux finally finished his testing and started making eight copies of the knives. He finished the copies of the knives and the 3D-printed nylon sheaths. He called Elan, Marie, and even Douglas plus his bodyguards on day three for the reveal.
The group was standing around hangar two. Lux was pretty excited.
“I finally got this knife where I want it. The circuit turns on when pulled out of its' sheath. It has a biometric fingerprint reader built into it. The first time you grip it, the sensor will register this as your weapon and vibrate. For five minutes after that, it will register other authorized users. Do not touch the blades but there are nine knives on the table. Place yourselves around the table where you are beside a knife. They are all the same.”
“Are these like your training knives?” Polly asked.
“No. These are deadly and dangerous. Do exactly as I tell you, please,” Lux said.
“You know how to kill a mood,” Sue said.
“Hold the sheath in your weak hand and handle of the knife with your strong hand. Pull the knife out of the sheath, like Trenton just did. Don’t jump ahead. You with feel a vibration. Then carefully reinsert it in the sheath. There is an RFID sensor that keeps it off close to the sheath. Good. Set the knife back on the table. Move to your right – one knife. Let’s do the same thing. Grasp the sheath in your weak hand, and draw out the knife ‘til you feel the vibration. Move to your right,” he instructed.
The group repeated it until they had done it nine times. “Now everyone - step back. Bodyguards. Grab a knife sheath in your strong hand and the handle in your weak hand. Draw it out ‘til you feel the vibration. This is your knife. Good. Re-sheath your knives. Everyone else come get a knife. These are your knives. There is an engraving tool to put initials or a way to identify your knife. We can do that in a minute. Now I’ll show you what these will do.”
Lux walked over to where there were sheets of the 2-centimeter-thick steel plate and pieces of rebar sticking up. There was a six-inch slab of concrete that Lux had Ford wrestle into place for him.
“Now, when you draw your blade from your sheath, you should feel the vibration. That means the blade is live until it gets close to your paired sheath. It is dangerous. Sue. Stand in front of the sheet of steel. Draw your blade. Did you feel the vibration?”
“Uh-huh,” she said.
“Stab the steel,” he said.
She looked at him like he was crazy but stabbed and her knife went straight through it like it was air. There was no resistance at all. “Oh my god!” she cried. She stabbed it a couple of more times. “How do I turn this bad boy off without lopping off my other hand?”
“Very carefully, place it back into the sheath. The RFID cuts it off,” he explained.
Sue placed her knife in the sheath with a grin. “That was great – but scary.”
Then Lux got Professor Trenton and his other three bodyguards to stand in front of an unsuspecting target. He had them try stabs and slashes. They gleefully inflicted trauma on the steel and concrete in front of them. They carefully sheathed their knives with big grins.
Elan and Marie were up next. Elan did well. Marie was obviously scared. She stabbed the steel plate, When she stabbed the steel, it surprised her. She screamed and dropped the knife. The knife disappeared into the hole it made in the floor.
Marie started crying and seemed totally shaken. Lux went over to her. He gave her a hug and held her at arm's length and smiled. “It scared the heck out of me too. It just startled you,” he said. “No biggie. It switches off in a second and a half.”
“But I made a hole in the floor,” she said with a sob.
“That’s cool. We’ll use the hole as a training aid – Don’t drop the knife,” Lux said with a grin. “Gun ranges often have random holes in the ground or walls…same deal. You got out of the way of it so we’re all good. I’ll get it back with a magnet and a cable in the morning. People in China don’t have to worry. It didn’t go too far.”
“I thought you’d be upset,” she said wiping away her tears. “I feel so embarrassed.”
Elan was right there giving her a hug, “Let’s go make one of your killer desserts. No one is going to be in bad mood after that.”
She nodded and they headed off. Lux put a strong magnet on a string and dropped it down the hole. “It went about ten meters. About what I thought it would do. We should have had bets going. Next one then.” Lux turned to his bodyguards. “I want y’all to be thinking of ways to intimidate and fight people. I’d hate to face someone with one. I want to try to learn to throw one too.
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX and Deep Space
Captain Demings had volunteered to fly the StarShip Magnetic. He had loved it up ‘til now. You could fly anywhere around the Earth and not worry about fuel. He had a radioactive thermoelectric generator (RTG) for power like on the Voyager space probes but more powerful. He wasn’t going to lose power anytime in the next few decades. He just didn’t really understand the propulsion system. He said he did, but he really didn’t. He had seen the Earth’s magnetic tail as it extended to the moon once a month. The mission planners had said they thought they would be fine.
Demings knew the SpaceX Starship had successfully landed on the moon a year ago but that was using conventional fuels and rockets. It had been successful in stock prices and publicity but had yet to reach breakeven on costs. The small station set up on the moon cost a fortune to resupply, even with the drone ships they had been using. This was the first time they had tried this magnetic propulsion system this far out. He was fine maneuvering though he had to set the thrusters at a much higher cycling rate in the tenuous field of the Earth’s magnetic tail. He was able to land and resupply the very appreciative crew of the base.
They had stayed a day longer than they should and the takeoff had the thrusters barely performing any thrust. Demings saw the swirl of magnetic fields in the Blakely camera. He headed for it and knew he’d get more thrust. He felt the thrust build as he approached the area. It would be easy to readjust his orbital path with more velocity. The thrusters sounded like they were a car on ice with spinning wheels that suddenly hit a dry spot with traction. The acceleration shoved him back into his seat. Demings wished he had the inertialess system like Blakely’s Pod. That was his last thought before he passed out. He awoke to a view of planets and stars. It took his navigator a couple of hours to place their current position and heading.
They were heading toward the asteroid belt and in months would reach the magnetic fields stretching out from Jupiter. The asteroids and Mars had no magnetic fields. The radiation would kill them before they could get to a strong enough magnetic field to recover. His mayday call was not his best moment but he tried to act calm and professional. He wasn’t entirely successful.
◆◆◆
 
SpaceX Calling
Chris Tripp didn’t feel like he should be the one to make the call but the CEO said he wasn’t going to ask for help. NASA had lots of ideas but none of them were practical. Tripp called.
“Hello. Lux here. That you Chris. What’s up?”
“You know we sent the StarShip magnetic to resupply our moon base and load Helium-3,” Chris said.
“Uh oh! I warned y’all not to do that even though the thrusters should minimally work in the Earth’s magnetic tail,” Lux said.
“They have enough life support for six weeks, but they’ll be exposed to considerable radiation. We didn’t know if you had a way to get to them,” Chris said with a pleading tone.
“Nothing right now. Where are they?” Lux asked.
“I’ll send you the data we have with the current heading, velocity, and position. We haven’t made it public yet,” Chris said.
“I don’t have anything right now. You could use the Dragon magnetic fitted to a modified conventionally powered StarShip. You might have enough thrust to get to the stranded ship. Transfer the people and maybe have enough fuel to come home. I’m working on something but not sure if I can have it in time. Keep me updated on the status and position of the stranded ship.”
“Will do,” Chris said. “There are eight people on that ship and a load of Helium-3 if that is useful.”
“I understand. Who recommended that they chance taking the flight, in spite of my warning?” Lux asked.
There was a pause. Chris whispered, “The CEO.”
◆◆◆
 
Developments
Lux explained the situation to Douglas.
“I haven’t seen anything on the news,” Trenton replied.
“What will happen to SpaceX stock when it breaks? They are keeping it quiet so some can sell off stock while it’s still high, I’ll bet,” Lux.
“Cynical at almost fourteen?” Douglas replied with a wry grin.
“I get that from my dad and teachers, I guess.”
“I am successful then,” Trenton said. “What could we do to help those people? You’d be in the same predicament if you took the Courier out there.”
“Maybe. I’m thinking about adding a gravity drive to the Courier IF my theory is correct. Gravity appears to be a result of pervasive Planck frequency standing waves. That’s the way I see it, anyway,” Lux said.
“Who else knows this topic? Does Lakshmi Varma understand this topic? Professor Lozano? Could you talk to them?”
“I’m not sure a remote call would do much good. People often pick up ideas when they see each other and communicate face-to-face,” Lux said. “Good idea. I’ll call Lakshmi.”
◆◆◆
 
Lakshmi
Lux called Lakshmi and got her voicemail. He left her a message and texted her that he needed her and that it was urgent.
An hour later he got a call. “Lakshmi. Thank you for returning my call. Yes. I’m sorry I rushed out of the lab. I was trying to get some ideas straight in my head. No. I didn’t think about what it would look like to you or Professor Lozano. No, I wasn’t trying to keep secrets from everyone else. Stop. Stop! This is an emergency and I think you can help me. I am thankful you work with me. Will you stop and listen for a second? There is a SpaceX ship stranded in deep space and I may have a way to save them but I need more eyes on the problem. It’s not public yet so you can’t tell anyone. I don’t need publicity for grants. You do. Will I get to the point? I’m trying. Will you come out to my property in Arizona for a few days? I have a great cook. You will IF you can bring a friend and a lot of baggage. Great. I’ll be there in fifteen minutes. Where should I go? Pick you up in the lab in three hours. Okay. Three hours at the lab. Thanks, Lakshmi. Bye.”
◆◆◆
 
There is always a price to pay for complications
Lux decided he’d have to take the Courier if Lakshmi was going to bring a friend and a lot of baggage. He’d have Polly and Rodney go too, just in case. Lux turned to Anna to get her ideas.
“Now you contact me. I wondered if you wanted me to file a patent on your new knife. It would bring in some money but did you want to go that route? It would be quicker to market but it would give people ideas. You would have twenty years to fight infringement,” Anna explained.
“Anna. Please contact me any time you think I need to know something or have forgotten something,” Lux said.
“So, you want me to constantly tell you things that you missed,” Anna said and her avatar quirked a smile.
“No…just…Oh! I get it. A.I. humor,” Lux said.
“You’re pretty quick for an organic. Okay, I’ll let you know. I’ll apply for an expedited patent in your name. Interesting idea.”
Three hours sped by and Lux flew the Courier to MIT and hovered just outside the lab. He lowered the ramp and three people came out with Lakshmi.
“What’s this Lakshmi? I see Professor Lozano. Professor,” Lux said. “I’m not deserting you or snagging another of your graduate students but we’re trying to come up with a breakthrough in days. People’s lives are at stake. That’s all I am at liberty to tell you right now. Who are these people with you, Lakshmi?”
“This is Kathy Curran with WBTS, NBC10. She’s their top investigative reporter and started in Huntsville, Alabama. and her cameraman, Reinaldo Rondon. They are coming to document this incident,” Lakshmi said.
Lux just looked at her. “Lakshmi. Some of this is dangerous. What do they know?”
“They know who you are and we’re going somewhere to figure out a way to rescue some people. They want to video that rescue, wherever it is. They have clothes for a week,” Lakshmi said.
Lux let out a big sigh. He had learned enough not to argue or demand something from a petulant female. He turned to the reporter and greeted her. “Nice to meet you. Please no disclosures until we can reasonably make an attempt. You’re welcome to video the attempt and I can guarantee there will be no other media competing. Do I have your word?”
“No release until you say so but do I have your word we may video? Do I need to get someone older to approve this agreement?” Ms. Curran asked.
“I am sufficient. I designed this ship with Professor Douglas Trenton. You’ll meet him in a few minutes at my western lab,” Lux said. Lux turned around. “Burning daylight here, people. Load ‘em up! Reinaldo, nice to meet you. This will be different from anything you’ve done before.”
Polly and Rodney showed everyone where to stow gear and sit. “The high-definition viewscreens show outside views. Video if you want. We’ll be at our destination in about fifteen minutes,” Rodney explained.
“It’s close by?” Kathy Curran asked.
“It’s about 4,200 kilometers (2,625 miles). Mister Blakely works there sometimes,” Rodney explained.
“Who owns this property?” the reporter asked.
“Lux Blakely bought it a couple of years ago. All the people working there are his employees except Professor Douglas Trenton. He’s one of Lux’s partners with the military upgrades,” Rodney said.
“Does his family let him do what he wants?” the reporter asked.
Rodney looked at Polly with a ‘let you have this one,’ look.
“His father was here last month. Lux got his Bachelor’s Degree in Aerospace Engineering at Georgia Tech. He’s working on his doctorate in AeroAstro at MIT right now. That’s how he knows Lakshmi. Lux has his money mainly from his many patents and licenses.”
“His father funded his schooling or his labs?” the reporter asked.
Polly laughed. “No. You’ll see. He paid his own way in college and funds all his own research without grants.”
“He had a grant at Georgia Tech,” Curran said jumping on a discrepancy she had looked up. “A three-million-dollar grant.”
“Lux donated that money to the school, so it could pay Professor Trenton’s salary and fund the research that developed this technology. Trenton does the environmental designs while Lux developed the propulsion and armor,” Polly said.
“Armor?” the reporter asked.
“This ship is lightly armed but has armor that will fend off lasers and any kinetic weapons or explosives. The armor protects us from harmful radiation when we’re in space,” Polly said.
“Who is flying this ship now?” the reporter asked.
Polly looked at the viewscreens. “We’re here. Grab all your gear. Please just video once we’re out of the hangar but you’ll definitely want to video once we’re outside. Remember, it's three hours earlier here.”
“But we didn’t go anywhere. I fly a lot and I know what it's like to accelerate and land,” the reporter said.
Polly raised her eyebrows. “Watch your step as you exit. We’ll be serving breakfast in a few minutes and we’ll square away your lodging. You each have separate rooms. Don’t wander out at night because there are a lot of rattlesnakes in this area. You should have decent wifi connections and use ‘Blakely,’ with a capital B as a guest password.
◆◆◆
 
Disbelief versus Reality


Curran was very standoffish as she exited the hangar and saw the desert sage, and creosote bushes around her. She saw the solar farm, the airstrip, and the other hangars around her. She saw the sun was much lower in the sky than when they left Boston at 9 am. She took out her phone. She saw the time had changed by three hours. She looked at her location on her phone and saw she was near Paulden, Arizona. She saw the blowing sand and smelled the clean air with a hint of creosote.
Lux saw Shelia and Ford working by hangar three. “Shelia! Ford!” Lux yelled and waved them over. “This is Karen Cullen and Reinaldo Rondon, from Boston. They are reporters that are going to be around for a few days. They’ll room with y’all over there but eat at the main house. Will y’all get them set up and then escort them back for breakfast?”
“Sure, boss. That new welder you got is great and Elan is showing me how to use the additive manufacturing machines,” Shilea said. “This way folks. I’m Shilea and this is my husband, Ford,” she said with a huge smile.
Ford came up and helped them gather their bags and equipment.
◆◆◆
 
Acclimated
Kathy Curran found this all hard to believe. This was outside her experience but she was trying to decide if this was a cult or whatever. She met the other two bodyguards but didn’t know why this ‘boy’ had bodyguards in the first place. She thought Marie and Elan were nice. She thought Douglas Trenton must be the quiet brains of this outfit though he didn’t talk much. Rodney got her attention.
“That’s what I’m talking about watching where you are going at night,” Rodney said.
“What?” she asked
Rodney had just crammed some of Marie’s delicious pancakes in his mouth, so he just pointed with his fork.
Ford spoke up. “I can tell you about that one,” He pointed to the huge snake skin on the wall. “I was walking behind the house you are staying in. Lux was walking with me. I almost stepped on that thing and Lux took out one of his throwing knives and stuck that rattler right through his head and into its body. Scared the bejesus out of me.”
Kathy didn’t believe a word of that story. “I thought you said it was at night.”
“Lux had his flashlight. Told me he had to change hands,” Ford said.
Kathy frowned and decided to ask Trenton some questions since she didn’t believe the snake story.
“How’d you meet Lux? Did you know where he got all his money?”
“Wow. That’s a story in and of itself. Lux was in one of my classes. Dr. Ernest Helmann – Chair of Aerospace Engineering helped Lux get his top security clearance with DoD and then tried to sell his inventions to Israeli and Chinese intelligence. Helmann got arrested by the FBI as a spy and the other professor working on Lux’s work wanted to turn Lux in because Lux’s research wasn’t for a flying vehicle with propellors. Lux asked me to help develop the environmental systems for his spaceships. He sold his thrusters to SpaceX but warned them to stay fairly close to Earth. Then I helped him when we converted all the 4th and 5th generation fighters at Eglin Air Force base. We made a half million each on that.”
“A half million. That wouldn’t buy all this land and buildings,” she said.
Trenton laughed. “We made a half million on each and every jet we converted and still get that fee as they convert their whole fleet. Hundreds of conversions at a half million for each one. Now, I didn’t design the backpack flying units. That was just Lux. Fort Drum bought thirty thousand of those. That’s the type of pack China used to attack Taiwan last time but we thwarted that one – well – Taiwan hacked the code of the stolen copies of Lux’s device and ended the invasion. That’s when Lux was in Sydney when the Russians tried to kidnap Lummi.”
“Why were you in Australia, Lux?” Curran asked with her head spinning from the last set of comments.
“My friend, Prissy Hunnicutt, wanted to go see the Lummi concert and couldn’t get there because the Chinese invasion had called a temporary halt to the US to Australia flights,” Lux said.
“Why was she so set on going to Australia? Who is she?” Kathy said.
Ford spoke up. “She went to high school and college with Lux. Lummi works for them,” Ford said and grunted when Shilea kicked him under the table.
Curran just raised her eyebrows and wondered about these crazy stories. She asked if she could have a tour after breakfast and thanked Marie for the meal, she had hardly realized she ate.




Chapter 15

The Arizona Tour
Elan didn’t mind showing the reporters and Lakshmi around. It wasn’t too hot this time of year but he was glad he wasn’t carrying all the camera equipment like Curran’s assistant. Lakshmi was with the tour group too while Lux was working out with daily training. They saw Lux and the bodyguards doing pullups and pushups. Lux did four pull-ups and twenty-five pushups (Curran counted). Then Curran (and tour) watched the bodyguards throw knives and Lux was the best. Then they watched the guards practice knife fighting two-on-one with practice knives. It looked like the practice knives hurt each other even through clothing.
Curran wanted to see a knife and Robert gave her his – turned off. She tried it on her pants leg and frowned in disgust. They had all been faking being hurt – a show for her. She went to hand it back to Robert but he wouldn’t take it. He reached over and turned on the little switch in the handle. Curran then tried slashing her leg through her pants and fell down when the shock collapsed her leg. She gingerly handed the Shazh™ knife back to Robert. Good grief, she thought.
The men put all the practice knives away. They went and took special knife sheaths out of gear off to the side. They made sure there was a lot of space around themselves before pulling the knives out and doing moves demonstrated by Lux. They followed his movements to the letter and he would correct them. Curran thought it must be a cult if they followed a boy’s direction. They all carefully sheathed their knives.
“What was all that rigamarole about?” she asked.
“This is a new knife I just invented. It’s very dangerous so we have to draw and use it differently than other fighting knives,” he explained. “You saw us practicing with the Slazh knife I patented. What did you think about that?”
“It was a shock,” she said. “May I see this ‘new’ knife you invented?”
“No – no – no,” she heard from the bodyguards but that stopped when Lux held his hand up.
“Sure,” he said and handed her his sheathed knife.
She took the sheath and drew the knife out. “No!” the guys yelled but she felt the blade and it did nothing. “How do turn this one on?” she said.
“I’m afraid you won’t be able to turn that one on. Put the knife back in the sheath,” he said and noticed the cameraman had unobtrusively videoed all their interactions. Lux grinned and walked over to some concrete in the ground with a small girder sticking up. There was a meter-long piece of heavy rebar lying on the ground beside the concrete with the girder sticking up from it. “Are you strong enough to hit anything with that piece of rebar? Would you mind picking it up and hitting that girder and then the concrete with it? Make sure you get this on video.”
Kathy was getting angry at all this goofing around. She was here to get a story about a rescue; not snakes and plane upgrades. She picked up the rebar and thought, This is really heavy. She swung and hit the girder and the vibration hurt. She grimaced and raised the rebar over her head and slammed it down on the concrete and chipped a tiny divot out of it. It hardly made a mark.
She was standing there with that heavy piece of steel and she would have hit this boy in the head with it if she could. She could hardly still hold it. What was this about?
“Describe what just happened, if you would, it’s important,” Lux said.
“This solid, and very heavy piece of steel hit a big friggin’ steel girder sticking out of some very solid concrete,” she said still angry.
“Would you hold the rebar pointed at me? Hold it steady for five seconds if you could,” he said.
“Hurry,” she said. “This sucker is heavy.”
Lux pulled the knife from the sheath and chopped the rebar into little chunks that fell straight down to the ground. He cut to within twenty centimeters of her hands. She was petrified and didn’t move a muscle. “Oh god!” she said. “I swiped that blade across my hand.”
“Yes, you did,” he said. “That knife has a biometric sensor that identifies authorized users. It also cuts through any matter without any resistance. We have to be more careful with this knife than my practice knife. Let me show you a little more.” Lux walked over to the girder and showed closeups of cutting chunks of it off and the heavy pieces clanging to the ground. He then cut it off right at the surface of the concrete and then stabbed the concrete. The knife went to the hilt. He then started cutting chucks out of the concrete. Kathy’s face had lost all color. She started breathing again.
“I’d like to use that video in a commercial when selling this knife to the military. I will send you one thousand every time it is shown on a national news program up to a quarter million dollars if you agree. Gentleman’s agreement so you don’t have to sign anything. Just tell me how often it's shown and I’ll send you the money. Think about it. Ask these people how I keep my word. Now Lakshmi and I have to do some skull sweat and figure out a way to save some people. Give me twenty minutes for a shower and y’all meet me in the lab.
◆◆◆
 
Gravity 101
Lux came into the lab toweling his wet hair. “SpaceX has their newest StarShip stranded and going toward the asteroid belt with no way to maneuver. There are no magnetic fields strong enough to propel their ship. Commercial rocket propulsion doesn’t have enough fuel reserves to get there and ionic propulsion isn’t developed enough. Lakshmi. Let me show where I am with my experiments.”
He walked over and showed her the curved sheet of grey graphite two meters over the scales. “Stand on the scales please.”
Lakshmi hesitated a moment and then stood on the electronic scales first and then stepped on the mechanical scales. She understood what he intended. “Both are the same,” she called.
“Now I’m going to turn on the overhead shield,” he said.
“OH!” she exclaimed and then moved to the mechanical scales. “They’re the same. You did it. That was a little over half my weight.”
“But it’s not zero. I’m trying to get it to zero,” he said.
Lakshmi rushed over to him and gave him a crushing hug. She kissed him right on the lips. He would have enjoyed himself more if he hadn’t been so shocked. “We can get out to them now if your theory is right?”
“What are you talking about?” Lux said.
Lakshmi started laughing. “All we need is a differential between the front and the back. It doesn’t have to be absolute on one side, compared to the other side. This should be plenty. We can improve it later. We just need to put this on the front and sides. We could use…”
“How stupid I’ve been. Yes. We could have sections we could turn on and off – all over the surface for directional control. All over the surface. We could move in any direction,” he said.
Lakshmi was still standing right beside him and he grabbed and kissed her. She looked surprised for a moment but kissed him back. He remembered how everything was being recorded. He then considered how Prissy would feel if she saw him kissing another girl. Heck, he thought. She had David and doesn’t even want to talk to me now. He needed to concentrate.
He called everyone to begin assembling the graphite sheets he already had so they could lay them out by the hull of the Courier and plan the renovation as fast as possible. He ordered more of the hybrid graphite material and more of the magnetic inner coating. They would have to strip the original graphite material off and apply the newer material. “Anna. Have you been following along? Can you figure out the most efficient steps to get this done? What about our performance? Will it still be inertialess while moving through the atmosphere?”
“I don’t know,” Anna’s avatar was tapping her foot. “I think this may work but I certainly would not have considered this method. I’ve ordered enough material and put a rush on it. I’ll bill SpaceX later.
◆◆◆
 
Dr. Sachin Nagendrappa, Professor of Psychiatry – St. Johns Medical College India
Dr. Nagendrappa had dealt with the effects of bath salts and Flakka on patients for years and his latest studies, funded by an anonymous donor, had won him promotions and acclaim around the world. His research was outside the mainstream due to its high risk. He was able to actually restore the balance of neurotransmitters in the brain through the use of psilocybin (special mushrooms) and minute quantities of psychedelics. The doctor cured patients instead of placing them on a perpetual regimen of drugs.
Now his donor wanted him to travel to Sydney, Australia to treat a patient. He had balked at leaving his practice for so long but the donor said he would arrange superfast travel and have him back in a week. That donor had even arranged for visas and permission to treat at the destination hospital. He had arranged first-class accommodations and travel from Bengaluru, India to Sydney and back.
◆◆◆
 
Test Flights with the New Hull Coatings on the ‘Courier’
It took a week to remove the old hull coating and replace it with the new material delivered in three different shipments. Those materials were formed by impregnating graphite with a bizarre mix of chemicals. The new hull still stopped kinetic strikes but could be varied in functional range by changing the intensity and pulse frequency of the magnetic fields. The Blakely thrusters seemed to function the same at low pulse rates and intensity but quite a higher thrust level when faster pulse rates were applied. They did all the tests they could in the hangar. The hull was wired according to Anna’s specifications, so they could navigate. They would have to communicate through the rear drive area when operating with gravity thrust if it worked. There were small areas that could be used for sensors and cameras without diminishing the ship's performance appreciably.
Lakshmi had been helping with the hull replacement but often seemed out-of-sorts around Lux. She felt she wasn’t getting the attention she deserved. She would often argue with Lux over the math while they were waiting for the epoxy to dry. The dry dock testing was finally complete.
“Are you bored?” Lux asked Kathy Curran. “Want to go for a test ride?”
“Depends,” Kathy asked. “Will I need Depends (disposable underwear)?” Kathy looked apprehensively at Lakshmi and Professor Trenton putting on their IVA suits.
SpaceX had provided enough EVA spacesuits for most of the crew but those were large and bulky.
“You will need to wear an internal vehicular activity (IVA) suit in case of loss of pressure but it should be safe. We are just going to a high orbit to test the drives,” Lux said.
“I suppose,” she said, none too enthusiastic.
Her cameraman had been loving his stay. He had used knives in his former locale and enjoyed practicing with the guards. Elan showed the visitors the water vapor capture system and solar farm. He took them up in the Cirrus a couple of times on side trips to California and New Mexico. The cameraman donned his IVA suit rapidly and was videoing as Kathy finished getting into her suit.
They all piled into the ship and strapped down. Reinaldo was cranking out video footage as we lifted off and did low-altitude maneuverability tests. Anna’s clone was monitoring everything and declared everything nominal. They then tested high-speed atmospheric runs and the thrusters did well. Lux maneuvered them to a higher orbit. Radiation in the Val Allen Belt did not penetrate the new hull material. They moved to a higher, less populated orbit that was still in the Earth’s magnetic fields.
“Strap in. We will now do a test with the new gravity drive. Anna. It’s all yours,” he said.
“Checking maneuvering coverings.” The ship went into a spin that was corrected in a few seconds. “Sorry. Way more reactive than I thought. Try heading adjustments,” Anna said and Lux went through synchronization runs ‘til he felt comfortable. “Now we know it works we will try the full gravity drive for ten seconds. I have our position and we’re headed in the general direction of the stranded SpaceX ship. Counting down – five, four, three, two, one – it’s on. Counting down the seconds ‘til shut down,” Lux said. “Seems to work. It will take a few moments to verify our position. Anna?”
“Working,” Anna took an inordinate amount of time and then said. “750,000 kilometers in ten seconds. One-quarter the speed of light. Do you want to try to rescue that SpaceX StarShip? It will be hard to maneuver in small increments. We are heading their way. They are about twenty million kilometers (12.5 million miles) away from Earth. Looks like about four and a half minutes from here – then fiddling with adjustments to get alongside.”
“Fiddling, Anna?” Polly said. “When did you start using inaccurate language?”
Anna’s avatar looked down. “I admit it. Lux is a bad influence,” she said and looked up with a sly grin.
“Take us to them, Anna. Maneuver us alongside, if you can.”
◆◆◆
 
Aboard SpaceX StarShip Magnetic – Stranded 20 Million Kilometers from Earth
Captain Demings heard the tapping on the porthole. He thought he was going crazy but he saw the man had a tether with him. The man held something against the window. It was a radio frequency. The Captain got on the ship-wide intercom and announced. “We have visitors in a spacesuit outside the ship. This is not a drill. You aren’t dreaming. He has a tether. Everybody into your moon suits. We’re going home, people.”
It took about an hour and a half to get all seven surviving members of the StarShip crew to the Courier.
“Who are you people?” Captain Demings asked and then he saw Lux in the back of the group. “Lux Blakely. I should have known. You warned us not to get far from Earth. I got overruled.”
“Thank you. We need to contact NASA and let them know you are okay. I thought there were eight of you.”
“Gomez didn’t make it. She committed suicide with pills. We brought the body over with us. Your people put it in the cargo bay. We want to give you more incentive to get back soon. How does this ship work out here?” Demings asked.
“Gravity drive. Figured it out last week with the insight of one of my fellow grad students, Lakshmi Varma. She said what I had already done was good enough and I finally saw her logic. My theory and design but her push in the right direction. She’s working on the math.”
“Gravity drive! My god. How fast does it go? What does it do? My head is spinning. Do you know what this means?” Demings said.
“I take it your question was rhetorical. Yeah. I get it. We could get anywhere in the solar system in a reasonable time. We can use the magnetic drive around those planets with a magnetic core. We made about the quarter speed of light to get here. Your ride back will be short. We got NASA on the line and they want to talk with you.”
Demings talked with the NASA folks for over twenty minutes. Curran was waiting for him when he finished.
“Kathy Curran. WBTS Boston, an NBC10 station. How did you feel when you knew you were stranded?”
What a lame question he thought. “I immediately thought there was no way we would get rescued. The only hope we had was what Chris Tripp said to me. He said Lux Blakely was working on something that might get us back. We didn’t believe him but we wanted to believe him. NASA was trying to help and they’d done crazy stuff before,” Demings said.
“You lost a crewman to suicide. Whose fault was that? Do you think the ship design was faulty?” she asked.
“The ship was perfect for what we were doing. We were using it outside of the way it was designed. I don’t blame anyone. Everything we do has risk out here. I feel sad Gomez surrendered to depression and we’ll miss him terribly. This new propulsion system that Lux Blakely has invented will let humans travel at one-quarter the speed of light, I’m told. Those people risked their lives to come to get us. You risked your life. Why did you do that?” Demings asked.
Kathy was at a loss. Why had she gone on this crazy ride? “I saw this little guy and thought he was the leader of a cult at first. People believed in him for some reason. After I was around him for a week, I realized he made everything around him better – if he could. There was a story and he was trustworthy enough that I thought I’d risk it. Thank you, Captain Demings. This is Kathy Curran, WBTS signing off from 20 million kilometers from Earth – but we’re headed back and they tell me they’ll be landing in a half hour. Wa-hoo!” she yelled and the cameraman caught her big grin and followed her back as she (and he) strapped in.
◆◆◆
 
The Return to Boca Chica
The weather was nasty over the Cape so they headed to Boca Chica. Lux switched to magnetic propulsion as they got closer to Earth and they zoomed down to Earth since they didn’t worry about reentry heating like conventional spacecraft. The Courier gently lowered to Earth and there was a sizeable crowd because the news had leaked an hour ago. The Courier landed and Chris Tripp and Joe Petrzelka were right there when the ramp lowered. Kathy and her cameraman were first off and Captain Demings and crew came down to cheering, clapping, and whistling workers. Family members that had been practically living at the site since the stranding, tearfully reunited with their spouses.
Lux waited for it to die down a bit outside before he came down the ramp. He was surprised when Joe Petrzelka, Propulsion VP at SpaceX, singled him out. Lux saw Kathy and the cameraman and waved them over as Petrzelka came up to him.
Lux turned to Kathy. “I have to talk to Petrzelka for a second and then we’ll get you back to Arizona to get your clothes and then ferry you to Boston if that’d be okay.” She nodded and he turned his attention back to Petrzelka.
“What can I do for you?” Lux asked, knowing full well what he wanted.
“You know we need that hull coating for traveling in the atmosphere and radiation protection,” Joe stated.
“I’ve got to head back to Arizona and Boston and drop some people off. I can meet you here tomorrow. I’m thinking we could scale it by coverage areas for the life of the patent. Should be low cost – say a million for something as large as the StarShip and much cheaper for smaller sizes. You come up with the coverage sizes. We’ll talk about it and I’m flexible,” Lux said.
“What about that gravity drive? What in the world? How do you keep coming up with these ideas?” Joe asked.
“I’m young enough to realize we don’t know everything and most of what we ‘know’ is inaccurate,” Lux said feeling drained as he walked away. He realized that what was normal to him seemed unusual to other people. He knew people who could carve stone to look like real horses. He could never come close to that skill. He had no talent that way. He thought his talent was just ‘carving’ out tech. He gathered everyone and they were soon aboard and heading back to Arizona. Polly was piloting with Lux as a co-pilot.
They landed in Arizona and Kathy Curran and her cameraman piled out to gather their clothes and gear they left. The cameraman was still videoing everything. Fifteen minutes later, they were on their way back to Boston. Elan had wanted to fly some and he was copiloting this leg of the flight. Lux rode in the cabin with the reporter.
“Did you get what you wanted?” Lux asked.
Curran turned her head to the side trying to see if Lux was trying to be snide. She decided he wasn’t. “I ought to apologize.”
Lux leaned back, shocked. “For what?”
“I was skeptical you were authentic, but you’re the real deal. I never thought a boy could do half of what you did. You surprised me. We did things that people won’t believe, even with the video of it happening in real-time, on camera.”
Lux started laughing as they were just landing in Boston. “That’s the story of my life.”




Epilogue



St. Johns Medical College in Bengaluru, India
Lakshmi was explaining to Doctor Sachin Nagendrappa that though her family was from Bhopal, India which gave her Hindi – she had traveled extensively and was fluent in Kannada which was spoken in Bengaluru (Bangalore), India where he worked. Lux was enjoying the show but wanted to get going. The trip would take a while. The police had cordoned off the Pod in the soccer field (football), just south of the hospital complex.
◆◆◆
 
The Pod landed at Bankstown Airport near Sydney, Australia about 45 minutes later. Lakshmi and the Doctor had talked the whole way and they seemed to like each other even though he was almost twice her age. They were met with an entourage of people as they trundled out of the Pod.   
The SAS Regiment was there with a patrol led by Captain Joynt but he wasn’t the first one to meet them. It was Australian Border Force Officer Dinkins who was their customs officer du jour.
“You four. Come here and let’s have those papers. Are you here for business or pleasure?” Dinkins said.
“Business. The Professor Bashir Centre Hospital,” Lux said.
“Do any of you have agricultural products, weapons, or drugs?” Dinkins asked.
“No agricultural products but we have weapons and drugs but we have the paperwork and escorts for all that,” Lux replied, handed over a stack of papers. He had his visa and passport stamped after being thoroughly scrutinized by Dinkins. Dinkins motioned to the doctor.
“I am Professor Sachin Nagendrappa,” the doctor said and handed a sheath of papers to the customs officer. “These drugs are to treat the surviving patients of the Flakka episode,” the doctor replied with a heavy Indian accent in English. He had his visa and passport stamped after being thoroughly scrutinized by Dinkins.
“I am Lakshmi Varma to help Dr. Nagendrappa with translations,” she said and handed over her papers. Dinkins scowled as he stamped her visa and passport.
“Rodney Branch. Nice to see you again, Dinkins,” Rodney said and handed him the paperwork for his weapons and a case of knives.
“What’s with all these knives?” Dinkins asked. “It looks like there are a dozen here.”
“Yes, Officer. These are hunting knives that are gifts for the guys in the SASR that helped us out last time.”
“There are only ten of them,” Dinkins said with a glint in his eye implying he wanted the extra.
Rodney leaned forward and spoke quietly, “…nine plus…their captain, their colonel, and the general. You know how it is. I didn’t know you liked knives. Next time.”
“Enjoy your stay,” Dinkins said as he stamped Rodney’s passport with a resigned sigh.
Sergeant Burns of the SAS Regiment was there with eight men and four Reinforced Land Rovers. “Mister Blakely. Captain Joynt sent me. You get around. Where’d you get this bloke?” he said quietly so the others behind him couldn’t hear.
“He’s the top research doctor that may be able to cure our people,” Lux said.
“Who’s the Indian princess? Is that his daughter? She sure is pretty,” the sergeant said quietly.
Lux looked a Lakshmi talking with the doctor. “I think she wants to be more than his daughter. Can y’all give us a ride to the Langham and then to the Psychiatric Hospital?”
“Sure thing. I’ll assign two vehicles and four with them. You told Captain Joynt you have something for us. He’s still at Holsworthy Barracks where they're putting us up,” the sergeant explained.
“Is there a place we can cut up some steel and concrete near there? Out of public view?” Lux asked.
“How loud would we be? Explosives? We could do explosives at the School of Military Engineering next door.”
“Silent. We can do it silently. Did you get any of the training knives I made?” Lux asked.
“Oh, those buggers are bloody awesome. They bought us those shocking knives,” the sergeant explained as they walked to the Land Rovers. “These vehicles are on loan to us," the sergeant explained. "How will the knives do with steel and concrete?” the sergeant asked.
Lux grabbed the sergeant by the arm and directed him off to the side of the road while Lakshmi and the doctor were directing the soldiers to place luggage and equipment in the different vehicles. 
“See this road barrier?” Lux asked pointing to a meter-high steel pipe sticking out of the concrete at an angle. Someone had obviously hit it. “This is what I have for you,” Lux said and pulled out a knife from a hidden scabbard at his lower back. He took the knife and cut off the steel pipe level with the ground and handed it to the sergeant. “Hit the concrete with it, sergeant.”
The sergeant looked a little odd but smacked the concrete and grunted showing it hurt because the concrete nor the pipe gave any.
“Solid?” Lux asked and the sergeant nodded. “Hold it out like you are holding a cricket bat,” Lux said.
The sergeant held the pipe, and pointed it at Lux. Lux swiped the knife through the pipe, lopping off chunks ‘til it was half gone. The sections clanged against the concrete. “It cuts through anything with no resistance.”
“Blimey!”
◆◆◆
 
One month later – Bobby Dodd Stadium - Georgia Institute of Technology
Prissy Hunnicutt was happy to be getting her BS in Computer Science. Her parents were here but she had expected Lux and missed Evelyn. She got mad at Lux every time she thought of Evelyn. She finally realized he would never use her as bait. She felt empty and thought she would feel like there should be more…something.
The school president was giving a boring speech. Prissy didn’t pay attention as the school president recognized the engineering faculty. Then he started introducing the keynote speaker. She only perked up when she heard - a former alumnus in Aerospace Engineering, Lux Blakely.
Lux was the keynote speaker! She was so stunned she hardly listened to anything he said. He explained how he had studied and expanded his knowledge. He explained that the friends he met had changed his life. He mentioned how Professor Trenton worked with him after graduation to assist SpaceX and recently rescue a stranded ship 20 million kilometers from the earth with a new gravity drive. Lux announced he was donating a ten-million-dollar building to Aerospace Engineering and starting a new scholarship for promising Women of STEM.
Prissy walked across the platform and was handed her diploma. She put on her fake smile and walked off the other side and back to her chair in shock. Soon it was over and her parents came up to her and hugged her and she started just balling. She sobbed and didn’t know why. She looked up and Evelyn was there – right there! She wondered if she was losing her mind. Evelyn was destroyed. Her mind was fried. It was impossible.
“Hi Prissy,” Evelyn said crying.
“Oh, Evelyn. I thought you were brain-dead. How are you here? Are you all right? What do you remember?” Prissy said as she rushed to her friend and held her wrapped in her arms. They cried with happiness the relief.
“I remember the concert but nothing after it until about a month ago when this Indian doctor came to see me and gave me some experimental drug. They say it made my mind start producing neurotransmitters in a balanced way again. I feel fine. I’m a semester behind but that doesn’t seem very important right now,” Evelyn said.
“How’d you get here? Aren’t the non-stop flights still restricted?” Prissy asked.
Evelyn looked over her shoulder and Lux was standing back out of the way with a smile and glistening eyes from watching the reunion.
Prissy let go of Evelyn and ran back and grabbed Lux. She leaned her head back as he looked at her with a sweet smile. She gave him a deep, long kiss and he responded well - after he got over the shock.
*** End ***
If you want more Lux in the future – please give me a good review or email: ken.pence@vanderbilt.edu   Lux has big ideas for the future.




Acknowledgement

Thanks to my brothers Richard & Tom Pence for encouraging me to write. We have shared a lifelong love of sci-fi. This book is dedicated to all the visionaries who know that humans are just a tiny blip in the universe. Also, thanks to all my old police friends and Tae Kwon Do family from past eras were supportive. Special thanks to Vanderbilt staff and faculty and to any students reading novels instead of doing their coursework, but I know that students only read while waiting or during a break in classes.
Now for the people that made this readable and added valuable suggestions and clarifications:
David Smith who cleared up many of my typos
Clarke - who cleaned up the wording, tense changes, and made many confusing sentences - less so...




About The Author

Ken R Pence
 

Ken Pence Author has a Ph.D. from Vanderbilt University in Engineering. Professor Pence has taught there from 2004-2022. He is a retired Metro Nashville Police Captain for 31 years (16 years on SWAT). He is a 6th-degree blackbelt in Tae Kwon Do (1967- present). He is a pilot and taught police and military in the US and Europe (England, N. Ireland, Germany, France), teaching unarmed and armed confrontation management. He certified 16 constabularies in ASP in England, plus specialized in disarming techniques and room entry. He lives in Nashville with his wife and large black lab. 





Books In This Series

LUX and the NEW TECH

This series follows the life of a pre-teen genius as he tries to navigate the world of disbelief. His tech creations baffle those around him. He has to learn to make a living, get an education, and deal with the political fallout from his tech that changes the balance of power and wealth in the world. He has to learn about dealing with love and longing, creativity, and women.
LUX-1 Hypersonic
 
Lux Blakely, preteen son of a NASA scientist working on top-secret Government Projects, is not shackled by accepted scientific theory and dogma. His experiments in gravimetric research and the expanding capability of a nascent AI, cause Lux to be closely observed by several Government agencies. He discovers a way to use magnetic fields for propulsion, but he needs money. Lux and his friend, Prissy, come up with a way to use his father's developing AI to raise money through social media. Lux is trying to get out of high school and into college at age nine. Lux and Prissy take DeepFake videos to a whole new level and make a lot of money doing it. The US military and intelligence community are not amused.
LUX-2 The Pod
 
Lux Blakely, the preteen son of a NASA scientist working on top-secret Government Projects, is not shackled by accepted scientific theory and dogma. His experiments in gravimetric research and the expanding capability of a nascent AI caused Lux to be closely observed by several Government agencies. He discovers a way to use magnetic fields for propulsion, but he needs money. Lux and his friend, Prissy, devised a way to use his father's developing AI to raise money through social media. Lux is trying to get out of high school and into college at age ten.

He buys a survivalist's homestead to pursue advanced testing, but the egos and prejudices of professors hinder his research as they want to wrest control of his technology. Lux makes an alliance with a military branch to relieve pressure from his illegal test flights. Prissy continues to expand Lummi's influence and increase her fame and their wealth. How could a person from a DeepFake video give a live concert or get arrested? What happens when a DeepFake personality becomes real? How will the military begin to use his tech?
LUX-3 Force Field
 
Lux is finishing his Aeronautical Engineering degree at Georgia Tech. His father begins to support him again but he is starting to get noticed a little too widely outside his peers. He has to hire a 7 X 24 security team. The Israeli intelligence operatives, alerted by Professor Helmann are the first to arrive. SpaceX becomes interested when Lux tries to obtain spacesuits suitable for extravehicular activity in vacuum. Lux starts flying frequently and upgrades SpaceX rocket shells with 'Blakely' thrusters. Chinese operatives attempt to obtain the tech by any means and won't stop. The DeepFake video personality, Lummi, has reached 'popstar' status and is pressured to give live international concerts of her music. The DeepFake videos produced by his A.I., Anna, continue to improve and produce income to fund his research. Lux applies to M.I.T. for a Ph.D. in their AeroAstro to investigate the strange field effects of his discovery. The mystery of the 'effect' is beginning to be revealed. The DeepFake videos may be the way to avoid a war.
LUX-4 Interplanetary
 
Lux finds traveling outside Earth’s magnetic fields is possible with the gravity drive, but the military from the US and other nations begins to push hard for the tech. Could they use it to help mine the moon, asteroids, and the moons of other planets? Who controls the areas away from Earth when humans establish bases on different planets? Lux becomes known around Earth, and the fame may be too much. He finds he is a target for governments and corporations that want to control him and his knowledge. He constantly has to fight off lawyers, greedy politicians, and corrupt corporations, not to mention the aggressive, autocratic nations.
LUX-5 To The Stars
 
Lux has discovered a way to travel to the stars, but it is more like naval cruises into uncharted territory. It is treacherous outside the heliosphere, and people are still people. All the Earth's nations are producing ships within the solar system, and it's like a new gold rush. What happens to a civilization when interplanetary travel is unlimited, and the only law is the law of survival? What will the fanatics do when they feel too restricted by Earth's laws and policies, and they can set up their own colonies?




Books By This Author

TRADE WORLD SAGA
 
This is the complete TRADE WORLD SERIES -- all four books in one. (Re-edited) Amazon Reviewer - Had I known how much I would enjoy this, I would have paid double! Amazon Reviewer - Engrossing tale that I could not put down. Amazon Reviewer - Wow. Long but a good read
MANUAL INTERPRETATION - Rett didn't expect to be rescued and then attacked by a primitive on a test flight. Andrew didn't expect to save an alien and nearly destroy his planet because of what he learned. Earth didn't get to choose its representative for a planet-wide treaty and then be threatened by an alien confederation. Surely Earth couldn't defend itself. Surely we couldn't have had contact with others, from off-planet, before now...but what was this backwater planet doing with a fleet of ships, advanced navigation systems, and a galactic-class trading facility with personnel who spoke all the major galactic languages. Every species got it wrong. We were just trying to fit to follow the manual.
PATENTLY OBVIOUS - Earth is venturing out into space with technology adapted from aliens. We have no clue about how to trade and which planets are occupied and which are vacant. How will we move out into the void when there is political sniping at home? How do you convince the public it is a good thing when they don't believe they really exist? Aliens are headed to Earth. What do we trade? What will we ask in return? How do we handle intellectual property off-planet? Every technology -- every trade good is fair game. This is about Earth going through its growing pains and being tested at every turn. Earth has a lot of growing up to do, and it isn't all fun and games...it is a test we have to pass...
A CERTAIN EXPERTISE - shows our young race suddenly moving into deep space. Empires had existed before us, but we had come from the fringe of the galaxy, and the older races were near the core. Some races progressed slowly even though they were much older due to their bureaucracy. Others appeared and disappeared in the blink of an eye. We were currently leaving a mark on our galactic arm through our trade and rediscovered ancient technology, but we really don't have a clue. We have overcome local competition and are probing deeper toward our galaxy's Core. We are searching for the creators of molecular circuitry that can improve electronics or form intelligent machines. We are also struggling with our humanity and facing political jockeying at home due to radical changes in longevity, energy availability, and mobility. New power sources and alien influences may be a bit much for Earth, should we even survive the tourists and traders. The more advanced species that are further inward on the spiral arm are another kettle of fish altogether. CORE VALUES - Earth and the Exploration Service destroyed the bulk of the Allung slave traders. New transition technology lets them travel thousands of light years instantly, and they’ve seized accumulated positional data (charts) from the Allung Confederation. The Earthers are traveling closer to the galactic core where the Allung may have run into the Ylee, the possible creators of the lamlee. The Ylee region of space is close to LeiLei and Shiv’s home world, and we will go there first. Earth wishes to expand: explore, and tame further systems near the core. They have to decide what type of expedition to form – do they need a lone ship, a squad, or an armada? Earth has had opposition at every step of its travels, and many groups on Earth are finding the means to look for a future, an escape into space. Earth may not survive its successful trading... is trading worth five billion human lives? Looks like we have no choice...
UPLIFT
 
It is forty years from the present date, and Richard Patterson is an aging warrior about to check out of this life. Just retired from a large multinational private military, he will be chosen to have a different fate. This will change his life and the life of every being on Earth. How will this man move from a menial social class to challenge the elites? How will one man prepare the Earth to defend itself from a threat that has destroyed advanced interstellar civilizations across the galaxy for millennia? His lead time is short, and he faces a corrupt, self-serving society. Just surviving the day will be challenging since half of Earth’s population may die with the disruptive technological changes. There are billions of planets in our galaxy, and now we can go there. How will neighboring species react now that humans can reach them?

This is the same multiverse - all books tie into Trade World Saga - it does not matter in what order you read them. Enjoy.
CONNECTION
 
Robert Kobe is an entrepreneur, but the first (accidental) interstellar flight far exceeds his expectations. -Their first contact is our first contact.-Now Robert is the alien on a planet of aliens.-Unable to speak a word of the language.-No money – no contacts – no ship – no food - but lots of technical expertise...A hunted criminal who:
-Threatens to destroy a civilization...he made a choice.
-Kills hundreds to make a point...is he justified?
-Forces a Trade agreement...by himself with a planet - justified?
-Faces legal troubles at home.-Faces violence from other corporations.
-Must kill to escape - justified?
-Steals to finance his goals - justified?
-Builds a space fleet to defy the Earth military - respects no Earth government.
-Reinforces an interstellar reputation.-Saves an allied, alien military.
-Experiments with tech from other dimensions. -
A fun read Space opera with interesting tech.
AMAZON REVIEWER "Wow! Well Done. Just finished Ken Pence ‘Connections’ and like his other stories found it fast-paced and an easy read without a lot of fluff and feathers. The characters are interesting and the story makes you care what happens to them. No spoiler here, but I did like the twist as I never saw it coming. Overall, this is a great adventure story, fast-moving with interesting tech about man’s first venture into deep space. There is also the question of what might happen when we meet aliens, some more interesting than others on a more intimate level. As an aside, not being any sort of an editor myself, I skipped over the errors I found and concentrated on the storytelling. Ken Pence did another excellent job of portraying men, good and bad, and how greed can motivate them to do their worst. Lastly, this is a story well worth reading." Rob Buckman
It can be read as a standalone, but the Trade World series gives richer context. All Trade World books are tied. - Enjoy
Outlier Earth
 
Our central worldline monitors many of the adjacent worldlines. Are we behind or ahead of other worldlines technologically? Could people cross over and be a threat? Do they have any technology we could use to stay dominant?

Of all the alternate Earth timelines, only this one had the North American natives survive and flourish. This, despite enduring a vastly superior Alien invasion centuries previously. Two agents sent from the central worldline to investigate this outlier Earth have disappeared. An agent sent by the Central Worldline, despite his apparent youth, and disregard for protocol, is sent to investigate the Outlier Earth for an explanation.

This is a dark tale of how one dimension treats another due to the disparity between technologies. It's a tale of the slaughter caused by a century of contrived grievances. It is a tale of the survival of a romanticized culture that radically changed due to an earlier invasion and rebellion. How could the diverse people with hundreds of different dialects survive in a world turned against them? Why would a near-immortal man fight a war so he might have romance again like a youth?
At First Thought
 
Robert Thales, an otherwise unremarkable cop in a mid-sized city, is developing an ability to read minds. This ability gets him promoted from a report-writing car to a solo car in a high-crime area. His work in the high crime area gets him noticed – not in a good way. Reading minds helps in his love life -- with reservations.
The economy of the city teeters along everywhere except where illicit drug sales and adult businesses are concerned. Criminals can’t launder their illicit monies fast enough and business leaders can’t get the loans they need. Financing the new convention center requires billions in municipal bonds, and this need is the root of a political takeover. The formerly unremarkable cop is thrown into the middle of the scheme. Everyone is trying to get Thales out of the picture.
How can he get the Feds to prosecute a case that nobody wants -- and do something in only one month? Injured, out-of-work, and hounded by hired guns, he may not live long enough to perfect his talent.

The reader plunges into the mind of a young street cop who is faced with current and developing criminal conspiracies. The criminal leader becomes obsessed with removing this threat. Business leaders are drawn into a criminal web of murder and extortion through their quest for good investments. Reading minds may help in sexual encounters, but it's not living up to its potential anywhere else. Now he can find the girl of his dreams if he can keep her alive.

A fun mystery thriller.
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